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Qunerlep.

Tr1s Manor stands first of a series of four which Domesday gives
to Nigellus.—

“ Nigellus holds Eldredelei. Edric held it (in Saxon times), and
was a free man. Here are 111 hides, geldable. The (arable) land
would employ 6} ox-teams. In demesne there is one team, and
(there are} 11 neat-herds and 1trr Villains with one team. Here
are two Hayes. The value of the Manor was and is 15s. (per
annum).”’

The name Eldredelei is probably more etymologically accurate
than Adderley. It indicates some Saxon Eldred as the original
founder of this settlement.

As to Edric, such a person either owned or shared in the Con-
fessor’s reign, six Manors of Odenet Hundred. In one instance
(that of Weston) he is described as Edric Salvage, in the five others,
merely as a free man. The same person, viz. Edric the Forester,
is probably alluded to in all six instances. I have elsewhere given
an undoubted case, where Domesday speaks of that illustrious
Saxon as nothing more than a free man.® In the same Chapter I
have spoken of his antecedents and career.

I now pass to N1eeLLUs, the Domesday Lord of Adderley, Shav-
ington, Spoonley, and Cloverley. This Nigellus has been identified
by some with Nigel de Stafford, the reputed brother of Robert, first
Baron Stafford, and the undoubted ancestor of the Gresleys.? I
must bespeak for onr Shropshire Nigel a position far inferior both
in its antecedents and its consequents. He was a Clerk, and a
Physician, Physician indeed to Earl Roger de Montgomery himself.
In seven instances, already enumerated or alluded to,* he succeeded

! Domesday, fo. 259, a, 1. Derbyshire estates of Nigel de Stafford.
2 Supra, Vol ITI. p. 48. Drachelauue (Drakelow) was among them,
3 Domesday (fo. 278, a, 1), treats of the | ¢ Supra, Vol. V. pp. 207-209.
a X 1



2 . ADDERLEY.

to the benefices of Spirtes, a Saxon Priest. This was in his spiritual
capacity. The compact estate of four Manors, which he held under
Earl Roger in North Shropshire, would probably have descended,
as a lay-fee, to his heirs, if heirs he had had. I should here obscrve
that a lay-fee in Staffordshire, consisting of the three Manors of
Thorpe, Morton, and Kingsley,! and held in capite of the King, by
Nigellus, was much more probably the Fee of Nigel de Stafford than
of Nigel the Physician.

Now there can be no doubt that Nigel the Physician died in the
time of Earl Hugh, and that his estates in Shropshire escheated
to the said Earl. Adderley, Shavington, Spoonley, and Cloverley,
were now consolidated into one Manor, of which Adderley was, for .
two centuries at least, reputed to be the Caput. The whole seems
to me to have reached the hands of King Henry I., as an Escheat of
Earl Robert de Belesme, and to have been granted by the said King
to that Alan de Dunstanvill, who has been already ascertained to
have acquired the great Manor of Idsall, and probably by a similar
process.®* TUnder Idsall (now Shiffnal) I have traced the descen-
dants of Alan de Dunstanvill, and the general history of their
Shropshire Fief. It now remains to give whatever is peculiar to
their Seigneury over Adderley and its members.

Between the years 1175 and 1190 Walter de Dunstanvill (I.)
made a Park at Adderley. His agreement thereupon with the
Abbot of Shrewsbury has been already given.?

I have alluded to the fact of Walter de Dunstanvill (I1.) having
allowed the Canons of Haughmond a right of transit through his
Manor of Adderley.* In the language of the original Deed he
allows the Canons fransitum per medium passagium meum de Ad-
durley, eundo et redeundo versus Le Wiche et alibi in agendis suis
de et in omnibus que cedent eis in proprios usus per juramentum
fratris sui vel alicujus de proprid familid ; that is, the uses which
the Canons were to make of this privilege were to be strictly con-
fined to things intended for their own consumption, and a brother
of their House, or one of their retainers, was to swear to their honest
dealing in the matter. The great territory of which we are speak-
ing was probably crossed at the period by only one good road, and
whoso passed was amenahle to the exactions, or dependent on the
mercy, of the Lord of the Fee.

1 Domesday, fo. 250, b, 2. A branch 2 Supra, Vol. II. pp. 268, 273.
of the Gresleys subsequently held Kings- 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 199.
ley under Fitz Alan. 4 Supra, Vol. I1 p. 298.



ADDERLEY. 3

Again we have seen that about the year 1219 this same Walter
de Dunstanvill taxed several of his estates with a certain rent-
charge payable to Shrewsbury Abbey. Among the rest, William
fitz Ralph, of Blancmunster, his tenant at Calverhall (or Cloverley),
was to supply 10s., and Henry de Shavington was to supply 5s. to-
wards the total. These two sums were of course their respective
rents, or parts of their rents, to Dunstanvill himself.!

The Bradford Hundred-Roll of 1255 speaks of Adderley, then
held by the third Walter de Dunstanvill, as follows.—

“Sir Walter de Dunstanvill is Lord of Addirdel, and bolds in
capite of the King, and does to the King the service of one
Knight for Addirdel and for Ydeshall, and does suit to the county.
The Seneschal attends the Hundred-Court twice yearly at the
Sheriff’s Tournes, and there demands (liberty to hold) his own free
Court. The Manor is 4 hides, and does no suit to the Hundred,
the Jurors know not by what warranty of exemption.”*

‘When Adderley is thus computed to contain 44 hides, the total
will exactly correspond with the total Domesday hidage of Adderley,
Spoonley, and Shavington. Calverhall (containing 1% hides) is thus
practically excluded from the computation; yet there is no doubt
that Calverhall was still a member of Dunstanvill’s Fief. The
Tenure-Rolls of 1284—5 are much more satisfactory on this point.
Their joint evidence is that “John de la Mare, through Petronilla
his wife, holds the Manor of Adredeley (or Adurley) with its mem-
bers, to wit Schenton (Shavington), Chalverhall, and Sponeley, of
the King, in capite sine medio, by service of one knight’s-fee. Here
the said John holds his free Court twice yearly, and determines
pleas of bloodshed and hue-and-cry. The Jurors knew not his
warranty, but these franchises have been in use for long time. Of
the aforesaid members, Henry de Schenton holds Schenton under
Jobn de la Mare; and William de Calverhall holds Calverhall under
Bogo de Knovill and his wife Alianore, who hold under the afore-
said John.”

A Charter, dated at Aberconway on June 14, 1283, allows John
de 1a Mare to hold a Market on Mondays at Bradewelle, Essex ;
and, with Petronilla his wife, to exercise Free-Warren in their
demesnes at Alderley and Ideshall (Shropshire) and at Iselham
(Cambridgeshire).

At the Assizes of 1292 John de la Mere was presented as exercis-
ing free-warren in Adredelegh, as well as the other privileges above-

! Supra, Vol. II. p. 333. 2 Rot. Hundred, I1. 56.



4 ' ADDERLRY.

mentioned. He came forward and showed that he held Adderley
by courtesy of England (per legem Anglie), and that the heir,
William de Montfort, was a Minor.! I have spoken under Idsall
of the great purchase made by Bartholomew de Badlesmere of the
estates of William de Montfort. The transaction was completed by
a Fine, levied at Westminster on October 6, 1309, between Bar-
tholomew de Badlesmere, Complainant, and William de Montfort,
Deforciant. After the death of John de la Mare of Bradewell,
Tenant for life by custom of England, the reversion of the following
Manors was ceded by Montfort to Badlesmere, viz. Ideshall and
Addredele, in Shropshire, and Cumb, Colerne, Heghtredbury (ex-
cept a messuage and 2 virgates), Sterte and Hurdecote, in Wilt-
shire. The whole were to be held by Badlesmere immediately of
the King, by whoee precept the Fine was levied. John de la Mare
was present, and, as tenant for life, did fealty to Badlesmere. The
latter paid Montfort £1,000 for the grant.?

On August 12, 1315, King Edward II., being at Thunderley, ex-
pedited a Charter, whereby Bartholomew de Badlesmere was em-
powered to hold two weekly markets, on Mondays and Fridays, and
two annual fairs on the vigil, day, and morrow, of Trinity Sunday,
and of St. Matthew the Apostle, at Shuffenhale; also a weekly
market on Thursdays, and a Fair on the vigil, day, and morrow of
St. Peter and St. Paul (June 28, 29, and 80), at Aderdeleye, and a
Market on Mondays at Castlecombe. On the same day the King
granted to Badlesmere a Charter of Free-Warren in Ideshale, Ader-
deleye, Sponleye, Calverhalle, and Shavynton.?

In the Nomina Villarum of 1316, Bartholomew de Badlesmere
duly appears as Lord of Aderdeleye. Six years afterwards he
fought on the rebel side at Boroughbridge and was taken prisoner.
His subsequent attainder and execution are parts of a well-known
drama.* Adderley was at length restored to Giles de Badlesmere,
his son; and, on the death of the latter without issue, it passed to
Margery, the youngest of his four Sisters, who carried it to her
husband, William Lord Roos of Hamlake and his descendants.

Of UnNpERTENANTS in Adderley I have the following notes.—

At the Assizes of 1256 Robert le Waleys of Arderdel, in Brad-
ford Hundred, failed in due attendance. At these same Assizes,
Vivian fitz Adam, of Addradel, impleaded Stephen fitz Hamon for
half a virgate here, alleging that Stephen had no other ingress, but

! Compare Vol. II. p. 801. 3 Rot. Chart. 9 Edw. I, No. 67.
2 Fines Div. Com. 8 Edw. II., No. 23. 4 Soe Dugdale’s Baronage, 11. 68.




THE CHURCH. b

under an expired lease, granted by Adam, the Plaintiff’s father.
The Suit failed because Stephen showed himself to be a Tenant-in-
villeinage under Walter de Dunstanville. However the Plaintiff
was allowed to proceed by some other process ;—and it would seem
that he did.—

On November 12, 1257, a Fine was levied whereby Vivian fitz
Adam, tenant of half a virgate in Aldredesleg, surrendered the same
to Walter de Dunstanville (Plaintiff), and received 2 merks. At
the Assizes of 1272, Alexander de Adredeleg was one of the Jurors
for Bradford Hundred. A Fineof Nov. 25, 1277, shows Alexander
de Addredelegh enfeoffing William fitz Alexander (probably his own
son), in a messuage and 70 acres in Addredelegh. The Grantor
excepts an assart called Baret, and reserves a penny rent to himself,
and the render of all capital servives by the Grantee. A sore hawk
is the nominal consideration.

In 1316 Richard de Sumervill would seem to have been a Tenant
in Adderley.

\

ADDERLEY CHURCH.

I am wholly at a loss to say what Saxon Church may have been
the Parent of the Churches of this district. Adderley with two of
its Manorial adjuncts (Shavington and Spoonley) form the present
Parish of Adderley, while Calverhall is in the Parish of Prees.
Perhaps Prees, great in its ecclesiastical antecedents, was at one
time the Parish Church of Adderley, but proximity would give
Market Drayton a better claim to this spiritual supremacy.

Adderley Church was founded before 1291, when it stands in the
Tazation, as worth £5 per annum.! 1t was not, like Prees, in the
Deanery of Salop, but, like Market-Drayton, in the Deanery of
Newport. However we know that Rural Deaneries were first
_ formed without much respect to, and probably without much know-
ledge of, original Parochial houndaries.

In 1341, the Assessors of ¢he Ninth, quoting the Church-Tazation
of £5, taxed the Parish of Adderdeleye at the same sum, as a fair
index of tke ninthk of its wheat, wool, and lambs.?

The Valor of 15345 gives the preferment of William Tomson,
Rector of Adderley, as £12 per annum, less 14s., for synodals and
procurations.’

THE Fonr of this Church is curious, and I imagine ancient, but
I can refer it to no specific sera.—

! Pope Nich. Tazation, pp. 245, 248, 3 Valor Ecclesiasticus, Volume III.
2 Inquis. Nonarum, p. 182. page 187.



6 ADDERLEY.

There is an inscription round the upper edge, which, as far as I
can decipber it, or may venture to supply an hiatus, should run as
follows : —

HIC MALE PRIMUS HOMO PRUITUR CUM CONJUGE POMO.

Such a motto is so irrelevant to a Font that I must conclude the
stone to have originally stood in some other relation.

EARLY RECTORS.

Master RicEarD DE NorTHAMPTON, Priest, was instituted
March 8, 1305, at the presentation of Sir John de la Mare. He
died June 11, 1319.

RoBerr LE PoEr, or Power, Acolyte, was admitted Sept. 15,
1319, having been presented by a Patent of Edward II., dated at
Newcastle upon Tyne, August 1, 1319.1* On his resignation, an-
other Patent, of April 28, 1330, presents—

Jonn FarnponE to this Rectory, King Edward III. then having
custody of Bartholomew de Badlesmere’s heir.? Farndone was ad-
mitted August 1, 1330. He had license for a year’s non-residence
(studendi gratid) on August 19, 1348 ;—and died August 29, 1349
(probably of the pestilence).

JoBN DE AsscHEBY, Clerk, was admitted Dec. 13, 1849, at the
presentation of Dame Margaret, Widow of Sir William de Roos, of
Hamlake, knight. On Jan. 14, 1354, this Rector had license for
a year’s non-residence.

On May 13, following, he exchanged preferments with—

WiLrLiam Cook, of Newport, Priest, who was admitted to Ad-
derley at the presentation of Sir Thomas de Hakeston, knight,—
Patron pro hac vice.

Joan pE Bevsron, Rector of Aderley, had alicense for two years’
non-residence, on Oct. 20, 1355. However, on January 4, 1370,—

WiLiam Cookes (again, as it seems, Rector of Adderley) ex-
changes preferments with—

WiLLiam pE MonTGoMERY, Priest, late Vicar of Drayton, who
is presented to Adderley by Sir Robert de Roos, knight.

Siz Jomn BrerrE, Rector of Adderley, died in 1407-8, and
on Feb. 28, 1408,—

Sie Huen pe Seton, Chaplain, was admitted at presentation of
the “ noble woman Beatrix, Lady De Roos.”

1 Patent. 18 Edw. IL,, p. 1, m. 37. 3 Patent. 4 Edw. III., p. 1, m. 28.




Shabington,

“Tre same Nigellus holds Savintone. Dodo held it (in Saxon
times) and was free. Here is half a hide, geldable. The arable land
is (enough) for 1111 ox-teams. In demesne is half a team ; and (there
are 11 Serfs and 111 Boors, with half a team. The value of the
Manor (in King Edward’s time) was 12s. (per annum) : now it is
worth 15s. Nigellus found it waste.””!

Matthew de Shavington, already mentioned,® was perhaps an
earlier Tenant in this Manor than any of the following.— '

Henry de Shavington held here in 1219, under Walter de
Dunstanvill (I1.), by a rent of 5. On Oct. 29, 1227, a Fine was
levied between Henry de Scaunton, Plaintiff, and Walter de Dun-
stanvill, Deforciant, of 4 virgates in Schaunton, whereof was Plea
of Warranty. Walter now acknowledges the right of Henry, to
hold in fee, at a rent of 6s. 84. In return Henry renounced all
right in that bosc at Schaunton called Franchehaye, according to
the following boundaries, viz. from Hethelhurste Riding to Brocsich;
and thence to Risewrichtebrok. All Shavington wood, outside those
limits, was to remain to Henry and his heirs.

At the Assizes, during which this Fine was levied, Henry de
Savington was amerced 1 merk for unjust detention. He paid the
debt in 1229. Henry de Savinton attests a Tunstall Deed about
1240.

It must have been the above or a succeeding Henry de Shainton
who appears in 1255 as a Juror for Bradford Hundred, and as
Security for a Fine set upon Richard Burnell.

At the Assizes of 1256, William, son of Peter de Saunton, with-
drew a suit of disseizin against Henry de Saunton for a tenement in
Saunton. His Surities de prosequendo were William, son of Robert
de Lak, and Richard, son of Hugh de Kaverhal.

In September 1257, Henry de Schaventon was Foreman of a
Hodnet Jury, and about the same time he attests Deeds already
quoted under Wottenhull and Marchamley.?

Contemporary with this Henry was Reginald de Shavinton,

! Domesday), fo. 259, a, 1. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 211 bis. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 2562, 276.



8 SHAVINGTON.

surety in a Tunstall Suit of 1256. The position of this Reginald
soon after, as first witness of a Wottenhull Deed,! would suggest
that he was, at the time, head of his family.

In August, 1267, the Lord of Shavington was again named
Henry. Henry de Scainton was impleaded by Robert fitz Gervase,
and Felicia his wife, for having disseized them of a messuage and 1}
bovates in Scainton. It proved however that the Plaintiffs had
been in rebellion, and the Defendant had obtained the premises
under a precept of the *“ Lord Edward.”?

On the Assize-Roll of 1272, Henry de Shavinton was entered as
one of the Coroners of Shropshire. He occurs on a Jury in 1281 ;
was living in 1285, but was dectased in 1292, when—

Reginald de Shavington, as his heir, appeared at the Assizes, to
answer for his conduct whilst Coroner.

At these same Assizes one Williara de Mere sued Reginald, son
of Henry de Schavyngton, for two-thirds of the Manor of Schavyng-
ton under a Writ De Recto. The Plaintiff alleged that his Grand-
father, Robert, had been seized of the premises in Richard I.’s time,
which Robert had a son and heir, William, which William had a
son and heir, William, the present Plaintiff. The cause was tried
by Grand Assize, the issue being,  who had the better right.”” The
Jury found that Robert had never been seized, as of fee. The
Court decided that Reginald should hold the premises quit of Wil-
liam and his heirs.?

This Regineld was one of the principal Jurors who had to try
causes of Quo Waranto, immediately after these Assizes. He oc-
curs as witness of a Betton Deed in 1294, and in 1300 he is
entered as Reginald de Chavynthon, on the Jury which then made
perambulation of the Shropshire Forests.

I can say no more of this family, whose tenancy under the Lords
of Adderley was evidently the principal one in Shavington. I recur
to notices of some other Tenants.—

On October 27, 1227, a Fine was levied between Thomas fitz
Walter, Plaintiff, and Edwin Willaveston, Tenant, of a meadow in
Scavinton, which Thomas had claimed by process of mort d’ancestre.
Thomas now consented to ratify a grant which Edwin had made
of the meadow to Combermere Abbey; but the Abbey was to hold
it under Thomas and his heirs at a rent of 6s. In return, Thomas

1 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 275. shire and the Marches in 1268,
2 Edward, Prince of Wales, who had 3 Astizes, 20 Edw. I, m. 7.
acted as his Father's Licutenant in S8hrop- 4 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 200.




SPOONLEY. 9

renounced to Edwin and his heirs all right which he had in the vill
of Willaveston (Wooliston).

Robert fitz Gervase of Shavington has occurred above in 1267.
As Robert Gervase or Jervys he also occurs on Juries of 1281,
1283, and 1290.

At the Assizes of 1292 one Alexander de Shavynton was a
Manucaptor for the future appearance of Master Richard de Pilson.
The same person was appointed a Collector of a Shropshire Scutage
in November 1319, and occurs in 1320.

The following suit of August 20, 1313, probably mdlcates Wil-
liam de Titteley! as principal Tenant in Shavington.—Thomas de
Lee, John and Stephen his sons, William Tittenleye and Margaret
his wife, William Hord and Robert his Son, Robert Bottereh and
John, son of Reyner de Lee, were arraigned for wrongfully disseiz-
ing Thomas de Titteneleye of 2 messuages, a Water-mill, one caru-
cate and 3 bovates of land, and 8 acres of meadow in Shavynton,
Culshetel,? and Upton Waters. The cause was adjourned, but Wil-
liam de Tittenleye, as sole Tenant of the premises, undertook the
whole defence of the Suit.’

Spoonlep.

“Tae same Nigellus holds Sponelege. Dunning held it (in
Saxon times) and was free. Here is one hide, geldable. There is
(arable) land for 11 ox-teams. It was and is waste. In King Ed-
ward’s time the Manor was worth 20s. (per annum).”*

In records subsequent to Domesday, and previous to the reign of
Edward III., I have not found a single notice of Spoonley, except
as involved in Adderley.

Edward II.’s Charter of Free-Warren to Bartholomew de Badles-
mere specifies his demesnes at Sponleye. It is probable that the
whole Manor was held in demesne.

! Titleylies between Shavington, Spoon- | Vol. VIII. p. 24).

ley, and Adderley, but is in Cheshire. 3 Assizes at Brug, 7 Edw. II.
? Probably Cross Hill (vide supra 4 Domesday, fo. 259, a, 1.
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Calverball or Cloberlep.

“Tre same Nigellus holds Cavrahalle. Edmeer and Eluui held it
(in Saxon times), for two Manors, and were free, together with
these lands. Here are one hide and three virgates, geldable. There
is (arable) land enough for vi ox-teams. In demesne is oneteam;
and (there are) 11 Neat-herds and 1 Villains, with one team.
The wood will fatten 20 swine. In King Edward’s time the Manor
was worth 18s. (per annum). It now yields 20s. and a rent of one
hawk.”’!

The Lords of Whitchurch were immediate Tenants of the Lords
of Adderley at Calverhall. Of this we have two distinct evidences.
In 1219 Walter de Dunstanvill (I1.) assigns to Shrewsbury Abbey
a rent of 10s., receivable from “ William fitz Ralph of Blanc-
munster for the Fee which he held under the said Walter in Chal-
vrehalle.”” Again in 1285 Bogo de Cnovill (in right of his wife
Alianore, daughter and Coheir of William de Blancminster) stood
mediate between John de la Mare, Lord of Adderley, and William
de Calverhall, tenant-in-fee of Calverhall. Those whom I have now
to mention will therefore be understood to be Tenants in Calverhall
under the Lords of Whitchurch.—

William de Caverhale attests Sandford and other Deeds between
the year 1240 and 1250. TIn 1249 he sat as Juror on a Sandford
Inquest.? In 1254 William de Calverhall or Calverle, proposed to
sue John de Verdon and others for disseizing him of a tenement in
Calverhall or Calverle. He is consistently entered on the Pipe-
Roll of 1255 as owing one merk pro habendd assizd.

In 1255 the Bradford Jurors presented that Adam Miller of
Calfrehall, and Robert Chof of Claverleg (Cloverley) gave 6d. each
yearly, to William de Blancminster for his Advowry.?

At the Assizes of 1256 Adam dc Kalverhale and John his son
were in misericordid, for having disseized Richard le Fevre, and
Alice his wife, and William, son of Henry de Wereslegh, and Agnes
his wife, of comnmon right in 32 acres of land in Kalverhall.* The
Father and Soun were likewise impleaded for the same wrong by

1 Domesday, fo. 239, 8, 1. 3 Rot. Hundred. I1. 59.
2 Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 102, 228-9. 4 Assizes, 40 Hen. 111, m. 4.




CALVERHALL. " 11

Adam fitz Peter of Kalverhall and Sibil his wife, but these Plaintiffs
withdrew their prosecution, it having been shown that the Defen-
dants were in seizin of the cleared land (frussurd) in question, be-
fore the Plaintiffs were married. The Plaintiffs’ Sureties de pro-
sequendo were William fitz Henry and Robert fitz William, both of
Kalverhal.!

One Richard fitz Hugh of Calverhall has occurred to us above“
at this same period.

But, to return to the principal Tenant,—William de Calverhall.
In August 1257 he proposes to sue Albric de Albo Monasterio for
disseizing him of a tenement in Calverhall. In September 1258
he has a similar suit against William de Albo Monasterio. In July
1259 he himself is impleaded by Richard and Alice le Fevre (above
mentioned) for disseizing them of common pasture in Calverhall ;
and it would seem that the Plaintiffs were worsted, for in October
following they had a Writ of Attaint against the Jurors in this
cause. )

On November 18, 1275, a Fine was levied, which substantlvely
was William de Calverhale’s settlement of an estate on his own son.
As William de Calverhale, Senior (Impedient), he acknowledges
his gift of a messuage and carucate in Calverhale to William de
Calverhale, Junior, and his wife Alina (Plaintiffs, through Alan de
Savynton their Attorney) ; to hold to them and the heirs of William,
Junior, by payment of a clove-rent to William, Senior, and his
heirs, and by performance of all capital services.

In 1284 we have Henry de Calverhall on a Hoduet Jury; but I
take it to be the above William, Junior, who occurs as William de
Calverhall soon aftér, and as attesting local Deeds.® In 1292 the
same person, as Manucaptor for Master Richard de Pilson, is called
William de Cloverleg.

Again as William de Calverhale he occurs as a witness in 1294,*
and as a Juror on the Forest Perambulation of 1300, and on a local
Inquest of 1314. In May 1324 he was returned by the Sheriff of
Shropshire as a Man-at-arms, and as under summons to attend a
Great Council, forthwith to be holden at Westminster.

In April 1308 it was ascertained by Inquest that an acre in
Calverhale which William, son of Richard fitz Hugh (a Felon), had
held, had been in keeping of the Vill of Calverhale for the King’s
year and day, and that the Vill was responsible for the profits. It

! Assizes, 40 Hen. III., m. 8. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 252, 2563, 285.
2 Supra, page 7. 4 Ibidem, p. 200.
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was held under William de Calverhale.! In January of the same
year (1808) a Sandford Inquest was attended by Richard de Clover-
leye. Soon afterwards we have Thomas de Calverhall attesting a
Whixall Deed.?

Soulton,

Tuis was one of two Manors, wherewith it would seem that Earl
Roger endowed his Chapel of St. Michael, within the Castle of
Shrewsbury.? Domesday does not assign the Hundred of Soulton,
but that is determined by later Records. It describes the Manor
as follows.—

“ The same Church (St. Michael’s) holds Sulgtune (of the Earl).
Brictric held it (in Saxon times) freely. Here is one hide, geldable.
There is (arable) land for one ox-team. Here is half a team. The
former value of the Manor was 5s. (per annum) : now it yields 4d.
more.”’*

I have shown under Lacon, how in the 13th century both Lacon
and Soulton were held under St. Michael’s by Robert Corbet of
Morton.® What remains to be said, chiefly concerns the Tenants
who held under the said Robert Corbet or his predecessors.

On Dec. 2, 1199, Suanilda de Suleton sent Robert fitz Elias and
Richard fitz Walter to essoign her appearance at Westminster in a
Plea of land, which Ralph the Provost had against her. Owing
to her default now or previously, the Sheriff, on Dec. 18 following,
seized the land in manu Regis, and reported his act to the Law-
Courts in Hilary Term 1200. On Feb. 10, following, Ralph (here
called) the Beadle, and his wife, Edith, appeared in Court by their
Attorney, Yvo de Suleton, to claim a virgate in Suleton. Suanilda
again failing to appear, the Plaintiffs recovered their seizin. It is
probable that the above Ralph, called Provost or Beadle, was iden-
tical with Ralph de Estleg, who was dead in 1203, and whose widow,
Edith, was then (as we have seen under Whixall®) impleaded for a
virgate in Suleton.

! Inquisitiones ad guod damuum, 1 8 Compare Vol. V. p. 206.
Edw. II., No. 5. ¢ Domesday, fo. 252, b, 2.
2 Suprs, Vol. IX. p. 284 §-6 Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 8562, 348.
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The subsequent Tenants of Soulton were probably descendants of
that Yvo de Suleton, who acted as an Attorney in 1200. He or
another Yvo de Suleton has been seen attesting Sandford Deeds
about 1280 and 1245.!

The Bradford Hundred-Roll of 1255 puts Suleton down as one
hide, paying the proportionate sums of 4d. for stretward, and 4d.
for motfee. Yvo de Suleton, ““ Lord of the vill,”” held it of Robert
Corbet, and did suit twice yearly to the Hundred.®* Here the
Seigneury of St. Michael’s was altogether forgotten.

In 1256 we have seen William de Lacon disseizing Ivo de Sule-
ton of a right of common.> We have also, under Lacon, investigated
the terms upon which Robert Corbet remained Mesne-Lord of
Soulton and Lacon, after a trial with the Rector of St. Michael’s.+

In 1257, 1272, 1276, 1278, and in March, 1281, Ivo de Su.leton
occurs on Jury-lists.

The Tenure-Roll of 1285 says that “ Ivo de Sulton holds the vill
of Sulton under Robert Corbet, and he under the King’s-Chapel of
St. Mary (read St. Michael), in Shrewsbury Castle.” The latest
notice I have of Ivo de Suleton is as a Juror on an Inquest of
January, 1301. -

In January 1808, Thomas de Solton was fourth Juror on a
Sandford Inquest.

About the year 1810 Andrew de Kendal attests a Whixall Deed
as “Lord of Suleton.” In May 1819 he was returned to the
Parliament at York, as a Knight of the Shire; Richard and Wil-
liam de Sulton being his Manucaptors. Later in the year he acted
as a Collector of Taxes and Scutage in Shropshire.® His position
in the testing clause of a Deed dated at Prees, on April 14, 1320,
is extraordinarily low for a person of such mark. In July, 1821,
he attended a Parliament at Westminster as a Knight of the Shire
for Salop, Richard and Walter de Sulton being his Manucaptors.
On May 28, 1322, a Royal Commission issued at the suit of Hugh
le Despenser, Earl of Winchester, as well as at the suit of the
Crown, for trying Andrew de Kendal, who was indicted, with many
others, for forcibly entering upon the Manors of Alstanfield (Staf-
fordshire) and of Roston and Thurwarston (Derbyshire).t

! Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 225, 229. l 3.4 Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 854, 352.
2 Rot. Hundred. IL. 56. 8.8 Parliamentary Writs, IV. 1048,




14

aAbhitchureh, formerly T eston,

WirH respect to this Manor, Domesday has the following re-
markable entry.—

“ Willelm de Warene holds Westune of Earl Roger. The Earl
Herald held it (in Saxon times). Here are 74 hides, geldable. In
demesne are 1111 ox-teams and two Serfs; and (there are) vi Neat-
herds, xx111 Villains, ix Boors, and one Radman, with v teams,
and yet x1rr1 more teams might be (employed) here. The Wood
will fatten 400 swine, and therein are 111 Hayes. In King Edward’s
time, the Manor was worth £8 (per annum). Now it is worth
£10.1

It is obvious that /Weston must have been so called with reference
to situation, but it would be difficult to point out any Manor,
Mountain, or River, lying to the East of Whitchurch, and of suffi-
cient importance to have given to the latter place a subsidiary
name. On the other hand, Whitchurch lies on the extreme West
of this part of Shropshire. Its position as bordering on the Marches
of North Wales was important, and to that we may attribute its
ancient name. The change from Weston to Whitchurch is still
more easily accounted for.—The district was thinly provided with
Churches. A Church, probably a spacious one, and built of white
stone, was founded at Weston soon after Domesday. Such a thing
was wondrous in the eyes of the Marchers. It happened over again
at Oswestry ; and so Album Monasterium, or Blancminster, became
the names common to two important places in the same County.

A word now about Harold, son of Godwin, sometime Earl of
‘Wessex, and sometime King of England. It was fitting that he
who as King Edward’s Lieutenant, had set his foot on the neck of
Gruffyth ap Lewellyn, and who for a time was the reputed Con-
queror of Wales,—it was fitting that he should he reprecsented on
every part of the Border. But the jealousy of the Mercian Earls
probably thwarted such pretensions, and Harold’s only Shropshire
estate was Weston.

Again William de Warren, the Domesday Lord of Weston, had
no other Manor in Shropshire but this one. He had Manors in

! Domesday, fo. 257, 8, 2.
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twelve other Counties, but those he held immediately of the King.
In many of them he had bheen preceded by Earl Harold. His
- greatest Fiefs were in Sussex and Norfolk.

I have traced the origin of William de Warren in a former
volume.! He was Grandson of a Bishop of Coutances. He was
Cousin-german to Ralph de Mortimer of Wigmore. He was more
distantly related to the Norman Earls of Shrewsbury and Hereford,
and to the Conqueror himself. His wife, Gundred, was a daughter
of the Conqueror’s Queen, by a previous husband.

Such were his pretensions and his influence, that William Rufus
made him Earl of Surrey.

It is singular to find a man, of such antecedents and such a
destiny, accepting an isolated feoffment in Shropshire, even under
his Palatine Kinsman. His nearest estates elsewhere were in Ox-
fordshire. Chivalry, rather than covetousness, probably dictated
his acceptance. William de Warren was called upon to take his
post with others on the frontier of North Wales. He accepted the
summons, and Weston became one of a series of fortified Castles
which thenceforth guarded the Marches.

The descent of the Earls Warren and Surrey derives no new light
from their association with Whitchurch. As a part of a nation’s

history it is well known already, and need not be repeated here.
** Their Seigneury at Whitchurch was recognized for more than two

centuries after Domesday, but became at length little more than
nominal. It ultimately vanished under a twofold influence ;—the
greatness of their Vassals, and the statutes which gradually under-
mined the very essence of feudal tenures by facilitating alienation.

The earliest known Vassal of the Earls of Surrey at Whitchurch
was a Cadet of their house; but he does not appear before the
elder male line of Warren was extinct, and the honours of the
family had been carried by a female to Hameline Plantagenet, a
natural brother of King Henry II.

This earliest known Lord of Whitchurch was— .

WiLLiaM DE WARREN, better known as WiLLiaM riTz RANULF.
His relation to the elder line has never been ascertained nor, as far
as I know, surmised. My notion on the subject is quite conjectural.
William, second Earl Warren, he who died in 1135, is stated, on
the best authority,® to have had three sons,—William, Reginald,
and Ralph. William is well known as his father’s successor and

! Supra, Vol. IV. p. 196. grant to Castle Acre Priory, mentions his
3 William, second Earl Warren, in a | son Radulf (Monasticon, V. 51,v.). Also
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the last of the elder male line. Reginald became notorious as’
Lord of Wirmgay by marriage with its heiress. Of Ralph little
has been recorded except his name, and little can be assumed ex-
cept his era. It is consistent with both to suppose him to have
been father of William fitz Ranulf of whom we are now speak-
ing! If so, Ralph himself may have been, in his time, Lord of
‘Whitchurch.

William fitz Ranulf (of Whitchurch) must not be confounded with
either of two cotemporaries. There was a Williama fitz Ranulf of
Alfreton, in Derbyshire, living in the reigns of Henry II. and
Richard I. There was a much greater William fitz Ranulf, a
Courtier and Justiciar in the time of Henry iI., and who served the
high office of Seneschal, or Chief Justice, of Normandy from 1178
to 1200, when he died. Leaving to the notes some particulars about
these two persons,® I proceed with our proper subject.

The first sure appearance of William fitz Ralph of Whitchurch
is, as William fitz Randulf, on the Shropshire Pipe-Roll of 1176,
when he was Security for the Fine of his neighbour, the Lord of

a curious, and undoubtedly genuine,
Charter to Lewes Priory, by the third
‘William, Earl Warren (Monasticon V. 14,
No. ix.), mentions his brothers Radulf
and Reginald. Both attested the Deed,
and Radulf took part in that symbolic
process of investiture by which the Monks
were put in seizin of the things conveyed,
—viz. “ Henry Bishop of Winchester cut
a portion of hair from the head, not only
of the Grantor, but of his brother Ra-
dulf, before the High Altar of the Church
of Lewes, at the time of the donation.”

It would seem that Radulf was the
second brother. His appearance at Lewes
on the occasion of the above grant must
have happened between the years 1142
and 1147.

' 1t is nearly certain that Ralph de
‘Warren, the brother of the third Earl, had
a son William. The following consecu-
tive sentences occur in a recitatory Charter
of the Monks of Lewes.—In Norfowid.—
Ad Estunam Rannulfus de Warenna dedit
nobis unam virgatam terre. Ad Gelham
dedit nobis Willielmus filius Rawnwlfi de-
cimam terre quam tenet Godvinus. (Mo-
nastioon, Vol. V. p. 14, No. vi.).

2 Robert fitz Ranulf, father of William
fitz Ranulf of Alfreton, and Sheriff of
Derbyshireand Nottinghamshire, seems to
have been oneof those who were discharged
from their Shrievalties for misconduct ;
—as exposed by the famous commiesion
of Easter 1170. At all events it was not
death which caused his retirement at that
particular juncture, for he survived the
murder of Becket (December 29, 1170),
and lived to found Beauchief Abbey in
memory of the Martyr. This will guard
us from supposing that William fitz Ra-
nulf, Robert’s immediate Successor in the
Shrievalty, was his son, above mentioned.
The new Sheriff was quite a different per-
son. He held his office as Sheriff from
the summer of 1170 till Michaelmas 1180,
discharging it in 1178, 1179, and 1180,
by Deputy. Between1170and 1178 heis
constantly found attesting Deeds of King
Henry II. Out of ten such Charters 1
find three in favour of Shropshire Monas-
teries ; but this is a mere accident and
must not lead to the idea that William
fitz Ranulf of Whitchurch was the Wit-
ness. The Courtier and actual Witness
was also s great Justiciar. He began with
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Ightfield.! About the same time we have seen him as William fitz
Radulf attesting a certificate of John le Strange (I.).3

On the Shropshire Pipe-Roll of 1193, the following oblatum is
recorded, as paid.—Willielmus filius Rad’ reddit compotum de dimid’
marca pro habendd loqueld sud que est in Comitatu de Norfolk
coram Justiciariis in partibus illis. In thesauro liberavit. Kt
Quietus est :—that is, William fitz Radulf of Shropshire, having a
Norfolk Lawsuit on hand, wished it to be tried on the spot. Doubt-
less he had some feoffment in the large estates of the Earls Warren
in the latter County.

I next recur to proofs, already given, that William fitz Ranulf
was Lord of Dawley in Middlesex, and that he held it under Robert
Corbet of Caus. These proofs extend from 1198 to 1201, and show
the Tenant to have been skilled in Law.? I think that he practised
in the Law-Courts even more extensively than this evidence would
prove, but there may have been a cotemporary Civilian of the same
name. His position, as a witness of Robert Corbet’s grant to
Buildwas Abbey (about 1198), is too high a one for anything less -
than a great Feudatory.*

Having established William fitz Ranulf’s connection with Shrop-
shire, Norfolk, and Middlesex, I now follow him to a fourth County,
viz. Essex.—Haltesteda (now Halstead) in Hidingford (now Hinck-
ford) Hundred, stands as a Manor of William de Warren in Domes-
day.* From May 1199 till Easter 1200, I find continuous notices
of a Suit pending between William fitz Ranulf and Richard fita
Peter, concerning a moiety of the Advowson of Halsted or Hausted
in Essex.® The matter was settled by Chyrograph ; how, I have not
inquired. The relevance of the Suit to our main subject consists
in the following grant of a moiety of the Advowson of Halstead,
by William fitz Rannulf to the Shropshire Abbey of Lilleshall.—

Willielmus de Warein filius Randulfi, assensu heredum (meorum)

a Foreet Circuit in 1173, was a Justice in
eyre in 1175, and in January 1176 was
appointed to one of the first regular Cir-
cuits, as fixed by the Statute of Northamp-
ton.

The Pipe-Rolls of 1176 and 1177 show
him to have visited, not only the Counties
allotted to him, but others. In March
1178, when Richard Bishop of Winches-
ter resigned the Chief Justiceship of Nor-
mandy, William itz Ralph was appointed

X.

to the office. After this we hear of him
no more in England. His latest attestation
as “Seneschal of Normandy” is dated at
La Roche d'Orivall, January 14, 1200,
and in the course of that year he died.

1 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 208.

2 Supra, Vol. VIIL. p. 313.

3-4 Snprs, VIIL pp. 14, 17.

b Domesday—Kssex, fo. 37.

¢ Rot. Cwria Regis, Vol. L. pp. 270,
809; Vol IL pp. 67, 224

3
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dedi, &c., dimid’ Ecclesie de Hantstude, que ad donacionem meam
pertinet, pro salute anime mee et Emme uzoris mee, §c., ita quod ego
et heredes mei presentabimus Abbati et Episcopo Vicarium perpetuum,
qui secundum facultates illius medietatis competentem habebit Vica-
riam, arbitrio boni viri moderandam. Residuum vero usibus Cano-
nicorum exhibebitur.! .

That the Canons of Lilleshull did not eventually secure this grant
is quite clear, but that result is quite consistent with the doubtful
title of the Grantor.

His abortive Charter to Lilleshall was not the only one expedited
by William fitz Ranulf of Whitchurch to a neighbouring Monastery.
His grant to Combermere Abbey is for the health of himself, his
wife, his children, and of Reinald de Warren, and for the souls of
his father, mother, and all his ancestors. It seems to have con-
veyed lands in the neighbourhood of Branklow and Combermere to
the Monks, while they released the Grantor from certain claims
which they had on places called Cholestune and Leviethelcote. The
Grant was attested by Adam fitz Roger, William de Withcheshale
(Whixall), Wion fitz Landef, Philip de Erdentone, and William
Clerk.? The Charter must have passed before the year 1186, inas-
much as William Malbanc, whom it names as an adjoining land-
owner, was then deceased.

In the year ending Michaelmas 1199, Geoffrey fitz Piers (Chief
Justice of England) had issued a Writ to the Sheriff of Shropshire,
under which the said Sheriff furnished 10 merks, out of the Crown
revenues in his hand, to William fitz Rannulf ¢ for the repair and
emendation of his Castle of Album Monasterium.”

At this point the means of tracing the succession of the Lord-
ship of Whitchurch leave me. During the Shropshire Assizes of
October 1203, William de Blancmuster sent an Essoignor, Hugh
Harun, to excuse his attendance. A Patent of June 10, 12183,
orders Robert de Vipont to give up Oswestry, Shawardine, and
Eggelawe Castles to John Marescall, who is forthwith to consign
the last-named Castle to William de Albo Monasterio. I cannot

1 Lilleshall Chartulary, fo. 75.

3 Monasticon, V. 326, No. VIII.—The
boundary of the lands conveyed, com-
menced at a spot where the Grantor's
lands were fenced off from the Jands of
William Malbanc, viz. under Bronchelau
(now Branklow). Thence it passed to the
top of Blakepulles (a piece of water which

the Monks were to be at liberty to raise
over 18 feet more ground); thence to
Lefdiac; to Hortalebroc-bridge ; to Ha-
vecthesmos; and thence straight to He-
vetthelbecke (which was also a locality di-
vided between the Grantor and William
Malbanc), and 80 on to Combermere and
to Dintesmere.
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say whether this William was Lord of Whitchurch or only tenant
of the then Lord. I cannot think that he was identical with Wil-
liam fitz Ranulf.

I must quote other documents with similar uncertainty.—A grant
to Stanford Nunnery (Lincolnshire), which I suppose to be by the
fifth William, Earl Warren, and so to have passed between 1202 and
1240, is attested by Radulf de Albo Monasterio.! Again a Writ of
November 1217 shows one William de Albo Monasterio to have
been disaffected, but to have returned to his allegiance. The or-
dinary precept for restoring his estates is addressed to the Sheriff
of Essex.? In 1219 we have seen the Lord of Whitchurch, or at
all events' the Mesne-Lord of Calverhall, styled “ William fitz Ra-
dulf of Blancminster.’’3

On November 8, 1221, a Fine was levied at Shrewsbury between
William fitz Radulf, Plaintiff, and William de Blancmustier, Ten-
ant, of a hide in Le, whereof the former had been claimant under
a Suit of mort d’ancestre. He now releases his claim, for 4 merks
paid by the Defendant.

The testing-clause of a Deed (already glven under Broseley‘) and
which perhaps passed earlier than 1221, gives no clue to the above
fine. ‘ William de Warren and his brother Ranulf” attest the
Deed, but whether William de Warren was identical with the
Plaintiff or the Defendant in the Fine, seems problematical.

Again in 1235-6 we have had Matilda de Albo Monasterio alias
Matilda de Blancminster as Lady of Dawley (Middlesex).® She, I
take it, must have been widow of some Lord of Whitchurch.

On March 8, 1238, the Lord of Whitchurch at length occurs
with a sure mark of identity. As William de Warren de Albo
Monasterio, he is summoned by a Writ Close to attend the King
at Oxford on April 20th following, there to confer on the truce
with Wales, which would expire in a few months, and on the atti-
tude assumed by Lewellyn, in causing his son David to receive the
homage of the Welsh.®

On April 1, 1240, William Plantagenet, sixth Earl Warren, was
deceased, and his son, John, was a Minor, in custody of the King.
Coincidently his Tenant at Whitchurch, viz. William de Warren de
Albo Monasterio, died, leaving a son and heir, William, of full age.
The latter, at this juncture had of course to fine with the Crown

1 Monasticon, IV. 268. 4 Supra, Vol. IT. p. 14.

2 Claus. 1. 875. § Supra, Vol. VII. p. 14.
3 Supra, page 10. $ Rot. Claus. 22 Hen. II1., m. 16 dorso.
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for livery of his inheritance. His Fine was 20 merks, and it se-
cured the King’s Writ to the Sheriff of Shropshire ordering his
investiture in his late Father’s estates; but the Sheriff was to re-
tain the Castle of 4lbum Monasterium till further orders.!

An Essex Feodary, drawn up about 1241-6, gives William de
Blancmoster as Mesne-Lord of Mamged®’ (probably Manenden),
which was held of the Honour of Warren for three-fourths of a
Knight’s-fee. About this time we have a Whixall Deed attested
by Sir William de Albo Monasterio in the first, and by Griffin
fitz William in the fifth, place. The Lord of Whitchurch and his
younger brother (afterwards of Ightfield) are, I presume, here re-
presented.

A patent of March 13, 1258, directs James de Audley, John le
Strange, and William Trussel to investigate the following matters,
viz. “ who were the persons who had recently slain William de Albo
Monasterio, Seneschal of William de Albo Monasterio ;—by whose
orders the Murderers had acted ;—and who had sheltered or enter-
tained the said Murderers in defiance of the King’s peace.”

Perhaps the following suit, which was pending at Westminster
on October 20, 1253, had reference to the affair in which the Senes-
chal of Whitchurch was slain. The Abbot of Comberrere was pro-
secuting Roger de Barham, William de Stywell (Steel), and Hugh
fitz Oweyn, for having, in company with William de Albo Monaste-
rio, seized the Abbot’s cattle. Another and cotemporary Roll places
the Suit of trespass before the Queen in Council. Roger de Bor-
ham and Hugh fitz Oweyn had, it seems, gone, vi et armis, to the
Abbot’s Granges of Smetheton, Farentil, and Hunnygrave ;—had
beaten the Abbot’s men, &c.—Here the Sheriff’s conduct was
censured for not producing the Defendants, who, it was stated, had
lands, and might easily be found. All I can further say of this
matter is that in Hilary Term 1254, it was in the hands of Brother
Anian de Makelesfel, as Attorney for the Abbot.

The Hundred-Roll of 1255 is very confused about Whitchurch.
It intends, I presume, to register William de Warren (William le
Waran’) as Lord. The Manor preserved its Domesday hidage
(74 hides). William de Warren held it under the Earl Warren.
He had here his Park, and exercised a right of Free Warren, by
a title unknown to the Jurors. He had withdrawn certain suit
(what suit is not stated), 16 years ago ;—thereby injuring the Crown
at the rate of 4s. per annum.® His taking of Advowry-fees from

} Rot. Finium, 1.450.  * Supra, Vol IX. p. 228.  ® Rot. Hundred. II. 58, 69.
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two Tenants at Calverhall has already been noticed as a present~
ment on the same occasion. In this instance the Lord of Whit-
church is called William de Albo Monasterio.

At the Assizes of 1256, and among the presentments of Brad-
ford Hundred, I find a renewed reference to the murder of William
de Albo Monasterio.—Clemencia, his widow, had challenged Kene-
wric Spicfat, Gyun Lowar, and Robert Seys, as the Murderers;
and they had Leen outlawed in the Curia Comitatds. She had
also challenged Robert de Campeden, Hugh de Graham, Robert
de Eyton, and other Monks of Combermere, and William Brun, a
servant of that house, for violent conduct (de forcid). Lastly she
had challenged William, Abbot of Combermere, for assenting to,
and ordering, the said violence. Now (at the Assizes) the Lady
was not forthcoming. The Abbot was found not guilty of suborn-
ing (de precepto), the others were found not guilty of committing,
any violence.!

William de Warren or de Albo Monasterio, Lord of Whitchurch,
was deceased before June 11, 1260. A Patent of that date orders
James de Audley (he was then Sheriff) to give Peter de Nevill
custody of the Castle of Album Monasterium till June 24th fol-
lowing, “that in the mean time it might be discussed whether
custody of the land and heir of William de Albo Monasterio, lately
deceased, pertained to the said James de Audley or to John de
Warren” (then Earl of Surrey).

A Patent of June 30, 1260, shows the point settled. John de
Warren, as ‘ Chief Lord of the Fee,” is to have seizin of the
Castle of Album Monasterium ; so however as that Bertreia, eldest
daughter of the deceased, should remain in such seizin of the afore-
said Castle as she had when it was delivered to the Justice of Eng-
land. (The lattcr was acting as Viceroy, the King being abroad.)

Another Patent of July 23, 1260, shows that James de Audley
and John de Warren were at issue about the guardianship of the
heirs of Whitchurch, or at least about the custody of some of their
estates. Commissioners are appointed to inquire about the disputed
cuslody.

In 1272, Alienore, Joan, and Matilda, daughter and coheirs of
William de Albo Monasterio were respectively the wives of Robert
le Strange, William de Barentyn, and Robert de Brascy. The
eldest daughter, Berta, took no part in a suit which her Sisters
then had against James de Audley. The reason of her indiffer-
ence is probably connected with her incompetent state. She was

! Placita Corone, 40 Hen. ITI., m. 7. 3 Vide supra, Vol. IX. page 280.
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imbecile, and her share of Whitchurch and of estates in Essex re-
mained in the King’s hands, .

From a Writ of June 3, 1280, it appears that Ralph de Sand-
wych (a fiscal Officer of the Crown) had granted a lease of that
fourth share of Whitchurch which was in the King’s hand by
reason of the idiotcy of Bertred fitz William. The Lessee was
Bertred’s sister, viz. Alianore, widow of Robert le Strange, who
was to pay the King a rent of £17. 12s. for the said share of Whit-
church. The King now ratifies the arrangement.! I next find
Bertred’s death announced by a Writ of February 11, 1281, which
describes her as Bertreya filia Willielmi de Blancmunster. At the
Inquest which ensued, Bertha’s fourth of Whitchurch was valued
at £17. 12s. per annum. The service by which the Manor was held
under the Earl Warren is curious.—The Lord of Whitchurch was
to do duty as the Earl’s Huntsman, at the will and at the charges
of the said Earl. In Essex the deceased had held, under the same
Earl, two carucates at Exstanes-ad-Montem, and other lands and
rents in Parva Cavenel. Her whole Essex estate was valued at
£19. 14s. 3d. yearly, and was held by service of one knight’s-fee and
a quarter.? The sisters and coheirs of the deceased, all upwards of
30 years of age, are described as Alianore le Strange, Johanna wife
of Sir William de Barentyn, and Matilda wife of Sir William (read
Robert) de Bracy.

I now return to speak of Elianor, originally the second but even-
tually the eldest of these Coparceners. Of her first husband, Ro-
bert le Strange, I have given full accounts elsewhere® He died
about August 1276. A Writ-Close of September 10, 1276, orders
the Sheriff of Hampshire to give 30 librates of land and rents in
Choulton to his widow, Alianore, till such time as her fair dower
should be assigned. Another Writ of October 2, 1276, enjoins the
Sheriff of Shropshire to restore the Manor of Whitchurch, and all
things which had been taken therefrom since the Sheriff had seized
it, to Alianore, widow of Robert le Strange, whose inkeritance the
King had found it to be.* Accordingly on the Pipe-Roll of 1277,
Bogo de Knovill, the Sheriff in question, ‘ responds for no issues of
the lands of Robert le Strange in A4lbo Monasterio Warenne,’ be-
cause he had surrendered them (to the Widow) according to the
King’s Writ.”

1\ Rot. Pinium, 8 Edw. 1., m. 9. § That is Whitchurch-Warren ;— so
3 Inquistions 9 Edw. 1., No. 7. called in this Roll to distinguish it from
3 Suprs, Vol. II. p. 120. Album Monasterium (or Oswestry) which

4 Claus. 4 Edw. I, m. 4. was contemporarily an Escheat.
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Soon after this, Bevis de Knovill himself married the Widow.

The Feodaries of 1284-5 reduce the Coparceners of Album Mo-
nasterium to two.—“ Bogo de Knovile in right of Alianore his wife,
and Robert de Bracy in right of Matilda his wife, hold the said
Manor with its members, viz. Hilton, Burthall, Wodhows, Magna
Asche, Parva Asche, Tildstoke, Hethley, and Kempley,' of the Earl
Warren, and he of the King in-capite, as a member of his Barony.
Here there is held a free Court twice yearly, with pleas of blood-
shed and hue-and-cry. Also they have Gallows, Market, Fair, and
Warren, by an unknown title. Of the said Members, Nicholas de
Audley holds Kempley, and John fitz Hugh holds the vill of Hyn-
ton under the aforesaid Bogo and Robert.”

John le Strange, eldest son of Robert le Strange by Alianore de
Blancminster, has been sometimes styled Lord of Whitchurch, but
with great inaccuracy. This youth was born and baptized at Whit-
tington on September 16, 1266. In September 1287, being then
in custody of Anian, Bishop of St. Asaph, he made proof of his
age, and had livery of his paternael inheritance.? Within two years
(a8 I have shown under Wrockwardine) he died without issue.
Consequently he was never seized of Whitchurch, for his Mother
was living, then and afterwards.

At the Assizes of October 1292, Bogo de Knovill was in default
as regarded attendance. He and his wife Alianore were presented
as exercising free-warren in Whitchurch; and he and Robert de
Bracy for holding a Wednesday’s Market, an annual Fair, and other
franchises in the same Manor. They came forward, and as to the
Market they exhibited a Charter thereof, granted by King Richard I.
to “ William fitz Ranulph, ancestor of their wives Alianore and
Matilda.” Hugh de Louther followed up this presentment with his
suit of Quo Waranto, respecting free-warren, fair, market, wayf,
and pleas of the crown; but he only sued Bogo de Knovill (printed
Hugo de Ovonill) and Robert de Bracy (printed Bray) and their
respective wives. They evaded a direct issne by pleading their
Coparcenery with Johanna widow of William de Barytyn, which
Johanna was still living. She was summoned from Middlesex to
meet the Justices at Lichfield in January 1293. She sent her at-
torney, and, acknowledging her Coparcenery, joined in her Sister’s
defence. The question of Market had already been settled, that of
Fair was now dropped. As to the other things the Defendants
pleaded the “ immemorial usage of their Ancestors ever since the

! Now Hinton, Broughall, Wood- | and Kempley. Hethley seems to be lost.
houses, Ash Magna, Ash Parva, Tilstock, 2 Inquisitions, 16 Edw. I., Num. 74.
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Conquest.” Hugh de Louther denied the fact of such usage in
general, or that (without a special Charter) it could authorize weyf.
The first point, usage, was left to a Jury of the Country, the last to
judgment coram Rege.! How the case ended 1 cannot say.

I cannot determine the precise period of Alianore de Blancmin-
ster’s death. I think she must have been living in 1301, for her
husband on February 10, 1301, signed the Barons’ Letter to Pope
Boniface as Bogo de Knovill, Dominus de Albo Monasterio, and his
signature was followed by that of his Stepson, Fulco le Estraunge
Dominus de Corfham,—titles which were, one of them inapplicable,
the other insufficient after Dame Alianore’s death. However the
Lady was deceased before June 1306, as we shall presently see.

My object in thus endeavouring to establish the proximate date
of her death is with reference to her Monument. She was buried
by some extraordinary chance at High Ercall. Her Monument
consists of a slab of grey marble, sometime inlaid with a fleury
cross and two shields of Arms, but the brasswork of these is gone.
Her Epitaph remains.—DaME ALIANORE LEsTRANGE DE Branc-
MISTER GIST ICI. DIEU DE 8A ALME EIT MERCI.

Bogo de Knovill survived his wife, but, not having had issue by
her, retained nothing of her inheritance. He probably retired to
his estates in Gloucestershire. His latest Summons was to a Par-
liament to be holden at Carlisle on January 20, 1307. King Ed-
ward’s Writ of Diem clausit announcing his death bears date at
Burgh on the Sands, July 6, 13078

Meantime Fulk le Strange, second son, and now heir, of Robert
and Alianore, was seized of one-third, and had purchased the rever-
sion of another third, of Whitchurch. A Fine was levied on June
12,1306, whereby Robert de Bracy and Matilda his wife (Plaintiffs)
allow their gift of one-third of the Manor of Whitchirche-Warrene
to Fulco le Estraunge and his wife Alianore (Deforciants). The
latter restore the premises to the Grantors for their lives,—to hold
by payment of a rose-rent, and by render of all capital services ;}—
with reversion to Fulco and Alianore and the heirs of Fulco.

In the Nomina Villarum of 1816 Fulco Extraneus is entered as
sole Lord of Album Monasterium. At his death in January 1324
the Inquest found him to have been seized of the whole Manor. He
had held it of the Earl Warren, “ by service of taking the venison
throughout the Earl’s lands in England, at the charges of the said
Earl.”

“ The Manor of Whitchurch was charged with a rent of 10s. per

1 Quo Waranto, pp. 680, 720. 2 Rot. Finsum, 886 Edw. I., m. 1.
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annum payable at Lady-Day and Michaelmas, and a rent of one
sparrow-hawk, or 2s. payable on August 1, to the King’s Manor of
Aderdeleye.” This was perhaps for Calverhall. Also Fulk le Strange
had charged one of his four Mills with a life annuity of 6 merks in
favour of a certain Richard de Leylond.!

An Inquest of July 12, 1824, shows the latter payment to be
questioned by the King, probably as Guardian of Fulk le Strange’s
heir. It was however found that Richard de Leylonde was seized
for life of 6 merks rent arising from Whitchurch Mill. He had
the said rent by a grant of Fulk le Strange, and had enjoyed it for
six years before the death of that Baron. The Jurors explained
that both the Manor and Mill of Whitchurch were held, not of the
King in capite, but under the Earl Warren, and by service of tak-
ing the Earl’s venison, in all the Earl’s English estates, and at the
Earl’s charges.?

Henceforward the history of Whitchurch was involved in the
well-known history of the Barons Strange of Blackmere. The fol-
lowing Fines levied by John, son and heir of the above Fulk le
Strange, relate exclusively to Whitchurch. By a Fine of April 24,
1334, John le Strange and his wife Ancarett (represented by her at-
torney, Griffin de Lee) concede the right of Bartholomew de Berde-
feld, Parson of Ightefeld, to the Manor and Advowson of White-
churche. The said Trustee settles the same on John and Ancarett,
with entail upon the heirs of John.

By another Fine of July 8, 1347, John le Strange of Whyte-
church and his wife Ancarett, have the Manor of Whitchurche set-
tled on themselves for their lives, with remainder to Fulk, son of
John, and the heirs of Fulk by his wife Elizabeth; but in default
of such heirs, to the right heirs of John.

As ro UNDERTENANTS in Whitchurch or its members, I have not
a word more to say. The exclusive jurisdiction, maintained by its
Lords, probably kept the internal affairs of the Manor thus secret.

One or two Cadets of the Warrens of Whitchurch have been al-
ready mentioned, as for instance the Lords of Ightfield, and that
Ralph de Albo Monasterio whose heir was Mesne-Lord of Waran-
shall in 1285.3

CHURCH OF ST. ALKMOND.

There was not any Church here at Domesday, but no one was leas
likely than the first William de Warren to suffer such a need to

! Inguisitions, 17 Edw. II., No. 78. Edw.IL., No. 68.
? Ingwisitiones ad Quod Damnum, 17 2 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 268.
X. 4
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remain. He who listened to the Councils of Lanfranc, and founded,

first the Priory of Lewes, and afterwards that of Castle Acre, must

be judged by such a standard rather than by the ridiculous story in-
vented by the Monks of Ely against his memory.!

~ 'We have seen that, whenever founded, this Church was so nota-

ble as that it served to change the very name of one of the two -

largest Manors in Odenet Hundred.

The Tazation of 1291 values the Church of Album Monasterinm
(in the Deanery and Archdeaconry of Salop) at £18. 6s. 8d. per
annum.?

In 1341 the Assessors of the Ninth reduced this Tazation to a -
Parochial tax of £12. The reasons given would seem to have been
sufficient for a much larger reduction. A third of the Parish was
in Cheshire, and a part of it in Flintshire, which Counties were not
included in the present assessment.3

The Valor of 15345 gives £50 as the gross income of John Tal-
bot, then Rector of Whytechurche. His outgoings were 4s. 4d.
for annual synodals; 6s. 84. for procurations; 4s. for procurations
at the (Bishop’s) triennial Visitation; and £4. 13s. 4d. for the Sa-
lary of a Chaplain serving the Church of Merbury.*

The old Church of St. Alkmond fell down in the reign of Queen
Anne. Its windows are recorded to have been adorned with the
following armorial insignia.’—

1. Gu. a fesse between six cross crosslets or (Beauchamp).

2. Quarterly.—First and fourth. Gu. a lion rampant or (Fitz
Alan) ; second and third, Chequy or and az. (Warren and Surrey.)

3. Gu. a lion rampant or (Fitz Alan, Earl of Arundel).

4. Chequy, or and az., a fesse Gu. (Warren,® differenced.)

5. Gu. a fesse componee arg. and sa. between six cross crosslets
fitchee or (Beauchamp, differenced).

6. Gu. a lion rampant within a border engrailed or (Talbot).

7. Or, frettee Sa. 8. Gu. frettee or. 9. Gu. a cross fleury or.

10. Gu. a saltire arg. and gu.

EARLY RECTORS.

Jacos Taunceys (probably Fraunceys), parson of Whitchirch,
had letters of protection in 25 Edw. I. (1296-7).7

* 1 Dugdale's Baronage, 1. p. 74. may be found in Mr. Duke's Antiguities
2 Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 247. of Shropshire (Appendix, p. Ixxiv.).
3 Inquis. Nonarum, p. 183. & Harl. MS. 2129, p. 177.

4 Valor Eocles. 111. 185. Some ac- ¢ Perhaps Warren of Whitchurch.
ocount of the Parochial Chapel of Marbury 7 Prynne, I11. 716.
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Master JouNn pE KnouviLr, Rector of Whytchurch, has a
year’s license of non-residence, studendi gratid, dated March 19,
1310. The License is renewed on January 23, 1311, and the Rec-
tor is enjoined to distribute 40s. before Pentecost among the poor
of his Parish. On September 24, 1331, the same Rector has a
two-years’ license of non-residence, and leave to demise his income
to a fitting person, with due regard to the cure of souls. He died
March 13, 1837, and on April 5 following—

BARTHOLOMEW DE BERDEFELD, Priest, was admitted at the no-
mination of Griffin du Lee, agent for Sir John le Strange of Whit-
chirche, Knight. By Patent of April 1, 1337, King Edward III.
confirms to Bartholomew de Berdefeld, Rector of Whitchurch, the
donation which Fulk le Strange de Albo Monasterio had made to
God, to St. Mary, to St. Alkmund, and to the Rectors of St. Alk-
mund’s of Album Monasterium, viz. a parcel of land called La Wi-
thianes-leghe, with a vivary adjacent thereto ;—to hold, as the said
Bartholomew and his predecessors had held it beforetime.! On
October 1, 1854, this Rector has license for non-residence till Easter
“that he may go to Oxford, and stay there, to take medicine.”
He died on June 3, 1858. On June 8, 1358—

RoBert LEestraUNGE, Clerk, was admitted, at presentation of
“ Dame Ankaret, Lady of Blakemere and Whitchurche.” From
June 25, 1358, to September 21, 1358, an exchange was being ne-
gotiated between this Rector and—

Nicroras pe Dovaron, late Rector of Brikhull Magna (Linc.
Dioc.). On February 25, 1368—

JonN pE LubprLowe, Priest, was instituted ;—the King present-
ing as Guardian of the heir of John le Strange. On June 5,
1398—

Tromas STANLEY, Rector of Whitchurch, exchanges preferments
with— .

Sir THoMas Warrorp, late Rector of Bourne (Cantuar. Dioc.),
and Prebendary of Llandewy in the Collegiate Church of Aber-
gwilly (Menev. Dioc.). The latter is presented to Whitchurch by
Sir Richard Talbot of Irchenfeld and Blakmere.

Rocer pe TaRISK was instituted to Whitchurch December 6,
1409, at presentation of the noble woman (honesta mulier) Ankaret
Talbot, Lady of Blakmere.

END OF ODENET HUNDRED.

! Patent. 11 Edw. 11L, p. 3, m. 13.
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Cheswardine and Chipnall.

Domesday enters these two places as constituting a single Manor
in the Staffordshire Hundred of Pirekolle, and as held immediately
of the King by Robert de Stafford.—

““The said Robert holds, in Ciseworde and in Ceppecanole, two
hides; and Gislebert bolds of him. The (arable) land is (enough)
for v1 ox-teams. In demesne are 11 teams, and (there are) xi1 Vil-
lains and viit Boors with 8} teams. Here is one acre of meadow ;
and a wood, two leagues long, and half a league wide. The Value
(of the Manor) is 40s. (per annum). Godeva held it (in Saxon
times) ; but from Ceppecanole she used to pay 2s. to the Church
of St. Chad.”?

Godeva, Saxon Lady of Cheswardine, was of course the Countess
Godiva, and the Church, which had a rent-charge on Chipnall, pro-
bably granted by herself, was Lichfield Cathedral.

How this Manor was severed from the County and Barony of
Stafford, we cannot tell. We shall see that Robert, third Baron
Stafford, looked upon the change as a wrong to himself.

Meanwhile we learn that Cheswardine was in the hands of Henry
1., and came to the hands of Henry II. as a Royal Manor, whoee
value hore the proportion of £4 to the total of £265. 15s., which
constituted the reputed fiscal income of the Royal Demesnes of
Shropshire.

Before Michaelmas 1155, the King had granted Cheswardine to
. Hamo le Strange. The revenue thereof is assigned to him on the
Pipe-Roll of 1156 in the usual form—E! in terris datis Hamoni
Extraneo 4 lib. This continued till Michaelmas 1159. At Mich-
aelmas 1160 the correspondent entry is—Et Johanni Exiraneo 4
lib. in Chesewurda. The fact is that Hamo le Strange had died
without legitimate issue, and his elder brother John, already Tenant-
in-capite of Nesse, was heir of Cheswardine. Thus things stood
when, in 1165, the return, known as the Liber Niger, was made.—
The Schedule of Robert, Baron Stafford, includes Cheswardine, as
a Knight’s-fee, which John le Strange was withholding from him.?}

! Domesday, fo. 248, b, 2. guod Johannes Le Estrange ei difforciat
3 Cheswarda ;—feodum wunius militis, | (Liber Niger, 1. 188).
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Notwithstanding the remonstrance thus implied, Cheswardine con-
tinued to be held by the family of Le Strange for ages. In 1167
the Vill, being amerced half a merk by Justices of the Forest, is
styled Chesworda Johannis Exiranei. In 1169 the amercement
was paid.

I propose to enter fully into the origin and history of the House
of Le Strange under Ness. Still it may make some details, which
belong exclusively to Cheswardine, more intelligible, if I premise
that the tenure iz capite of Le Strange of Ness and Cheswardine
was by service of 14 knights’-fees, and that Cheswardine constituted
the half-fee.

The great event of John le Strange’s connection with Cheswar-
dine was his grant of the Advowson thereof to Haughmond Abbey.
The best abstract of the original grant runs as follows, but needs
some explanation to rescue it from a suspicion of forgery.

Omnibus filiis Sancte Dei Ecclesie, Johannes Extraneus, salutem.
Noscant tam posteri quam moderni me donasse pro salute Regis
Henrici et heredum suorum, et med, et heredum meorum et pro animd
Regis Henrici et predec:ssorum suorum et meorum, et in perpetuam
elemosynam concessisse advocacionem Ecclesie de Cheswordyn, Mo-
nasterio de Haghmon et Canonicis ibidem Deo servientibus, ita li-
bere et quiete sicut aliquis predecessorum meorum eandem ungquam
liberius et quietius habuit. Et ut donacio ista firma et immutilata
permaneat, presentis carte attestacione confirmo. Tesle Willielmo
Jilio Willielmi filii Alani, et Johanne filio suo, et Wydone Eztra-
neo ; Willielmo de Baucis, Alano de Hedlee, Willielmo fratre suo.
Valete.!

The general inferences from this Deed are,—

(1). That it is a grant by John le Strange (I.), and so earlier than
1178 ;—

(2). That it is an offering for the well-being of King Henry II.,
and the soul’s-health of King Henry I.;—

(8). That it cannot have passed earlier than 1170, when the
second William fitz Alan was only 16 years of age.

The difficulty is, that the Deed appears to be attested by John
fitz Alan, known to have been unborn at the time (1170-8), and
only a younger son of his father, as long as that father was living.
The only explanation of all this is that the second witness was not
intended to be represented as the son of William fitz Alan (II.), but
the son of the Grantor, John le Strange (I.).

! Harl. MS. 8868, fo. 9, collated with Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 43.
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There is another grant of this Advowson by John le Strange (I.),
but open to the same objection. I give it in a note.!

That Haughmond Abbey, before the 14th of May 1172 (and
whether by written charter or otherwise) had acquired both the
Church and Mill of Cheswardine, we know from Pope Alexander’s
confirmation of that date. It confirms (inter alia) Ecclesiam
Sancti Swythini de Chesewardyn, and ex dono Johannis Eztranei,
molendinum de Cheswardin.

‘We have further the Confirmation of Bishop Peche, which from
its testing-clause must have passed in or before 1172, and wherein
“Richard, by Divine grace, Bishop of Coventry,” confirms to
Haughmond Abbey the Church of Cheswordyn “ as the Charter of
John Extraneus doth testify. Witnesses,—Roger, Archdeacon of
Salop; William, Dean of the Church of Lichfield; Nigil the Al-
moner ; Master Robert de Haye ; Master Terric; Master Geoffrey
de Lenton; Walter de Tilesberia; Alan de Hydesh’%; Richard de
Dalham?; Herbert, Canon of the Church of St. Chad, Salop.”

JorN LE Srtrange (II.) succeeded his father in 1178-9. We
have an abstract of a Deed which I think must have passed imme-
diately on his succession.—

Johannes Extraneus, omnibus, &c. Noveritis me concessisse (to
Haughmond Abbey) ecclesiam de Cheswordyn, quam Johannes Ez-
traneus pater meus dedit, pro salute Regis Henrici et heredum, et
pro salute med et heredum, &c. Teste, Hamone fratre Johannis Ex-
tranei, &c.

In 1189 the Fermor of the King’s Manor of Trentham (Stafford-
shire) deducts 8s. 84. from his liabilities, on account of pasture,
which the King (Richard I.) had conceded to John le Strange.
This entry was renewed for years on the Staffordshire Pipe-Rolls,
but rather as an annual charge on the general ferm of the County,
than on Trentham in particular.

In April 1200 John le Strange fined 20 merks “for having his
bosc of Chersworth out of regard, and that it might not be af-

! Omnibus filiis Sancte Dei Ecclesie,
Johannes Extraneus, salutem. Sciatis me
dedisse et cc et confirmasse in
perpetuam elemosynam Deo et Sancto
Johanni Evangeliste de Haghmon et
Canonicis ibidem Deo servientibus Ec-
" clesiam de Cheswardin cum omnibus per-
tinenciis et libertatibus suis, in bosco et
plano et pratis et pascuis et aquis, liberam

et quietam ab omnibus terrenis consue-
tudinibus, pro salute Regis Henrici et
heredum suorum et pro salute med et
heredum meorum. Hiis testibus, Wil-
lielmo filio Willielmi filii Alani, et Johanne
filio ejus; Widone Extraneo, Willielmo
de Baucis, &c. Valete.

? Probably Hydeshall or Idsall.

¥ Afterwards Dean of Lichfleld.
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forested, and that no one might take anything therefrom save by
his leave.”’? :

This procured King John’s Charter, dated at Windsor, on April
16th, exempting John le Strange’s bosc at Cheseword’, which bosc
was called Suthle, from all suits of the forest, and from forestage,
and exactions of Foresters, and from regard.®

The Feodary of 1211 says that “John Extraneus holds the
Manors of Nesse and Chesew’rthin, by grant of King Heunry II,,
and owes the service of one knight,—which Manors are wont to
render at the Exchequer £11.10s.’3 There are two inaccuracies
in this statement. The Scutage-Rolls prove that Ness and Ches-
wardine were held by service of 1} knights’-fees. Again the re-
puted fiscal value of Ness was £7. 10s. and of Cheswardine was £4 ;
but neither Manor had paid a farthing to the King’s Exchequer for
50 years preceding the date of this Feodary.

John le Strange (II.) was deceased in 1287-8. In 1197-8 he
had acquired Knokyn Castle by arrangement with his Cousins, the
heirs of Guy le Strange. This will explain, and serveto date, his
second Charter to Haughmond Abbey. It passed between 1198
and 1210, probably about 1209.—

As John Extraneus, he gives to the Abbey, a whole fourth part of
the vill of Chesewordin, with the Advowson of the Church, and a
right of common throughout his demesnes there; also the whole
land of Norslepe, with the Upper Vivary, near his Castle of Kno-
kin. Witnesses, William fitz Alan, John his son, Hormus le
Strange, Warin de Burwardesley, and William de Lankes (whose
name is probably miswritten).

JorN LE StranGE (IT1.), succeeding to his father, in or before
1237-8, is entered on a Feodary of 1240, as holding 1} fees in
Chesewardin and Nesse, of the King in capite.*

In the Bradford Hundred-Roll of 1255, Cheswardin is entered
as a Manor of half a hide, a difference from the Domesday esti-
mate, for which the grants to Haughmond Abbey will hardly ac-
count. John le Strange now held the Manor, of the King in
capite, by service of half a knight’s-fee. He did suit to the County
but not to the Hundred. He exercised Free-Warren, and had a
Park at Cheswardin, by warranty unknown to the Jurors.t

On March 26, 1269, this great man, the third Chief of a House
whose history had been remarkable for longevity, activity, and

Oblata, page 59. 3.4 Testa de Nevill, pp. 66, 45.
3 Rot. Chartarum, page 45, $ Rot. Hundred. I1. 68.
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loyal steadfastness, had made way for his son, John le Strange
(IV.), who on that day did homage at Westminster.

There are two Charters of John le Strange (III.) to Haugh-
mond Abbey, which relate to Cheswardine. In one, styling him-
self John, son of John le Strange, he recovers the land of Norslepe,
by giving the Canons a virgate at Cheswordin in exchange, which
virgate was held by Helias the Priest, Henry the Beadle, Richard
de Golston, and Ernod fitz Reginald. This Deed was attested by
Robert de Girros, and probably passed about 1240.!

Some Ancestor of John le Strange had, it seems, made a grant
to Haughmond Abbey of land at Lytcham, in Norfolk. This too
. was recovered by “John le Strange tercius,” who gives to the
Canons in lieu thereof a noke of land at Chesewordin, viz. that
which Henry fitz Aldred held. This Deed, attested solely by Sir
Fulk de Orreby, probably passed in 1260-1.

It seems that Cheswardine was one of the estates which John le
Strange (II1.) settled in fee on his younger son, Roger. I think
that it may have been in his Father’s lifetime, and between the
years.1260 and 1265, that—

RogEr LE STrANGE, ““Lord of Cheswardine,” confirms to Haugh-
mond Abbey its previous acquisitions in this Manor. The Deed
was attested by Robert de Cheyne, Sir Odo de Hodnet, and Roger
de Pinelesdon, Clerk.

In October, 1280, an Exient was made of Cheswardine in com-
mon with Roger le Strange’s other estates at Childs Ercall, Elles-
mere, and Hampton. The Lord of Cheswardine held 44 acres and
two Mills in demesne. For the latter he paid a rent of 6s. 8d. to
William de Chippeknolle,? and 6d. to the Lord of Tirley,® and 6d.
to the Lord of Golston. Among the Tenants of Cheswardine were
Richard Forester (holding 1} virgates, at a rent of 9s. 4d. and 4
hens), and William de Chippeknolle (holding 24 virgates). The
whole income of the Manor was £6. 14s. 84d.5

The Tenure-Roll of 1285 says that ‘ Roger Extraneus holds
Cheswardyne with its members, viz. Magna Sowdeley, Parva Sow-
deley, Westumscete, Chipernoll, and Hull, of John le Strange ;® and
he (holds) in capite : but the aforesaid Roger shall do the service

! Chartulary, 7%/ Cheswordin. 4 Goldstone was not really s member
2 This must have been for some tene- | of Cheswardine, but of Childs Ercall
ment, surrendered by the Feoffee, all but | (supra, Vol. VIIL. p. 18).
the said rent. & Forest Rolls, S8alop. No. 14.
3 Now Ralph le Botyler of Wem. 8 That is John le Strange (V.) of Ness.
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of one knight’s-fee to the King. He has here his free court,
and holds Pleas of bloodshed and hue-and-cry, and has Warren,
and these (franchises) he has used.” At the Assizes of 1292 the
Bradford Jurors presented these franchises as exercised by Roger
le Strange.—Hugh de Lowther followed up the presentment with
his Writ of Quo Wuranto, as to Pleas-of-the-Crown and wayf.
Roger le Strange replied, stating that wayf, infangthef, &c. were
necessary adjuncts of those two Great Courts, and of that View-of-
Frankpledge, which were his by right! He called John le- Strange
to warranty, and the cause was repeatedly adjourned. In Easter
Term, 1298, John le Strange appeared coram Rege, and vouched
the required warranty. He produced Henry I1.’s Charter of Ches-
wardine, with its liberties, to Hamo le Strange, ““ his antecessor,
whose heir he was.”—

An abstract of this important Charter is preserved on the Plea-
Roll, and not, that I know of, elsewhere. I venture to fill up an
hiatus or two, and so to determine its chief contents.—

““ Henricus Rex Anglie, et Dux Normannie et Agquitanie et Comes
Andegavie, &c. Sciatis me dedisse Hamoni Extraneo, Chedewordam
cum pertinenciis, que reddebat 1v Libras tempore Reyis Henrici avi
mei, in excambium vii libratarum terre quas dederam (eidem Ha-
moni) de dominio meo de Wellintona priusquam Rex essem ;—ad
tenendum ipsi et heredibus suis de me et heredibus meis, in feodo et
hereditate per servicium dimidii feodi militis,” &c.—

John le Strange now argued that the scope of the word perti-
nenciig in the above Charter must be determined by the immemorial
usage of his Ancestors: and Hugh de Louther once more replied
that view-of-frankpledge, wayf, and infangenthef, being integrals
of the Crown, could not be conveyed in any but special terms.® I
find many adjournments, but no decision of the point.

On July 24, 1304, Roger le Strange obtained the King’s Charter
for holding a weekly Market at Cheswarthin, on Mondays, and also
a yearly Fair of three days’ duration, viz. the eve, the day, and the
morrow, of the Translation of St. Swythin.?

The testing-clause of a Deed, already noticed,* proves that about
the ycar 1307 there was a—

JouN LE STRANGE oF CHESWARDINE, distinct from John le Strange

} Quo Waranto, p. 720. Wakes were usually sought to be held on
3 Coram Rege,-21 Edw. 1.,36 dorso. the anniversary of the Patron Saint of the
3 July 14, 15, and 16. This is a good | Parish Church.
instance of the theory that Fairs and 4 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 21.
X. 5a
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of Childs Ercall. Both of them must have been Feoffees of Roger
le Strange, then living. The Inquest taken in 1311, on Roger le
Strange’s death, does not extend to his Shropshire estates, which
were all probably settled. John le Strange is entered as Lord of
Cheswardine in the Nomina Villarum of 1316. He was, as we
have seen, illegitimate, but he had power to settle Cheswardine,
subject to his own life, on Hamo, a younger son of Fulk le Strange
of Blackmere, thereby disinheriting his own sister Lucia.—The Fine
whereby this was effected was levied by Royal precept on Nov. 12,
1315. John Lestraunge of Cheseworthyn (Plaiutiff) first allows a
gift of the Manor to Fulk Lestraunge (Deforciant). Fulk then
returns it to John, for his life, with remainder to Hamo, son of
Fulk, and to the heirs of the said Hamo ;—to hold of the King.

Hence in the Inquest taken Oct. 22, 1330, on the death of John
Lestrange of Cheswardine, it was found that he had died seized of
nothing in demesne. The Manor of Cheswardine he had held in
capite, for half a knight’s-fee, under a grant thereof by Fulk le
Strange, for his life. It now remained to Hamo, son of the said
Fulk, and to the heirs of Hamo. We now hear for the first time
of Cheswardine Castle. The Jurors reported it as a fortress of little
strength (debile).!

Hamo le Strange died without issue, so that his heir was his elder
brother John le Strange of Blackmere. It must have been the
latter Baron who, on January 30, 1333, obtained a Charter of Free-
‘Warren for his demesnes at Cheswardine, Whitcharch, Corfham,
‘Wrockwardine, Sutton, Betton, and Longnor.? Afterwards Ches-
wardine descended to the Talbots, Earls of Shrewsbury, as Heirs
general of Le Strange of Blackmere.

UnperTENANTS. The Sprenghoses were Le Strange’s Tenants
at Longnor.—A branch of the family seems also to have had some
feoffment in Cheswardine. One Engelard Sprenghose gave land in
Chesewurthyn to Lilleshall Abbey. A Rent-Roll of the 18th cen-
tury states the said land to be productive of 18d. per annum. The
following Suit of mort d’ancestre was tried at the Assizes of 1272.
Emma, wife of Richard de Acton, and Christiana, wife of Hugh le
Joef, as daughters and heirs of Margery, late wife of Hugh Kewes-
chache, sued Richard de les Bigges and his wife, Emma, for a mes-
suage and half-bovate in Chesewardin.® The result does not appear.

HaveamMonp ABBEY FEE. At the Assizes of 1292, Hugh de

! Inquis. 4 Edw. IIL, No. 18. Chalkton (Southunts), Beggeworth (Glou-

? Rot. Chart. 7 Edw. III., No. 41.— | cestershiro), and Merbury (Cheshire).
The grant also extends to the Manors of 3 Assizes, 56 Hen. I11., m. 11 dorso.
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Louther had a brief of Quo Waranto against the Abbot of Hagh-
mon for one Mill and two virgates, and one bovate of land in
Wrockwardine and Cheswardine,—all claimed by the Crown as the
sometime seizin of King Henry II. The Mill (that of Allscott I
presume) the Abbot proved to be his by grant of Henry II. Asto
the land (here put at £ virgate and 1 bovate), it was decided by
Jury that the Abbot had the better right thereto.!

A similar claim by the Crown on the Advowson of Cheswardine,
met with a like fate. The better right was found to he the Abbot’s.
Hugh de Louther affected that Henry IIL. had presented one John
fitz Geoffrey to the Church.?

On March 26, 1324, the Abbot of Haughmond demises land in
Cheswardine, and the reversion of land, held by Richard le Poynour,
Vicar of Cheswardine, to William de Compton and John his son.

The receipts of Haughmond Abbey from Cheswardine at a later
period have been given under Naggington.?

CaipNaLL. One Thomas de Chipnoll occurs as Manucaptor for
John le Strange in 1260.

In Michaelmas Term 1260, 18 Jurors of the Vicinage of Chip-
peknol reported to the Curia Regis that Thomas de Chippeknol and
others, accused, by Juliana and Margery, widows of Robert de
Alvideleg and William fitz Luke, of having murdered their said
husbands, had indeed slain those two men; but that they were
felons and fugitives, and had been slain, after raising the hue-and-
cry against them (as was the custom in the realm of England), and
while they were resisting.

The following suit of Easter Term 1271 relates to land in the
Staffordshire Manor of Muckleston.—Alan de Campyun sued
Thomas de Clipknol, and Alice his wife, and Roger Friday, and
Matilda his wife, for a messuage and half-virgate in Mocliton. The
Defendants said the Plaintiff had no ingress, save through William
Grulbe, who was only Lessee for a term (now expired), under Philip
Campiun, the Plaintiff’s Grandfather. The cause was adjourned,
Roger Friday, as sole tenant, accepting the whole defence.

} Quo Waranto, p. 683. The real
question, sought to be raised by the
Crown-Lawyer, was probably whether
the Stranges had unlawfully alienated any
part of a tenure in capite. The Abbot's
appeal to a Jurata patrie was a dexterous
avoidance of the question of law : for the
issue of “ quis habeat majus jus*’ was de-

terminable by the Jury alone.

3 Quo Waranto, ibidem. The vacancy
of the Abbacy of Haughmond, concurrent
with the wardship of a Fits Alan, might
have entitled the Crown to such a pre-
sentation as that alleged; but I cannot
find it on the Patent Rolls.

3 Supra, Vol. IX. page 18,
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William de Chipenol occurs as a Juror and Landholder in the
Inquest of 1280.

Hoiu. This member of Cheswardine probably gave name to the
family of Richard del Hull, a Juror on the same Inquest of 1280.

MagNa aAND Parva Superey. The Forest-Roll of 1180 shows
that, previously to John le Strange’s Fine with King John, all this
district was reckoned to be within jurisdiction of the Shropshire
Forests. For instance, the men of Sulleia were assessed 16s. for as
many acres of wheat, the men of Goldestan 2s. for 2 acres of
wheat, Alan of Goldestan 1s. for 2 acres of oats, and the men of
Cipenol 1s. for the same. _

Under High Ercall we have had repeated hints that the Lords of
that Manor held Sudeley, or part thereof, under the Lords of Ches-
wardine.! In Sept. 1256 John fitz Aser and Margery his wife
have a writ against John de Ercalew for disseizing them of a free
tenement in Suthleg.

CHURCH OF ST. SWITHIN AT CHESWARDINE.

There is no symptom of a Church existing here at Domesday,
and I should think that the district must have originally belonged
to some great Staffordshire Parish. We have seen however that
the Church both existed, and had been given to Haughmond Abbey,
before the year 1170.

The Tazation of 1291 shows how much more permanent than
the secular boundaries of Counties were the original ecclesiastical
divisions. Chesewurthyn was still reputed to be in the Arch-
deaconry of Stafford. The Church, as appropriated by Haughmond
Abbey, was valued at £6. 13s. 4d.* What Bishop had granted this .
appropriation I do not discoyer, but Bishop Langton, being at
Pitchford on April 26, 1320, alludes to his Visitation of Hanghmon
in “mccexnviir”’ (read 1318 or perhaps 1815), at which he found the
Church thus appropriated, and the Abbey sufficiently authorized in
such appropriation by its Muniments. We know in fact that on
July 2, 1315, the Bishop himself bad allowed the Convent to
apply the income from this Church to the clothing of the Brethren.

The Ordination of the Vicarage was not settled in writing till
Dec. 7,1337.4 All the small tithes, except of the meadow of Robert
Clerk of Chippenol, were to go to the Vicar. He was also to have
the Manse and messuage wherein he now resided, and the land

! Suprs, Vol. IX. pp. 87, 89, 94. 3 Suprs, Vol. VII. p. 297.
3 Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 242. 4 Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 44.
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which had originally been assigned for the maintenance of a Deacon.
The Vicar was to cause the Church to be served by a Chaplain, a
Deacon, and other fit ministers, and was to provide the books,
vestments, and utensils, appertaining to the Chancel. He was also
to bear all Archidiaconal and ordinary charges.

In 1341 the Assessors of the Ninth placed this Parish in the
Shropshire Deanery of Newport. They rated it at £5. 6s. 8d.,
computing that £1. 6s. 8d. of the Church Taxation represented
income not now assessable, to say nothing of oblations, whieh were
also irrelevant.!

The Valor of 15345 omits all notice of Cheswardine as a Parish
Church ; neither does the Abbot of Haughmond’s return include
any receipts from the Rectory.

The following meagre list of Incumbents creates a suspicion that,
under the infamous system of appropriations, the appointment of a
Vicar was left very much to the option of the Canons of Haugh-
mond, and that the Vicarage was too poor to make the Bishops
eager to exercise a right of lapse.

EARLY INCUMBENTS.

Jonw~ 11z GEOFPREY, 8aid to have been app(;inted by Henry III.

S1r JorN DE Dunsron, Vicar, died Aug. 7, 1316,

Ricuarp LE Poynour, Chaplain, instituted Oct. 6, 1316, at pre-
sentation of Haughmond Abbey. This Vicar occurs in 1324.

JonN pE GADERNE was Vicar in December 1337.

RicaaRD BRED occurs Oct. 31, 1395.

Broraer THOMAS DE LupLows, Canon of Hereford, was instituted
in September 1459, at presentation of the Abbey.

Baschereh Hundred.

We have now to deal with Bascherch Hundred proper, as distinct
from those isolated detachments thereof which have already been
tabulated and dismissed.?

With these exceptions the all but general rule is, that, in the

! Inguis. Nonarum, p. 198. 2 Suprs, Vol. II. pp. 258-9.
X. 56
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TABLE OF THE DOME?

Saxon Owner Domesdsy Domesdsy
D(I’Wmn:g. v “TTE" Tenant in Ou;uc Mesne, or next Tenants. Sub-Tenants.
Achetone Seuuard . . ... Rogerius Comes Rainaldus Vicecomes Ricardus .
Abretone. .. .. Seuuard ..... Idem .......... Tdem ........c00.... e e aaans \
Etbretone ... .| Seuuard..... Idem .......... Idem ...oovvvvncennnn Herbertus .
Etbritone Gheri ...... Tdem ......... . | Warinus Vicecomes (nuper) ‘(’::;::)

. ‘Ecclesia 1 . . .
Hesleie . ..... Ste. Maris Idem .......... Ecclesia Stee. Mariee ... ceecen
Estone ...... Inod ...... Idem .......... Normannus .. ....ee0vs Fulcher...
Bascherche . ..| Rex Edwardus | Idem .......... Ecclesia Sti. Petri (inpart) | ... ......

Oscheteland
Betford. ..... Dodo Idem .......... Gerardus ........... .| Robertus ..
Bichetone . . . . { oclosia Bti- 1 | 1dem .......... Ecolesia 8ti. Cedde.. . . . . . Wiger .
Brums ...... nnamed) ..|Idem .......... Litigatur . .o ooovvvnen ] oeaeiio,
Burtune Ecclesia Tdem Ecclesia Ste. Mariee
..... Ste. Marie X ..
Burtone. . . . . . BoclosiaBti. 1| Tdem .......... Ecclesia Sti. Cedde. . . . .. ...
Cheneltone (Unnamed) ..|(Idem) ......... (Normannus) . .. coooeva] enneeenn.
Colesmere Aldiet ...... Idem .......... NOrmannus . . ccooeeone| ooveaanns
tone Eduinus Comes|{ Idem .......... Robertus Pincerna...... et
Franchetone Aldi ....... dem .......... Rainaldus Vicecomes . ...| Robertus..'
Hetone ...... Leuui ...... Idem .....00n Robertus Pincerna . . . Robertus . . ‘
Aitone . Leuric ......|Idem ....... « « . | Bainaldus Vicecomes . ...| Albertus ..!|
Aluric,
Feltone . .. ... {Elum-d, } Idem .......... Helgot .............. Bernardus.
Alchen.
Finemer ..... Seuuardus Tdem .. ..ocvvi] ciii i i [
Witesot . . .. .. Hunnith. . . ... Tdem ...uvnnnn. PIOOE o eeevreniennn]oirennnnn |
Fordune .| Edmer..... ojIdem.......... Rogerius de Laci.......| Osbernus . !
Leuiet, l
Grivelesul &G““um:’d, dem .......... Walchelinus ...cooovneloevnnnnns
Hadehelle . . .. Goduin . . ... Idem .......... ‘Rainaldus Vicecomes Osmundus .
Algar
Hordelei . . . . . Do, Idem .......... Odo..ovvvnnnnn. AN O |
Lagedone Elduinus Idem .......... Elduinus.............|.cvvenn, i
Letone . .. ... Humni...... Idem .......... Anschitil. .. ....ovvnee]venennnn. !
Nesso ....... S_euunrd}ls .- Idem .......... Rainaldus Vicecomes . ... [P ‘
Rosels . ..... g:g};:‘f?f‘:} Tdem .......... Eoclesia Sti. Cedde. . . ... | ......... |
Gellidone ....|Hunnith ....{Idem .......... Picot ....ovvvvvnenafenenannn,
Mulleht ..... Seuuardus ...|Idem .......... Rainaldus Vicecomes . ...[.........
Ecclesia
Mutone...... Sancte Idem .......... Ecclesia Stee. Mariem . . . . . Picot..... !
Mari®. ...
Maneford .|Elmer ......|Idem .......... Rogerius. .......ovvvifvevnnnnn.
unnit and Hunnit &
Moretone . {Ulmet } Idem ...... . Turoldus............. { Uluiet . }
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Mod Later,
Domesdsy Peatures. Diaeiey | Doy Hundred. Modern 'Name.
Silva ... .... e .| 8 nhide. | 255,82 |{ Sibortios of } Acton Reynald.
Non geldabilis .. .vooveeen. 2 hides. | 265,81 |{gicordies O 1| Albright Hussey.
: . : Liberties of e
........... eesssesssss]| 2 hides. 255, a..‘2 Shrewsbury . . Albyght Hussey.
.................... .o+| 8 hides. | 255,b.1 | Pimhill....... | Albrighton.
Presbyter. Silva.......... 8 hides. | 252, b.2 {é‘ﬁ‘:&?‘u of 1 Astiey.
....................... 2} hides. | 259, a. 2 ? N
Ecclesia. Tres Piscarige. ... .. 8% hides. 253,a.2 | Pimhill .......|Baschurch.
....................... 8 hides. 259,a.1 |Pimhill.......|Bessford.
TR 2 hides. | 258,a. 1 { g'mfu:; Bioton.
............... eeeessss| 1 hide. 259, a. 2 mhnll Brome Farm.
Prosbyter. Bilva ..........[ § hides | 262,b.2 |{gretioof 1) Broughton.

’ . : Liberties of ;
..................... ..| 2 hides. | 253,a. Shromiuey } Broughion.
...... vecesesnssnaesesss| 1 hide. 259, a. 2 ? ? 4
....................... 2 hides. | 269,a.-2 |Pimhill.......| Coolmere.
Quatuor Piscari®e . ......... 1% hides. 266,a.2 | Pimhill...... . | S
........................ 2 hides. 266, a1 | Pimhill.......|English Frankton.

: sy Eyton (near
.......... veewvewvenees] 1 hide. | 266,8.2 Pm?hm........{BZ“hugch)o
Molinum: .. veneeennnn. 2 hides. | 255, 2 g“,m;'u‘r’; {mg"“'
...... teteeeveeneneaans| % hide. 258,b.1 |Pimhill .......|Felton Butler.
feeeaees Ceeresescernaas + hide. 259,b. 2 |Pimhill .......|Fennymere.
Faber ....... e 8 hides. | 258,a.2 |Pimhill ....... Fitz.,
SilVB.veenereannns veeev.| 8 hides. | 256,b.1 |Pimhill....... Forton.
......... veveveeeereeo.| 2 nides | 257,0. {g“,""”‘i;'l:; Grinsell.
VA . e eeernn e 4 hides. | 255,8.2 {g‘m;:ug Hadnall
Silva....o0000nnn Ceeeean 2 hides. 257, b. 2 imhill . . ..... Hordley.
....... Pressaveteresons % hide. 259, b. 2 Li ? of Jagdon (now lost).
......... viereeeveneea.| 1 hide | 260,b.2 s,“’““fm Leaton.
Molinum .....ooveeveennns 8 hides. 255, a. 1 Pin}hill. ....... Little Ness.
........ veviivieennon ] 1 hide. | 283,a.1 {é‘ﬁ"ﬁ%‘f‘.. Little Rossall.
Presbyter. Silva.......... 8 hides, 255, a. 1 gm:ugy . } Merrington.
........ weveeieveeiees.| 2 nides. | 252,b.2 |Pimhill.......|Middle.
Dimidia Piscaria. Silva .. 3 hides. | 266,b.2 |Pimhill..... . . | Mitton.
e, 1 hide. 258,a.1 |Pimhill....... Montford.
Silva e cvveeen ceeeenn veeo| 2 hides. 268, a. 2 Bradford North . | Moreton Corbet.
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TALE OF THE DOMES

Domesda, Domesday
Meene, or next imh. Sab-Tenants
Eoclesia Sti. Cedde ..... e
Robert Pincerns ....... Radulfus
Turoldus . . covovveeen. Hunnit .
QGerardus ............ Robertus . .
Ecclesia Sti. Almundi Godeboldn:
Rogerius. .....eoonnvef veeuannn.
Rainaldus Vicecomes .| Albertus. .
Odo..... T T
Rainaldos Vicecomes . .. .| ... ......
Rogerius Venator.......| ..ccc....
Willielmus Pantualf .....|.........
Robert Pinoerna ... ....[«cceucu....
TIdem....ooveeeecneeef oneaannn:
Robert Pincerns ....... Sturmid . .
Rainaldus Vicecomes Albertus ..
Eoclesia 8ti. Cedde. . ... .| ... ......

Domesds: Saxon Owner
Name. v 030;‘;;"
Eoclesia Sti.
Andrdsa..... { Goie ™ }
Pectone ..... IeuenH of . d ..
unni an
Preston...... Uluiet . . . }
Prestone ..... Bertunt .....
Eoclesia Sti.
Prestone . { ‘Almundi .
Prestone ..... Godric. . ..
Rosela....... Homnpi . .....
Udeford and
BRuitone . Leuenot . ....
i JEh........
Slacheberie Aluiet ......
Eslepe ...... Ulurie . .....
Staurdine Eldred. .....
Sudtelch ..... Asci .......
‘Waleford Seunard . ....
Hantone .. ... Elégl;uu & ..
ti
Lartuse ..... { oclee
Ellesmeles . | Eduinus Comes
Berewic ..... Edric Salvage.
Nessham. . ... Morcar Comes
Lopitone . . ... Edrio Salvage .

...................

1Petri .ocvvvnnn....

18th Century, Bascherch Hundred was represented by the Hundred
of Pimhill ; while now in the 19th Century, it is represented mainly
by the Hundred of Pimbhill, but partly by the Liberties of Shrews-
bury. The proved exceptions are that Sleap Magna, Moreton-
Corbet, and a part of Preston Brockhurst (which part is in More-
. ton-Corbet Parish) have been annexed to the Hundred of Bradford
North, and that Ruyton-of-the-Eleven-Towns has been annexed to
the Hundred of Oswestry.
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Domeeda; Domesda; Mod Later,
Domesday Features. Hidage. Folio. Hundred, Modern Name.
...................... 1 hide. | 268,a.1 |{Zibertios ng; Onslow.
...................... 14 hides. | 256,a. 2 |Pimhill... ... | Petton.
...................... 14 hides. | 268,81 |[Pimhil.......|{reston Brock-
........ veveseveeensss]| dhide | 269,a.1 | Bradford North, |{ Freston Brook-
. Liberties of Preston Gub-
...................... 4 hides. 253, [ i] sbur;; balds. iy
. . iberties o Preston Mont-
BHIVA e e e eseeenene e, i hide. | 265,b.2 Shrowsiry } Pres
. . 'bertws O
...................... 1 hide | 285,83 |{gretieor } Rossall.
Silva. Quinque Piscaris. . .. . . 1} hides. | 267,b.2 |Oswestry...... {%}g‘;‘:,;fm“:l‘;_
...................... 2 hides. 266, a. 1 Pimhill .......| Shrawardine.
...................... 1 hide. | 269,82 |.............|{Slachebury (now
£ 11 % hide. 259, b.1 | Bradford North . | Sleap Magqs. .
FADEE o enrernnnnrennnnn 2 hides. | 266,82 |Pimhill..:....|{Denwardinein
...................... 1 hide. 269,b.1 |...o.ivienn| PP
....................... 2 hides. 266, a. 2 imhill .......| Walford.
....................... 8 hides. 266,8.1 | Pimhill..,....| Welch Hampton.
Prosbyter. . vvvvueenen... 2 hides. | 28,a1 |{I b"““;u;'; } Yarton.
1024 hides.
BUT WHOSE HUNDRED I8 NoT STATED IN DOMESDAY.
Duo Presbyteri. Molinum ...| 43 hides. 2568, b. 2 Pimhill ....... Ellesmere.
. Liberties of .
LI TR «+oo| 1% hides. 253, b. 2 Shrewsb Great Berwick.
{%‘g{;‘i’: Berewichw. Bilva-1| 5 hides. | 253,b.2 |Pimhill. T | Great Ness.
....................... 5 hides. | 253, b2 |Pimhill.......|Loppington.
118% hides.

With these Rules before me, I have, in arranging the annexed
Table of the Domesday Hundred of Bascherch, taken some liberties
with the Record.—I have discharged Weshope from the Domesday
Hundred of Bascherch, being sure that it was Westhope in South
Shropshire, and that it should have been entered by the Domesday
scribe as in Lenteurde Hundred. 1 have also discharged a Manor
called Estone, being sure that it was Aston, near Oswestry, and
must have been in Mersete Hundred. I should similarly have dis-

x. 6
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charged a second Estone, and a Manor called Cheneltone, from Bas-
cherch Hundred ; but, not being clear about the identity of either
place, I should not know in what other Hundred to place them.
It may still be a question whether they ever belonged to Bascherch
Hundred.

On the other hand the strict letter of Domesday places two
Manors (Eslepe and Sudtelch) in Culvestan Hundred. The first,
being certainly Sleap Magna (near Loppington), I have scheduled
in Bascherch Hundred. I have similarly transferred Sudtelch to
the list of Bascherch Manors, not that I can identify it with any
Manor so situated, but because it follows Eslepe in the Domesday
Record, and naturally falls under the same marginal correction.!

I may now turn to give some account of the Hundred of Bas-
cherch, postea Pimhill ;—of its general jurisdiction, that is, irre-
spective of all questions of detail touching its changed area and
limits.—

In Edward the Confessor’s time, the Hundred-Court was held
at Baschurch. The revenues of the said Court were divided in the
proportion of two to one, between the King and the Earl of Mercia.
Earl Roger de Montgomery, being a Palatine Earl, had, in his day,
the whole profits of the Hundred. At the forfeiture of Earl Robert,
King Henry I. became Lord of the Hundred, but inasmuch as the
Manor of Baschurch had previously passed to Shrewsbury Abbey,
the Hundred-Court was henceforth held at Pimhill.

The earliest Shropshire Assizes, of which there remains any
detailed Record, were held in the Autumn of 1208. The Hundred
of Pemhull ia entered as attending by its Jury and making the
ordinary presentments. The same process is recorded on the
Assize-Roll of 1221. The murder of Richard de Hadenhal, and
the flight and outlawry of the supposed murderer, formed the only -
matter of presentment.

At the Inquisitions of Hundreds in 1255 the twelve Jurors of
Penbenhull chiefly confined their report to the tenure of the various
Manors in their district, the withdrawal of Suits, from County and
Hundred, by certain Manors, and the exactions of the King’s
Foresters. They further stated that the Sheriff realized a ferm of
100s. per annum from the Hundred of Penbenhull.?

At the Assizes of January 1256 the Hundred of Pemenhull at-
tended by its twelve Jurors, and Robert Slenge was its Chief-Bailiff.
Among the Crown-Pleas was a challenge against Fulk fitz Warin,

! Vide suprs, Vol. V. page 1. 3 Rot. Hundred. I1. 76.
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urged by William, son of William fitz Philip, whose brother, John,
had been slain. The Court could not enter on a matter which
appeared to have taken place in Walcheria, and on the other side
of Oswestry.

At the Assizes of September 1272, Richard de Dudmaston, as
Chief Bailiff, appeared with twelve Jurors, for the Hundred of
Pemenhul. They stated their Hundred to be a Royal demesne, and
valued it at 40s. per annum.

At the Inquest of Hundreds, in November 1274, the Jurors of
Pemenhul said that their Hundred was in the King’s hand, that
during the time of Sir John le Strange (i.e. during his Shrievalty)
it used to be put out to farm at a rent of 40s., but that now the
rent was 6 merks (£3. 6s. 8d.), which was its true value. The
Jurors complained that, ever since the Battle of Evesham (1265),
the Bailiffs of this Hundred had levied from 6d. to 1s. on every vill
in their jurisdiction, whenever they received any royal mandate
which necessitated summons of the freeholders for gaol delivery or
other purposes. The successive Bailiffs, thus charged, were Thomas
Dod, Hugh de Byritone, Adam Co * * ¥, John de Dudlebury, and
Richard de Dodemunstone. In other parts of their report, the
Jurors named John de la Hulle, Hugh Galle, William fitz Richard
of Astley, Richard de Franketone, William Bryd, and Reyner
Twychemare as extortionate Bailiffs, guilty of diverse acts of op-
pression.! Probably most of these persons were Under-Bailiffs.
Some further facts, elicited by this Inquest, shall be given in con-
nection with the persons or localities to whom, or to which, they
refer.

At the Assizes of 1292, Hugh de Rossall appeared with twelve
Jurors to answer for the Pleas of the Crown and other matters con-
nected with Pymhull Hundred. The Jurors now valued the Hundred,
or Bailiwick, at 8 merks per annum ; and said it was the King’s.
Their further presentments related to Defalts of attendance, claims
of Free-Warren, withdrawal of suits, alienations of lands which
were held in capite, the state of Serjeantries, the condition of
Montford Bridge, and the criminal business usual to such occa-
gions.?

) Rot. Hundred. I1. pp. 104-106.  * Placita Corone, 20 Edw. 1., mm. 70-72.
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" pavnall.

Rainarp the Sheriff was Lord of eleven Manors in the Domes-
day Hundred of Bascherch. Of these Hadnall was one, and was
held by Osmundus under Rainald.—

¢ Isdem Rainaldus tenet Hadehelle, et Osmundus de eo. Goduinus
tenuit. Ibi 1111 hide, geldabiles. In dominio est una carruce, et
11 bovarii, et vi Villani, et unus Bordarius, et 11 Francigen®, cum 111
carrucis, et adhuc 1111 carruce possent esse. Ibi silva x1 porcis in-
crassandis. T.R.E. valebat 1x sol. ; et post x sol. ; modo xx sol.!

Osmund, as far as chronology is concerned, may well have been
father of that William, whose son Gilbert was Lord of Hadnall at
the accession of King Henry II. (1154). Hadnall consisted of five
vills, viz. Hadnall, Hardwick, Shotton, Haston, and Smethcott.
The aforesaid Gilbert, wishing to benefit Haughmond Abbey, gave
thereto the whole of Hardwick, and a moiety of Hadnall. The
Grant was fortified by confirmations of the Seigneural Lord (then
William fitz Alan 1) and of King Henry II. The series of
Charters which illustrate this gift may be taken to have passed be-
tween 11556 and 1158, and are not less remarkable for their form
and language than for their antiquity. First we have Gilbert de
Hadnall’s Deed, in a recitatory form, and speaking of Hardwick
only.—

Omnibus filiis Sancte Ecclesie salutem in Christo. Scitote Gil-
bertum filium Willielmi de Hadenhale dedisse Deo et fratribus
Ecclesie Sancti Johannis Evangeliste de Haghmon, terram de Herd-
ewica inperpetuum, solam et quietam omnibus serviciis et redditibus,
ezcepto denario Sancti Pelri: insuper in nemoribus, et in planis et
in aquis, el in omnibus locis gquorum propriis domibus necessarium
Suerit, sine vastacione. Quod si eorum proprius famulus examina
in nemore suo invenerit, dimidiam partem eis concedit, si totum con-
cedere non placuerit.® Hoc totum fit med concessione. Hiis testibus,

! Domesday, fo. 255, a. 2. sume that the word examina refers to the
2 If a servant of the Abbey found a | produce of a swarm of bees, rather than
Aive of bees in any tree within the wood | to the swarm itself; for the bee-keepers
of the Abbey, then the Grantor allowed | of those days probably knew, as well as
half the produce to the Abbey, unless he | we do, that one-half of a divided swarm
should be pleased to allow it all. I pre- | must needs be useless, as wanting a Queen.
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Willielmo de Hedlee ; R. de Asthope; Tihel de Lahtune ; R. Sacer-
dote de Nortuna; Waltero nepote Werri; Petro, et Waringo filits
Ase, mercatoribus ; et Reinero; et omnibus aliis hominibus qui ibi
affuerunt ubi Sanctum Johannem saisiavit. Valete}

I have called the above a Deed of Gilbert de Hadnall himself.
It may possibly be an abstract of a Confirmation by William fitz
Alan (I). The following is undoubtedly a Confirmation by that
Baron.—

Omnibus prelatis Sancte ecclesie, Willielmus filius Alani salutem.
Notum sit vobis Gilbertum de Hadenhale concessisse atque dedisse
fratribus Hamonensis ecclesie, Herdewicam et Aldetonam et Hamam,
in elemosynam, me presente et concedente ;—preaterea totius nemoris
sui, guantum ipsius est communitatem, ad omnia quibus indiguerint
ipsi Canonici ;—et ipsum eundem Gilbertum de Hadenhale, cum
eisdem terris prenominatis solide et quiete ab omnibus serviciis alque
redditibus, absque denario Sancti Petri; perenniter concessisse atque
dedisse, me presente et concedente et testante, cum hiis alits, scilicet,
Ricardo de Marchemaslega, Alano filio Oliveri, Rogero Puher,
Hugone filio Alberti ; Johanne Straunge, cum duobus fratribus ejus,
Wydone et Hamone.

King Henry II’s Charter implies not only a strengthening of
title, by the formula of surrender to the Lord Paramount, but an
increase of the grant.—

Henricus, &c. Sciatis me dedisse et concessisse, in liberam puram
et perpetuam elemosynam, Canonicis Hamonensis ecclesie ad susten-
tacionem eorum totam Herdewikam cum medietate ville de Haden-
hale, que Gilbertus dedit in manu med in Salopesburia ; qui Gilbertus
tenuit Hadenhale cum omnibus pertinenciis suis.

In 1172 we have Pope Alexander’s Bull, confirming to the Abbey
“ Heordewice as the gift of Gilbert de Hedereshale, by consent of
William fitz Alan, his Lord.”

It is uncertain whether Gilbert Anglicus, who in 1165 was hold-
ing a Mutator’s fee in fitz Alan’s Barony, was identical with Gilbert
de Hadnall or not. In 1167 the Vill of Hedenkola was amerced
half a merk by the Justice of the Forest. Gilbert de Hadnall left
an only daughter and heir, Leticia, who became the wife first of
Nigel Banastre, and afterwards of William Hose, or Hussey. By
Nigel Banastre she had two children, William and Alice. Soon
after the death of Nigel Banastre, and while yet a Widow, “ Leticia,

! All Charters, quoted under Hadnall, | Haughmond Chartulary (Titles, Haden-
without specific references, ate from the | Aale; Hauston ; Herdewike ; Smethecots).
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daughter of Gilbert de Hadenhale, gives to her daughter Alice, to-
wards her marriage, one virgate in Hauston, viz. that which the
Grantress held in her hand, when Nigel Banastre, her husband,
died ; and which, when dying, he had requested her to concede to
Alice.” A rent of 2d., to the Grantress and her heirs, is reserved.
This Deed, which passed between 1182 and 1201, is attested by
Robert le Poer, Henry his son, Wido de Shaubury, Helias de
Gulidon, and Gilbert de Leton.

Soon after this, and on the actual marriage of Alice Banastre
with Roger fitz Peter, her mother, stepfather, and brother, concurred
in doubling her marriage portion.—By one Deed “ William Hose
and Leticia his wife, at the request of William Banastre, son and
heir of the said Leticia, give to Roger fitz Peter, in frank-marriage
with Alice, Leticia’s daughter, fwo virgates in Hauston, viz. one
which Dame Avelina held, and one which Richard fitz Oliver held,
saving in all things the tenant-right of the said Avelina and her
heirs.”” A rent of 4d. is reserved on this grant, and it is attested
by Wido the Chaplain, Reiner de la Lee, and Stephen de Pym-
beley.

Between the years 1203 and 1206  William, son of Nigel
Banastre, confirmed the said two virgates, given in marriage of his
Sister ; Witnesses,—William Hose, Reginald de Tyrne, and Richer
de Shawbury.”

WiLLiamM BanasTrE (I.), some time between the years 1204 and
1220, and while his Mother Leticia was yet alive, married Emma,
widow of Simon, and mother of Roger de Jagdon. At the Assizes
of 1221 William Banastre was found to have disseized Hugh de
Rushal, and Hawise his wife, of a tenement in 4denkal. In another
case he acknowledged himself to have disseized Thomas de Le of a
tenement in Hadenhal. In October 1282 he was deceased, leaving
a son and heir, William, and his wife Emma, still surviving.

The Charters of William Banastre (I.) are as follows.—About
1216-1220 he gave to Haughmond Abbey all the land of Caldenhall,
as bounded by the road between Herdewike and Smethcote. Wit-
nesses,—Sir Reiner, Bishop of St. Asaph; William Hose; Reiner
de Acton; Wido de Hadenhale; Roger de Jagedun ; and John, son
of Thomas le Strange.

About the same time *“ William Banastre conceded and confirmed
to the same Abbey, for the souls’ health of himself and his ances-
tors, all the land of Herdewyk, with all liberties and common rights
in his wood, and other advantages. Witnesses,—Sir John fitz Alan,
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Robert de Gyrros, Vivian de Roshale, Thomas his son, Thomas de
Lee, Reyner de Hactun, Stephen de Pimpeleg.”

About the same time “ William Banastre conceded, gave, and
confirmed, to Roger de Hauston,! for his homage, and for a rent of
8d., 22 acres in Aldelega. Witnesses,—Sir John fitz Alan, Vivian
de Rosshall, William de Ercalewe.”

About 1220-1224, “ William Banastre gave, to the support of
the poor at the Gate of Haghmon Abbey, a rent of 12d., arising
from land at Hauston, formerly held by Walter Citharist, and now
held by Geoffrey de Egebaldeham, who consented to the proposed
transfer of his rent. Witnesses,—Vivian de Rosshale, Thomas his
son, Baldwin de Hodnet, Robert de Acton, Alan de Burcton,
Thomas de Lee, William de Balderton.”

Within the same interval ¢ William Banastre gave to the same
purpose, for the souls’ health of himself, his son Laurence, and all
his friends (parentum) the whole service of Wido de Hadenhale,
viz. 2s. annual rent, receivable from a virgate in Hadenhale, held
by the said Wido, which rent was now thus transferred with Wido’s
goodwill and assent. Witnesses,—Vivian de Rossale, Thomas his
son, Baldwin de Hodenet, Odo his son.”

Again, “William Banastre gave to the same purpose, for the
souls’ health of himself, his wife Emma, and his son Laurence, half
a virgate in Hadenhale, held by Robert Swist, and half the assart-
land of the said Robert. Witnesses,—Johu fitz Alan, Vivian de
Rosshale, Thomas his son.” )

Again, “ William Banastre gave to the same purpose, 12d. rent of
the land which Alan held in Smethecote. For this the Canons paid
one merk. Witnesses,—William de Ercalwe, William de Stanton,
Philip de Peninton, Alan de Burton.”

Afterwards, as it seems to me, ¢ William Banastre gave to the
Abbey the half-virgate itself which Alan held in Smethcote. For
this the Canons paid 20s. down, and 4d. rent was reserved to the
Grantor. Witnesses,—William de Ercalowe, William de Stanton,
Alan de Bructon, Philip de Peninton.”

Again, “ William Banastre gave and conceded, to the same Abbey,
16 acres near the culture of Scotwelle, and all the land which lay
between the fields of Herdewyk and the Vivary. Witnesses,—
Master Philip de Madeleg, Alan de Burcton, Robert de Acton,
Wydo de Hadenhall, Thomas Crasset.”

Again “ William Banastre gave to the same Abbey a right of

1 His brother-in-law,—before called Roger fits Peter.
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common-pasture in all his fee of Smethicote and of Hauston, and
of Hadenhall, and of Shotton, for all the Abbots working cattle
at Grileshul (Grinsell) and at Herdewike. Witnesses,—Alan de
Bureton, Reiner his son, Thomas de Lee, Robert de Acton, Wido de
Hadenhale, Thomas Cresset.”

The following -Deeds I suppose to have passed about 1230, or near
the close of William Banastre’s career.—Wido de Hadnall, his
tenant, having made a grant to the Abbey, ¢ William Banastre con-
firmed it; for which the Canons presented him with a white horse.
Witnesses,—Richard de Hadleg, Walter Hoscotus (read Hosatus),
Richard Corbet, Wido de Hadnall, William my son.”

Lastly, “ William Banastre gives to the Abbey, together with
his body, all his share of the bosc of Hedenhale. Witnesses,—
Wydo de Hedenhale, Roger Cook, Richard Baker, Richard le Hare,
Adam the Hospicer, and William the Porter.””!

EumMa, widow of William Banastre (I.), had some difficulty in
obtaining her dower. We have heard of William de Drayton, a
Prebendary of Wroxeter, and his son Alan? This William having
obtained feoffment of two virgates in Shotton, transferred them to
the said Alan: but in Michaelmas Term 1282 Emma, widow of
‘William Banastre, had impleaded Alan fitz William for the same as
her dower, and Alan had called his father, Wilkiam de Wrocestre, to
warranty. The latter argued that Emma had no right to dower in
the premises, for that Leticia, her husband’s mother, was seized
thereof at the time of Emma’s marriage, so that her husband, not
being seized, could not have granted such dower. Emma replied,
. allowing the above fact, but adding that her husband gave the said
dower with consent of his mother, Leticia. The Court left an issue
for a provincial Jury, viz. “ Whether William Banastre on the day
of his espousals did so grant dower with his Mother Leticia’s con-
sent.” The result of this suit I cannot discover. Richard fitz Wil-
liam, another Feoffee in Shotton or Hadnall, seems to have been
Defendant in a parallel suit (logueld conrelatd).

WiLLiam BanasTre (I1.) was probably quite young at his father’s
death. It is he however, who is entered on the Feodaries of 1240
as, together with his Partners, holding half a knight’s-fee in Haden-
hale, Hauston, Swetton (Shotton), and Smethecot, of the Barony of
Fitz Alan.® In the Hundred-Roll of 12556 Hadenhale maintains its

! These witnesses, being chiefly domes- | the precincts of the Abbey.
tio servants of the Abbey, imply that the 3 Supra, Vol. VIIL. p. 16.
Grantor was dying at the time, and within 3 Testa de Nevill, pp. 44, 47, 4.
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Domesday measurement of four hides. William Banastre held the
same of the fee of John fitz Alan, doing the service of one Knight
at Oswestry in war-time. The Manor did suit to County and Hun-
dred, and paid 8d. per hide for strefward and motfee ;'—the usual
assessment for Manors in Pimhill Hundred. At the Assizes of 1256
William Banastre is named as seventh Juror for Pimhill Huudred.
The waste condition of William Banastre’s wood, as reported at the
Forest Assize of 1262, shows Hadnall to have been within regard
of the Wrekin Forest.

A debt of 12d. pro plevind is recorded on the same Roll against
William Banastre de Acton; but I do not know why William Ba-
nastre of Hadnall should be thus described. In December of the
same year William Banastre was Foreman of a Leaton Jury. In
March 1272 the services due from William Banastre in respect of
half a knight’s-fee in the Barony of Fitz Alan were assigned to the
King as Guardian of young Richard fitz Alan.

At the Assizes of 1272 William Banastre was amerced for some
failure in punctual appearance; but it is doubtless he who, as Wil-
liam Balastre, and with Thomas Dod, was Elizor for Pimhill Hun-
dred at the same Assizes.

Of the Charters of William Banastre (II.), the most important
is his confirmation of all his father’s and ancestors’ gifts, sales, and
concessions to Haughmond Abbey. He here styles himself “ Wil-
liam Banastre, son of William Banastre,” and enumerates the fol-
lowing grants, viz. Herdewyce ; Caldenhalle; 16 acres near Schotte-
well ; the land between Hardewyk-fields and the Vivary; a moiety
of Hadenhall wood ; the half-virgate and assart once held by Robert
Swist; the service of Wydo de Hadenhale on one virgate; a mes-
suage, croft, and 6 acres which Heming once held in Hadenhale ;?
common-pasture in Smethcote, Hauston, Hadenhale, and Shotton ;
and 12d. rent from Walter Citharist’s land in Hauston. Witnesses,
—Sir Robert de Gyrrois, Hugh fits Robert, William de Hedleg,
Roger de Pivelésdon, then Sheriff, Thomas Huse, Master Richard
de Kagworth, and Wydo de Hadenhale. Other Charters of William
Banastre (IL.) will be quoted hercafter, as mere confirmations of
the acts of his Tenants.

In May 1274 a William Banastre sat as seventh Juror on a
Mulford Inquest; and in the Hundred-Roll of November 1274
William Banastre is named sixth of the Pimhill Jurors. This

! Rot. Hundred. II. 75. de Hadnall's gift, but it had been con-

? This was, in the first instance, Wido 1 firmed by William Banastre (I.)

X. . 7
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person, we may be sure, was WirLiaM Bawnastre (III.), son and
heir of him who was living in 1272. A Tenure-Roll of Pimhill
Hundred, drawn up about 1279, says that © William Banaster holds
Hadnall of John fitz Alan' by service of half a knight’s-fee in war-
time.””#

William Banastre (III.) must be he who occurs as tenth Juror
on a Shrewsbury Inquest in 1277, and as eighth Juror on a Chet-
wynd Inquest in April 1281.

About the same time, styling himself ¢ William, son of William
Banastre of Smethcote,”” he gives the Canons of Haghmon leave to
take heath and gorse from his land for their Grange at Grinsill.
Witnesses,—Sir Thomas Botterell, John de Lee, Reiner de Acton,
knights; Roger de Preston, Martin de Burhton, Philip de Pe-
ninton, Reiner de Lee, Thomas de Muridon. This Deed further
defines the boundaries of the Canons’ field at Hardwick, called
Hethfeld.

William and Richard Banastre occur as first and fifth Jurors on
a Bicton Inquest in January 1291, and as first and eleventh Jurors
on a Besford Inquest in December 1291.% Richard Banastre I con-
ceive to have been afterwards of Smethcote, and a younger brother
of William. William, son of William de Hadenhale, was reported
by the Pimhill Jurors as not punctual in attendance at the Assizes
of 1292. Possibly William Banastre (III1.) was the person alluded
to. At these Assizes the Abbot recovered 16 acres in Hadnall Wood
against William Banastre. On July 20, 1293, the Abbot and William
Banastre came to an agreement about Hadnall Wood.—* William
quitclaimed the Abbot’s moiety, and the Abbot quitclaimed Wil-
liam’s moiety, saving the 15 acres which he had already recovered
therein. Witnesses,—John le Strange, Reyner de Acton, knights;
Roger de Preston, Richard de Leton, Richard, son of Robert de
Asteley, John Husee of Balderton.”

On July 24, 1308, William Banastre and Richard, Abbot of
Hagmon, settled by indenture further disputes about lands, wastes,
heaths, boundaries, and common-rights in the fee of Hadenhale and
Herdewyk. John le Childe, Richard Horde, John Husee, Thomas
de Withinton, Robert de Preston, William de Oteley, and Robert
de Burcton, attested the agreement.

! The Roll contains several repetitions | widow) and once of Richard fitz Alan (his
of this anachronism, but corrects itself, | infant heir).
more than once speaking of the Seigneury 2 Roll, in possession of the Author.
of Isabel de Mortimer (John fitz Alan's 3 Inguis. 19, 20 Edw. L., Nos. 54, 68.
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In the Nomina Villarum of 1316 William Banastre is entered as
Lord of Hadenkale Parva.

On October 1, 1318, certain disputes, about a fourth part of
Hadnall Wood, were settled by John, son of Reiner de la Lee, of
the one part, and the Abbot of Haghmon and William Banastre,
of the other part. The latter concede 40 acres to John de Lee, who
quitclaims the remainder. Witnesses,—John de Warren, John
Husee, and John de la Lee of Roden.

I will not attempt to give any later and connected account of the
Banastres of Hadnall. In the fourteenth century there were three
families of Banastres, styled respectively of Hadnall, of Smethcote,
and of Yarton. I cannot say how they were related, nor indeed
which was the elder line. Their importance at Hadnall gave way
to that of the Lees. Nevertheless they continued to have negotia-
tions with Haughmond Abbey concerning lands in Hadnall; the
substance of which negotiations will be given at the end of this
Chapter.

I would here point out that in 1358, the actual possession of the
Manor of Hadnall was in John Corbet and his wife Matilda, and
three others, but that such possession was tcrminable with the life
of the said Matilda. The reversion was in Agnes, wife of Thomas,
son of Thomas de Lee of Stanton; but the said Agnes and her hus-
band concurred in settling it on the Banastres of Yarton in a mode
already pointed out.!

I would further remark that a Feodary of 1897-8 names John
Lee as Tenant of half a knight’s-fee in Hadenhale in the Barony of
the late attainted Earl of Arundel.? My Pedigree of the Lees will
not account for any John Lee at this period,® and I suspect that, as
regards some of the Tenants’ names, the Feodary in question was
copied fram some much older document.

The FrorrmENTS and SuBTeENUREs which existed in Hadnall and
and its members were numerous, and introduced several families of
importance into the Manor.

TeNEMENT oF Roger rirz PeTER.—Roger fitz Peter, afterwards
called Roger de Hauston, married Alice Banastre, as we have seen,
about 1203-6, and obtained with her two virgates in Haston, one
held by Dame Avelina, the other by Richard fitz Oliver.* A rent.
of 4d. was reserved to the Banastres on this grant, and a further
rent of 8d. was reserved on 22 acres in Aldeleg, which William

! Supra, Vol. IX. p. 802. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 295.
? Calend. Inquis., Vol. I11. p. 223. 4 Suprs, page 46.
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Banastre (I.) subsequently granted to Roger de Hauston. Dame
Avelina’s life-interest had been specially reserved in one of the
above virgates. She proves to have been Roger de Hauston’s
grandmother. After her death and about the year 1230—* Roger
de Hauston, with the consent of William Banastre his lord, and of
Richard (de Hauston) his own son and heir, enfeoffed one Wido de
Westbury, in the virgate, late his Grandmother Avelina’s, and also
in a messuage and 22 acres, which William Banastre had given to
the said Roger. A rent of 144d., and a payment of 14 merks down,
procured this feoffment, which was attested by Sir Thomas Corbet,
Sir William Pantulf, Robert de Girros, and Vivian de Rossall.”

“ William Banastre”” (I.) “ confirmed this purchase of Wido de
Westbury’s and quitclaimed all his right therein. Witnesses Sir
Thomas Corbet, Richard Corbet, Roger de Eston, and Alan de Bur-
ton.” It must not be assumed that the 8d. rent, which William
Banastre had originally reserved on this tenement, was annihilated
by this quitclaim. He had himself given it to William de Wroxeter,
or to Alan his son.

About the year 1236 Wido, here called son of Herbert, Chaplain
of Westhury, gave to Haghmon Abbey the virgate and Zwenty acres,
which he had purchased from Roger de Hauston, reserving all capi-
tal services (that is, the Abbey was to pay 144. rent to Roger de
Hauston). Witnesses,—Thomas de Rossall, Thomas de Lee, Wido
de Hadenhale, Walter Huse, Alan de Burcton, Alan le Poer.

Next to this, we have a Deed, showing Roger de Hausion resign-
ing all his mesne right in Hauston to the Abbey ; that is, not only the
14d. rent due on Wydo de Westbury’s tenement, but the rent, what-
ever it was, which was due to him on Richard fitz Oliver’s virgate.
In other words—* Roger de Hauston, with consent of Richard his
son and heir, gives and confirms to the Abbey all the land which
he had in Hauston in marriage with Alice his wife, viz. 2 virgates,
formerly held by Wydo de Westbury and Richard fitz Oliver; also
he gives those 22 (sic) acres in Hauston, all which premises were
contained in the Charters of Leticia, formerly Lady of Smethcote,
and of William Banastre, her son and heir. The Abbey is however
to pay 4d. rent on the two virgates to the heirs of William Banastre,
and 8d. rent on the 22 acres to Alan, son of William de Drayton.
‘Witnesses,—Sir Thomas de Roshale, Walter Huse, Thomas de Lee,
Alan de Burcton, Reiner (sic) de Hadenhale, and Thomas Cresset.”

Contemporary with this Deed is the Confirmation thereof, by
Richard, son of Roger de Hauston, who calls the above William
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Banastre (I.) his Uncle (avunculum), and speaks of the marriage of
his father, Roger, and his mother Alice. This Deed also reserves
the same rents as the last, except that the persons entitled to such
rents are described as ““ the heirs of William Banastre of Smethcott,”
and as “ Alan de Drayton son of William the Chaplain.” The Deed
is attested as the last, except that Wido de Hadenhale is substituted,
and no doubt correctly, for Reiner de Hadenhale.

Again, we have the almost contemporary Confirmation of William
Banastre (I1.). As ¢ William, son of William Banastre, he con-
firmed to the gate-alms of the Abbey, two virgates already given by
Roger de Hauston and Richard his son, and once held by Wydo de
_ Westbury and Richard fitz Oliver, together with 22 acres, in Haus-
ton. This Deed retains rents of 4d. to the Grantor, and of 8d. to
Alan, son of William de Drayton. Witnesses,—Sir Robert de Gyros,
William de Hedleg, Reiner de Acton, and Wido de Hadenhale.”

There are two later Confirmations by William Banastre (II.), in
one of which, calling himself ¢ William Banastre, son of William
Banastre of Smethcote,” he quitclaims the 44. rent heretofore re-
served to himself on two virgates. By the others, as William
Banastre he makes the tantamount concession of 2 virgates, &c.,
to hold to the Abbey,  freely, quietly, and without any reclaim of
his.” This Deed must have passed about 1252-3, being attested
by Sir Thomas de Rossall, Sir Vivian his son, Sir Thomas de la
Lee, Thomas Botterell, John de Moreton, Martin de Burcton, Ri-
chard de Petton, and Roger de Leton.

We have now traced to Haughmond Abbey the Fee-simple and
mediate righta to all the estate once held by Roger de Hauston and
Alice Banastre, except that I cannot find Alan de Drayton’s rent
of 8d. thus brought up. It probably descended to the Lees, one of
whom married Alan’s daughter, Petronilla, and who already had an
estate in Hadnall ;—of which I propose next to speak.—

TeNEMENT oF LEE, BortreLL, AND CHEYNEY. Reyner de Lee,
Thomas de Lee, and John de Lee, already alluded to under Aldon,
Chatwall, Berrington, Hunkington, and other places, have each in
turn been seen attesting the Hadnall Deeds of the 13th century.
How they first became enfeoffed here, I cannot say. About 1235-40,
“Thomas de Le gave pasturage in all his fee of Hadenhall to the
Canons of Haghmon, for their working cattle at Grinsill. Wit-
nesses,—John fitz Alan, Thomas de Rossall, Hugh de Rossall, Alan
de Burcton, Wido de Hadenhale.”

We have seen that Thomas de Lee was alleged to have entailed
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on his younger son, Reyner, 6 messuages, one carucate, and 3 vir-
gates in Hadnall, but that the grant was not an entail on Reyner
and the heirs of his body, and did not preclude alienation.!

In November, 1249, Wido de Hadnall, of whose name we have
had such frequent repetition, was deceased without issue. His
widow, Petronilla, who was perhaps a Lee, is said, on good autho-
rity, to have married Thomas Botterell. If so, it must have been
between the years 1249 and 1258 that Thomas de la Lee granted
lands in Hadnall to Thomas Botterell and Petronilla his wife.

About the year 1280 the son and heir of Thomas de la Lee, call-
ing himself “ John, Lord of La Lee,” gave to Sir Thomas Botterell,
knight, and to Petronilla, his wife, and their heirs, a certain assart
near Hadnall Wood, which Robert de Hauston held, which lay near
Richard le Woodward’s assart, and contained 60 acres. For this
the Grantees were to pay a peppercorn rent, if the Grantor came
to require it, at their house of Hadenhale. Witnesses,—Sir Robert
Corbet, Sir Reyner de Acton, William Banastre, Roger de Preston.

There are many indications of Sir Thomas Botterell having been
resident at Hadnall. It was there probably that his son John died
in 1281, as elsewhere alluded to.® If Thomas Botterell’s wife, Pe-
tronilla, was a Lee, it is probable that she was Sister of Sir John de
Lee, whose second wife, Alice Bottrell, was, I also think, a sister of
Thomas Bottrell. It is extraordinary however that Petronilla, after
being the childless wife of Wido de Hadnall for 20 years, should
appear as the Mother of Thomas Bottrell’s son. Such was however -
the case. )

On May 1, 1297, “ John, son and heir of Sir Thomas de la Lee,
confirmed to Richard Botterell, his (John’s) father’s donation to
Thomas Botterell and Petronilla his wife, of lands which they held
in Hadnall; together with a parcel of land, called La Lye, which
Richard’s mother, Petronilla, had previously held under the Gran-
tor ;—to hold to Richard and his heirs, as Petronilla held it, viz. by
a rose rent. Witnesses,—Sir Richard de Harley, Ralph de Arraz,
knights, John de Upton. Dated at Aston Boterel.”

On May 20, 1318, “ Richard Botterel sold to Hugh, son of Roger
de Cheyney, all his lands and tenements in Hadnall-juxta-Asteley ;
—to hold under the superior Lords thereof. Witnesses,—Richard
le Childe of Diddlebury, &e.”

On November 3, 1320, Robert de Rodene, of Hadnall, and his
wife Isabel, daughter of Roger Holiday, gave a seylion in Hadnall

! Supra, Vol. IX. p. 800. 3 Suprs, Vol. VII. p. 895
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to Hugh de Cheyne. Witnesses,—William Banastre, Roger de
Leton, Roger de Wollascote, John de Smethcote, Roger Banastre.

On a previous page will be found the provision made by Nicholas
Abbot of Haughmond, on April 6, 1336, to found a Chantry for
Hugh, son of Sir Roger de Cheyne.! On April 8, 1336, Hugh de
Cheyne gives to the said Abbot a messuage in Hadnall, and an
assart called Botterels-bruche ;—to hold of the Lords of the Fee.
‘Witnesses,—Sir William de Ercalwe, Robert Corbet of Morton,
knights ; and Richard Huse.

A duplicate Deed conveys all the Grantor’s land in Hadnall to
the Abbot, and is additionally tested by Roger Tromwyn, Richard
Horde of Walford, Philip de Peninton, and Stephen de Rossall.

There is also a Release from Hugh de Cheyne to the Abbot,
dated June 17, 1336, and attested by William de Ercalwe, Robert
Corbet of Morton, and Walter de Hopton, knights. Then there is
the same Hugh’s appointment of William de Smethcote as his At-
torney to give the Abbot seizin.

On April 10, 1336, an Inquest ad guod damnum was held as to
Hugh de Cheyne’s more specific proposal of giving a messuage, a
virgate, and 21 acres, in Hadenhale, to the Abbey. It seems that the
mediate interest of the Lees had vanished from this tenement, which
was found to be held sine medio, under Richard, Earl of Arundel,
at a rent of 5s. Thirty Librates of land and rent at Auroston,
Herefordshire, also held under the said Earl, would still remain
with Hugh de Cheyne. The King’s license, allowing the proposed
grant to Haughmond, bears date August 6, 1836.

There seems to have been some doubt as to the disposition of
Hugh de Cheyney’s wife and heirs in this matter. On August 16,
1336, he binds himself in a penal bond of £40, payable on Oct. 6
following, and void, only in case of the Abbot’s having peaceable
possession of the premises on Hugh’s death, and of Hugh’s widow,
Agnes, seeking no dower therein. However, on May 5, 1837, the
Abbot demises to Robert de Alverton for life, a messuage, &c.; in
Hadnal, late Hugh Cheyne’s.

We have now traced an estate ,in Hadnal as passing from Lee,
through Bottrell and Cheyney to Haughmond Abbey. But this was
only a portion of Lee’s asserted holding. For instance, an Assize-
Roll of June 1307 shows John, son of Reyner de Lee, backed by
(his Uncle) Sir John de Lee, as Surety, and suing the Abbot of
Haghmon and William Banastre for disseizin in Hadnall. This

! Suprs, Vol. VII. p. 302.
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suit failed ; and we have a subsequent but undated Quitclaim, where-
in John, son of Reiner de Lee, gave to the Abbey all his right to
that assart in Hadnall Wood near Smethcote, which the Abbey had
recovered by process of novel disseizin against William Banastre
(i. e. in 1292). This Quitclaim was attested by Roger de Haghmon,
John Husee of Albrighton, Master Robert de Preston, John le
Botiler, and Richard Gery of Acton. I presume it to have been
part of the transaction already alluded to as belonging to the year
1318.! Again in 1317, as we have already seen,® Sir John de Lee
(the uncle of John fitz Reyner) quitclaimed a parcel of land in
Hadnall to Haughmond Abbey. The said parcel is defined on one
side by Richard Botterell’s assart.

Again, it was the Great-Grandson of John fitz Reyner who on
March 11, 1370, and as “ Roger, son and heir of John de la Lee,”
released to the same Abbey all his right to the land formerly held
by Hugh de Cheyne. Witnesses,—Robert Corbet of Morton, John
de Ludelowe, Peter de Caverswelle, knights ; Richard Husee, William
Banastre of Yorton, and Edmund de Burghton.

Last in the series of quotations comes the abortive effort of 1408,
already set forth,® where Petronilla, daughter and heir of the above .
Roger and wife of Robert Lee of Roden, tried to oust the Abbot of
Haughmond from Hadnall on the alleged ground that the Lee
estates there, had been entailed on the bodily heirs of Reyner, Pe-
tronilla’s Great, great, great, Grandfather.

Wipo pE Hapnarr’s TENeMENT. We have seen Wido de Had-
nall attesting Manorial Deeds from 1220 to 1245 or thereabouts.

About 1230-1, as “ Wido de Hadenhale, son of William, he
gave and confirmed to Haghmon Abbey, for the health of himself
and Petronilla his wife, and with their bodies, to be buried in the
Abbey, a messuage, croft, and 6 acres, in the field of Hadenhale,
which Heming held. The Canons are to pay a rent of 12d. during
the Grantor’s life, but not afterwards. Witnesses,—William Ba-
nastre, William de Balderton, Alan de Burcton, Thomas de Lee.”

William Banastre confirmed this grant in a Deed already noticed
as having passed about 1230-2.4

About 1249-50 “ Petronilla, widow of Wido de Hadnall, released
all right in the premises granted by her late husband. Witnesses,
Robert de Espeleg, William de Stanworthin.” Also at the same
time, and with the same witnesses, “ William, son of Adam Fores-

! Supra, page 51. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 300.
* Supra, Vol. VI. p. 39. 4 Supra, page 48.
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ter of Salop,” releases his right in * the grant of Wido his Uncle ;”
and “Thomas Dod *’ releases his right in the lands which “ Wido
de Hadenhale gave cum corpore.”

It appears from a Plea-Roll of November 1249 that Thomas
Dod’s interest in Hadnall arose in right of his wife, Agnes, called
cousin (consanguinea), and evidently the actual heir, or coheir, of
Wido de Hadnall. Richard de Hadenhale, alias Richard fitz Wil-
liam (who has already occurred in 1232), and Ralph de Hadenhale,
alias Ralph fitz Richard, now claimed to be nephews and coheirs of
Wido de Hadnall, and sued Thomas and Agnes Dod for a third of
60 acres (except 7 acres), in Hadnall, as their purparty of the estate
of Wydo their late Uncle (avunculi). The Plaintiffs tried to prove
some default on the part of the Defendants, rather than their own
title, and they failing in this, the cause was dismissed sine die. The
Pipe-Roll of 1250 gives Ralph fitz Richard de Hadenhale, and Rich-
ard fitz William de Hadenhale, as amerced half a merk each pro
Jalso clamore.

Thomas Dod of Hadnall was on a Leaton Jury in 1262 and an
Elizor for Pimhill Hundred at the Assizes of 1272. Within the
seven preceding years he had served the office of Bailiff of the same
Hundred. He seems to have been living after the year 1276. 1
have no present proof that his descendants retained any estate in
Hadnall.

Haston. By a Fine of Nov. 18, 1240, Roger fitz William (Plain-
tiff) allows the right of Aldith, wife of Simon de Haueston (Tenants)
to a virgate in Haueston, and receives a messuage and 6 acres in
return, to hold at a rent of 2s. Hauested Meadow, Longesmalelond,
and Pullewellefurlund, are localities alluded to in the Fine; but I
am not by any means sure that it relates to this Haston.

At the Assizes of 1256, Thomas Dod, Roger Swyst, Robert de
Haukeston, his two brothers Roger and Thomas, Roger de Smede-
cote, and John de Hathkeston, were Co-Defendants in an action
about a fence, unjustly made in Clive. They showed themselves to
be only instruments of the Abbot of Haughmon in the matter.

At the Forest Assizes of 1262 Roger fitz Christian was the
Essoignor of Thomas de Haueston, deceased. Robert de Haueston
occurs on a Leaton Inquest in 1262, and was one of the Pimbhill
Jurors at the Assizes of 1272, and at the Inquest of 1274. At this
Inquest oppressions or exactions of local Officers were complained
of by John, Thomas, and Roger de Haustone. In the same year
Robert de Hauston and his brother John are found on an Elles-
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mere Inquest. At the Assizes of 1292 William, son of John de
Haueston, was one of the Defaulters in Pimhill Hundred. On
May 8, 1801, Gilbert, Abbot of Haughmond, demises to Richard
le Woodwarde, Cecily his wife, and Richard their son, a messnage
and 6 acres in Hauston for their lives. In October 1811 John de
Hauston occurs on a Peplow Jury.

On January 20, 1330, “ John, son of Roger de Hauston, gives to
Master Robert de Preston, Clerk, a messnage and two parts of half
a virgate in Hauston, and accustomed estovers in Hadnall Wood,
and all the land he had in Hauston, viz. a messuage, &c., which he
had of the inheritance of Matilda, his mother ;—to hold to the
Grantee under the Chief Lords. For this the Grantee paid 12
merks and one robe. Witnesses,—Richard Banestre, John Clerk
of Smethcott, Richard Gery of Acton.”

On Nov. 17, 13834, “ Robert de Preston, Clerk, gave and con-
firmed to Edmund, son of Sibil, formerly Lady of Cherrinton, and
the heirs of his body, a messuage, half-virgate, 8 acres, and a
meadow, in Hauston and the field of Hadenhale, wherewith to cele-
brate the Grantor’s anniversary in the Monastery of Haghmon ; the
Grantee paying 4s. per annum to the pittance of the Canons. Wit-
ness,— William Banastre of Smethcote.”

On Dec. 9, 1834, the Abbot of Hagmon demised to Nicholas de
Harley, Clerk, a messuage and half-virgate in Hauston late held by
Robert de Preston. Rent bs.

On March 26, 1340, “ Edmund, son of Sibil de Cherinton, gave
to the Abbey all the lands late John Kynge’s, in Hauston ;—to hold
of the Chief Lords. Witnesses,—Stephen de Rossall, Roger (de)
Leton, Roger Banastre of Hadnall, and William his son.” On the
following day Nicholas Harley, Clerk, and John de Picheford are
appointed Attorneys to give the Abbot seizin.

Harowick.—Of this member of Hadnall, I can'say no more than
that in the “ fourth year of King Edward > (probably 1276) John de
la Lee quitclaimed to Haughmond Abbey his right of common in
all the Canons’ appruaments and clearings in the waste of Herdwik.

Smeracorr. We have seen that before the year 1230 William
Banastre (I.) sold to Haghmon Abbey, first the rent, and after-
wards the land, of one Alan, in Smethcott. Coincidently the Tenant,
as “ Alan fitz Herebert,” quitclaims to the Abbey for 2 merks all
his right in the same half-virgate. Witnesses,—William Banastre,
Alan de Burchton.

At the Assizes of 12566 Robert le Poer, as son and heir of another
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Robert le Poer, claimed 2 acres in Smedecote. The Abbot of
Lilleshull now held the premises under a 36 years’ demise of John
de Tonge, and he under a demise of William Banastre. The latter
appeared as Defendant and Warrantor, and was dismissed sine die.

At the Forest-Iter of 1267 “ William Banastre of Smethcott”
was amerced 10s. pro veteri vasto. I have before intimated that
the elder line of Banastres was at this time styled “ of Smethcott,”
though afterwards the distinction was applied to a younger branch.

William fitz Margery of Smethcott, who occurs on a Jury List of
1274, was one of the Defaulters in Pimhill Hundred at the Assizes
of 1292. John de Smethcott occurs asa Witness in 1320.

HaveaMonp ABBEy Fre 1N Hapnari, &. Some further par-
ticulars as to the accumulations which we have seen the Canons of
Haughmond making to their original estate at Hardwick are worth
noting. The Tazation of 1291 gives the Abbot a Carucate at
Herdewike, worth 10s. per annum; and 4s. 2d. assized rents in
Hadenhale: also 5s. assized rents in Balkerton (read Balderton)
and in Welleston (read Webbescowe, now Webscott).!

Early in the year 1300, as it seems, a Writ of Roger fitz John (of
Bolas), Custos of the Forests of Salop, enjoins the Abbot to find six
Sureties who should answer for the recent waste made in Hadnall
Bosc, and then allows the Abbot to have reseizin of the same.
Among the Abbot’s Sureties were John Hauston, Ralph de Drayton,
John de Hadenhale, and John de Nagynton. The Chartulary
triumphantly appends to this procedure an extract from the nearly
contemporary Perambulation, viz. the passage which relates to the
disforesting of Hadnall.?

In the year 1316, the Abbot of Haghmon demises land in Had-
nall to Roger Banastre, Agnes his wife, and William his son, for
their lives, at 2s. rent.

In 1322-3 the Abbot makes a further demise to the same persons,
for a like term, at 10s. rent.

In 13234 the Abbot demises to Thomas, son of Robert Attew ode
and Sibil his wife, two parcels of land in Hadenall, for their lives,
at 12s. rent.

About this time an Agreement between the Abbot and William,
son of Richard Banastre of Smethcott, as to Hadnall Wood, is
attested by Sir Richard de Leghton, Sir William de Ercalawe
knights; Richard Hore, William Hore, John Husee, John de la
Lee, and Richard Gery of Acton.

! Pope Nich. azation, p. 260. * Suprs, Vol IX. p. 149.
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In October 1342 Abbot Nicholas exchanges land in Hadnall
with William le Stoupere.

In the year 1352 the Abbot demises land to William Banastre of
Hadnall, Johanna his wife, and John their eldest son, for their
lives.

On January 13, 1359 (if the date be correctly given in the
Chartulary),! Abbot Richard of Haghmon releases to William
Banastre, son of Roger Banastre of Hadnal, all right to a parcel of
land held by the said William under a demise from William, son of
Richard Banastre of Smethcote.

On Oct. 6, 1881, Abbot Nicholas demises a messuage and virgate
in Hadnall to John Hulle, Rector of Middle, for 90 years ;—a rent
of 12s. and suit of the Abbot’s Court at Herdewike being reserved.
On June 15, 1402, John Hulle, late Rector of Middle, releases the
above demise as one for 99 years.

On Oct. 10, 1471, William, son and heir of Thomas Banastre of
Hadnall, releases to the Abbey all right of common in Hadnall;
and, “ his seal being almost unknown, uses the seal of the Master
and Brethren of Battelfeld College.”” Witnesses,—Sir Roger Ky-
naston, knight, Philip his brother, Richard Husey, Robert Chorl-
ton, and Thomas his brother.

In 1535-6 the Abbot of Haughmond’s estate at Herdwyke was
returned as producing £20. 14s. 114d. per annum ; but this must
have included rents from other places than Hadnall. His receipts
from Smethcote and Acton Reynald are anomalously combined with
those from Wylcote (near Ness), the whole being £3. 5s. The Salary
of Richard Tyler, the Abbot’s Bailiff at Herdwyke, was £1 per
annum.® ‘

In the Ministers’ Accounts of 1541-2 the Assets of the late
Abbey are grouped in a very different way.—

The following items probably include, or bear reference to, es-
tates in or near Hadnall. Hardwicke, assized rent, 4s. 2d.;
Hopton,® rent of a messuage, 10s. ; Grenehill and elsewhere, rents
of land, £3. 19s. 4d.; Hopton® and elsewhere, ferms demised by
Indcnture, £16. 16s. 10d.; Wylcote and elsewhere, divers ferms,
£10. 4s. 54d.4

Hapnair Cuaper. Hadnall, with all its manorial members
(Hardwick, Haston, Shotton, and Smethcote), was in the Parish of

! There is some doubt whether Richard 2 Valor Ecoles. I11. 192, 193.
was the name of the Abbot at this period 3 Hopton, near Great Ness.
(supra, Vol. VIT. p. 802). 4 Monastioon, Vol. V1. 114.
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Middle. The Chapel, whenever founded, was subject to the Church
of Middle, and still remains so. The Valor of 15685 shows Hadnall
Chapel as supported by a pension of 40s., payable by the Rector of
Middle.! This is the earliest documentary notice which I have of
the Chapel, but it is undoubtedly much older.

Qcton Vepnalb,

« Isdem Rainaldus tenet Achetone et Ricardus de eo. Sewuardus
tenuit T. R. E., et liber homo fuit. Ibi 111 hide geldabiles. Terra
est v carrucis. Ibi 11 milites habent 1 carrucam. Ibi silva xxx porcis
incrassandis. Valebat 1111 libras ; et modo x solidos.”’®

Thus the tenures of Acton and Stanton Hineheath were pre-
cisely identical, both in Saxon times and at Domesday. It may be
added that the Stantons, the presumed descendants of Ricardus,
continued to be Seigneural Lords of both Manors till the extinction
of their male line in the reign of Edward 1.

The family which held Acton under De Stanton took its name
from the place. The first of whom I find any mention is—

Ricaarp pE ActoN, already seen to have attested a Deed of the
second William fitz Alan about 1190.3

ReYNER DE AcToN, the next in this succession, was probably the
person from whom Acton Reynald derived its distinctive name. He
is a frequent witness of Deeds which range between the years 1195
and 1220. At the Assizes of 1203 his appearance on Juries of
Grand Assize is that of a Knight. He was on that occasion ap-
pointed one of the custodes or manucaptors of Walter Hussey, sen-
tenced to purge himself of a charge of murder by wager of battle.

At these Assizes Reyner de Acton and Augnes his wife claimed,
under writ of mort d’ancestre, half a hide in some place which I
cannot determine.* The Defendant, Herbert fitz Herbert, being in
the King’s service abroad, the cause was adjourned sine die.

RoBerT DE AcToN, son and heir of Reyner, is found attesting
Deeds, the earliest of which passed in or before 1224, and the latest
of which was before 1240. The following Deeds probably passed
between 1224 and 1230 :—

! Valor Eccles. III. 188. 3 Suprs, Vol. VIL p. 276.
? Domesday, fo. 256, s. 2. ¢ Haica' is apparently the word written.
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‘ Robert de Acton gives to Haghmon Abbey pasture for 50 sheep,
and for all the Abbot’s Cattle at Grinsill, throughout the whole fee
of Acton. The Abbot in return concedes to the said Robert, for his
life, the corrody of one Canon, and, after his death, the Abbot will
pay 2d. rent to his heirs. Witnesses,—Sir Robert de Girros, Vivian
de Rossall, Ralph de Sanford, Alan de Burcton, William Banastre,
Wido de Hadenhale, Thomas Cresset.”?

“ Robert, son of Reyner de Acton, gives to the same a right of
common-pasture throughout his heath of Acton, for 300 sheep,
reckoned by the long hundred (majus centum), and for all the
Abbot’s animals at Herdwick, save and except in his wood of Acton.
‘Witnesses,—Robert Gyros, Vivian de Rossall, Thomas his son, Wil-
liam de Staunton, Ralph de Saunforde, William Banastre, Walter
‘Huse, Wido de Hadenhale.”!

““ Robert de Acton, son of Reyner, gives to the same, pasture for
500 sheep and for all the Abbot’s other cattle at Griusill, through
the whole fee of Acton, except in Acton Wood, &c.; to hold for
ever, at a rent of 12d. Witnesses,—Robert de Girros, Vivian de
Rossall, Ralph de Sanford.””!

At a less certain date, but perhaps between 1225 and 1235,
“ Robert, son of Reiner de Acton, gives to Shrewsbury Abbey all
his right in the tenement which Gamell de Rumoldsham held of
him in Shrewsbury, and 6d. rent paid by the said Gamel. Wit-
nesses,—Peter le Villain and John, Provosts of Shrewsbury.”?

ReynEr pE ActoN (II.) had succeeded to this estate before
1240. One of the three contemporary Rolls of that date, states
him to be holding half a knight’s-fee in Acton and Grineleshul, in
the Barony of Fitz Alan.® Two other Rolls state the tenure to be
in Halekton (Haughton) and Grinsill ;* and this latter statement is
undoubtedly correct, for what Reyner de Acton held in Acton was
not held immediately of Fitz Alan, but of the Lords of Stanton.

I find no further mention of this second Reyner de Acton. It is
evident that he was deceased in 1255, leaving a son or sons under
age, the eldest of which sons, probably named Peter, was in ward to
Thomas Bottrell.® Hence the Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 re-
-gisters Acion Reyner as follows :—

“ Thomas Boterel holds in Acton Reyner three hides of geldable
land, in the name of wardship; and it is of the fee of John fitz

1 Haughmond Chartulary, Z%. Acton 3 Testa de Nevill, p. 45.
Reyner. 4 Ibidem, pp. 47, 49.
2 Salop Chartulary, No. 412. 6 Compare Vol. VIL. p. 281.
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Alan, and (is held) by doing half a knight’s-service at Oswestry for
40 days, and it owes suit to County and Hundred, and pays 2s. for
motfeh and stretward.’”?

Again repeating that the service due to Fitz Alan was for Grinsill
and Haughton, I proceed to—

Reyner pe Acron (III.), probably a younger som, but clearly
the eventual heir of Reyner de Acton (II.). I find this third
Reyner de Acton attesting a Deed which probably passed before
1270. The Assize-Roll of 1272 just adverts to an action of dis-
seizin brought by Stephen de Aysford against Reyner de Acton for
a tenement in Fenemere. Reginald de Ation is at the same time
written as sixth Juror for Pimhill Hundred. At the Pimhill In-
quest of November 1274 Reyner de Actone was third Juror. He
occurs on other local Juries in December 1277 and May 1278. The
Feodary of 1279 says that “ Acton is held by Reginald de Acton,
of the fee of Stanton, and by service of one Muntor for 40 days, at
Oswestry, in time of war. The same Reginald holds Fenymer o
Richard fitz Alan, immediately.”

In an Inquest of August 1283 Reyner de Acton appears as a
Knight, and in an Inquest of December 1285 as one of the Ver-
derers of the Shropshire Forests.

On June 2, 1288, a Quarrel between the Convent of Haghmon,
as Rectors, and the Vicar, of Shawbury, of the one part, and Reyner,
Lord of Acton Reyner, Knight, of the other part, concerning a
Chantry in the Chapel of Acton Reyner, and a virgate of land, and
tithes of another virgate in Acton, was thus settled. Sir Reyner
conceded the Chapel as subject to the Mother-Church of Shawbury,
and quitclaimed the said virgate and tithes to the Abbey. The
Abbot in return was to provide a Chaplain to perform divine services
in the said Chapel on Sundays, Wednesdays, and Fridays.

A Fine of October 20, 1292, shows Reyner de Acton alienating
Acton Reyner and Grinsill from his name, and I think from his -
kindred, after his own decease, for ever.—‘‘ Reyner de Acton, Im-
pedient, allows his gift to Philip Burnell, Plaintiff, of the Manor
of Acton Reyner, and a fourth part of the Manor of Grineleshull.
Philip in return concedes the premises to Reyner for life, at a clove-
rent, and for performance of all capital services ;—with reversion to
Philip and his heirs,—to hold of the Lords of the Fee.”

After this I find Sir Reyner de Acton attesting a Hadnall Deed
of July 28, 1293. In 1297 he was returned among those who,

! Rot. Hundred. 11. 76.
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holding 20 librates of lands or rents in Shropshire, were under
summons to muster at London on July 7, prepared with horse and
arms for foreign service.

Before the year 1308 Reyner de Acton was dead, and Edward
Burnell was apparently in full seizin of the estates conveyed in re-
version to his Father, Philip. A parcel of waste land in Grinsill
was divisible, and was on February 15, 1308,! divided between the
Abbot of Haghmon and Edward Burnell. Edward Burnell (acting
by his Seneschal, Sir Richard de Harley) took one-fourth and the
Abbot took three-fourths of the waste, such being their respective
shares of the Manor of Grinsill. Richard, Abbot of Haghmon,
Richard de Haghton, John de Onysburys, and Adam Crowther were
present at the partition.

It appears that Acton Reynold and Grinsill were part of those
Burnell estates, the fee simple of which went with Petronilla, sister
of Philip Burnel, to William de Ercall (IV.). William de Ercall
(V.), son of the said William and Petronilla, must therefore be
understood as the William de Ercalewe, who, in the Nomina Vil
larum of 1816, stands as “ Lord of the Vill of Acton Reyner and
Grinehull.”’

Or UNDERTENANTS in Acton, the first I shall name is John, son
of Richard, son of Edric de Grinsill. Between the years 1250 and
1255 this John gave certain land in Acton Heath to Haghmon
Abbey, which lay between the old foss and the duct of Hardwik.
He also gave other land, surrounded by a trench, on the opposite
side of the road (called Geries-bruge); also a parcel of land in
Grileshull which William the Quarryer and the Grantor’s father had
sometime held. The Abbey was to hold all, under the Grantor, in
exchange for & messuage outside the vill (of Grinsill) towards Acton,
and for 93 acres in the field of Grinsill. The Grantor would acquit
the land conveyed by him of 8d. rent, payable to the Lord of Acton
and his heirs. Witnesses,—Robert de Grendon, then Sheriff; Sir
Thomas de Rossall, Sir Thomas de Lee, Richard de Petton, Wil-
liam (de) Stanwarthin, William Banastre, Robert Slinge, David de
Grileshull.

William de Hatton is written on the Pimhill Jury-List of 1256.
At the Inquest of 1274 William de Actone and his son, called Adam
Willy de Acton, had complaints against certain Officers of Pimhill

! The Instrument is dated In crasfino | viz. that many earlier Deeds of Edward

8ti Valentini a. r. Regis Edwardi primo: | I1.’s reign must be determined so to be by
an instance of what I have often noticed, | other evidence than the King’s name.



MIDDLE. 66

Hundred. The latter, on an Ellesmere Jury of the same year, is
called Adam fitz William de Acton.

From February 1299 to January 1830 I find frequent attesta-
tions of Richard Gery, of Acton.

On March 30, 1826, the Abbot of Haghmon demises a messuage,
virgate, and other land in Acton Reyner to Robert de Acton, son of
Richard Gery. On July 23, 1385, the Abbot grants to Richard
Gery, of Acton Reyner, and Alice his wife, a place of waste on
Grinsill Hill, near Sherwode, for their lives, at a rent of 2s.

AcroN ReynNarp Cuarer. The history of this Chapel, founded
as early as the reign of Stephen, has, as a dependency of Shawbury
Church, been given already in a former Chapter.! The agreement
which Reyner de Acton (IIL.) extorted from the Canons of Hagh-
mon and their Vicar of Shawbury in 1288 seems to have been ob-
served with unusual strictness. Even in 1535-6 the Canons were
paying a salary of 20s. to the officiating Chaplain of Acton

Reyner.*

fAioble,

Isdem Rainaldus tenet Mulleht. Seuuardus tenvit T. R. E. Ibi
vitt hide. In dominio est una carruca; et viit Bordarii, et Pres-
byter, et 11 Francigene. Ibi silva xvL porcis incrassandis. Terra est
xx carrucis. T. R. E. valdebat v1 libras; et post 1111 libras; modo
Lxx golidos.”’

In the above passage there seems to be an omission of the team-
power necessarily employed by the Tenantry to constitute a value
of 70s. [

The Priest, mentioned in Domesday, indicates, I think, in all
cases a pre-existent Church. We happen to have direct proof of
the fact in the case of Middle: for Earl Roger’s Confirmation to
Shrewsbury Abbey recites how Warin Vicecomes (who was dead at
the time of Domesday) had given the Church of Mutla and the tithe
of the vill to the said Abbey.*

In 1165 Middle must be taken to have constituted a part of those

! Supra, Vol. VIIL. pp. 146, 147. I 3 Domesday, fo. 265, a. 1 & 2.
? Valor Eecles. 111. 193. 4 Monasticon, I11. 620. Num. iii.

X. 9
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two knights’-fees of new fegffment which John le Strange had ac-
quired, and was then holding, in the Barony of Fitz Alan. It is
not probable however that the whole of the Domesday Manor of
Middle had been thus given to Le Strange. Alderton, part of
Balderton, and that part of Sleap which is in Middle Parish seem
to me to have been original members of Middle, but to have been
separated from it manorially, at a very early period.

Before the year 1172 John le Strange (L.) is recorded in a Bull
of Pope Alexander (III.) to have given to Haghmon Abbey, the
Mill of Mudle and the sites of all his Mills. This munificent grant
seems to have wanted completeness as well as permanence.

The Feodaries of 1240 differ in making John le Strange’s tenure
under Fitz Alan to be by 24 or by 2 knights’-fees.! When Middle
and Childs Ercall are further designated as the two Manors on
which such service was due, they must be taken to represent at least
seven Manors® which were held by Le Strange under Fitz Alan. It
is probable that 24 fees was really the service due in 1240 on this
Fief, but such matters varied very much, according as scutage, or
castle-guard, was the basis of the calculation, to say nothing of the
arrangement between Suzerain and Vassal being at any time alter-
able by joint consent.

The very next notice which we have of Le Strange’s Fief shows
that his service of Castle-Guard was that of four Muniarii, usually
equivalent to two Knights. Thus the Pimhill Hundred-Roll of
1255 states that “ John Le Strange holds in the Vill of Mudle five
geldable hides of the Fee of John fitz Alan, by service of four Mun-
tarii for 40 days at Oswestry, both for the said land and for all his
lands which he holds of John fitz Alan in Shropshire; and it
(Middle) owes suit to County and (to Hundred) at the Sheriff’s two
Tourns, and pays 20d. for stretward, but nothing for motfee.””s

An Inquest taken in January 1272 seems to have referred to the
late John fitz Alan’s Seigneury over Middle and Ruyton.* The
service of 24 knights’-fees, held by John le Strange in Mudell,
Ritton, and elsewhere, was now assigned as part of the dower of the
said John fitz Alan’s widow.® An Inquest of March 1276, after the
death of John le Strange (IV.) states him to have held the Manors

1 Testa de Nevill, pp. 45, 48. which was perhaps such as to exclude
2 Viz. Glazeley, Abdon, Berrington, | them from the above computation.
Longnor, Middle, Childs Ercall, Ruyton ; 3 Rot. Hundred. 11. 76.
to say nothing of several other Manors in 4 Calend. Inguis. 1. p. 40.
the Hundred of Oswestry the tenure of & Claus. 56 Hen. II1., m. 6.
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of Ruton and Mudell under the heirs of John fitz Alan by service
of 2} knights’-fees. Isabella, widow of the said John fitz Alan,
still had dower in the seigneury and services of these Manors. The
interest of the deceased (John le Strange) therein was valued at
£30 per annum.! The Feodary of 1279 for once apportions the
service due upon Middle per se, stating that ““ John le Strange (V.)
holds Middle with its members immediately of John fitz Alan (sic)
by service of }th of a knight’s-fee at Oswestry in war-time.”

In October 1292 John le Strange, was subjected to a process of
Quo Waranto, as to his alleged exercise of free-warren, infangen-
thef, and wayf, in his Manors of Nesse, Kyngton (Kinton), and
Mudle. It seemed that in Middle he only claimed free-warren, so
the other franchises were adjudged to the Crown. In regard to Ness
and Kinton he claimed all three privileges, and justified himself by
the immemorial usage of his Auncestors. The question went to a
Jury, which substantiated John le Strange’s defence.?

On June 25, 1299, this John le Strange, being styled ¢“ of Knu-
kyn,” was Deforciant in a conventional Fine, whereby he conceded
the Manors of Mudle and Ritton to Ralph de Sherleye, Plaintiff,
and his heirs ;—to hold of the Lords of the Fee. A sum of £40
was the ostensible consideration.

By a second Fine of Oct. 6, 1299, Richard de Sherlee, Deforciant,
entails the Manor of Mudle on John le Strange, of Knokyn, and
Matilda his wife, and the heirs of their bodxes, with remainder to
the right heirs of John le Strange.

A Patent of April 1, 1308, allows John le Strange to fortify and
crenellate his Mansion of Medle with a wall of stone and lime. The
remains of the castellated mansion, which was thus originated, are
still to be seen.®

The Inquest, taken August 20, 1309, on the death of John le
Strange (V.), states him to have held Mudle under Edmund, Earl
of Arundel.*

It was probably with reference to the entail of 1299 that the In.
quest, taken Feb. 27, 1311 (on the death of John le Strange (V.)),
does not notice Middle, as held by him in fee and demesne. It
merely says that he had a certain annual rent of 6s. 8d. from the
heir of John de Burgton in Middle.* This receipt, as distinct from
the general entail, I cannot account for.

In the Nomina Villarum of 1316 Thomas de Hastang stands as

1 Inquis. 4 Edw. 1., No. 88, 4 Inguis. 3 Edw. I1., No. 46.
3 Plac. de Quo Waranto, p. 683. b Inguis. 4 Edw. IL., No. 34.
3 Patest. 1 Edw. IL, p. 2, m. 16. )



68 ' MIDDLE.

Lord of Mudell. 1 cannot explain this, except by supposing that
Thomas de Hastang had married the Widow of one of the two Lord
Stranges so recently deceased.

In 1329 we are sure that Middle had reverted to a branch of the
Stranges ; for by a Charter of December 3rd in that year, King Ed-
ward III. recites a recent Inquisition, whereby it had been found
that a loss of 2s. per annum would result to the Crown, if the King
were to allow his beloved Valet, John le Strange, to have View of
Frankpledge over his tenants of Medle, and the chattels of felons
and fugitives, and fines, and amercements, and the profits on all
forfeitures in the said Manor. It had also been found to be non-
injurious to the Crown if the said John were allowed to have “wayf,
infangentheof, outfangentheof, and the return and execution of Writs
Royal.” The King, wishing to do the said John a favour, grants
him all the privileges in question, notwithstanding the damages
aforesaid.!

I cannot say how this John le Strange was related to Roger le
Strange, the contemporary Lord of Knokyn, and the right heir of
the former Lords of Middle. I can only add that in 1383 Middle
had reverted once more to the elder line, that is, to John le Strange
(VIIL.) grandson of the said Roger.?

CHURCH OF ST. PETER AT MIDDLE.

Four great Churches at the Western extremity of Lichfield Dio-
cese passed at an early period to the Patronage of Shrewsbury
Abbey. It will be useful to deal with them conjunctively, so far as
the earlier features of their common history are traceable. They
were the Churches of Middle, Great Ness, Baschurch, and Os-
westry.

Earl Roger’s Charter to the monks of Shrewsbury, speaking of a
time anterior to Domesday, says,—Dedi etiam eidem loco ecclesiam
de Nessa, et illam de Bassechirche cum omnibus ad easdem ecclesias
pertinentibus. Guarinus vero Vicecomes dedit eis ecclesiam de Mutla,
cum decimd efusdem ville et ecclesiam Sancti Oswaldi, cum decimd
ejusdem ville.

Domesday mentions a Church and Glebe at Nessham, and a Church
and Glebe at Bascherche, both held by Shrewsbury Abbey (Ecclesid
Sancti Petri). It also mentions a Church and Priest at Meresberie
(supposed to be the Domesday representative of Oswestry®), and a

1 Rot. Chart. 3 Edw. IIL., No. 7. 3 This relation between Meresberie and

2 Collectanea Topographia et Gemealo- | Oswestry was first pointed out to me by
gica, Vol. V. pp. 180, 181. Mr. Joseph Morris, of Bhrewsbury.
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Priest at Mulleht, but says nothing about Shrewsbury Abbey in
connection with either place. The reason of this silence has been
already suggested under Upton Magna,! viz. that some of Warin’s
grants to the Abbey had not at the time of Domesday been ratified
by his successor, Rainald. We shall have further proof of a cognate
omission under Albrighton.

King William II1.’s Charter to the Abbey says :—Deinde (Comes
Rogerius et uxor ejus) contulerunt eis (acilicet, monachis) ecclesiam
de Nessa, et illam de Bassecherch, cujus possessiones sunt Prestcota,
Noneleia, et Bageleia.®* But this Charter does not name anything
at Middle or Oswestry, among the gifts of Warin, or Rainald, or
any other.

Earl Hugh’s spurious Charter to the Abbey says,—Concessi (eis)
decimam dominii (mei) de Oswaldestre, et de Nesse, et de Mulde.

Earl Hugh’s less suspicious Charter alludes to none of the above
gifts; for where it states that “ Warin Vicecomes gave two parts of
the tithes of his demesnes of Nesse,” the allusion is to Little Ness,

Henry 1.’s Confirmation of 1121 comes next in order. It tells
how,—Rogerius Comes atque Adelaisa Comitissa addiderunt supra-
dictis donis ecclesiam de Bascerce et illam de Nessa; and how Rai-
naldus, qui, post moriem Warini, uxorem illixs cum efus honore sus-
cepit, et Hugo filius ejusdem Warini dederunt Ecclesiam Sancti Os-
waldi, et illam de Muthla, et decimas de Nessa et de Seraordina?
concedente Hugone Comile.

King Stephen’s Charter is substantively and almost verbally in
concert with the above; nor do the Charters of Henry II. or
Henry III. present these grants in any new light.

Of Episcopal Charters, the earliest (Bishop Clinton’s) only alludes
to two-thirds of the demesne tithes of Nesse (Little Ness) as having
been given or confirmed in some Charter of Earl Hugh. But a
second Charter of the same Prelate confirms ¢ the Church of Nesse
with a pension of 10s., the Church of Album Monasterium, with its
Chapels and its pension of 80s., the Church of Bascherch, with its
Chapels and its pension of 20s., and the Church of Mudle, with its
pension of 6s. 84.”’¢

Bishop Durdent’s Charter® confirms “ the Church of Nesse with
its tithes, the Church of Album Monasterium, with its tithes and
its appurtenant Chapels, the Church of Baschirche, with the Church

! Supra, Vol. VII. p. 205. 4 Or 13s. 4d. 8s it stands in one tran-
? Prestcote, Nunneley, and Bagley. script (Harl. MS. 8868, fo. 7, b).
3 That is Little-Ness and Shrawardine. § Salop Chartulary, No, 827.
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of Rueton and the Church of Petton, which pertain to it as Chapels,
and the Church of Mudla, with its tithes and Chapels.”

Bishop Peche’s Charter includes the tithes of Baschurch among
those which in his time arose from the Abbatial Demesnes. It
makes the Pension arising from Baschurch to be 18s., that from
Middle to be 6s. 8d. ; but says nothing of any pensions arising from
Oswestry or Ness.

Archbishop Peckham’s Confirmation to Shrewsbury Abbey gives
10s. as the Pension from Nesse, 30s. as the Pension from Album
Monasterium, 20s. as the Pension from Baschirch, and 13s. 4d. as
the Pension from Middle.

On the whole, Middle Church seems to have been a Saxon Foun-
dation, with a Parish of great extent. It was given primarily by
Warin the Bald to Shrewsbury Abbey, and the gift was never dis-
puted by his Successors, or their Feoffees, the Lords Strange. It
had the sanction of Earls, Kings, and Prelates, with some difference
indeed as to the form of confirmation, but no obscurity about the
essential facts.

Middle Church was never appropriated by the Monks of Shrews-
bury. In the Tazation of 1291, its revenues stood at the then large
sum of £20. 10s. per annum, out of which the Monks of Shrews-
bury drew only a pension of 10s.!

In 1341 the Church-Tazation of Mudle being quoted as £20, the
Assessors estimated the Nintk of the Parish at £8 only. The Glebe
and small tithes, which went to form the Taxation, were not com-
putable in estimating. a ninth of wheat, wool, and lamb. Moreover
five carucates of land lay untilled in the Parish, and there had been
a common murrain of the sheep.?

The Valor of 1535 gives £16 as the gross income of Thomas
Tonge, Rector of Middle. Out of this he paid £2 to the Chaplain
of Hadnall, a pension of 13s. 4d. to Shrewsbury Abbey, and 19s. 6d.
for yearly Procurations and Synodals.?

It is difficult to account fully for the diminished value of this
Rectory. To say that its Chapels at Ruyton and Petton had be-
come independent Churches is perhaps giving a partial reason.

EARLY INCUMBENTS.
The first Rector of Middle, of whom we hear, was of a noble

! Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 247. 3 Valor Eocles. IIL. p. 183,
? Inquis. Nonarum, p. 183.
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House, a younger son of the contemporary Prince of Lower Powis.
By Patent of Jan. 16, 1232, King Henry III. allows that notwith-
standing the differences which had recently arisen between himself
and Lewellyn—

Hower ap Mappoc ap GrirriN DE BrRoMFELD, Parson of Mid-
dle, may securely abide, if he shall choose, in the Schools of the
King’s territory. The famous Alexander de Swereford, then Arch-
deacon of Salop, procured this indulgence.

Master WavLrer, Rector of Middle, occurs in a Deed of the
same century.

THoMAs DE CHARNES was admitted July 4, 1817, by Bishop
Langton, then at Pitchford. Patrons, the Abbot and Convent of
Salop. A Patent of 1333 allows Thomas Charnes to exchange this
Charch for the preferment of—

JorN WarenNmULL, Incumbent of Kingeslee (Dioc. Lichf. and
Cov.) ;! but I doubt whether such exchange took place, for on
January 24, 1334, and apparently on Charnes’s resignation,—

Sin Nicuoras pe CLEBURY, Subdeacon, was admitted to Mid-
dle. He occurs as Rector on May 21, 1334, when he has a License
for two years’ non-residence, studendi gratid. On March 18, 1341,
he exchanges with—

JorN NormauND, late Rector of Kingislone (Heref. Dioc.).?

On Feb. 28, 1349, this Rector had license to put his Rectory to
ferm for 3 years.

Henry D SuceENHULL occurs as Rector of Middle, on August
18, 1358. Sometime between the years 1360 and 1379,—

Hvuen LE Yone certifies himself to be holding the Rectory of
" Middle, the Free Chapel of Willey, and a Prebend in St. Mary’s,
Shrewsbury.?

On Dec. 20, 1379, he exchanges Middle for the preferment of—

Jorn pE Huwry, or Huirgs, late Rector of Landusshall (St.
David’s Dioc.), who was presented to Middle by the Abbot and
Convent of Shrewsbury. Hull occurs as Rector in 1381, but on
January 26, 1387, he exchanges with—

Painre pE LA LEg, late Rector of Olde Swynford (Lichf. Dioc.),
who is presented to Middle by the same Patrons. On Feb. 21,
1399,— '

! Patent. 7 Edw. III., p. 1, m. 6. 14 Edw. IIL, p. 3, m. 2).

2 This exchange had been sanctioned 3 The year 1386 is erroneously assigned
by the King, as Custos of the Barony of | to this certificate in the Lichfield Register
Edmund de Mortimer, deceased (Pafent. | (compare Vol. II. p. 61).
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81z Nicrovras ConvnestoN, being Rector of Middle, exchanges
with—

Master JorN Berrorp, late Rector of Hathersagge, who is pre-
sented to Middle by the usual Patrons. Berford vacated Middle in
1404.

BALDERTON.

This member of Middle seems to have contained 1} hides of the
Domesday Manor. A part of it, viz. one hide, was probably separated
from Middle before that estate was given by Fitz Alan to Le Strange.
It was annexed, together with that part of Sleap which was another
member of Middle, to the Fee of Hussey ;—that is, Hussey of Al-
bright Hussey held a hide in Balderton and half a hide in Sleap,
immediately under Fitz Alan, and never, that I can learn, mediately
under Le Strange. But half a hide in Balderton went, together
with Middle, to the first Jobhn le Strange, and his Undertenant
thereof was Leolwine the Humter. On the death or escheat of
Leolwine, and about the year 1175, John le Strange (I.) enfeoffed
one William fitz Walter in Shelvock (a2 member of Ruyton or
Wykey), and also in two virgates at Balderton. His Charter runs
as follows.—

Omnibus amicis suis et hominibus suis Salopesbirie, tam futuris
gquam presentibus, Johannes Eztraneus salutem. Notum vobis facio,
et scripture testimonio confirmo, me dedisse Shelfkoc, cum omnibus
pertinenciis, et duas virgatas lerre in Balderton, que fuerunt
Leolwini Venatoris, Willielmo filio Walleri et heredibus suis, libere
et quiete istas duas terras temendas de me et heredibus meis, an-
nuatim reddendo, pro omni servicio, quasdam ocreas de cordubano
cum calcaribus deauralis. Hujus donacionis sunt testes Orneus

Capellanus, Willielmus filius Willielmi filii Alani.

" Soon afterwards, that is, in or before the year 1179, ¢ William
fitz Walter of Shelfhoc gave to Haghmon Abbey those two virgates
in Balderton which John le Strange had given him. Witness,—
Guy le Strange.”

Not long afterwards Jobn le Strange (II.) confirmed William
fitz Walter’s grant and Charter, speaking of the said William as
his Father's Feoffee. He also gave to the Abbey 9 acres of his
own territory of Mudle. Witness,—Roger Sprenghose.

The following Deed refers to the Seigneury of Le Strange over
the estate thus acquired by Haghmon Abbey.—* John le Strange,
gon of John le Strange, for himself and his heirs, acquits and frees
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the Abbot’s land of Balderton of Guards doverant! for ever. Wit-
ness,—William de Hedley.

Late in the reign of Edward II., as I think, the Abbot got a
Quitclaim of all right or challenge, in respect of any lands at
Balderton, from John Lord of Shelvak, whom I take to have been
a descendant of William fitz Walter above mentioned. This Quit-
claim was attested by Sir William de Ercalue and Sir John de Lee,
knights ; by Richard Hord of Walleford, Richard de Pectone, Roger
de Letone, Stephen de Roshale, and Richard Gery of Actone.

On Oct. 25, 1333, Nicholas, Abbot of Haghmon, and Sir John
le Strange, ““ Lord of Mudle,” adjusted certain differences. Sir
John was to allow a certain flow of water to escape down the usual
course from the Vivary of Middle. The Abbot was to facilitate the
annexation to Middle Park of two wastes called Hethilyghe and
Webblescou-lone, without interference of himself or his Tenants at
Balderton or Webblescone. Witnesses,—Richard Hord of Walle-
forth, William Banastre, Richard Huse, Roger Banastre, and Rich-
ard de Walleford.

On Dec. 5, 1334, the same parties had a second agreement.—
Abbot Nicholas covenanted that Sir John and his heirs should
enclose and hold in severalty the following parcels of land, viz.
Bromehurste, Slepe-gorstes, Gorsthurst, Bilemerspoll, and the
Halghfeld. Sir John allows that the Cattle of the Abbot, and of
his Tenants at Balderton and Webblescoue, shall not be impounded
for trespass where the fences were ill.kept. He also secures the
Abbot’s peaceable enjoyment of common rights throughout the
Manor of Middle except in the Park, &e.

As to UnpERTENANTS in the Abbot of Haughmond’s estate at
Balderton, the five following Surrenders and Deeds seem to have
taken place between 1216 and 1230.—

William de Balderton, who occurs in 12283 was it seems, son of
Adam de Balderton. So describing himself, he sells to the Abbey,
in augmentation of the gate-alms of Haghmon, with consent of his
heir Richard, and for a sum of £2. 15s., a messuage, croft, and 15
acres, which Richard fitz Clarice sold to him. Rent reserved 2d.

! De satellitibus doverantibus; that is, | note 1, and supra, Vol. V. p. 198,—where
the land shall be free from any contribu- | Doverette is the name given to a Fee or
tion towards the maintenance of such | exaction levied by the Foresters of a cer-
Officers. They were probably a kind of | tain district).
manorial Police in the present instance 3 He wa amerced in that year, quia
(see however Hist. Shrewsbury, I1. 112, | non habuit quem plegiavit.

b & 10
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Witnesses,—John fitz Alan and Vivian de Rosehalle. (Of Wil-
liam de Balderton’s son, Richard, we shall hear again.)

John de Balderton (another son of Adam) gave the Abbey a croft
and 6 acres in Balderton. Witnesses,—John de Burcheltun (Burl-
ton), Alan de Burlhton (Broughton).

William, son of Adam de Balderton, conceded and confirmed his
brother John’s grant. Witnesses,—John le Strange, Hugh le
Strange.

Stephen, son of Adam (de Balderton), quitclaimed a messuage
and 6 acres, and all lands which the Abbey had by grant of his
brothers, John or William., Witnesses,—Richard de Pecton,
Richard de Lopinton.

Roger Avenel gives and quitclaims to the Abbey a half-virgate
in Balderton which Roger Avenel his Father had held. Witness,
—Alan de Burchton.

The same surrenders to the same, three half-virgates in Balderton,
respectively held by Richard the Provost, Roger fitz Roger the
_Provost, and Radulph. Witnesses,—Sir Thomas de Rossale, Sir
Vivian his son.

The last Deed probably passed after the middle of the 13th cen-
tury, as did a Deed whereby the Abbot of Haghmon concedes to
Thomas fitz Roger, of Yorton, and Roysia, daughter of Helias de
Newbolt, his wife, a messuage and half-virgate in Balderton, which
Richard fitz Clarice (formerly) held. A rent of 3s. is reserved to the
Abbey, and one of 2d. to Henry le Husee and his heirs. Witness,—
Sir Thomas de Rossall.

The Account, already given under Hadnall,! is probably inclusive
of the Haughmond receipts from Balderton and Webscott.

Hussey’s Fee 1N BarperroN. This was a hide of land which,
together with half a hide in Sleap, was held by Hussey, of Albright
Hussey, under Fitz Alan: and, as I have already stated, Hussey’s
feoffment in these members of Middle was probably anterior to Le
Strange’s feoffment in the central Manor.

About 1230-50, Walter Hussey (of Albrighton) had, it seems, a
Tenant here, viz. Richard, son of William de Balderton. The said
Richard and his heirs acknowledge by Deed that * they can neither
give, nor demise for a term, the land which they hold under Walter
Hose in Balderton, in any way so as to injure the said Walter or his
heirs.”’? ’

The Husseys of Albrighton afterwards enfeoffed a branch of their

! Suprs, pp. 69, 60. 2 Harl. MS. 1396. fo, 177.
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own family in Balderton and Sleap. In 1255, John, son of Thomas
Hussey, of Albrighton, was in minority. Hence the Hundred-Roll
says that “ Henry Hesee holds one hide in Balderton and half a hide
in Slepe; and the estate is of the fee of Thomas Hesee’s heir. It
owed the service of a third part of a knight’s-fee at Oswestry; did
suit to County and Hundred, and paid 12d. for stretward and
molfee.””!

At the Assizes of 1272 Henry Huse was one of the Jurors for
Pimhill Hundred. Moreover, Henry Hose, as tenant of a messuage
and virgate in Baldreton, Avelina de Hadenhale, as tenant of 2s.
rent in Hadnall, William Banastre, as tenant of 5s. rent in- Smethe-
ton (Smethcott), and Robert fitz Matthew, of Eyton, as tenant ot
2s. rent in Eyton juxta Alberbury, were all impleaded for the same
by Thomas de Oveton, as heir of Richard de Oveton, his uncle. It
was proved, however, that Richard had not died seized of the premises,
he having enfeoffed his son Nicholas in the same, before he died.

Before 1279 Henry Hussey, of Balderton, had been succeeded by
John Hussey. The latter is entered on the Pimhill Tenure-Roll as
holding one hide in Adbrigton (Balderton is meant) under John
Hussey of Adbrighton by service of one-third of a knight’s-fee at
Oswestry, in wartime, on behalf of the last-named John.

John Hussey, of Balderton, occurs as a witness or Juror in 1291
and 1293.

On April 1, 1324, Thomas Husee, of Balderton, surrendered to
Haghmon Abbey all the lands he held under it in Balderton.

Stear Parva. In 1255 we have seen that half a hide in Sleap
was held by Henry Hussey, of Balderton, under John Hussey, of
Albrighton, who held immediately of Fitz Alan. The Tenure-Roll
of 1279 indicates a totally different arrangement, making Roger
(or Reyner) de Slepe to hold the vill of Slepe under Thomas de
Rossall by service of 10s. per annum.

There is an analogous appearance, in the case of Wollascot, of De
Rossall having at this time engrossed a part of Hussey’s Fee; so
that we need not doubt the fact of a like change in the case of Sleap.
Of course Fitz Alan was still Seigneural Lord of Sleap, though the
Record does not say so.

On November 3, 1292, a fine was levied, which shows that the
part of Sleap which was, or rather had been, a member of Middle,
was called Parva Sleap.—* Vivian de Rossall (Impedient) allows a
gift of 10 acres of meadow in Parva Slepe to Thomas de Rossall

! Rot. Hundred. 11. 75.
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(Plaintiff), who gives a Sore-hawk.” Vivian was, I think, younger
brother of Thomas.

Wesscorr. This member of Middle undoubtedly passed with
the central Manor to John le Strange (I.). I have stated under
Berrington the particulars of a grant, whereby the said John gave
before 1172, and confirmed in 1177-8,! half a virgate in Webbles-
cowe to Haghmon Abbey.

The following may well be a confirmation of John le Strange (II),
between 1178 and 1180, and shortly after his father’s death. As
“John Extraneus,” he gives and confirms to the Abbey a half-
virgate in Webblescowe, with common pasture throughout the fee
of Mudle for the live stock of the Abbot’s tenants at Balderton and
Webblescowe. Witnesses,—William fitz Alan, Wido le Strange,
and Ralph le Strange, of Lucheham (Lytcham, Norfolk).?

In Trinity Term 1283 Roger fitz Sibil and Agnes, his wife, enfeoff
John le Wodeward, of Mudle, in a messuage and virgate at Webbles-
cowe;—to hold of themselves and the heirs of Agnes, at a clove-
rent ;—the Feoffee performing all capital services. For this the
Grantee paid 10 merks.

The subsequent interest of Haughmond Abbey in Webscott has
been traced under Hadnall.

There was also a small estate at Websacott, belonging to Lilleshall
Abbey. It was given by John le Strange (I1.), and, according to
the Rubric of the Lilleshall Chartulary, was a sort of composition
or atonement for some act of homicide. Between the years 1225
and 1232, and probably in his Father’s lifetime, John le Strange
(I1I) ratified this gift in a Charter, of which I transcribe the title
and principal contents :—

Carta Domini Johannis Exiranei de terrd de Webbleschoue, datd
domui de Lilleshull pro morte cujusdam hominis.—Johannes filius
Johannis Extranei dedi, &c., unam virgatam in Weblescoue, quam
Walterus filius Galfridi tenuit, et quam paler meus (Canonicis) illis
donavit in liberam elemosynam, ita quod eundem Walterum Abbati et
Conventui assignavi. Predictus Walterus reddens sit eis 1v solidos.
Terra sit quieta de pannagio xx1v porcorum. Hiis testibus, Willielmo
Pantulf de Wemme, Willielmo Pantulf de Hales, Willielmo de Hedleg,

! Supra, Vol. V1. p. 34. There was ap- | liam fitz Alan, Wido, my brother, Ralph,
pareutly a copy of this Charter of 1177-8, | his son, Hugh le Strange, Marescote, and
in which the offering was said to be for | Henry, hus son.” (Harl. MS., 2188, fo.
the soul of Hawise, the Girantor’s wife. | 123.)

It was attested by * William, son of Wil- 2 Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 225.
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Adamd de Brinton, Johanne de Chetewind, Petro de Eyton, Rogero
Sprengchose, Rogero de Sai et m. a.!

The above grant (equivalent to a rent of 44. receivable from Walter
fitz Geoffrey) is indicated on an early Rent-Roll of the Abbey by
two items of 2s. each, arising at Michaelmas and Midlent from
‘Webleschoue.!

MagrroNn. This member of Middle also came to Le Strange with
the Central Manor.

William de la Mare, whose name seems to have been adopted from
The Mere (near Baschurch), was a Tenant here under John le
Strange (I.). Between the years 1178 and 1210 “ John le Strange,
son of John le Strange, gave to John, son of William de la Mare,
that bank of the water of Thorneforde Mill which adjoined the
Grantor’s land of Marton, and whereon the Grantee was to make
good his mill-stank, as his father had held it in the time of the
Grantor’s father. Rent 8d. Witness,—William, son of William
fitz Alan.”

In succession to John de la Mare came one Richard de la Mare
of whom we shall hear again under Baschurch. Richard’s son, a
second John, gave Thorneforde Mill to John le Strange (probably
John le Strange the fifth) in exchange for a virgate and two mes-
suages in Marton. This John, styling himself “son of Richard
de la Mere,” and “ Lord of Mere,” gave the said messuages and
virgate in frank marriage with Margery, his eldest daughter, to Wil-
liam, son of John de Haueston ;—to hold in fee, to them and their
bodily heirs, paying a penny rent to John le Strange. The only
hints I can give for the date of this Deed are that William, son of
John de Haueston, has occurred to us in 1292 under Haston, and
that John de la Mere appears on local Juries in January and De-
cember 1291.

John le Strange (V.) thus obtained Thorneforde Mill, and trans-
mitted it to his son, John le Strange (VI.); for it must have been
the latter who, as Lord of Knokyn, mortgaged his “Mill of La
Mere, alias Thorneforde Mill,” to Haughmond Abbey for £40.

This mortgage is undated, but the witnesses thereof, viz. William
Horde (Le Strange’s Seneschal) and Richard Horde, are appointed
to give the Abbot seizin in a contemporary Writ, which purports to
be dated on “ Friday, in the feast of the Circumcision, 4 Edward
II1.,” and which Writ is attested by Sir Hamo, brother of the Ex-
peditor of the Writ.—

I need hardly point out that January 1, 1331, fell on a Tuesday,

! The original Deed, at Trentham ; and Lilleshall Chartulary, fos. 55, 98. -
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or that the Lord of Knokyn at that period was Roger le Strange.
The writ, in short, must be dated on Friday, January 1, 4 Edward
I1. (1311), which will make the Mortgagor to have been John le
Strange (V1.), and will be altogether a consistent date for the instru-
ments in question.

It would seem that Marton Pool was next called Bassmere.—

On September 30, 1324, the Abbot of Haghmon concedes to
Stephen de Felton his fishery and mere of Bassmere, for life, at a
rent of 6s. 8d., and reserving power to distrain for the same on
Stephen’s Tenants at Felton (West Felton), Tedesmere, and Weston
Lullingfields.

Meanwhile John le Strange (VL.) dying in the same month in
which the above mortgage would seem to have been dated, had
been succeeded by his son Johun le Strange (VIL); and the latter
dying without issue in 1323, had been succeeded by his brother,
Roger.

Between 1328 and 1325, the latter as “ Roger le Strange of
Knokin ” released and quitclaimed to the Abbey all his right in
Thorneford-Mill, with the Fishery of the Lake of Bassemere, which
Mill and Fishery his Father John le Strange formerly had mortgaged
to the Abbey. Witnesses, Sir William de Ercalwe and Sir John de
Lee, knights ; Master Robert de Prestone, Clerk} Richard Hord
of Walleford ; Richard his son ; William Banastre; William Chap-
man of Eyton.

On July 80, 1340, Nicholas, Abbot of Haghmon, demises to
John Blays of Marton the above Mill and Fishery, situate near the
Vill of Marton, for his life, at a rent of 15s.

Again on May 19, 1462, Abbot Richard demises to Thomas Warde
of Baschurch, his Vivary of Bassemere near Marton, which John
Baker Senior of Fennemere once held, together with the Fishery
at the outlet of the said Vivary, so that there be no impediment
of the watercourse to the Abbot’s Mill of Thorneford. Term 61
years. Rent 6s. 84.

The Valor of 1535 probably includes the Haughmond receipts
from this quarter under the general title of Murydon. The Minis-
ters’ Accounts of 1541-2 furnish more specific items, viz. Thorne-
ford,—rent of tenement 3s. 4d.; Webscowe in Middle,—rent of
tenement 4s.!

ALDERTON, NEAR MIDDLE.
Though we know next to nothing of Shropshire History in the
! Monasticon, Vol. VI. p. 114.
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reign of King Henry 1., it is hardly possible to avoid seeing in the
subsequent condition of the House of Fitz. Warin the great prestige
with which its ancestor, Warin de Metz, was introduced to the
County by the policy of that monarch. As yet however we have
not seen Fitz Warin enfeoffed by Fitz Alan, though the Barons of
Caus, of Pulverbatch, and of Holgate, have each been ascertained
to have lent a hand in the establishment of a House which had no
Domesday antecedents to support it.

At Alderton however, a member of Middle, Fitz Alan will have
furnished his quota to the advancement of Warin de Metz ;—I say
of Warin de Metz himself, for the enfeoffment must have been old
enough for such a supposition.! So Alderton was already separated
from Middle, when Le Strange became endowed with the central
Manor.

In the time of King Richard I., the second Fulk fitz Warin sold
Alderton to Reyner de Lee, who held the neighbouring vill of Lee
(now Lee Hall) under Lilleshull Abbey. This was transacted, not
by any Deed of Fulk fitz Warin himself, but by a Charter of the
Lord Paramount, William fitz Alan (II), whose Deed on the sub-
ject must needs be dated in 1195-6. This is far too important a
Document to give in any other form than the nearly original one
in which it has been preserved.—

Willielmus filius Willielmi filii Alani, omnibus Christi fidelibus
ad quos presens charta pervenerit salutem. Sciatis me ad peticionem
Fulconis filii Warini concessisse Reignero de Le totam terram ipsius
Fulconis de Alverton, que est de feodo meo, quam ipse Fulco dedit
eidem Reignero pro homagio suo et pro viginti marcis argenti et uno
palfrido, &c. Et si forte cum illis warantizare non poterit, escambium
eis dabunt (Fulco et heredes) in terrd sud pacificd de Salopesbiria,® §c.
Hiis testibus, Johanne Extraneo, Magistro Roberto de Salop, Regi-
naldo de Heding, Philippo filio Willielmi, Helid de Say, Waltero
de Huggeford, Henrico fratre efus, Willielmo de Hedleg, Bartholomeo
de Morton, Ricardo Corbet, Rogero fratre ejus, Widone de Sauberi,
Rogero Bret, Ricardo filio Fulconis et Alano fratre ejus, Willielmo
le Mazun, Hugone de Bechebur’, Thomd de Costentin, Roberto de

! Fitz Warin had, it seems, another | Manor of Hilfrrich, estimated at half a
feoffment under Fitz Alan, but I doubt | knight’s-fee,” is one of the items so allotted
whether it was in Shropshire. In 1272, | (Claus. 56 Hen. III., m. 4).
on the assignment of dower to Isabel, 2 E.Q. in Moston or Welbatch, rather
widow of the third John Fitz Alan, “the | than in Whittington or Alberbury, which
whole service of Fulk fitz Warin for the | were in the Marches of Wales.
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Gerrois, Adam de Stocton, Roberto el Gilberto fratribus suis, Adam
de Cherleton et multis aliis.!

From Reyner de Lee, Alderton descended to his son Thomas,
and from Thomas, to his son John. Hence the Pimhill Tenure-Roll
of 1279 says that “Jobn de Ley holds Allerton under Fulk fitz
Warin, immediately, by service of one pound of pepper yearly.”
Again we have a fragment of an undated Deed, but which probably
passed about 1280-90, whereby “ John de Lee, son of Thomas de
Lee, gives to Stephen de Lee, his brother, certain land in Alverfon
super Bylemars.”

By another Deed “ John de Lee, son and heir to Thomas de
Lee, concedes to William de Albrucceton (Albrighton) and Alice his
wife a messuage in the field of Alverton.” After this, Alderton,
as a distinct Manor, seems to have been unknown; and yet I can-
not trace its history as involved in any other Manor.

Biumarsn. —This member of Middle seems to have gone with
the central Manor to Le Strange. Hence about 1250-1255 we
find that “ John le Strange Tercius *’ gave and confirmed to Haghmon
Abbey 3 acres of meadow in Bilemersch, viz. those nearest to the
acres of Thomas de Neuton, and of Geoffrey, in the place called
Holstedemor, at a rent of 3d. peracre. He further concedes to the
Canons a road to carry their hay, anywhere through his land, except
through growing corn or unmown grass, and wood to fence the said
meadow land, under view of his Forester in his Bosc of Mudle.
‘Witnesses,—Sir Thomas de Rossall, Sir Vivian de Rossall, Sir
Thomas de la Lee, Richard de Pecton, Martin de Boruton, Hamo
le Botiler, Roger de Preston, William de Chippeknol, and William
Banaster.

I shall notice under Petton a suit of the year 1256 wherein John
le Strange was alleged to have deprived Richard de Petton and
other Plaintiffs of a right of common in Billemers.

Qlbrighton, now Albright Pussep.

Domesday gives to Rainald Vicecomes two Manors in Bascherch
Hundred, one of which must, and both of which may, have been
represented by the Manor afterwards known as Albright Hussey.

! Harl. MS. 1896, fo. 253.
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« Isdem Rainaldus tenet Abretone. Sewuardus tenuit. Ibi 1
hide, non geldabiles. Ibi sunt 111 Villani et 1 Radman et unus
Francigena cum i1 Bordariis, et habent 11 carrucas et dimidiam.
Valet et valuit xv solidos.”” Again,—* Isdem Rainaldus tenet Et-
bretone et Herbertus de eo. Seuuardus, liber homo, tenuit. Ibi 11
hide. In dominio est una carruca, et viix Villani et v Bordarii
cum N carrucis. Valuit x1111 solidos : modo xxv solidos.””!

Assuming both the above Manors to have been consolidated in
Albright Hussey we should expect the latter to reappear in the
13th century as a Manor of four hides. It was however uniformly
reputed to contain only two hides. A probable reason may be
given for such a diminution; for two of the four Domesday hides
were ungeldable, and therefore might easily become obsolete in Re-
cords which were mainly intended as Registers of the fiscal and
civil liabilities of Manors. As to Herbert, Rainald’s Domesday
Tenant in half of Albrighton, his name occurs nowhere else in
Domesday, nor yet in any other Record. The first Hussey of whom
I find mention was—

Wavrrer Hussey, living in 1165. The Liber Niger calls him
Walter Hosatus, and gives him a knight’s-fee of new fegffment in
the Barony of Fitz Alan? This precludes all idea of the Husseys
being traceable to any Domesday origin. It is probable that Walter
Hussey’s Fee included not only Albright Hussey and its member
Harlescott, but parts of Balderton and Sleap, theretofore members
of Middle.

It was probably soon after the death of his Feoffor, the first
William fitz Alan, that is about 1160-5, that Walter Hussey made
the following grant to Lilleshull Abbey.—As “ Walter de Hose”
he appears as giving one parcel (locum) of his land of Herlaveschot
(Harlascott), which lay between the arable land of the said vill and
the land of Henechot. The gift was to enable the Canons (to whom
Hencott belonged) to erect a stank. The Grantor gave it * for the
soul of the Lord William fitz Alan ; and in the presence and with
the consent of Ralph, the Grantor’s son and heir.”’3

Walter Hussey left two sons Ralph and William. Of William,
the younger, as second husband of Leticia, heiress of Hadnall, we
have already heard. We have also heard of—

Rarrr Hussgy, the elder son, as a tenant in capite at Ightfield,
and as occurring in 1176 and 1204.* He had succeeded his Father in

! Domesday, fo. 256, 1, a and b. 3 Lilleshull Chartuiary, fo. 66.
3 Liber Niger, 1. 144. 4 Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 208, 209.
X. 11



89 ALBRIGHT HUSSEY.

1174. Tt is to this Ralph and to Albright Hussey that the Forest-
Roll of 1180 refers when it enters the « Vill of Ebreton Radulfi”
as amerced 3s. for waste. Again in 1183 the Sheriff accounts for
half a merk, an amercement set upon Ralph Hose for some act of
disseizin.

I refer back to several attestations of Ralph Hose, ranging be-
tween the years 1175 and 1204.! In two instances he is accom-
panied by his brother William. As Jurors of Grand Assize, and
a8 presumptively Knights, Ralph occurs in Easter Term 1200, and
both Ralph and William in October 1203. In 1203-4 we have
seen Ralph Hussey acting as one of the Manucaptors of his son
Walter, accused of the murder of Wido de Shawbury

‘Wavrrer Hussey (I1), escaping, as I conceive, from this charge
occurs in succession to his father at Ightfield in 1211. His attes-
tation of a Charter given under Hodnet? is perhaps five years earlier.
The Rubric of a Lilleshall Charter accurately entitles this Walter
as Walter, junior, Hose. The reference is to his Grandfather. In
the Charter itself, “ Walter Hose, son of Ralph Hose, confirms to
the Lilleshull Canons their stank of Haremore, as founded upon
his land of Harlaveschot, together with the land enclosed by a
foss which had been made between his land and the aforesaid
Mere (Hencott Pool), down to the boundaries of the land of Bere-
wick.”

On June 11, 1285, Walter Husee attests an agreement between
Henry, Abbot of Shrewsbury, and Alan le Poer, of Wollaséott. The
Feodary of 1240 gives Walter Hozey as holding half a knight’s-fee
in Adbritton of the Barony of Fitz Alan® It would seem therefore
that the service due on Hussey’s Fee had been reduced one-half,
Very soon after this, if we may judge by his attestation of a Hard-
wick Deed,*—

TroMas Hussey had succeeded to Walter. This Thomas was
deccased in 1255, leaving his son and heir,—

Joun Hussey, in minority. The Pimhill Hundred-Roll, in de-
scribing the Manor now under notice as  Harlauscote,” puts a part
for the whole.—

It says that “ Dame Margery de Lacy® holds two hides of land in
Harlauscote, in the way of wardship.” The estate was of the Fee of

1 Supra, Vol V1. p. 106; Vol VIL p. 4 Supra, page 49.

321; and Vol. IX. p. 823. § Margery de Lacy I take to have been
3 Suprs, Vol. IX. p. 829. the aged widow of Walter de Lacy, who
3 Testa de Neoill, p. 44. died in 1241. (See Vol. V. p. 240.)
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John fitz Alan, and owed the service of one knight in wartime at
Oswestry. It did suit to County and Hundred, and paid 164. yearly
for stretward and molfee.

At the Forest Assizes of November 1271 John Husee was pre-
sented for some offence in the Bailiwick of Haughmond.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that “ John Hussey holds
2 hides of land in Adbrigton and Harlescote of the Fief of John fitz
Alan, by doing the service of one Montarius at Oswestry in wartime.”

About 1280-90 “ John Husse, Lord of Adbryghton, gives to Sy-
mon Granegos, Burgess of Salop, for 304 merks and at a rent of 8s.,
a messuage, curtilage, and half-virgate in Adbryghton, with certain
land called Shiotefeld, and 11 seilions near to Harlescott. Wit-
nesses,—Sir John de Lee, Thomas Botterell, knights; Reyner de
Lee, William Banastre, Willlam de Wollascott, and Thomas de
Wythington.”?

JorN Hussey (II) seems to have succeeded his father about
this time. In 21 Edw. 1. (1292-3), as Johkannes filius Johannis
Husey, Dominus de Adbritton, he gives to Hugh Bernerd, Burgess
of Salop, estovers in the bosc of Adbritton Husey. Witnesses,—
Richard de Letton, knight ; William Banester, Richard de Letton,
William de Willescot.?

At this time there is mention of a Richard Hussee, but who he
was I cannot say.

John Huse was in 1301 Manucaptor of Thomas de Roshall, re-
turned as Knight of the Shire for Salop. By an Inquest of 1310
it was found to be non-injurious to the Crown if Robert de Buck-
enhale and Cecily, his wife, were to give 3 virgates and 3 messuages
in Albrighton Husee and Harlascote to Shrewsbury Abbey. The
premises were held by a rent of 8s. 4d. under John Husee, of Ad-
brighton, who held of the Earl of Arundel, who held of the King.*
A coeval Fine shows that Abbot William paid £40 for the purchase.
In the Nomina Villarum of 1816 John Huse is entered as Lord of
the Vill of Adbrihton Huse.® He occurs as a witness seven years
later, but more I cannot say of him.

Ricaarp Hussey, who occurs from 1333 to 1349, was son and
heir of John.

Harrescorr. Of Hussey’s Undertenants here, I shall first name
Richard Bernard, who occurs on a Leegomery Inquest in 1249, and

1 Rot. Hundred. 11.75. 3 Inguisiliones ad gquod damnum, 3

2 Leiger of Salop Abbey, p. 239. Edw. II. No. 66.
3 Harl. MS. 1396, fo. 177. 5 Parliamentary Writs, IV. p. 398.
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on a Bolas Inquest in 1253, neither of which however indicate a then
connection with Harlescott.

By Fine levied January 20, 1256, Eynon ap Owein and Margery,
his wife (Deforciants), allow themselves to have given a virgate in
Harlawscote to Richard, son of Richard Berner, of Salop ;—to hold
under themselves and the heirs of Margery at a penny rent. A sum
of £9 was paid for this grant.

On April 20, 1258, Herbert de Herlescot, Margery his wife, and
Juliana de Herlavescot, give half a merk, that their suit of novel
disseizin against Richard Bernard and others, concerning a tene-
ment in Herlaveston (sic), may be tried before the King when he
should next visit Shrewsbury.!

In July 1258 and January 1259, Herbert de Herlavescot and his
wife, Margery, have further Writs against Richard Bernard and
others for disseizing them of a tenement in Herlavescot. In De-
cember 1270 Richard Bernard has a similar Writ against John
Hose.

In 1250 Geoffrey de Langley set an arrentation on William, son
of William de Herlavescot, for half an acre of forest-land.

William fitz John. William fitz William, and Henry Forester, all
tenants in Harlascott, occur on a local jury in 1262-3 ; as also do
Godfrey de Harlascote, and Adam, son of John de Harlascote, on a
Jury of 1291.

SarewssURY ABBEY FeE. The lands acquired by the Abbey in
Albright Hussey and Harlescott, are returned in the Palor of 1534
under the title, Harlescolt, and as yielding £2. 16s. per annum®
The Ministers’ Accounts of 1531-2 make the late Abbey’s ferms in
Harloscote to be £3. 12s. 84.2

CHAPEL OF ALBRIGHT HUSSEY.

The eastern end of this Chapel was standing in the present cen-
tury, and formed a division between two barns.*

In ancient times, both Albright Hussey and Harlescott formed
parts of the Shrewsbury Parishes of St. Mary and St. Alkmund.
The annexation of Albright Hussey to Battlefield is of course a
later thing than the great event which suggested the foundation
and formation of the Church and Parish of Battlefield.

On March 4, 1173 (1174 N. 8.), Ralph Husey compounded with
the Dean and Chapter of St. Mary’s for their parochial jurisdiction

! Rot. Finium, Vol. IL. p. 275. | 3 Monasticon, Vol. 111. p. 628.
3 Valor Ecclesiasticus, 111. 189. 4 Blakeway's MS.
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over the Chapel of Albright Hussey, by securing them a pension
(apparently of 4s.) for 100 years. This composition is so curious,
that I must needs give it as it stands.—

Omnibus ad quos pr:sens scriptum indentatum pervenerit Ranul-
phus Husey Dominus de Adbrighton Husey salutem. Noveritis me
conscientid directum Decano et Canonicis libere Capelle Regis Beate
Marie Salop’ dedisse, ad terminum c annorum, annuam pensionem
1v sterlingorum solvendam in Capitulo per me et heredes, pro deci-
mis et oblacionibus predicte Ecclesie accidentibus, de Capelld med
de Adbrighton Hussey, in ezoneracione conscientie mee. Dal’ apud
Adbrighton Husey 4* die mensis Marcii. A.p. 1173.1

Between the years 1200 and 1210 a person described as Jacobus
Clericus was probably Incumbent of the Chapel of Albright Hussey,
and in that capacity had a quarrel about tithes and other Church
income with the Abbot and Convent of Lilleshull, who were Rectors
of St. Alkmund.—

The matter went for Papal Arbitration, and was referred back to
the decision of H. Abbot of Buildwas, R. Abbot of Hageman, and
R. Prior of Wombridge.? James, the Clerk, surrendered to the
Delegates, the Abbot of Lilleshull’s right to the whole Vileinage
(i. e. tithes of Tenants in villeinage) of Herlaveschot and of Edbric-
ton, and the third sheaf of (the tithes of) the demesne of Edbricton;
and allowed the same to pertain to St. Alcmund’s Church. In
return, R. Abbot of Lilleshull® allowed that James should hold at
ferm, for his life, the third sheaf of the demesne of Edbricton, and
the third sheaf of the Vileinage of Herlaveschot, at a rent of 2s. 6d.,
payable yearly at Michaelmas to the Abbot at St. Alcmund’s
Church. The said Church was still to receive from the Villeinage
of Edbricton and Herlaveschot the following, viz. the consecrated
bread, the pence, the candles, and the bodies of the dead (i. e. the
right of burial).?

Certain tithes of Albright Hussey and the place itself were an-
nexed, as T have said, to the Church and Parish of Battlefield. In
1535-6 the College of Battlefield was receiving 20s. yearly for the
ferm of the Chapel of Albrighton Hussey.* As to Harlescott, it re-
mains to this day in the Parish of St. Alkmund.

! From Blakeway’s Collections. | Ralph, Abbot of Lilleshull (c. 1203-1216),
* Huctred, Abbot of Buildwas (who , were probably the dignitaries to whose de-
occurs 1210), Ralph, Abbot of Haugh- ' cision this matter was referred.
mond (c. 1204-1210), Roger, Prior of 3 Lilleshall Chartulary, fo. 67.
Wombridge (who occurs 1204), and 4 Valor Ecclesiasticus, 111. p. 195.
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EARLY INCUMBENTS.

James, Chaplain of Albrighton, occurs early in the 13th century.

RicHARD DE AsTON, Clerk, was instituted to the Chapel of Al-
brighton Husee on May 12, 1300. Patron, John Husee. Omn
January 30, 1314,—

Taomas pE WaITINTON, Clerk, had been presented by John
Heose, but the Bishop would not admit him by reason of his tender
age. He however appoints Richard de Lilleshull, Priest, to be
Custos of the Chapel and Curator of the youthful Presentee, to
whose benefit the profits of the Chapel, the services being first pro-
vided for, are to be applied. On July 3, 1317, the Bishop, exercis-
ing a power of dispensation, admits—

Apam Huseg, Clerk, a youth of seventeen, to this non-curative
Chapel. Patron, John Husee. On Sept. 4, 1338, Adam Husee
having resigned,—

PraiLte, soN oF Ricaarp Horp, or WaLLEFORD, Clerk, was ad-
mitted, at presentation of Richard, son of John Husee. Philip
Hord died Oct. 3, 1349 (probably of the Pestilence), and on Dec.
20, following,—

Tromas Huseg, Clerk, was admitted to this Free Chapel. Patron,
Richard Husee. On April 23, 1389,—

RoBErT MONTEGOMERY, Priest, was admitted, at presentation of
Richard Husee, Esq. On April 23, 1390, Montegomery exchanges
with—

Joan BuLey, late Rector of Mannaven (S. Asaph. Dioc.).

Roger YvE, or LEertoN, Priest, was admitted Oct. 22, 1398, at
presentation of Richard Husee, of Albrighton. Yve occurs as Rector
in 1 Henry V. (14134). He resigned in 1447.

Rogshall any The Xsle,

WE will now treat consecutively of three Manors in Bascherch
Hundred, which Albert, ancestor of the knightly family of Roeshall,
held under Rainald, the Sheriff, at Domesday.—

“ Isdem Rainaldus tenet Rosela, et Albertus de eo. Hunni tenuit
T.R. E. Ibi1hida. In dominio est 1 carruca; el 1111 servi, ef 11
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Villani, et 1111 Bordarii cum 1 carrucd; et adhuc alia (carruca)
posset esse.  Valuit xx solidos ; modo x11 solidos.’”!

Again Domesday says,— Isdem Rainaldus tenet Aitone et Al-
bertus de eo. Leuric tenuit T. R. E. Ibi 11 hide. In dominio est
I carruca ; et 1111 servi, et 11 Villani, et 111 Bordarit cum 1 car-
rucd. 1bi Molinum de x solidis. Valebat xv solidos: modo xxx solidos.”

My reason for combining the two Manors of Roashall and Eyton
in one Chapter is because they were contiguous, and because their
common tenure soon caused them to be named by a single name,
that of Rosshall. The site of Eyton was probably that curious
peninsula which the devious course of the Severn has traced out to
the north-west of Shrewsbury. The name Eyton, always asso-
ciated with circumfluent water, was appropriate to the locality.
Though the vill of Eyton has been lost for centuries, the name is
substantively preserved in the allusive title of The Isle.

Hvuven ritz ALBERT, a descendant of the Domesday Albert, ap-
pears between 11556 and 1160 attesting a Charter of the first Wil-
liam fitz Alan.2

In the Liber Niger of 1165 we find Hugh fitz Albert holding
the fees of one knight and 34 Muntators, of old feoffment in the
Barony of Fitz Alan.® The tenure, equal to 2} knights’.fees, was
not merely in Rosshall, Eyton, and Welsh Hampton, but probably
included estates at Middleton (near Bridgnorth), at Withyford, and
other places.

It need not be assumed that this Hugh was son of the Domes-
day Albert. It is much more probable (and this would be quite
consistent with the nomenclature of the period) that he was his
grandeon or great-grandson.

About Easter 1170 Hugh fitz Albert having previously died, his
son, called Warin fitz Hugh, seems to have had livery of his in-
heritance. This I take to be the real meaning of an entry on the
Pipe-Roll of 1170, when Guy le Strange was Custos of the Honour
of William fitz Alan, deceased. The said Custos deducts 20s., or
half a year’s revenue of the land of Roshala, which the King had
restored to Guarin fitz Hugh.# It is obvious that Rosshall had
been in the King’s hand as Custos of Fitz Alan’s heir, and there
is no other way of accounting for this minor escheat in Fitz Alan’s
Barony than by supposing the contemporary minority of the Heir
of Rosshall.

' Domesday, fo. 265, a. 2. 3 Liber Niger, 1. 143.
2 Supra, page 45. ) 4 Rot. Pipe, 16 Hen. II., Salop.
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In all later years of Guy le Strange’s trust, down to 1175, he
deducts at the rate of £2 yearly, in quietantid terre de Roshalle
quam Rez reddidit Warino filio Hugonis.

It is all but certain that the person here called Warin fitz Hugh
was afterwards known only as—

ViviaN pe RossarL. There is however nothing common in the
language or derivation of the two names Warin and Vivian, nor do
I know of any other instance where they have been thus inter-
changed.

The first occurrence of Vivian de Roshall, under that name, is
in the Court of King Richard I., on January 24, 1190.! At the
Shropshire Assizes of 1203 he appears as a Knight and a Juror
in Grand-Assizes. At the Forest-Assizes of 1209 his Fine of 8 merks,
that he might have quittance with regard to some Suretiship, is
entered as if he were a Staffordshire man. His brother Ralph was
one of those Rebels against King John who were taken prisoners
at the siege of Carrickfergus in 1210. He seems to have endured
a captivity of some years, for it-is not till 18 March, 1215, that
Vivian procured his enlargement by a Fine of 40 merks. A Patent
of that date, addressed to the Constable of Sarum, orders his
liberation. -

If Vivian de Roshall had livery as early as 1170 we are not sur-
prised at finding his attestations from about 1217 to about 1238 =0
frequently followed by those of Thomas his son. At the Assizes
of 1221 Sir Vivian appears again as one of the knightly Jurors
who tried causes of importance.

At these Assizes, viz. on Nov. 3, 1221, Vivian de Roshal, tenant
of a carucate of land in Udelendun,® gave 40s. to Roger de Gyros
for abandoning his claim thereto.

A Writ-close of December 1225 shows Vivian de Roshall as a
Commissioner for collecting the tax of the fifteenth in Salop and
Staffordshire. Again a Patent of June 7, 1233, shows him as a
commissioner for collecting the tax of the fortieth in Shropshire,
and as having paid an instalment thereof into the King’s Wardrobe
on the previous day at Wenlock. His age at this time cannot have
been short of 80, unless indeed I have been apeaking of two persons
under one name. At present however any proof of such a change
from father to son is wholly wanting.

The Pipe-Roll of the year 1235 shows that—

TroMAs DE RossatL and Robert de Wodenton had been Com-

! Supra, Vol. VII. p. 12. 2 This is Hudlington.
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missioners to assess a tallage in Shropshire. The collective infer-
ence from the Feodaries of 1240 is that Thomas de Rossall was
then holding 14 knights’-fees in Rosshall and its appurtenances,
of the Barony of Fitz Alan.!

At Oxford on May 10, 1247, the Abbot of Combermere im-
pleaded Thomas de Roshal for causing a horse of the Abbot to be
seized. Robert Gener, Provost of Roshal, was the Defendant’s
Attorney, and the case was adjourned. I know not whether it was
for this matter that in November 1243 Roger de Thurkelby, being
-in eyre at Salop, set the heavy fine of 15 merks on Thomas de
Roshal pro transgressione. Even earlier than this, the attestations
of Sir Thomas de Rosshall are followed by those of Sir Vivian his
son. In March 1255 Thomas de Roshall and Henry de Haleweton
were appointed, by Patent, Receivers of the sums arising from the
sale of timber in the Shropshire Forests. The Hundred-Rolls, a
Record of the ensuing summer, show the two Commissioners in
circumstantial discharge of their trust.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll evidently includes the Aitone of
Domesday, under the heading of Roshale. It says that “ Thomas
de Roshall holds three hides, geldable, in Roshale, It is of the
fee of John fitz Alan. He holds it by service of one knight at
Oswestry in wartime. He owes suit to County and Hundred, and
pays 2s. yearly for siretward and motfee.”’$

The latest that I find of Thomas de Roshall is on a commission
to rearrange a truce between King Henry III. and Lewellyn. He
went for that purpose with Adam de Brington (Brimton) and Hoel
ap Madoc to the Ford of Montgomery, and in 1261 the Sheriff
paid the three £7. 10s. for their expenses. About the same time
Sir Thomas de Roshal appears attesting a Deed, as Seneschal of
Oswestry.

Several other attestations of Sir Thomas de Roshall must be
dated later than 1255 ; but before 1263 he had been succeeded by
his son and heir,—

Vivian pe RosmaLn (II), to whom with John fitz Alan and
John de Chetwynd, a Patent of April 29, 1263, extends the usual
protection, while they were abiding in the parts of Wales with
Prince Edward.

A Letter of the second John fitz Alan, dated at Winchester on
Sept. 21, 1265, is addressed to his faithful and beloved Sir Fynyan
de Roshalle, Constable of Oswestry.

! Testa de Nevill, pp. 44, 47, 49. . 2 Rot. liundred. 11. 75.
X. 12
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At the Assizes of October 1272 Sir Vivian de Roshall was a
Juror in some principal causes. By a Fine levied at Westminster
on Feb. 16, 1278, Wymanus de Rossall (as he is called) settles his
Manors of Rossale, Honemanneby, and Eyton, on Thomas de
Rossall, Isolda his wife, and the heirs of Thomas ;—to hold of the
Lords of the Fees. The Grantees agree to pay the Grantor a life-
annuity of 20 merks. Soon afterwards, this Vivyan, whether living
or not, was succeeded by his son and heir, the said Thomas ; for—

Tromas pE Rosmarr (II) appears on the Pimhill Tenure-Roll
of 1279 as holding Rossall of the Fee of John (sic) fitz Alan by
service of one knight at Oswestry, in wartime. ¢ Eton,” adds the
Record, “is a member of Rossall.”

I find Sir Thomas de Rossal attesting as a Knight in May 1288,
but I suppose him to have been one much earlier. About 1290-1 he
married Nesta, widow of Roger Corbet of Chetton. She must have
been his second wife.! At the Assizes of 1292 he was one of the
Elizors for Pimhill Hundred and a Juror in cases of Quo Waranto.
In 1297 he was returned as holding £20 of lands or rents, and as
summoned to attend muster at London on July 7, prepared with
horses and arms for foreign service. In the same year two Writs
are addressed to him as a Commissioner of Levies in South Wales
and in Shropshire. On March 6, 1300, he attended a Parliament
at Westminster, as one of the Knights of the Shire returned for
Salop. In May following he was appointed one of the Justices of
Oyer and Terminer for the same County ;* and in June he officiated
as a Juror on the Great Perambulation of Shropshire Forests. In
January 1301 he attended a Parliament at Lincoln as a Knight
of the Shire for Shropshire. In June following he had a military
summons to serve against the Scots. In October 1302 he once
more sat in Parliament as a Knight of the Shire. In 1306 he was
appointed a Collector in Salop of the Aid for knighting Prince Ed-
ward.? Vivian, his brother, who follows him in a testing-clause
of the same year, seems to have had property in Yorkshire2 In
1307, 1308, and 1310 several Writs are addressed to Thomas de
Rosshall as a Conservator of the Peace in Herefordshire.

A Writ of Diem clausit, dated Dec. 13, 1310, announces the
death of Thomas de Rossehall, as of a Tenant-in-capite. An In-
quest, held at Shrewsbury in January following, proves that he was

! Supra, Vol. I. p. 181. Vivian de Rosshall and his wife Eva have
? Parliamentary Writs, 1. 810, 811. already occurred under Horton in 1299
3 Abbrev. Placitorwum, p. 210. This ! (vide supra, Vol. VII. page 187).
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no such thing. He had held Rosshall with its members of Eton
and Yakedon, under Edmund, Earl of Arundel, by service of one
knight’s-fee. The principal features of the estate were a Capital
messuage, a small wood, a Watermill (worth one merk), and a
Windmill (worth half a merk yearly). The rents of free tenants
were worth 30s. Thomas, son and heir of the deceased, was aged
27 years, on August 1, 1310}

TroMas pE RosHarr (III) appears as a Knight in May 1314.
In the Nomina Villarum of 1316 he is entered as Lord of Preston-
Gobald and Roshall. As a Knight of the Shire for Salop, he was
returned to the several Parliaments of 1316, 1319, and 1322. As
a Commissioner of Levies or Array he is addressed in Writs of 1316
and 1322, onewhile acting in Shropshire, onewhile in Northampton-
shire, and against the remains of the Lancastrian faction. In
May 1324 he was returned from the three Counties of Shropshire,
Northamptonshire, and Bedfordshire, as summoned to attend a Great
Council impending at Westminster.? The elder male line of the
Rosshalls eventually vanished in Coheiresses, one of whom took the
estate to the Englefields.

Of UnNpERTENANTS in Roshall I need only notice Robert de Roshal,
who dying before November 1221, left a daughter, Alice, whose
guardian, one Roger, gave her estate, viz. a noke in Roshal, to his own
son William. Alice sued William for the same at the Assizes of
1221, and though his guardian endeavoured to postpone the suit on
account of William’s minority, it was tried. The Jury found the
facts as above, viz. that Roger had died seized de custodid, not de
feodo, and that Robert, Alice’s father, had died seized de feodo.
They added that Roger was base-born, an argument I presume
against his asserted tenure-in-fee. William fitz Roger was spared
any amercement because of his minority.

ROSSHALL CHAPEL.

Both Up Rossall and The Isle are in the Shrewsbury Parish of
St. Chad; but the Chapel of Up Rossall, being founded by the
Lords of the Manor, seems to have attained an early independence.

The Tazation of 1291 calls it the Church of Roshall, and values
it at £1. 13s. 4d. per annum.* The Valor of Henry VIII. does not
mention it, so that its early history is mainly that of its—

! Inguis. 4 Edw. IL, No. 13. - 3 Assize Roll, 6 Hen. ITL, m. 7.
2 Porliamentary Writs, IV. 1355. * Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 245.
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EARLY INCUMBENTS.

Taomas, Chaplain of Roshall, occurs as a witness about 1240-50.1

Str MarTHEW, Rector of this Chapel, occurs before 1317,2 and
died Feb. 3, 1326.

WirtLiaM pE RosmaLE, Clerk (son of Thomas de Roshall), was
admitted March 4, 1326, at presentation of Sir Thomas de Roshale,
knight. He died Dec. 14, 1333, when—

WiLLiaM DE APPLEBY, Acolyte, was admitted. Same Patron.
Appleby died about Michaelmas 1349 (probably of the pestilence).

WiLLiam pE ALBRYGHTON, Chaplain, was admitted Jan. 5,
1350, at presentation of the Lord Richard, Earl of Arundell, Pa-
tron Adc vice.

Sir Prinir Leg, styled Custos or Rector of Roshall Chapel,
died in 1398-9. On Jan. 27, 1399,—

MasTEr WiLLiaM NEwHAWE was admitted. On Feb. 9, 1399,
he exchanges preferments with—

Master WiLLiam NEwrorr, late Canon of St. John’s, Chester.
The latter resigned immediately, and on Feb. 19, 1399,—

Sire WiLLiam Warrorp was admitted. He resigned in 1418,
when, on Nov. 5,—

SR ..... Fevton, Chaplain, was admitted. Patron,—¢ the
noble Philip de Yngelfeld, Lord of Rossale.”

Apan, Incumbent of Rossall, being deceased on Aug. 23, 1442, —

WiLLiam MagrcHALL was presented by Robert Englefeld, Esq.
He died in 1444, when, on Oct. 24th,—

JonN SumiTH was instituted. Thisis the last institution recorded
in the Diocesan Registers.

dAeleh Pampton.

“Isdem Rainaldus tenet Hantone. . ZEldit tenuit T. R. E. Ibi
111 hide. Albertus tenet de Rainaldo. In dominio est 1 carruca,
et 111 servi et vi Villami et 1111 Bordarsi cum 11 carrucis ; et alie
11 carruce possent ibiesse. T.R. E. valebat xv solidos : modo (valet)
xxx solidos.”’s

} Supra, Vol. VIL p. 269. ? Supra, Vol. IIL. p. 193. 3 Domesday, fo. 266, s, 2.
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In 1265, Rainald’s representative (Fits Alan) and Albert’s re-
presentative (De Rosshall) had still the Seigneury and the Tenancy
of Welch Hampton ; but the Manor had apparently lost one-sixth
of its Domesday hidage.— Thomas de Roshall holds 24 geldable
hides in Hanton. It is of the Fee of John fitz Alan, and (is held)
by performance of knight’s-service at Oswestry for 40 days in war-
time. It does suit to County and Hundred ; and pays 20d. for
stretward and motfee.”’!

Either Thomas de Roshall or his son, Vivian, afterwards alienated
this tenure to Sir Peter de Montfort, of whom we shall hear more
under Ellesmere. Montfort in turn sold his interest to Hamo le
Strange, the great Royalist of 1264-5. The Seigneury still re-
mained with Fitz Alan, as an Inquest of 1272, calling the place
Henton, seems to have shown.® Meantime Hamo le Strange had
enfeoffed his brother Roger, in both Ellesmere, Coolmere, and
Hampton. Roger retained seizin of all three, till Adam de Chet-
wynd, then Escheator for Cheshire, ejected him. This induced
Roger to petition the Crown; and a Writ of Edward I., dated
March 3, 1274, caused the Inquest from which the above informa-
tion has been derived.?* Henton, the Jurors added, was of the Fee
of Sir John fitzs Alan. There can be no doubt that, as Ellesmere
was conditionally restored to Roger le Strange, so Hampton became
his again by a surer title, and went to his heirs. The Pimbhill Te-
nure-Roll of 1279 says that ‘ Roger le Strange owes Hampton
immediately of John (sic) fitz Alan, by service of one knight's-fee
at Oswestry for 15 days in wartime.”

On Nov. 4, 1280, an Extent of Roger le Strange’s Manor of
Hampton valued it at £3. 14s. 2d. per annum. Among the items
were 44 acres of demesne; Pleas of Court, 5s.; Rents of free Te-
nants, Cottars and Natives, 5s. 2d.; 8s. 6d.; and £1. 18s. 3d. The
free Tenants were Oweyn fits Gronow, Stephen de Fraunketon,
Richard de Prene, and Richard fitz Elyas.4

After Roger le Strange’s death, the meane lordship over Colemere
and Hampton seems to have gone to his right heirs, the Stranges
of Knokyn, descended from his eldest brother.

WELCH HAMPTON CHAPEL.
The original Chapel of Welch Hampton was probably a mere

! Rot. Huadred. 11.75. 3 Ingwis. 1 Edw. 1., No. 87.
* Colend. Ingwis. Vol. 1. p. 40. ¢ Forest-Roll, No. 14. Salop.
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affiliation of Ellesmere Church. Its place seems to have been sup-
plied by a more independent foundation.—

This second Chapel was founded in the year 1391 by John, son
of Madoc de Kynaston, “to the honour of God, of the blessed
Virgin Mary, and the most blessed Confessor St. Leonard.” The
foundation was with full consent of ‘ Roger de Hampton, Per-
petual Vicar of the Parish Church of St. Mary of Ellesmere,” as
his Deed, dated at Ellesmere on April 6, 1391, more fully declares.
The Deed further declares that John fitz Madoc and his. heirs shall
always have the patronage of the said Chapel, without any claim
or charge of any future Vicar of Ellesmere, and that the Chapel
shall be free and entire, and separate from the Parish Church in
all things, except as regards proper and incidental matters of ordi-
nary jurisdiction.!

EARLY INOUMBENTS.

The following were all Incumbents of the original Chapel, viz.
that which existed before John de Kynaston’s foundation :—

Rosert Dros, Rector thereof, died Dec. 26, 1328.

Sir JoaN pE ErLesmerg, Chaplain, was admitted Oct. 9, 1329,
at the presentation of the Lady Isabella, Queen of England.®* He
died Sept. 26, 1349 (probably of the pestilence). On Dec. 2 fol-
lowing— :

Eomunp pe Bureron, Clerk, was admitted at presentation of
“Sir Roger le Straunge, Lord of Knokyn and of Ellesmere, knight.”

The Diocesan Registers do not appear to furnish any later pre-
sentations; nor is the Chapel mentioned in Henry VIIL.’s Valor.

Shrawardine.

“ Isdem Rainaldus tenet Saleurdine. AEli tenuit T.R.E. Ibi u
kide. In dominio sunt 11 carruce, et 1111 Bovarii, et 11 Villani, el

! Collect. Topogr. et Genealogica, Vol. | of the Kynastons. He was also Seneachal
V.p. 179. John, son of Madoc de Ky- | of Ellesmere Castle and of the Marches
naston, was at the time Lord of Welch | thereabout.

Hampton. He was undoubtedly ancestor ? Ellesmere was at this period in the
of the present Baronet, and (says my au- | Crown. Hence this presentation by Ed-
thority) of nearly all the existing branches | ward II1.’s mother. .
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1n Bordarii, cum 11 carrucis el dimidid. Valuit et valet xv go-
tidos.?

There is nothing in this extract from Domesday indicative of any
existent, or promissory of any subsequent, importance for Shra-
wardine. The next tidings which we have of the place is that
Rainald Vicecomes and Hugh son of Warin Vicecomes concurred
in giving the tithes of Seraordina to Shrewsbury Abbey.

Henry I1.’s Confirmation to Shrewsbury Abbey, passing in 1155,
records a gift of one Fulco Pincerna, viz. half a tract of untilled
ground (dimidium heremum) in the wood of Seraordina. 1 cannot
say who Fulco Pincerna was, nor do I find the Abbey subse-
quently possessed of land in Shrawardine.

It must have been at least as early as the reign of Henry L,
that Shrawardine was discerned to be a fitting spot for one of
those Fortresses which constituted a second or interior line of de-
fence against Welsh aggression, or of safe rendezvous for the English
Marchers. Thus, while Oswestry, Knokyn, Carrechova, and Whit-
tington were the more advanced posts of border warfare, the
Castles of Shrawardine, Ellesmere, and Ruyton lay more in the
rear. Of the relative antiquity of Shrawardine Castle I believe
that there is only one documentary proof. In the year 1165 Philip
Helgot, acknowledging his service of castle-guard as returnable at
Shrawardine, says expressly that it was “ the same as his Ante-
cessors had been used to render.”’?

Moreover it would appear that, though this Castle was founded
in Fitz Alan’s Fief, it was founded by the Crown. Certainly during
the first century of its existence, it was held, repaired, victualled,
and garrisoned by the Crown, without any interest or obligation
of Fitz Alan being apparent in the matter. The proof of these
statements will constitute the earlier history of Shrawardine Castle.—

In December 1164 Geoffrey de Vere was appointed Sheriff of
Shropshire, while Guy le Strange, the preceding Sheriff, continued
to be Custos of Fitz Alan’s estates. In July 1165 King Henry II.
encamped at Oswestry, intending an attack on North Wales. It
is the Sheriff, and not the Custos, who at the following Michael-
mas charges the Crown with a sum of £6, which he had dis-
bursed to 50 Servientes at Suewardin. Again, as a later Pipe-Roll
informs us, the Sheriff, between Michaelmas 1165 and April 23,
1166, disbursed a sum of £62. 1s. 4d. to 100 Servientes “ of
Shrawardine and of the March.”’s

! Domesday, fo. 255,8,1. I 3 The pay will be found to be about 5d.
? Suprs, Vol. I1I. p. 177. a week to each man,
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we need not inquire how the place acquired the latter name, though
we cannot regard Isabel de Mortimer as its second Founder.
Shrawardine Castle was occupied by her son, Richard, Earl of
Arundel, before he had attained the age of manhood; for a Deed
of his, which passed in March 1292, is dated at Schyreveworthdin.!
In the same year the Earl was questioned for the exercise of certain
franchises in Shrawardine and other Manors. His defence to the
Writ of Quo Waranto has been given under Upton Magna.?

An Inquest taken at Shrawardine on May 19, 1302, after the
death of Richard, Earl of Arundel, states that Manor to have been
held én capite for aknight’s-fee. The Castle was not deemed of any
annual value. The late Earl’s demesnes consisted of 80 acres of
arable land, 6 acres of meadow, and 40 acres of bosc. The free-
tenants paid £2.10s. 7d. rents; the Villeins £5. 16s. 1d.; the
Cottars 4s. 4d.; and ten tenements of half a virgate each were let
for £4. Ensdon and Forton are both accounted members of
Shrawardine. The annual income, from Shrawardine and Upton
Magna combined, was £33. 18s. 5d.

Tradition tells of a young Fitz Alan, who, through the careless-
ness of his nurse or his own temerity, fell from the hattlements of
Shrawardine Castle, and so perished. Neither name nor date is
assigned to a circumstance, sufficiently credible in itself, and showing
the state of a district where females and infants might not visit
field or wood, even for the purposes of ordinary recreation.

Enspon is usnally accounted a member of Shrawardine. It con-
stituted part of the dower assigned to Hawise, widow of the first
John fitz Alan, in 1240 ; but in 1272 (when Shrawardine generally
was assigned in dower to Isabel, widow of the third John fitz Alan)
the rents of Kdeneston, a member of Shrawardine, were excepted.
They amounted to £6. 7s. 93d., and were allotted to the King as
Guardian of young Richard fitz Alan® We have seen that, later
in the same year, the King made over these identical rents to Roger
de Mortimer of Wigmore.*

In 1302 the specific rents of Edeneston, a member of Shrawar-
dine, were £4. '

CHURCH AND PARISH OF SHRAWARDINE.

Shrawardine is the one Parish of this district, to enclose which
the Diocese of Hereford passed its natural and ordinary boundary,

1 Bupra, Vol. VIL. p. 84. 3 Claws. 66 Hen. 11I., m. 4.
2 Supra, Vol. VII. p. 261. 4 Supras, Vol. VII. p. 269.
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the River Severn. The reason which I have assigned for such an
anomaly in the cases of Badger, Beckbury, Madeley, and Little
Wenlock,! does not hold good here. The @ra of the arrangement
is too old even for antiquarian speculation.

Domesday mentions neither Church nor Priest at Shrawardine,
and I cannot hesitate to say that the district then belonged to the
Mother Church of Alberbury, though south of the Severn. There
was however an independent Church here in King John’s reign,
for he presented a Rector thereto.

On Nov. 27, 1288, Bishop Swinfield, visiting his Diocese for the
second time, crossed the River Severn at the ford of Schrewardyn
and preached in Schrewardyn Church. He returned to Alberbury
the same day. His Visitation of 1290 did not take him so far
north as Shrawardine.

The Tazation of 1291 places the Church of Shrewardyn in the
Diocese of Hereford, the Archdeaconry of Salop, and the Deanery
of Pontesbury. Its value was £5 per annum.® As to the tithes
having been granted to Shrewsbury Abbey, the gift is indeed in-
serted pro formd in several Royal Confirmations, but it had no actual
permanence. Probably it was never recognized by the Fitz Alans,
and it seems to have altogether wanted Episcopal sanction.

In 1341 the Assessors of the Ninth rated the Parish of Shrawar-
thin at £2 ;—so0 much less than the Church-Tazation of £5, be-
cause the Earl of Arundel had enclosed 8 carucates in his Park, and
because 3 carucates more lay waste, from the insufficient means of
the tenantry. Moreover a vast quantity of growing wheat had
been destroyed by a flood of the Severn. Lastly the Churck-Taxa-
tion included Glebe-land, hay-tithes, oblata, and other small tithes,
which had no reference to the present assessment.?

An inquest of the year 1386 found Shrawardine Chapel to be free
and without any cure of souls, and that this was by ancient custom.
The Cure of the said Chapelry belonged to the Vicar of Alberbury.
The Benefice was worth £5 per annum.

In 1528 I find this Church entitled Capella, Sacellum, sew Ec-
clesia de Cherathdon, alias Shrewardyn. '

The Falor of 1535 gives £10 as the income of David Egerley,
Rector of Scrawardyn; out of which he paid 6s. 8d. for Procura-
tions, and 1s. for Synodals.*

! Supra, Vol. I11. p. 326. 3 Inquis. Nonarum, p. 185.
3 Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 167. 11 Valor Eecles. 117. 213.
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EARLY INCUMBENTS.

Roserr pE CERNE, Clerk, presented Nov. 10, 1213, by King
John as having in hand the estates late William fitz Alan’s.!

Herserr, Clerk of the Marshalsea, presented June 20, 1230,
by a Charter of King Henry II1.2

Hvuea pe Birvron,® Deacon, inducted March 13, 1305, to the
Church of Schrewardyn ;—the King presenting as Custos of the
heir of (Richard) the late Earl of Arundel. Biryton resigned the
Church of Castle-Isabel in 1325, when, on December 12,—

Sir JorN pE StrerToN, Clerk, was admitted to the same.

On Dec. 20, 1325, Stretton exchanged preferments with—

Roeerr pE NorrHWICK, late Rector of Kynfare (Lichf. Dioc.),
who was admitted to the Church of Castle Isabel, at presentation of
Edmund, Earl of Arundel.

Hvuer occurs as Rector on January 30, 1331, when the Bishop
of Hereford censures the Archdeacon severely for appointing Wil-
liam, brother of this Hugh, as his Coadjutor: thus setting at
nought the Bishop’s paramount authority.

Sir WiLLiam pE WoLvERTON was presented July 19, 1852, by
Richard, Earl of Arundel. On his resignation, and on May 16,
1354,—

Srr WiLLiam pE WaRpEN, Priest, was presented by the same
Patron. He resigned in 1355, when, on Dec. 16,—

Siz Huer re Zonge, Chaplain, was presented by the same
Patron. He resigned in 1358, when, on August 14,—

Sir Apam pE ErTHaM was presented by the same Earl. He re-
signed in 1359, when, on October, 14,—

Sir WiLLiaM pE Drayron, Chaplain, was instituted on a like
presentation. He died in 1386-7, and on March 21, 1887,—

Rosert PeseLLewe or Poserrows, Clerk, was instituted to the
Free Chapel of St. Mary of Shrawardine, at the presentation of
Richard, Earl of Arundel and Surrey. On his resignation, and on
May 22, 1388,—

Ricuarp Crope, Clerk, was instituted on a like presentation.
He resigned in 1408, when, on July 21,—

! Rot. Patent. 15 John, m. 7. the Advowson had not as yet been fully
¥ Rot. Chart. 14 Hen. 111, p. 1. The | recognized.
Charter merely says that the Church is in 3 The Patent, presenting this Rector
the King's gift (ad donum Regis spectans). | calls him “ Hugh, son of Richard de Bi-
I suppose that the title of FitzAlan to | riton” (Pat. 33 Edw. 1., m. 13).
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TroMas WILLMER, Clerk, was instituted at the presentation of
Thomas, Earl of Arundel and Surrey. Willmer died in 1427.

Little Pess or Carls Pess.

“ Isdem Rainaldus tenet Nesse. Seuuardus tenuit T.R.E. Ibiin
hide. In dominio sunt 11 carruce, et 1111 Villani et 11 Bordarii
cum 11 carrucis; et alie 11 (carruce) possunt adhuc esse. Ibi
Molinum de xx solidis et sexcentis anguillis. T.R.E. valebat 111
libras, et post \111 libras ; modo x solidos plus.”’!

I have given, under Middle Church, the evidence which shows
that Warin Vicecomes, his successor, Rainald, or his son, Hugh,
gave the tithes of Little Ness to Shrewsbury Abbey. The gift will
have been but impletive of Earl Roger’s donation of the Church
of Baschurch, which I presume comprehended Little Ness within
its Parish.

As Little Ness was always held by the Fitz Alans in demesne,
T have fewer particulars to give about the central Manor than about
its members.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that ¢ Jobn fitz Alan
holds, in Jokn fitz Alan’s Nesse,? three non-geldable hides; and he
holds the same in capite of the King as parcel of his Manor of
Oswestry ; and he affirms himself to have a Franchise and Warren
(libertatem et warennam).”’®

On the death of John fitz Alan (IIT) Little Ness was annexed to
the dower of 1sabel de Mortimer, his widow. Hence the Pimhill
Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that *“ Isabella de Mortuomari holds Nesse
of the King in capite, and it pertains to the Barony of Album
Monasterium.”

Later documents give no variation from these accounts, so that
the further history of Little Ness would be but'a repetition of what
has been already stated at large in the account of Fitz Alan’s
Barony. Of the members of Little Ness we have some interesting
particulars.—

MiLrorp. Here was probably that very Mill which Domesday

! Domesday, fo. 255, a, 1. tinguish it from Ness Strange.
2 Nesse Johannis filii Alani ;—to dis- 3 Rot. Hundred. 11. 76.
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notices as 8o valuable a constituent of the Manor of Ness. I have
already told how John fitz Alan (II) bequeathed this Mill with his
body in burial, to Haughmond Abbey, and how John fitz Alan (1II)
ratified his father’s bequest.

Nevertheless, on the death of the latter in March 1272, his
widow, Isabel de Mortimer, impleaded the Abbot for her thirds
in the Mill, and in 7s. rent, receivable from Mulford. The Abbot
called Roger de Mortimer (Isabel’s father), to warrant the Charter
of John fitz Alan, deceased. This was because the said Roger was
in part Custos of Fitz Alan’s estates, but he refused to plead, or to
give any warranty, unless the King joined him (he having his
trust from the King). Muleford Mill was at length (on May 8,
1274) valued by Inquest. It was ascertained to yield a clear
annual revenue of 20 measures of hard corn, worth, at 4s. per mea-
sure, £4. The person who farmed the Mill was bound to repair it.
A King’s Writ of June 22, 1274, orders the Escheator to cause
Isabel de Mortimer to have her exact thirds, viz. 2 merks from the
Mill, and 2s. 44d. of the aforesaid rent.

BentMiiL., I think that this Mill was in Little Ness, and was
distinct from Milford Mill, though the two often occur in conjunc-
tion and were perhaps eventually amalgamated.

I will give, in an abbreviated form, the important but lengthy
Charter by which, between the years 1268 and 1271, the third John
fitz Alan sold Bentmill to Haughmond Abbey.—

Sciant presentes et futuri quod ego Johannes filius Alani tercius,
dominus Avrundellie, dedi, &c., Ecclesie de Haghmon, molendinum
illud quod dicitur Benetmull, cum aquis, stagnis, ripis, &c., cum molid
et sectd hominum meorum et omnium tenencium meorum in Manerio
de Schrewardin, Moneford, et de Nesse, ila gquod si aliquis eorum in-
veniatur alibi molere blada sua quam in molendino predicto, eo ipso
perdat blada sua. Ego vero et heredes mei warantizabimus dictis
Canonicis quod nunquam infra Maneria de Schewardin, Moneford,
et de Nesse molendinum aliqguod construelur a gquocungue, nec aqua
a suo cursu solito divertetur. Et si contingat aliquod molendinum de
wwovo construi, ego et heredes mei, pro quolibet molendino novo, cum
constructum fuerit sine voluntate diclorum Canonicorum, solvemus
eis de redditu Manerii de Schrewardin in Monesterio de Haghmon
ad festum Sti. Michaelis xxx solidos, et ad festum Annunciacionis
xxx solidos quousque dictum novum molendinum prostratum sit. Et
ad vestiendum dictos Canonicos de isto redditu dedi illis cuppam

! Supra, Vol. VII. pp. 2566, 257.
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meam deauratem ponderis xxx1J solidorum. Dedi etiam eisdem
Cunonicis novem solidos annui redditts de villd de Muleford. Volo
etiam et concedo quod dicti Canonici habeant semper sufficieniem mer-
emium el estoveria in boscis meis de Schrewardin et de Nesse ad
dictum molendinum, et ad omnia eorum molendina infra dominium
meum super Pevereye! reparunda. Concessi preterea dictis Canoni-
cis meremium de bosco meo de Upton-subtus-Haghmon ad molendina
sua de Uplon. Pro istd vero concessione, el Warantizacione pre-
dictorum, dederunt mihi dicti Canonici xL'® libras argenti, et Advo-
cacionem Ecclesie de Stoke-juxta-Arundel® Hiis testibus. Domino
Johanne Extraneo, Viviano de Roshale, Johanne filio Aeri, Johanne
de Ercalue, Rogero filio Alani, et multis aliis.

Another Charter of the same Baron is more than a repetition of
the last, in that it names the tenants who were now to pay the 9s.
rent for Muleford. They were Hugh de Schrewardin Junior,
Richard fitz Agnes and Adam his brother, and John Smith. This
Charter then goes on to confirm certain acquisitions of the Canons
in Hydesland, Aston, and Wodeton, of which matter I will speak
elsewhere. In addition to the witnesses of the last it is attested by
Reyner de Acton and Hugh fitz Philip,

Richard, Earl of Arundel, inspected, recited, and confirmed the
last-named Charter of his father. He did so * for the souls’ health
of himself and his deceased consort the Countess Alesya.”? Wit~
nesses,—Sir John le Strange, quintus; Nicholas de Alditheleg;
William de Hodnet, Thomas de Roshale, knights; Reginald de
Schavinton, Yvo de Sulton, Philip de Peninton, Thomas de Wy-
thinton, and others. This Confirmation passed between 1292 and
1299.

In 1300 Richard Knight of Walford, was farming the two Mills
of Mulforde and Bentwille under Haghmon Abbey, and had timber
from the Wood of Nesse for their re-construction, in virtue of Earl
Richard’s Confirmation.

On February 2, 1316, the Abbot demises to William, son of
Roger de Addecote, the Mill of Mulforde and of Bent, for life, pay-
ing, for rent, 26 measures of good hard corn, at such times as the
Mills should earn them.

Appcorr. This member of Little Ness was given in fee, by some
Fitz Alan, to some ancestor of the House of Rosshall.

! The old name of the River Perry. See Vol. VII. pp. 289, 298.
7 Btoke (Sussex); the Church given 3 For some particulars of this Lady, sco
to Haughmond by William fitz Alan (I). | Vol. VII p. 261.
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The first Thomas de Rosshall gave the vill wholly to Haghmon
Abbey. This was between the years 1259 and 1263. His Charter
shows it to have been a gift in frank almoign, and nothing is stipu-
lated for the Grantor but the prayers and good offices of the “ House
of Haghmon.” All the Grantor’s tenants pass with the vill, as
well as their families and chattels, and the Abbot may eject them
or change them at his pleasure. Witnesses,—Sir John fitz Alan,
Sir John fitz Philip, Hamo le Botiler, Hugh de Schrewardin, Peter
de Pecton, and Roger de Stanwardyn.

The above Deed probably passed at a troubled period. It was
in the month after the Battle of Evesham, and when the Realm was
again at peace, that  John fitz Alan, Lord of Arundel,” being at
Winchester, expedited a Letter to Fynyan de Roshalle. Constable
of Oswestry, and William de Drayton, Bailiff of Wroxeter, and all
others his Bailiffs and Lieges of the March. He as ““ Lord of the
Fee,” enjoins that the said Officers give the Abbot of Haghmon
ingress in, and peaceable possession of, Addecote, as granted by Sir
Thomas de Roshalle. Dated on the feast of St. Matthew (Sep-
tember 21), Anno Gratie 1265.

The Confirmation of Vivian, ‘“son and heir of Sir Thomas de
Roshall, knight,” is as‘plenary as the Grant of his Father. It pro-
bably passed about 1265-70, being attested by Sir Odo de Hodnet
and Sir John fitz Aer, knights; Robert Corbet of Morton, John
Lord of Ercalwe, John de Haukeston and others.

I must now revert to an earlier period, and show how Addcott
had been held by a younger branch of the House of Rosshall, under
the elder; and how Addcott-Mill had been given to Haghmon
Abbey long before the Vill itself was bestowed.

There was a Hugh de Russal living in 1203, but all I can say of
him is that one Richard de Wyldritheled was then impleading him,
under Writ of mort d’ancestre. 'There was also a Hugh de Roshall,
who seems to have made some grant to Haghmon Abbey about the
year 1230, but all I can say of the Grant is that it was attested by
Sir John le Strange, Senior, and his two sons, John and Hamo, by
Thomas de Lee, and by Hugh and Heury, sons of the Grantor.?

This Hugh de Rosshall has further been seen, following Thomas
de Rosshall (his nephew I think) as a witness of a Hadnall Deed,

about 1235—40.3
! Harl. MS. 446. Quatern. XII. fo. | at Winchester, on Sept. 8, 1265.

9.—Fitz Alan was probably attendant at 2 Harl. MS. 2188, fo. 123.
the Great Council, summoned to nssemble 3 Supra, page 53.



ADDCOTT. 105

About the year 1241 “Hugh de Roshalle gave to Haghmon
Abbey, together with his body in burial, the Mill of Addecote, with
suit of the whole vill and toll of his own corn, ground there. Wit-
uesses,—Sir John le Strange, Sir William de Hedley, and Sir
Nicholas de Wilileg.” I presume that Hugh de Rossall’s residuary
interest in Addcott reverted to the head branch of the family.

About the year 1255, and before he gave the vill of Addcott to
Haghmon Abbey, “ Thomas de Rossall allowed the Canons to erect
a fulling-mill in his fee, below that Mill in Addecote which they
already had from him and his Anrtecessors. Witnesses,—Sir Thomas
de Lee, John de Morton, Richard de Pecton, Richard de Lopinton.”

The Tazation of 1291 says that the Abbot of Haghmon had three
Mills, worth £1 per arnum, at Muleferd (Milford), Benetmulne
(Bentmill), Addecote, and Fyces (Fitz). Some rent also coming
from Addestete (Qy. Addcott?) is classed with rents from Walleford,
Fitz, and Grafton.!

On Sept. 80, 1478, the Abbey leases 4 messuages and 2 virgates
in the vill and fields of Addecote, to Richard Brome, for 81 years.
Rent £]1. 4s. 84.

On Oct. 10, 1478, the Abbey leases to the same for 80 years, its
Mill of Addecote. Rent 60s. payable to the Lessors, and 3s. pay-
able to Shrewsbury Abbey for a moor near the Mill.

The Falor of Henry VIII. probably includes all the Haughmond
receipts from this quarter under the title Muryden, of which place
we bave yet to speak. The Ministers’ Accounts of 1541-2 are
more distinctive, and include the following items. Brent Mulford,
—free rent, 9s. ; Adcote,—land and tenement, £2. 53. 44. ; ferm of
a Mill, £22

LITTLE NESS CHAPEL.

This is, and ever has been, a mere dependency of Baschurch.
The Curacy is in fact annexed to the Vicarage of Baschurch, and
the Vicar receives the small tithes. Of the antiquity of the Chapel
I have no further evidence than that which the Ecclesiologist may
be pleased to infer from the somewhat uncertain test of architectural
remains. . '

1 Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 260. 2 Monasticon, V1. 114.
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English FFrankton,

Domesday describes this Manor as follows.—

Isdem Rainaldus tenet Franchetone, et Robertus de eo. Aldi
tenuit T.R.E. Ibi 11 hide. In dominio est una carruca, et 11 Bo-
varii, et 111 Villani cum 1 carrucd. T.R.E. valebat x solidos ; modo
(valet) xv solidos

For the successor of Rainald’s tenant, Robert, we look after a
lapse of 80 years to the Liber Niger, and find that in 1165,—

Ricaarp pE FrankTON Was holding a Muntator’s-fee in the
Barony of Fitz Alan.® ‘

About the year 1190 we have a Loppington Deed attested by
Richard de Frankton and Reginald his son. The latter was doubt-
less the person who, as— .

Revner pE FraNkTON, attests, about the year 1204, a Charter
which I shall set forth under Crickett. Again, about the year 1220
we have Reiner de Frankton attesting a grant in Grinsill, made to
Robert, son of Richard de Frankton ; and about 1230 we have seen
the same Reyner, or his son, attesting an Edgebold Deed.?

Revner DE Frankron (II) will have died within a short time
of his father. Agnes, widow of the Father, and Margaret, widow of
the Son, have both appeared under Crudington about 1230-1235.4

I suppose that Margaret, the younger widow, had the better part
of Frankton, in dower or in custody, during the minority of her
son Richard, but that, she having taken a second husband, viz.—

Evnon rirz Owen, the latter was entered in the Feodaries of
1240 as holding half a knight’s-fee in Franketon of the Barony of
Fitz Alan.b—~

Under Harlescott I have shown this Eynon fitz Owen, with his
wife Margery, as living in 1256, and granting a feoffment there, as
if Margery was not merely a dowered widow but an heiress.®* How-
ever, before this, her son—

Ricaarp pE Frankron (II) had succeeded to his paternal inhe-
ritance. At the Inquest of Pimhill Hundred in 1255 he sat as a
Juror, and was found to be holding 11 hides in Frankton of the fee

! Domesday, fo. 265, a, 1. ¢ Suprs, Vol. IX. pp. 102, 108.

2 Liber Niger, 1. 144, 8 Testa de Nevill, pp. 44, 47, 49.
3 Suprs, Vol. IX. p. 824. ¢ Bupra, page 84.
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of Fitz Alan. His service thereon was that of half a knight’s-fee
at Oswestry for 40 days. He did suit to County and Hundred, and
paid 16d. yearly for motfee and stretward.}?

At the Assizes of 1256 Richard de Frankton sat as a Juror for
Pimhill Hundred. In the same year he was reported as one of those
who, holding 15 librates of land, were not as yet knights. About
1260-3 we have seen him, as “ Richard, son of Reginald de Frank-
ton,” making grants in Crudgington to Shrewsbury Abbey, one of
which was confirmed by Margery, his Mother.

I find Richard de Frankton sitting on a Milford Inquest in 1274.
The Pimbhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 registers him as holding Frankton
under Fitz Alan by service of half a knight’s-fee at Oswestry, for
15 days, in wartime.

I can say nothing more of this family as connected with English-
Frankton. In the Nomina Villarum of 1316 William le Botiler (of
Wem), who was then Lord of Loppington and Burlton, is also set
down as Lord of Fraunketon.

PasocHiaLry, English Frankton was a member of Ellesmere.

Albrighton, or fonks’ Albrighton,

The Domesday notice of this Manor is exceptional and supple-
mentary ; probably because the Commissioners, owing to the recent
decease of Warin Vicecomes, could not determine its exact status till
it was recognized by his successor Rainald. The following notice was
therefore appended at the very foot of Rainald’s Domesday Manors,
and, though the Record distinguishes Albrighton as in Baschurch
Hundred, it separates it from Rainald’s eleven Manors, already no-
ticed, by a wide interval.—

“ Alcher tenuit de Warino, qui fuit Antecessor Rainaldi, Etbri-
tone. Ghers tenuit et liber homo fuit. Ibi 111 hide geldabiles. Terra
est vI carrucis. In dominio sunt 11 (carruce) et 1111 servi e unus
Francigena et v1 Villani et unus Bordarius cum 111 carrucis. T.R.E.
valebat xx solidos, et post xv solidos. Modo (valet) xxv solidos.”’®

The truth probably is that Alcher, the Ancestor of Fitz Aer, had,
before Domesday, given Albrighton to Shrewsbury Abbey, but the

} Rot. Hundred. 11. 75. ? Domesday, fo. 256, b, 1.
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Domesday Commissioners did not find the gift so substantiated as
to warrant their registration of it; they therefore spoke in the
above remarkable and gnarded manner of the preterite state of the
Manor. Earl Roger’s Charter to Shrewsbury Abbey fills up the
blank of intelligence. Aherius dedit Etburtonam cum suis appen-
diciis, are the few words which satisfy all curiosity as to the Giver
and the Gift, and add one item more to the incomparable merits of
Domesday as a Digest.

The Confirmations of Henry I., Henry II., Stephen, and Henry
III. duly record Alcher’s or Aher’s grant. Nothing therefore remains
but to speak of Monks-Albrighton in the condition which gave it
that distinctive name.—

In 1167 Alan de Nevill, Justice of the Forest, set a Fine of
6s. 8d. on the ville of Etburton.

Bishop Peche (1161-1182), in his Confirmation to the Monks of
Shrewsbury, allows them the tithes of Adbrichtone as tithes of their
own proper demesnes.! The grant was in conformity with an im-
memorial privilege of Shrewsbury Abbey, but nevertheless a dimi-
nution of the Revenues of St. Mary’s, Shrewsbury, the Parish
Church of Albrighton.

Between the years 1204 and 1214 *“ Stephen de Thorneham and
Godelina, his wife, with the consent of their heirs, quitelaim to the
Abbey one Roger de Edbricton, with all his suit. For this the
monks paid 54 merks. Witness,—Thomas de Erdinton, then
Sheriff.””?

At the Assizes of 1221 Helias de Horton had a Grand Assize,
whether he or Reginald fitz Robert had the better right to a half-
virgate in Albricton. He paid one merk for license to compound
the matter. In the Fine, which resulted, he further gives 40s. to
Reiner fitz Robert (the tenant) for a surrender of the premises.

Between the years 1225 and 1235, H. (probably Henry), Abbot
of Salop, enfeofis John de Harlawscote in a virgate in Little Har-
lawscote, for 20s. paid down, and bs. rent. Witnesses,—James
fitz Martin, Provost; James, Chaplain of Edbricton, and Walter
Hosay.®

In 1250 an arrentation of 1s. 4§d. was set upon William Pese, of
Albricton, for assarted forest-land.

1 Harl. MS. 3868, fo. 8. held in Villeinage, and which lay between
% Balop Chartulary, No. 83. Stephen | Berwick and Albrighton.
de Turnham was Lord of Great Berwick, 3 Salop Chartulary, No. 184. I sup-
in right of Edelina, his wife. The Quit- | pose Little Harlescott was a member of
claim was probably of some tcmement, | Albrighton, not of Albright Hussey.
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The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that “the Abbot of
Shrewsbury holds two hides in Adbrichtion Monachorum, in capite
of the King.” His service and the warranty of certain franchises
claimed by him were unknown to the Jurors.!

King Henry II1.’s Charter of Free Warren, dated May 21, 1256,
extends to the Abbot’s demesnes at Edbryton.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1279 says, with more than usual
inaccuracy, that ¢ the Abbot of Salop holds Adbrighton of the King
in capite, in pure and perpetual almoign, by feoffment of Earl Roger
de Bedlem.”

An Inquest, taken on December 19, 1296, before Roger le Strange,
Justice of the Forests-citra-Trent, by Roger fitz John, Seneschal of
the Shropshire Forests, and by other Knights, Verderers, Subfor-
esters, and common Jurors, found that it would not be injurious
to the King if he allowed the Abbot of Shrewsbury to assart, and
to enclose with a low fence, 30 acres at Aston, in the Abbot’s own
hose, and within the forest of the Wrekin,—10 acres in Little Betton,
within the forest of Lythwood, and a number of acres (uncertain
how many) in Adbrighton and Shetereshawe, within the Forest of
Hawemon. The localities in question were not much frequented by
beasts of chace, said the Jurors.?

An Abbey Rent-Roll, drawn up about 1490, gives ten items of
receipt from Abrynton, amounting to £8. 12s. Among them is one
of 6s. 8d. arising from the Glebe.$

The Valor of 1534 gives £9. 13s. 8d. as the Abbot’s temporal
income from Adbrighton. Among the Spiritualities, a sum of
6s. 8d. from Adbrighton is also entered. John Poyner, the Abbot’s
Bailiff for Adbrighton, and Hernys (near Emstrey) had a salary of
£]. 6s. 8d.4

The Ministers’ Accounts (1541-2) give the late Abbey’s receipts
from Albrighton as £12. 15s. 4d., viz. Rents of Customary Te-
nants £1. 12s.,—of Tenants at Will £4. 6s. 10d., Divers fermes
£6. 9s. 10d., Tithes 6s. 84.5

ArsrieETON CHAPEL. The ancient existence of this Foundation
is probable, but the evidence is not very distinct. There was or is
a field called Churchfield in the Vill. We have also just now seen
the Glebe of Albrighton alluded to; and we may presume that the

Rot. Hundred. 11. 76.— 2 Inquis. 25 Edw. I., No. 99,
The reduction of the Domesday estimate 3 Hist. Shrewsbury, 11. 509.
by one hide, I will endeavour to explain 4 Valor Eccles. 111. 189, 190.

more fully under Leaton. 5 Monasticon, 111. 528.
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item was the appropriated Glebe of a disused Chapel. The Font,
which is the only piece of Antiquity in the present Church, probably
belonged to the former Chapel.

WOLLASCOTT.

There is some doubt whether this vill was a member of Albrighton,
but the balance of evidence favours such a supposition rather than
any other. The Abbot of Shrewsbury indeed never appears seized
in demesne of Wollascott ; but some of the Abbot’s feoffments were
8o very early and absolute that the Feoffees, when they at length
appear, are found in all but complete independence.

I suppose that the family of Le Poer were originally the Abbot’s
tenants here, holding the estate by rent of 1s. and by suit at the
Manor-Court of Albrighton.

Roeir PunEkr we have seen attesting a Charter of the first Wil-
liam fitz Alan about 1155-8.!

Roserr LE PoER attests a Charter of Vivian de Rossall about
1190-5,2 and about the same time is followed by Henry, his son,
in the attestation of a Hadnall Deed.

Aran LE PoER occurs in 1235. On June 11 of that year, as
¢« Alan le Poer of Wilauscot,” he obtained the Abbot of Shrews-
bury’s permission to make a ditch, enclosing a parcel of meadow
near his (Alan’s) Mill. He also obtained a small piece of land
called Parihulle-Grene, near the Abbot’s arable land. “ In return,
Alan concedes to the Abbot 11 seilions of assarts, which the Abbot’s
men of Eadbrichton had then assarted. Witnesses,—Walter Husee,
‘Wido de Hadenhale.””s

Alan le Poer married Amicia, daughter of William le Strange,
Dean of St. Mary’s, Shrewsbury. As “Alan, Lord of Wollascote,”

.and with consent of Amicia, his wife, he gave to his son John (a

Clerk) a barn in Coleham (Shrewsbury), which Master William,
Dean of St. Mary’s, had given by Charter to his (Alan’s) wife. A
rent of 12d., payable at Michaelmas to Haghmon Abbey, was charged
on the Grantee. The said Grantee, calling himself ““ John, son of
Alan le Poer of Wylavescote,”” enfeoffed Godefrid, Vicar of St.
Alkmunds, in the said barn, “ which William Le Strange, father
of John’s mother, Amicia, gave in frank marriage with the said
Amicia to Alan, John’s father.”” Here a rent of 3s. is reserved to

Supra, page 45. 2 Suprs, Vol. IX. p. 823. 3 Salop Chartulary, No. 401.
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the Feoffor and his heirs, and .the Haghmon rent is also charged on
the Feoffee.!

The eldest son and heir of Alan le Poer was called—

WiLLiaM pE WoLrLascorr. In 12659, William, son of Alan de
‘Wollavescote, is entered on the Pipe-Roll as owing half a merk for
a Writ of Pone. In 1262 as William de Wulascote he sat on a
Leaton Inquest. He sat as a Juror for Pimhill Hundred at the
Assizes of 1272, and the Inquest of 1274. At the said Assizes
“ William, son of Alan de Wolawescote,” acknowledged that he had
given his share of Shortwode to Sir Walter de Hopton. Futes (i. e.
Fitz) and Jagedon are named as localities adjacent to Shortwood.
Sir Walter de Hopton was one of the four Justices who presided
at these Assizes, and was Lord of Fitz.

I suppose we may safely date as in 1272 a transaction, recorded
in the Salop Chartulary, whereby William de Wollascott consented
to receive Sir Vivian de Rosshall as Mesne-Lord between himself
and the Abbey.—* William de Wilascot and the Abbot had had
disputes about 12d. rent and suit of court at Adbricton. The
Abbot now acquits William of the said dues, and will receive them
in future by the hand of Sir Vivian de Roshale. Witnesses,—Sir
‘Walter de Hopton, Justiciar of the Lord King, John de Lee, John
Hese (Huseey), and Regner de Acton.””®

In very remarkable concert with this arrangement, the Pimhill
Tenure-Roll of 1279 says, that “ William Willascote holds Willas-
cote immediately of Thomas Rosshall (he was Vivian’s heir) by ser-
vice of 12d.”” William de Willascott was living in 12933 but I
suppose that—

Rocer pr WoLLascor, who attests a Hadnall Deed in 1320,*
then represented this family.

Rupton juzta Basthured.’

Twelve Manors have now been surveyed, which, at or before
Domesday, constituted the Sheriff’s portion of Baschurch Hun-

8 The names New Ruyton and Ruyton-
of-the-eleven-towns have been successively
applied to this place. The former is due

1 Haughmond Chart., 7%. Colnham,
2 Salop Chartulary, No, 402.
3-4 Supra, pp. 83, 65.
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dred. We shall see however that Fitz Alan’s Barony in this quar-
ter was increased by several Manors in which his Domesday pre-
decessors had no interest.

Ruyton and Udeford (a place now lost) were held immediately
under Earl Roger by one Odo, of whom we hear but once after the
date of Domesday. His name will recur under Hordley.

<« Isdem Odo tenet Udeford et Ruilone. Leuenot tenuit pro duobus
Maneriis. Ibi 1 hida et dimidia, geldabiles. Terra est 1111 carrucis.
Ibi 111x Villani et 11 Bordarii habent 11 carrucas. In dominio est
una carruca, et 11 Bovarii. Silva xL porcis incrassandis, et v pis-
carie' in censu Villanorum. T.R. E. (terra) wasta fuil, et post
valuit x111 solidos ; modo xx solidos.’®

Of the Saxon Leuenot I will merely observe that he had been
also Lord of Petton, in this same hundred.

The early history of Ruyton is very anomalous. It is the only
Manor of Baschurch Hundred (proper), which was detached from
the later Hundred of Pimhill and annexed to Oswestry Hundred.
TIts situation on the Western bank of the Perry will not account for
this, for that River was by no means adopted as the boundary be-
tween Oswestry and Pimhill Hundreds. Probably the influence of
Fitz Alan, or his Ancestor, Alan fitz Flaald, was sufficient both to
obtain the Manor, and to annex it to their own Hundred of Oswes-
try. Ecclesiastical boundaries were not so elastic; for, as we have
seen, in the twelfth century, Ruyton was still a Chapelry in the
Parish of Baschurch.’

Ruyton, thus appropriated to Fitz Alan’s exclusive jurisdiction
in the Marches, becomes almost lost to English Records. Feod-
aries, Tenure-Rolls, Sherifts’ Rolls, and Assize-Rolls are alike si-
lent as to the affairs of a district, where even a King’s Writ was
inoperative, unless addressed to the local authority, and where the
King’s Officers might set neither hand nor foot in any matter of
civil jurisdiction.

to Edmund, Earl of Arundel, who in Ed-
ward IL.’s time purchased and reconso-
lidated the Manor, with the design of
founding a Borough here. As to the
eleven towns, which may at some time be
supposed to have constituted this Manor,
we must presume that some of them are
(like the Domesday Udeford) lost. The
existing townships of Ruyton are Cotton,
Eardeston, Shelvock, Shotatton, and Wy-

key ; but it is not probable that more
than two out of the five were members of
the original Manor.

! The Piscarie were doubtless in the
River Perry. If I understand the Record
rightly, these Piscarie were not valued
separately, because they were underlet to
the Villeins of the Manor,

? Domesday, fo. 257, b, 2.

3 Suprs, pp. 69, 70.
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It appears that Ruyton was part of the Fief held by the first John
le Strange under the first William fitz Alan. Before the year 1172,
as we learn from Pope Alexander’s Bull, John le Strange had given
the Mill of Ruyton to Haghmon Abbey.

A Charter of John le Strange (II) treats this gift as if he had
originated it. This Charter passed between 1203 and 1210. The
Clause which relates to Ruyton-Mill shows dlstmctly that the
Grantor was Lord of the whole Manor.—

Johannes filius Johannis Extranei dedi, §c., in perpetuam elemo-
synam molendinum de Rutona cum moltd et secld totius manerii mei
de Rutond et cum liberd licentid fodiendi turbas et terram ex omni
parte dicti molendini, quoties necesse fuerit, ad ipsum molendinum
vel ad stagnum ejusdem, und cum meremio habendo in boscis meis
Der visum forestariorum meorum ad ipsum molendinum reedifican-
dum et emendandum semper gquocienscunque necesse fuerit. Et con-
cedo quod nunquam levabitur aliqguod molendinum infra dictum Ma-
nerium de Ruton nisi ad opus dictorum Canonicorum, ite quod ipso-
rum proprietas sit illius. Hiis testibus, Willielmo filio Alani, Radulfo
Abbate de Lilleshull, Hugone Exztranco, Rogero Sprenghose, Helyd
de Cotes et aliis.

John le Strange (1I) seems to have made a Park at Ruyton.
About the year 1195 he came to the following agreement with
Hugh, Abbot of Shrewsbury. The Abbot conceded to Le Strange
a corner of his wood of Birch,! extending from the place where Le
Strange’s Park-fence came down to the water of Peveree (Perry), to
the end of Le Strange’s meadow on the side of Plettebrug Mill? .
This was to enlarge Le Strange’s Park, and he was to pay a rent of
one doe yearly in acknowledgment. He also gave the Abbot 5
solidates of land in the vill of Neutone,® which was an appurtenance
of his Manor of Middle. Witnesses,—William fitz Alan, Master
Robert of Salop, Ralph le Strange, William de Hedley, Helias de
Sai, Richard Corebett, Philip fitz William, Hamo fitz Marescot,
Vivian de Rosall, Roger de Begeshore, Roger Corbeth, Reiner de
Lee, Richard fitz Siward, and William de Verdon.*

The following Deed I take to be that of John le Strange (IV),
and to have passed about 1269, when he had livery of his inherit-
ances. It is in remarkable antagonism to his Grandfather’s gift to
Haughmond. As “ Jobn Extraneus, Lord of Knokin,” he gives to

! Birch in Baschurch Manor. 3 Nowton-on-the-Hill, a township of
# 8till retains its name as as “ The Plat | Middle.
Mill” 4 Salop Chartulary, No. 16.

X. 15
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Shrewsbury Abbey his Mill of Platte, situated against his land of
Reutun, and all suit of his men thereto, as far as he had or could
have the suit of his men in his Manors of Ruton, Midle, Nesse,
Hopton, and Kynton. Nor would he offer, or permit any one else
to offer, any obstacle to the Monks, in respect of the Abbot of
Haghmon’s Mill which was situated in his Park of Ruton. This
offering was that the Monks of Shrewsbury might celebrate daily
mass, for the souls of himself, his heirs, his ancestors, and succes-
sors. Witnesses,—Robert Corbeth, John de Lee, Robert de Stoke,
John de Prestecote, and Ralph Heit’.!

It will also have been John le Strange (IV) who in the year
1272, styling himself “ John, son of John le Strange,”’ gave to
Haghmon Abbey one acre of his own demesne in Ruiton (viz. that
which lay nearest to the King’s road towards Oswestry) and the
Advowson of the Church of Ruiton, with its appurtenances. Wit-
nesses,—Sir Odo de Hodenet, John fitz Hugh, John de Ercalue,
knights; Richard de Draiton, and Hamo le Botiler.

On April 18, 1272, the same John, as “ John le Strange, Lord of
Knokia,” expedited a letter from Haghmon appointing his beloved
Roger de Eyton to put the Abbot in possession of the above grants.
An Inquest, taken about March 1276, expressly includes the Manor
of Ruton in the Fief which John le Strange (1V), deccased, had
held by Service of 24 knights’-fees under the heirs of John fitz
Alan (IIT).8 '

Between the years 1276 and 1284 John le Strange (V), styling
himself “ John, son of John le Strange, and Lord of Knokin,” quit-
claimed and confirmed the grants of his Father. Witnesses,—Sir
Robert Corbet, John fitz Hugh, John de Ercalue, John de Lee,
knights ; Hamo le Botiler, William Banastre, and Thomas Dod of
Hadenhale.

I have set forth, under Middle, the Fine whereby in 1299 John
le Strange (V) conveyed the Manors of Middle and Ritton to a
Trustee. The Counter-Fine, which shows the object in view, as re«
gards Middle, is wanting in the case of Ruyton. However, it must
have been within the next ten years that John le Strange (V) sold
Ruyton, with all its homages and fees, to his Suzerain, Edmund,
Earl of Arundel. It is curious that Le Strange’s Seigneury over
the distant Manor of Glazeley should have passed by this sale to the
Earl ; but so it did pass, for Glaseley was held to be an appurtenance
of Ruyton.

’ 1 Salop Chartulary, No. 18, ? Inguis. 4 Edw. 1., No. 88.
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-~ We have seén that Edmund, Earl of Arundel, about 1304-1310,
obtained seven burgages in Ruyton from the Canons of Haughmond.!
The Deed of exchange states the said Burgages to be in the “ New
Vill of Rutone,” and built on the “ Fee (fundo) of the Canons’
Church of Rutone.” The Canons had probably built largely on
their Glebe, but how they had any right to alienate it at this period
I cannot say. They had not as yet obtained an Appropriation of
the Charch. :

On August 25, 1311, King Edward II. allowed by Charter that
Edmund, Earl of Arundel, might hold a weekly Market on Wed-

 nesday, at Ruyton, in the Marches of Wales, and also an annual
Fair of five days’ duration, viz. on the vigil, the day of, and the three
days after, the Nativity of John the Baptist (June 23-27).2

On January 8, 1318, an Inquest was ordered on the death of Guy
de Glazeley, supposing that he had held Glazeley under the heir of
John le Strange (VI), which heir was in ward to the Crown. The
Jurors, however, responded that Guy de Glazeley had held Glazeley
of the Manor of Ruytone, which Manor Edmund, Earl of Arundel,
had purchased, with all its homages, fees, ete., of Sir John le Strange
of Knokyn ; and so that Guy had held Glazeley under the said Earl
Edmund.

Leaving Ruyton in the demesne of the Earls of Arundel, I have
to say a few more words as to the—

Haveamonp ABBeY FEe. We have heard of two Mills in Ruy-
ton Manor, the Platt Mill (given to Shrewsbury Abbey) and Ruyton
Mill (given to Haughmond). A third Mill, called the Heath Mill,
was also given to Haughmond by John le Strange (IV), and so
between the years 1269 and 1276. As Johannes exiraneus quartus,
he gives and confirms, for the souls of himself and his wife Johanna,
his Mill of Heath (molendinum de Bruerio) with its fishery and ap-
purtenances, and with timber to repair the same out of his wood of
Radenhall (Rednall), and with a place near the Mill, convenient for
winnowing. One moiety of the profits of this Mill was to go to the
Canons themselves ; with the other moiety they were to provide two
candles, to burn at the head and foot of the tomb of the aforesaid
Johanna, the Grantor’s wife. The Grantor further concedes to the
Canons the stank of the higher vivary, to be raised and repaired for
their use and advantage, with earth taken on either side thereof.
Lastly, he undertakes that peither he nor his heirs shall raise the
stank of the Vivary near the king’s high-road towards Oswestry,

! Suprs, Vol. VII. p. 281. 2 Rot. Chart. 5 Edw. 11, No. 42.
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nor shall construct any other Mill there, so as to injure the Heath
Mill. Witnesses,—Sir John de la Lee, Sir Thomas Boterell,
Richard de Dreyton, Hugh fitz Philip, Philip de Schelfac, and
many others.!

By Deed, dated at London on Sunday, June 30, 1325, Edmund
Earl of Arundel gave to the same Abbey a Fishery, near his Manor
of Ruitone, formerly held by the Rector of Ruitone.!

In the next year, Edmund Earl of Arundel perished on the scaf-
fold ; and Roger Mortimer, the contriver of his ruin, obtained a
grant of his forfeited estates. On Dec. 8, 1829, Mortimer, now
Earl of March, being at Clun, ordered William de la Hulle, his
Seneschal, to inquire concerning the Abbot of Haghmon’s alleged
right to the Vivary, called Hethpol, in the Manor of Ruton jurta
Aston. In pursuance of this order, William de la Hull held an
Inquest in the Manorial Court of Ruton on January 30, 1329 (it
should be January 29, 1330). The Jury found that the said Vivary
belonged to the Abbot ; that Earl Edmund had sometime, by his own
will, taken it into his own hand and set it to farm to John, Rector
of Ruyton, for life; that afterwards the Lessee, perceiving the in-
justice of this, surrendered the Vivary to the Earl, and the Earl,
about fwo years (per duos annos) before his death, restored it to the
Abbot. On this verdict being given, the Seneschal, on behalf of
the Earl of March, surrendered the Vivary to the Abbey.?

On May 7, 1335, Roger Boghan of Ruyton gave to the Abbey a
meadow in Ruyton, between the River of Peverey and Allendeswode.

On July 3, 1335, the Abbot demised the lower fishery of Heth-
mulle, to Thomas de Cheyne, Rector of Felton, for life, at a rent of
583

In 12 Edward III. (1338-9), John de Borton, Seneschal of
Ruyton, issues a Writ relative to trespasses at Owverheth-mille-
pole?

In 1380-1, the Abbot of Haghmon demised Ruyton Mill to John
Ythell and Roger his son.—Rent, 18 quarters of hard corn.

On March 20, 1461, the Abbot demised the said Mill to John
Muridon, Margaret his wife, and John his son, for their lives.—
Rent 40s.

On August 1, 1468, John, Abbot of Haghmon, demises Hethe-
mill for 61 years to Richard Irlonde of Oswestry, Gentleman, at a
rent of 10s. for 41 years, and of 13s. for 20 years.

The Valor of 1535 probably classes the Abbot’s receipts from

! Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 106. 2 Inguis. 11 Edw. IT., No. 47.
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Ruyton under Murydon. The Ministers’ Accounts of 1541-2 give
these, more specific, assets of the late Abbey.—

Riton. Ferm of one messuage . £0 8 0
Ryton. Ferm of a mill . 2 00
Ryton. Ferm of the Rectory 9 0 0!

RUYTON CHURCH.

We have already seen that, in Bishop Durdent’s time, Ruyton
was a Chapelry, and as a mere affiliation of Baschurch, was of the
Advowson of the Abhot of Shrewsbury.? However the time was
yet to come when a Cure of Souls in the Marches was lucrative
enough for Monks to be jealous ahout it. So Ruyton Chapel grew
into an independent Rectory under the fostering care of the Lords
of the Fee. Again, in 1272, the fourth John le Strange consigned
the Church to Monastic Patronage, and the result was, as usual,
appropriation. The Tazation of 1291 values the Church of Ruyton
(in the Archdeaconry and Deanery of Salop) at £8 per annum.3
Forty years later, and we find the Abbot of Haughmond moving on
the spoil.—

On June 30, 1330, Pope John XXII., being at Avignon, had
received a petition from the said Abbot, stating the value of this
Rectory to be no more than 12 merks (£8), and asking for leave to
appropriate it. The Pope consents, gives the Abbot corporal pos-
session as soon as the existing Rector should depart, sets any assent
or license of the Bishop of Lichfield at nought, as altogether un-
necessary, but desires that the future Vicar may have a congruous
portion, 80 s to enable him to sustain Episcopal charges, &c.

Roger Northburgh, then Bishop of Lichfield, had been so ap-
pointed by Pope Jobn himself. On February 27, 1331, we find
him reciting his Patron’s Bull, including that clause in it which
expressed his own nonentity ; but-confirming it, and only reserving
to himself a right of ordaining the future Vicarage.

On January 4, 1332, the same Bishop admitted the first Vicar of
Ruyton at the presentation of Haughmond Abbey. On April 16,
1332, Richard, Earl of Arundel, being at Oswestry Castle (a notre
Chastel de Blankemoster), and no doubt deploring the destitute
state of the said Vicar, began to endow the Vicarage anew. He
gave to the Vicar, William, and his successors, a messuage and cur-
tilage in the vill of Ruytone, to pray for the souls of the Earl and

1 Monasticon, VI. p. 114. 2 Buprs, page 70. 3 Pope Nick. Taxation, p. 247.
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his Ancestors, and in honour of St. John the Baptist of Ruytone.
Witnesses,—Alexander de Shavynton, the Earl’s Seneschal; Ste-
phen de Felton, and John fitz Philip.

On January 5, 1333, as we have already seen, Nicholas, Abbot
of Haghmon, appropriated the spoils of the Rectory of Ruyton to
the improvement of the Kitchen of his Convent.!

On March 2, 1834, at Shrewsbury, Nicholas, Abbot of Hagh-
mon, settled a dispute with Master Richard Longnorle, Rector of
Straunge-Nesse, as to a third part of the tithes and oblations, of all
sorts, arising from the new vill of Acton, near Ruyton.® It was
agreed that, whereas the Church of Ruyton had been used to receive
a moiety of such dues, the Abbot, as Impropriator, should now re-
ceive the third which he sought, under a penalty of 40s. on the
Rector of Ness. On April 1, 1834, Bishop Northburgh sanctions
this agreement.

On January 29, 1336, the Ordination of Ruyton Vicarage, as it
was called, issued from the Chapter-House of Haghmon, authen-
ticated only by the fiat of the Abbot and Convent.

In 1341 Ruyton was not assessed as a distinct Parish to the cur-
rent tax of the Ninth. This was doubtless because it was in Oswestry
Hundred.

On October 21, 1462, a dispute between Sir John Gredington,
late Vicar of Ruyton, and Abbot Richard of Haghmon (of the one
part), and William Bickley, Perpetual Vicar of Straunge Nesse (of
the other part), about a third of the tithes and oblations of the new
vill of Atton-prope-Ruyton, was settled as before, except that the
Vicar of Ness was to have the whole oblations of the men and
women of Atton, offering on three solemn and accustomed days in
the Church of Nesse. This was decided by the Commissory of John
(Hales) Bishop of Lichfield, sitting in the Church of Wem.

The Valor of 1535 gives the income of Richard Gyttenceus, Vicar
of Ryton, as £6 per annum, less 2s. for synodals.’

The Abbot of Haughmond’s Rectory was at the same time valued
at £7. 2s.* What he paid to the Bishop, and to the Dean and
Chapter of Lichfield, out of this income, and why it was paid, has
already been stated under Stanton Hyneheath.®

1 Supra, Vol. VIL. pp. 801, 302. take to be now represented by Shotatton,
% I suppose there was some doubt as to | which is wholly in Ruyton Parish.
the Parish to which Acton or Atton, or 34 Valor Ectles. I1L. pp. 184, 192.
some part thereof belonged. The place I § Supra, Vol. IX. p. 807.
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EARLY INCUMBERNTS.

WarTER, Parson of Ruton, attests an Edgbold Deed about 1230-
1240.!

Jonn ri11z Joun, Rector, died April 3, 1325.

JouN pE CovenTry, admitted as Rector May 15, 1325. Pa-
trous, the Abbot aud Convent of Haghmon.

WirLiaM pE Tyrerwanrpyn, Chaplain, instituted as first Vicar
January 4, 1332. Same Patrons.

RoBert pE Hasrton, Priest, appointed Aug. 18, 1358. Same
Patrons. -

Ricaarp pE RapENaLE, Priest, admitted Oct. 16, 1367. Same
Patrons. He resigned in 1385.

JouNn WyeyNroN, Chaplain, admitted June 13, 1385. Same
Patrons. He died in 1387. '

Ricuarp RaDENALE, again Viear, died in 1395.

JoaN GamuLy, alias RusseLy, Priest, admitted May 31, 1395.
Same Patrons. He died in 1407.

STANWARDINE-IN-THE-WOOD.

1 have no alternative but to treat this Manor as originally an
outlying member of Ruyton. My rcasons for doing so, hardly
sufficient in themselves, are fortified by the difficulty of assigning
any other origin for the Manor of Stanwardine.

We have seen that the Udeford of Domesday was coupled by te-
nure with Ruyton, though in Saxon times the Manors had been
distinct. However, Leuenot, the Saxon Lord of Udeford and Ruy-
ton, had also been Lord of Petton. Now Petton and Stanwardine-
in-the-Wood were contiguous. Again there is an analogy between
the names Udecford (i.e. Woodford) and Stanwardine-in-the-Wood.
After Domesday, Stanwardine-in-the. Wood and Ruyton had nothing
to conncet them, except that both were of the Seigneury of Fitz
Alan. Fitz Alan gave Ruyton to Le Strange, and it was annexed to
Oswestry Hundred. Fitz Alan’s contemporary Feoffee at Stanwardine
was Richard de Stanwardine, and Stanwardine remained in Pimhill
Ifundred, which would correspond with its Domesday status, if it
was identical with Udeford. However the later Lords of Stan-
wardine (about 1230) withdrew its suit from the County of Salop
and Hundred of Pimhill. Was not this in consequence of some tra-
ditional idea that, having been once a member of Ruyton, it ought
to follow Ruyton into Walcheria ?

! Supre, Vol. IX. p. 324
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RicaARD DE STANWARDINE attests, about 1175, two Charters of
the second William fitz Alan to Buildwas Abbey. This Richard
was a wealthy man ; for the Fine of 60 merks and two destriers,
set upon him for Forest-trespass in 1177, indicates a liability higher
than that of many contemporary Barons. What is more, the whole
of the enormous penalty was paid in two years.

Between the years 1189 and 1193 Richard de Stanewrd’ being
impleaded in the Curia Comitatds, under a Writ of right, for one
virgate in Stanewrd, put himself on trial by Grand Assize, viz.
““ whether he or the Plaintiffs (Matilda de Cote and her son Robert)
had the better right 7

WiLLiaM pE STANWARDINE, son and heir, I think, of Richard,
occurs in the year 1193, when he was security in the sum of 6s. 84.
for the replevin of Engelard Bozard.!

WiLLiaM DE StaNwarDINE (IT), son of the above William, mar-
ried Emma, daughter of Eynon de Hordley, and occurs in 1221 and
1225. He was deceased in June 1231, leaving his wife Emma
surviving. Of him and her I shall have more to say under Hordley
and under Bagley. It was this William, apparently, who withdrew
Stanwardine from the suit of Pimhill Hundred.

Huen pE STANWARDINE, son and heir of William, son of William,
occurs in 1236 and about 1240, as we shall see under Bagley. It
is further related of him that he conceded half the Mill of Wycheele
(Wycherley) to William de Stanwardine, that is, I conceive, to his
younger brother and eventual heir. Hugh was deceased without
issue before July 1241, when the following Fine shows his brother—

WitLiaM DE STANWARDINE (III) to be Lord of Stanwardine.
On July 15, 1241, a Fine was levied at Gloucester, whereby Wil.
liam fitz William conceded to Agnes, widow of William fitz Ralph,
4s. annual rent in Stanewrdin, arising from a tenement held by
Maddoks and Richard Mercator. This was in lien of dowry claimed
by the Lady, viz. a third of 2 virgates of land and 11s. rent in
Stanwrthin. In 1243 William, son of William de Stanworth, fines
half a merk for some Inquest to be had. In 1255 the Jurors of
Pimhill Hundred said that William, Lord of Stanwardyne-in-bosco,
had withdrawn suit from County and Hundred for 24 years, whereby
the King had damage of 48s., or at the rate of 2s. per annum.? The
Jurors of 1274 alleged this withdrawal against William de Stan-
wardine (III), dating it, as they did, from about 1254.

William de Stanwardine (III) was deceased before 1256. In
March 1259, his widow, Alina, demised certain land in Eyton to

1 Supra, Vol. VI. p. 180. 2 Rot. Hundred. 11. 76, 105.
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Sir William de Leighton. The said Alina was living in 1272, as
we shall see under Eyton.

Roeer DE STANWARDINE, son and heir of the last ‘William, was
apparently of age in January 1256, for he was then amerced for
non-attendance at an Inquest. On April 20, 1263, he was sued hy
Richard de Petton for disseizing the said Richard of a tenement in
Staneworthin. Again in 1266 and 1267 we have this suit, con-
cerning a messuage and 2 virgates in Petton, renewed by Peter, as
son and heir of Richard de Petton. In 1272 it came on for trial
at the Assizes, Peter de Petton alleging the disseizin, as practised
on Richard his Father. A Fine was the result. Thereby Peter re-
nounced his claim to a messuage and 2 virgates in Stanworthyn.
Roger, in return, conceded to Peter that moiety of the Mill of
‘Wycheele which William, his (Roger’s) father, had by concession
of Hugh de Stanworthyn, also the Vivary thereof, and a right of
common in his (Roger’s) woods. Peter again conceded to Roger a
right of common in those boscs at Petton which were called Roswode
and Heyshete ;—both parties reserving a right to make assart of
their respective woods. At the Inquests of November 1274, the
Pimhill Jurors spoke of Roger de Stanwardin as having been re-
cently in office as Constable of Shrewsbury Castle. They alleged
an act of corruption against his Deputy, Reyner le Mons, who had
released a prisoner for a bribe.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 has the following extra.ordmary
entry.—

« Stanwardyne tenetur de Johanne filio Alani per servicium, in
bosco ;”—where it is evident that the two parts of the name are
separated by the rest of the sentence, and that the sentence is still
incomplete, as well as inaccurate, for John fitz Alan had been dead
some years.

A somewhat later Feodary gives Stanewardyn-in-hosco, with
Montford, Hedenesdon (Ensdon), Forton, Ness (Little Ness), Little
Milford, and Shrawardine as held by Isabel de Mortimer. This
means that Isabel, widow of John fitz Alan, had the Seigneury of
all these estates in dower. By a Fine levied on July 1, 1307,—

PaiLip pE STanwarTHYN s0ld to Richard Hord and his wife,
Eva, one measure, two carucates of land, and 18s. rent, in Stan-
warthyn and Wycherlegh ;—to hold to them, and the heirs of
Richard, under the Lords of the Fee. £100 was the price which
tempted this last of the Stanwardines to.alienate an estate which
we have traced in his family for more than a century.

& 16
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On the death of Richard Hord of Walford, in January 1326,
the deceased was found by Inquest to have held the hamlet of Stan-
worthyn-in-the- Wode under Richard, Earl of Arundel, by a rent of
8s., and by two appearances yearly at the Earl’s Court of Montford.
A windmill was among the adjuncts of the estate. The deceased
had had his own manorial Court there, though its profits were only
1s. per annum}

Of Richard Hord’s descendants I shall have more to say under
‘Walford.

In Richard I1.’s time, Stanwardyn, as held by John Hord under
the Earl of Arundel, was accounted to be a whole knight’s-fee.?

PHordelep.

Opo, the Domesday Lord of Ruyton, was also the Lord of
Hordeley. Odo tenet de Rogerio Comile Hordelei. Algar et Dun-
niht temuerunt pro duobus Maneriis, et liberi fuerunt. Ibi 11 hide
geldabiles. Terra est 11t carrucis. 1bi v Villani et v Bordarii,
cum 11 carrucis. Silva Lx porcis incrassandis. T.R.E. (terra)
wasta fuil. Modo reddit xv solidos® Within eight years after
Domesday this Manor passed by Odo’s gift to the Monks of Shrews-
bury. Earl Roger’s Confirmation to the Abbey says,—Odo miles
dedit eis Hordelegam.* King William II.’s Confirmation says,—
Odo miles (dedit) Horleiam ;—and so also the Charters of Henry L.,
Stephen, Henry II., and Henry III.

The Abbot of Shrewsbury’s Feoffee in this Manor wes one Einion
de Hordeley. He occurs as a witness of local Deeds in and be-
fore the year 1204. He was deceased before the year 1214, leaving
his second wife, Wenthlian, a widow. He had two daughters, Agnes
and Emma, by a former wife; by Wenthlian he had a son, Ken-
wric, all which children survived him. On a cause tried at the
Assizes of 1221 the following facts, showing something of the state
of the Borders at a very dark period, transpired.—

After Einion de Hordley’s death his three children remained for

1 Ingwis. 19 Edw. II., No. 78. I 3 Domesday, fo. 267, b, 2.
3 Calend. Inguis. Vol. IIL. p. 228. 4 Salop Chartulary, No. 2.
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a time in joint possession of Hordeley. Agnes became the wife of
Reyner de Frankton, and Emma, of William de Stanwardine. Whilst
John Mareschall was Custos of Fitz Alan’s lands, * and of this pro-
vince” (i. e. between June 1218 and July 1214), he ejected Agnes
and Emma from Hordeley, but suffered Kenwric to remain.—

After John Mareschall’s trust had expired, Reyner de Frankton
and his wife Agnes returned to Hordeley: but  when Lewellyn
marched upon Shrewsbury”’ (s.e. in the Autumn of 1215), they left
the place, but Kenwric still remained. At the Assizes in question,
Agnes and Emma, with their two husbands, brought an action for
disseizin against Wenthlian, the mother of Kenwrie, but the De-
fendant got a verdict on the ground that there had been no dis-
seizin ; for, while her son had always remained at Hordeley, the
Plaintiffs had gone and come of their own accord.! _

In Michaelmas Term 1233, the Abbot of Shrewsbury and Kene-
wric de Hordelegh had a suit of dernier presentment at Westminster
about the Church of Hordelegh. By Fine levied at Salop on Nov.
16, 1236, Kenwric de Hordelegh (Deforciant) quitclaims the said
Advowson to Henry, Abbot of Shrewsbury, for 2 merks.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that ¢ Thomas de Hor-
dileg holds two non-geldable hides in Hordileg, of the Fee of the
Abbot of Salop. He did suit thrice ‘yearly to the Abbot’s Court of
Baschurch. Hordileg was in the Abbot’s Liberty, the Jurors knew
not by what warranty.”’?

At the Assizes of 1256 Richard de Geannok and twelve others
were found not to have disseized Thomas de Hordelegh of common
pasture in Hordelegh.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 notes Thomas de Hordeley as
holding Hordeley, in socage, of the Abbot of Shrewshury. The
same Thomas sat as a Juror for Pimhill Hundred at the Assizes of
1292.

In the Valuations of Henry VIIL’s time, Hordeley is not men-
tioned as yielding anything to Shrewsbury Abbey. Probably not
even a quit-rent had ever been payable by the Tenants thereof.

CHURCH OF ST. MARY.

This was, I suppose, from the first a Dependency of Baschurch
though, as we have seen, the Lord of Hordeley made a vain attempt
in 1232 to secure its independence. The Tazation of 1291 values

! Assizes, 8 Hen. IIL, m. 1 dorso. | Ei;—perhaps fitz Elyas.
Wenthlian's other name is written as filia 3 Rot. Hundred. I1. 76.
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the Church of Ordeleye (Salop Deanery and Archdeaconry) at
#£2.18s. 4d.; besides a pension of 2s., payable therefrom to Shrews-
bury Abbey.!

The Assessors of the Nintk, in 1341, treat Hordel’ as a Chapelry.
They rate the Parish at 20s. only, because the Churck-Tazation was
made up in part of Glebe, oblations, and small-tithes ; and because
there were no sheep in the Parish.?

The Valor of 1535 improperly places Hordeley in the Deanery of
Newport. The annual Income of William Powys, Rector thereof,
was £4. 2s.; less 2s. for procurations, and 11d. for Synodals.> The.
Abbot of Shrewsbury’s pension seems to have become obsolete.

EARLY RECTORS.

The following were presented by the Abbot and Convent of
Shrewsbury, except in one instance :—

Ricuarp pE Deryneron, Rector of Hordyleg Chapel, has a
licentia studendi on Jan. 6, 1810. )

RoBerT DE MARCHUMLEE, Acolyte, presented Ang. 2, 1313; but
the Bishop only admits him as Custos thereof, during sequestration.

JonN pE LonNpoN, admitted May 17, 1318. Resigned Oct. 25,
1322,

WiLLiaM DE GRESELEYE, Priest, admitted Nov. 7, 1322. On
April 7, 1336, he exchanges with-—

Master JouN pE Sorron, late Rector of Mungewell (Linc. Dioc.).

Sk Joun PaLkeLEYE resigned this Chapel in 1362.

Sir JouN LE MEvE, Priest, was instituted Nov. 20, 1362, on
presentation of the Black Prince.*

Epwarp Horron resigned this Rectory in 1426.

WiLLiam HaverToN, instituted April 8, 1426, resigned in 1439.

Montfory,

Tue early bistory of this Manor is partly conjectural, but alto-
gether curious. Domesday winds up the series of Roger fitz Cor-

! Pope Nich. Taxation, pp. 244, 245.
2 Inquis. Nonarum, p. 192.
8 Valor Eccles. 111. 188,

4 Illustrissims Principis filii Regis An-
glie ; but why he presented does not ap-
poar. The Abbey was not vacant.
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bet’s Manors with the three Manors of Maneford, Prestone, and
Cerlitone, but with a singular departure from its general usage.
Instead of beginning each of the three clauses with the words Jsdem
Rogerius tenet, it begins with the words Rogerius tenet de Comite.
It is evident that the Compiler of the Record was not quite sure
whether the Roger, who held Maneford, &c., was Roger fitz Corbet
or not: and his doubt must remain ours, for beyond the fact that
the Corbets retained nothing in either of the three Manors in ques-
tion, we have little to guide us. That little however is that, from
the subsequent history of Montford, we should ratber infer Roger
de Lacy to have been its Domesday possessor. The Record suggests
still further topics of remark, and runs as follows.—

‘“ Rogerius tenet de Comite Maneford. Elmer tenuit. Ibi 111
hide. In dominio est una carruca et dimidia, et x111 Villani cum vi
carrucis; el adhuc 111 carruce et dimidia possunt esse. Ibi dimidia
Piscaria et Silva xxi111 porcis incrassandis. T. R. E valebat 1111
libros ; et post xx solidos : modo 1111 libros et x solidos. Hoc
Manerium calumniatur Episcopus R’ /

The Bishop who thus laid claim to Montford was undoubtedly
Robert Losing, Bishop of Hereford, rather than Robert de Limesi,
Bishop of Chester, for Robert de Limesi will hardly have been con-
secrated to Chester so long before Domesday as to allow of his thus
appearing as a Litigant in that Record.

As to the kalf-fishery which Domesday allots to Montford it will
have been part of a Weir in the Severn; no doubt the same Weir
as that, of which the other half belonged to the opposite Manor of
Ford.?

The event of the suit between the Bishop of Hereford and Roger,
Domesday Lord of Montford, can only be surmised. Within six
years after Domesday, Roger de Lacy was Lord of Montford, or as-
sumed himself so to be. And here we are left in a dilemma, for we
cannot tell whether the Bishop had recovered Montford from the
Domesday Roger, and had enfeoffed Roger de Lacy (who was his
tenant elsewhere in Shropshire) therein ; or whether Roger de Lacy
was the Domesday Roger himself, and had held continuous posses-
gion of Montford.

Be this as it may, Roger de Lacy gave Manaford to Shrewsbury
Abbey, and the grant must have been before 1091, for in that year
Roger de Lacy suffered absolute and utter forfeiture.

It is next to be noted that, though the Canfirmations of Earl

! Domesday, fo. 266, b, 2. 3 YVide supra, Vol. VIL. p. 180.
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Roger and William II. are silent about this gift of Roger de Lacy
to Shrewshury Abbey, yet the Confirmation of Henry I. records
it ;—records it too as a grant which Earl Roger had confirmed.
But again, the Confirmations of Stephen, Henry II., and Henry
IIL. are silent on the grant, and it is certain that it took no ulti-
mate effect. On the restoration of the House of Lacy, in the reign
of King Henry II., Montford was again attached to their Fief; and
it was one of the estates which Hugh de Lacy gave in frank-mar-
riage with his daughter to the second William fitz Alan.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 puts Moneford down as a
Manor of 1} hides (half itse Domesday contents). John fitz Alan
held it in frank-marriage. It was not geldable. It was of the fee
of Matildis de Lacy (eldest daughter and coheir of Walter, last
Baron Lacy). Fitz Alan did suit to the County, both for this land
and for his other lands in Shropshire, and had a Franchise and
Warren.!

The Inquest, taken in 1272 on the death of the third John fitz
Alan, included his estates at Nesse (Little Ness), Maneford, and
Forton. Montford was annexed to the dower of his widow. Hence
the Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that ‘Isabella de Mortimer holds
Montforde, and it is of the fee of John fitz Alan, and she owes suit
to County and Hundred for that estate.”

Mountford-Bridge (famous for many a parley between the Am-
bassadors of England and North Wales) was reported to be broken
down, at the Assizes of 1292. All men, said the Pimhill Jurors,
used to cross it with horses and carriages. - John de Hegerwas, now
deceased, had received the tolls (passagium) on condition of keeping
it in repair and by a Royal grant. He had caused to be carried to
his own house dressed stone and timber, which had been purchased
for the repair of the bridge. The Judges ordered his Executors to
be summoned, and commissioned the Abbot of Haghmon and Roger
Sprenghose to audit their accounts. It proved that the receipts
from tolls had been only £19. 8s. 1d.; while the expenditure had
been £86. 1s. 2d, The Auditors reported therefore that “ the ex-
penses exceeded the receipts by £15. 13s.;”—a calculation which
does not prove much for their qualifications as Auditors.

In the Nomina Villarum of 1816, the Earl of Arundel stands as
Lord of Munford. Several other particulars of the Manor have
transpired under Upton Magna and Shrawardine.?

! Rot. Hundred. I1.76. * Suprs, Vol. VIL p. 363; Vol. X. p. 102.
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MONTFORD CHURCH.

In whatever Saxon Parish Montford lay, at and before Domesday,
it had an independent Church in the 13th century, and the Ad-
vowson thereof had passed to the White Nuns of Brewood, but
whether by grant of a Lacy or a Fitz Alan I cannot learn.

The Tazation of 1291, placing Moneford in the Deanery and
Archdeaconry of Salop, values the Church at £5. 6s. 8d. per an~
num.! Whether now, or within the next 40 years, the Brewood
Nuns had an appropriation of the Rectory.

In 1341, the Assessors of the Ninth, quoting the Church-Tazation
of 8 merks, rated the Parish of Moneford at £4. The reasons for
the diminution were because 6 carucates of land within the Parish
lay waste, both in the Earl of Arundel’s part and elsewhere;* be-
cause there had been murrain among the sheep, and a Severn
flood had destroyed most of the growing corn. Moreover the
Church-Tazation included Glebe-land and Altarages, things which
were irrelevant in calculating a Nintk of wheat, wool, and lamb.?

The Valor of 1535 gives the income of John Browne, Vicar of
Monsforde, as £5. 6s. 8d., less 6s. 8d. for procurations and 1s. 64d.
for synodals.* The Rectory of Montford (printed Nantford) was at
the same time productive of an annual Ferm of £8 to the White
Nuns of Brewood ; but we now first hear of a pension of 10s., which
" the Nuns paid out of the said Rectory to the Prior of St. Guthlac
at Hereford.®! The inference is, that whenever the Nuns first ac-
quired this Advowson, they found it charged by a Lacy with this
pension. So far Montford Church was on a footing with other
Churches of Lacy’s Shropshire Fief; but it is further probable
that the Churches thus charged were very ancient Foundations ;—
nearly as old as Domesday.*

EARLY VICARS.

The Priory and Convent of the White Nuns of Brewood pre-
sented each of the following Vicars.—

Stz RicHARD DE AuLa, died Sept. 20, 1331.

WiLriam pe RepENEAL or BEpENHALL, Chaplain, instituted
Oct. 2, 1331 ; died May 1, 1342.

Ricaarp Morys, admitted May 21, 1842 ; died July 5, 1349
(probably of the pestilence).

1 Pope Nich. Taxation, p. 245, 247. 3 Inguis. Nonarwm, p. 183.

3 That is, in the part not held by the | 4§ Valor Eocles. ITI. 184, 194.
Earl in demesne, but let out to tenants. ¢ Vide supra, Vol. II. pp. 147, 148.
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Roserr pe WyrHINTON, Chaplain, admitted July 18, 1349.

Sir JorN pE BRrEHULL, resigned 1373.

TaoMas vE PLEIDEWYK, Priest, admitted Sept. 26, 1373; ex-
changed preferments Aug. 18, 1876, with—

Apam Cay, late Vicar of Lilleshull! On Cay’s death, and on
Oct. 12, 1380,—

ApaM OsBorNE, Priest, was admitted. On August 24, 1388, he
exchanges with—

Tromas Nowere or NELDARE, late Rector of Chatynton (Heref.
Dioc.). He died 1392.

WiLLiaM St. Georee, Priest, admitted Sept. 12, 1392; ex-
changed on May 9, 1394, with—

Sir Apam pE TreseLr, late Rector of North Clebury (Heref.
Dioc.). He resigned in 1395.

Ricaarp Hasron, late Vicar of Cardyngton,® admitted July 8,
"1395 ; resigned 1396-7. ,

Sir RicEarp HaMoN, admitted March 14, 1397 ; resigned 1418.

Preston, now Preston Montiord,

Nexr to the Domesday notice of Montford we have the fol-
lowing.—Rogerius tenet de Comite Prestone. Godric tenuit et liber
homo fuit. Ibi una virgata terre. In dominio est dimidia carruca.
Valuit et valet 111 solidos. Silva x porcis incrassandis.®

There can be little doubt that Roger, the Domesday Lord of this
section of Preston (whether identical with Roger fitz Corbet or
Roger de Lacy) was identical with Roger, the Domesday Lord of
Montford. From this association of the smaller part of Preston
with Montford, the whole of Preston got the name of Preston
Montford. The connection between Preston and Mountford lasts
no later than Domesday, except in name. The smaller part of
Preston, that which was in Bascherch Hundred, became involved
with the larger part, in Ford Hundred :—going with it to Lilleshall
Abbey, and into the Liberties of Shrewsbury. We have perhaps
had an analogous case in Charlton, near Shawbury ; which, being

1+2 Buprs, Vol. VIII. pp. 228-9; Vol. V. p. 128. 3 Domesday, fo. 255, b, 2.
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divided at Domesday between Rogerius and St. Alkmunds, after-
wards seems to have gone wholly to Lilleshall.!

The history of the collective Manor of Preston Montford, as held
by Lilleshall Abbey, has already been given.*

FForton,

Hezre we have a Manor in the very Parish of Montford and af-
terwards a mere member of Montford, and which was confessedly
held at Domesday by Roger de Lacy under thé Norman Earl.—

Isdem Rogerius (de Laci) tenet Fordune, et Osbernus de eo. Ed-
mer tenuit. Ibi 111 hide. In dominio est una carruca et 11 Bovarii
et 1 Villanus et x111 Bordarii cum 11 carrucis et dimidid ; et alie 11
(carruce) possent ibi esse. Ibi silva c porcis incrassaendis. T. R. E.
valebat xx solidos, et post tantundem. Modo (valet) xxv solidos.3

I have nothing further to state about Fortom, except that it
passed from De Lacy to Fitz Alan in the same way as Montford.
In one instance (in 1240) we have had mention of Forton as an in-
dependent estate ;* but it was ever afterwards accounted, manorially
a member of Montford or of Shrawardine, and parochially a mem-
ber of Montford. In one or other of those positions Forton has
been twice mentioned in former pages.

Bagchureh.

SoMeEwHAT more than a mile to the North-East of Baschurch
stands The Bertk, one of the most remarkable Fortresses, of a Bri-
tish zra, to be found in Shropshire or any other County.® The ex-
istence of such a work has served to make Baschurch and its vicinage
the supposed theatre of a tragical story, the merest outline of which
contains an element of some suspicion.—

1 Supra, Vol. VIII. p. 268. 4 Supra, Vol. VII. p. 252.
2 Supra, Vol. VII. pp. 194-196. 5 Supra, pp. 98, 126.
3 Domesday, fo. 256, b, 1. 6 See Hist. Shrewsbury, Vol. L. p. 8.
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We are invited to believe that Cynddylan, Prince of Powis, re-
tiring in the sixth century before the superior power of the Saxons,
and having already abandoned his ancient dominion of Pengwern,
stood at bay among the morasses of this district, and, being slain
in battle, was buried at Baschurch.

The Elegy on Cynddylan is a poem attributed to Llywarch Hen,
the alleged brother-in-law of Cynddylan. It contains the following
passage, pertinent to the question of Cynddylan’s burial-place.—

“ Eglwysau Bassa yut wng heno,
Metivedd Cyndrwyn :
I ablan Cynddylan wyn !”
(The Churches of Bassa afford a space this night
To the offspring of Cyndrwyn ;—
The grave-house of fair Cynddylan !)

The theory which connccts the Berth with the history and fate of
Cynddylan, I am not prepared to investigate, but the introduction
of Baschurch into the above story is not, I hope, essential to its
credibility.—

Basse is a Saxon proper name.! Baschurch cannot therefore
have been founded till long after the ra of Cynddylan ;—for Chris-
tianity and Churches were unknown in Mercia till the middle of
the seventh century.

I am afraid that the obvious result of the above argument goes
to question either the antiquity of the era of, or the authenticity of
the poem assigned to, Llywarch Hen. The poem must be the work
of a Bard, who might have known that Cynddylan was buried near
the place which in his (the Bard’s) time was called Baschurch ; but
who did not know that the Church of Bassa was non-existent at the
#era of Cynddylan.

In speaking of Middle I have shown that, previous to Domesday,
Earl Roger gave the Church of Baschurch, with its three estates
of Prestcote, Nunneley, and Bagley, to Shrewsbury Abbey. This
information was derived from two Monastic Charters. Domesday
not only registers the gift, but substantiates the most curious part
of it, viz. that the Church of Baschurch was thus richly endowed.

Ipse Comes tenet Bascherche. Rexr Edwardus tenuit. Ibi 111
hide et dimidia. Ez his est una in dominio, et ibi sunt 1111 carruce,

1 One Basse was founder of the Kent- : descendant of Basse. Hence the names
ish Monastery of Reculver in the seventh  of such places as Basing, Bassingburn,
century. The word Basing or Bassing is  Basingstoke, Bassingwerk (in Flintshire),
a patronymic form, signifying the son or  and a number of congeners.
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et vi Villani, et 11 Borderii cum 11 carrucis. Ibi vini Bovarii et 1
Piscarie de xx11 denariis.

Huic Manerio pertinebant 11 denarii de ipso Hundredo. Inter
totum reddebat vi1 libras. Modo valet v1 libras dominium Comitis,

De hoc Manerio duas hidas et dimidiam, et Ecclesiam Ville tenet
de Comite Zicclesia Sancti Pelri. Terra est v carrucis, et ibi sunt
cum x111 Bordariis. Valet xxv1 solidos et viit denarios.!

‘What King Edward the Confessor held in demesne at Baschurch
was therefore a hide of land, and two-thirds of the Hundred-pence,
or profits of the Hundred Court. The third penny belonged of
course to the Earl of Mercia. The Royal revenue from these two
sources was £7 per annum.—

In 1086 the hide, still held by Earl Roger in demesne, and the
whole profits of the Hundred, produced £6.—

The remaining 24 hides were, and probably always had been,
Church-land. They may be taken as the contents of Prestcote,
Nunneley, and Bagley, as distinct from Baschurch proper. The
Monks of Shrewsbury had stocked this land with a full complement
of team-power.—

The hide retained by Earl Roger in demesne, and being in fact
the Capital Manor, was in the next generation the subject of a very
singular episode. It constituted the sole eleemosynary offering:
which the Annals of Shropshire can resord for the memory of Earl
Robert de Belesme. He gave it to Shrewsbury Abbey. The gift
must have taken place in the year 1101, if the following extract
from Henry 1.’s Confirmation of 1121 may be taken as verbally
and substantively correct.—

“ Robertus de Belismo, qui post Hugonem fratrem suum Comitatds
suscepit honorem, dedit Ecclesie Sancti Petri, e¢ Monachis ejusdem
loci, Bascerce, cum omnibus que ad eam villam pertinebant, conce-
dente et sigilli sui auctoritate firmante piissimo Rege Henrico.”

It is observable that much sooner after the fall of Belesme, that
is between the years 1102 and 1108, King Henry 1. had given
Baschurch to the Abbey in a form which would suggest that the
King himself originated the gift. This reticence about the one
good act of a defeated but still dreaded foe, was natural enough in
the King at that period. It tells us something of motives and feel-
ings; and perhaps something of that feudal spirit which looked
upon attaint as equivalent to annihilation. But suum cuique is a
motto for all ages and states of existence ;—a motto sometimes ap-

} Domesday, fo. 253, a.
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plied to the mover of an older and far darker apostasy than that of
Earl Robert de Belesme. The Earl gave Baschurch to the Abbey,
and the King thus sanctioned the gift, while he ignored the Giver.—

Henricus Rex Angli@ Roberto' Episcopo de Cestria et Ricardo de
Belmers,? et omnibus baronibus suis et fidelibus, Francis et Anglis
salutem. Sciatis me dedisse Sancto Petro de Salopesberia et Ful-
cheredo Abbati, manerium quod vocatur Bascherch, et quicquid ei
pertinet, sicut Robertus de Belismo unquam melius habuit in dominio
suo. Et volo et precipio ut hanc terram ita quietam omnibus modis
teneat sicut ego melius concessi tenere alias terras ecclesie. Testibus,
Matildé Regind, Roberto Comite de Mellend. Apud Lecanot.’

Baschurch, both Church-fee and Manor, thus became solely the
property of the Abbey, and the Charters of Stephen and Henry II.
recognize the title of the Monks, attributing to the Earls, Roger and
Robert, their respective shares in the grant.

It does not appear that the Lordship of Baschurch Hundred was
so united to the Manor, as that the Abbots of Shrewsbury ever
obtained any wide jurisdiction under the above grants. It was not
the policy of llenry I. to alienate such rights of the Earldom. In
his making Pimhill the caput of the new Hundred, I fancy I see a
design to abolish all local pretensions whatever. The Pimhill Hun-
dred-Roll of 1255, in what it says of Baschurch, seems to have had
in view only the Church-fee, and to have been drawn up in ignorance
of the hide given by Earl Robert. At least, the following entries
describe the Church-fee fully, and nothing more. ¢ The Abbot of
Salop holds in capite two non-geldable hides in Baschirche, by
feoffment of Earl Roger, in free alms, and he affirms himself to
have a franchise.” And again,—* The same Abbot holds half a hide
in Baggeley of the King in capite, by feoffment of Earl Roger in
free alms; and he affirms himself to have a franchise.”

On May 13, 1256, King Henry III. granted to the Abbot the
privilege of holding a weekly Market on Tuesdays in his Manor of
Baschirch, and a yearly Fair of four days, viz. on the vigil, the day
of, and the two days following the feast of All Saints (Oct. 31—
Nov. 8).3 The same King’s Charter of Free Warren, dated on
May 21, 1256, extends to the Abbot’s demesnes at Bascherche.®

The Valor of 1291, by some extraordinary chance, omits any
statement as to the Abbot of Shrewsbury’s temporalities at Bas-

! Robert de Limesi. in 1108. (Supra, Vol. IL. p. 195.)
2 Richard de Belmeis, now Viceroy of 3 Salop Chartulary, No. 14.
Shropshire, consecrated Bishop of London 45 Jbidem, Nos. 62, 53.
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church. His exercise of Free Warren there was noticed, but passed
unquestioned, at the Assizes of 1292. From a Charter of Decem-
ber 28, 1339, Baschurch would appear to have been increasing in
population and importance since the Conquest of Wales and the
tranquillization of the Marches. Now too the inhabitants of the
place desired a corporate government and an independent position.
It would seem too that the Abbot of Shrewsbury’s prescriptive pri-
vileges were so great as that he was able to second such plans.—
“With the unanimous consent of his Convent, Adam, Abbot of Salop,
gives and concedes to his Tenants and Burgesses of the New Villl
of Baschirche (natives excepted) that they may hold their Burgages,
recently built, or thereafter to be built, for 100 years, each such
Burgage paying to the Abbey an annual rent of 2s.in lieu of all
services, except suit of the Manor-Court, and a heriot of 2s. at the
decease of any Burgess. The Abbot further imparts to his Bur-
gesses his own franchise of selling free of toll throughout England.
He gives them rights of common throughout the Manor, and liberty
to assize bread and beer, and to elect their own Bailiff.” Such a
Charter as the above will have put the men of Baschurch on a foot-
ing, equal to, and in some respects superior to, the inhabitants of
a Royal Borough.

An Abbey Rent-Roll, drawn up about 1490, gives under Prescot,
fifteen items of rcceipt, amounting to £3. 7s. 4d.; under Nonyley,
three items, amounting to £1. 4s. 4d.; under Acton, twelve items,
amounting to £4. 14¢.; and under Baglay, three items, amounting
to £9. 12s. 9d. 1t is also noted that every tenant in Baschurch
pays a rent of 2 hens yearly to the Abbey.

The return of Abbot Thomas for the Valor of 1534 gives (among
the temporalities of his House) assized rents of £25. 17s. 8d. as
arising from Baschurch; and a rent of 20s. from Dashechurche.®
The Ministers Accounts of 1541-2 record a nearly identical total
of £26. 19s. as arising from the following items, receivable from
Baschurch, and its members of Newton, Prescott, Acton, Byrche,
Nonyley, and Bageley, viz. Assized rents £4. 16s. 5d.; rents of
tenants-at-will £6. 9s. 6d. ; diverse ferms £13. 16s. 2d.; ferm of a
Mill £]1; movable rents 4s. 94., and Perquisites of Court 12s. 24.3

Or UnpERTENANTs in Baschurch proper, I shall here name only
Radulf de Eyton, whose widow, Matilda, about 1220-30, resigns
and quitclaims to Shrewsbury Abbey, all right, in the way of dower,

! That part of Baschurch which is still 2 Valor Eccles. I11. 189.
called Newtown. 3 Monasticon, 111. 527.
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to lands which her late husband held under the Abbey in the vill
of Bascherche. Witnesses,—Ranulf, Parson of Stottesden, Master
Stephen de Franketon, Hugh de Hauekeston, and Walter de Chole-
ham.!

The names of many other Undertenants in Baschurch will now
transpire in speaking of its members. We will first take the
Church-fee, consisting of three vills, Prescott, Bagley, and Nunne-
ley. The very name of—

Presrcorr (i. e. Priest-cot) shows how anciently this vill had
been attached to the Church. Perhaps the following Fine should
be introduced here.—On Sept. 18, 1199, Philip de la Mare, tenant
of certain land in Mara (perhaps The Mere), surrenders the same
to Alice de Prestecot (Plaintiff), who in turn allows him to hold it
in fee, at a rent of one penny, and for 2s. paid down.

Whether the following affair is pertinent to Prescott near Bas.
church, I am far from sure. In November 1221, Hugh fitz Hugh,
Tenant of half a virgate in Prestecot, fines half a merk (Osbert Pur-
cel being his Surety) for license to compound a cause of Grand
Assire, wherein Goditha Slavine and her sister Matilda were Plain-
tiffs. By the Fine, levied accordingly, Hugh fitz Hugh concedes
to Godith Sclavin and her sister sixteen acres of the premises, to be
held under him, together with 12 acres (already held by the same
sisters) at a rent of 3d. The 16 acres thus conveyed are defined as
lying in Arildewell, in Chesterfordfeld, and in Hinesmere.

At the Assizes of 1256 the Pimhill Jurors presented an appeal as
lying in the County Court, wherein John de Prestecote had accused
Henry, Abbot of Shrewsbury, John Cruch (a monk), and Elias fitz -
Hugh of Nunniley, of robbing him of a horse, and of 4d. The Ap-
pellant did not now appear, and the Abbot and Elyas fitz Hugh
were Clerks; and so, 1 presume, could not be dealt with in the
ordinary way; but the Justices declined to enter into the case on
another ground.—The Robbery purported to have taken place in
Walcherid.

Surely this Plaintiff was not that John de Prestcote who had
lands at Prescott, but who migrated to Shrewshury, who appears as
employed in the Abbot’s affairs as early as 12565, who became Bail-
iff of the Abbot’s Liberty of the Foregate, about 1260, and who
still held that office in October 1272.

This last John appears in the following Charters.—About 1250~
1260, as “ John de Prestecote, son of Richard, son of Geoffrey de

1 Salop Chartulary, Nos. 181-c, 132-b.
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Prestecote, he concedes to the Abbey all his right in the land
which he held in the vill of Prestecote, in the Manor of Bas-
churche. In return, the Abbot made him and his wife, Matilda,
participators in the prayers and good offices of his House for ever.
‘Witnesses,— Sir Thomas de Rossall, Richard de Pecton, and Tho-
mas de Hordeleg.”?

About 1260-70 John de Prestecote gave to the Abbey a noke
and messuage in Prestecote, sometime held by Richard fitz Matilda,
and which he (John) had purchased from Amice, the said Richard’s
sister. He reserves 13d. rent on this grant, and the Abbot gives
Hm in exchange, land sometime held by Nicholas Cook, and lying
between the fields of Sutton and the Abbot’s demesne in the fields
of the Monks’-Foregate. Witnesses,—Sir William, Vicar of Bas-
church, Roger de Stanwardine, Peter de Pecton, Richard de la
Mere.?

About the year 1280, John, Abbot of Shrewsbury, gives to John
de Prestecote, dwelling in the Monks’ Foregate, two parcels of the
Abbey lands there, at a rent of 5s., payable to the Custos of the
Altar of the Holy Virgin in Shrewsbury Abbey. Witnesses,—Adam
le Bole, Henry Meyler, William de Prestcote.?

BagLEy. In the year 1225, William, son of William de Stan-
warthin, conceded to the Monks of Shrewsbury all the land which
he held under them in Baggeleg, also half a virgate which he held
under Sibil, Widow of Wydo Wallensis, in the said vill ;—to hold
for a term of 12 years beginning June 24, 1225. For this the Ab-
bot paid 6 merks. Witnesses,—Master Gilbert de Weston, Master
Stephen de Franketon, Gilbert Sadoc.*

In the year 1231 the Lessor in the last Deed was deceased, and
his widow, “ Emma, late wife of William, son of William de Stan-
wardin-in-bosco, with consent of Hugh, her heir, concedes to Salop
Abbey, that third part, which belonged to her in the name of dower,
of the land which her said husband held in the vill of Baggeleg ;—
to hold to the Abbey for 9 years commencing June 24, 1231, and
afterwards so long as the Grantress should live. For this the Ab-

1 Salop Chartulary, Nos. 131-¢, 132-b.

2-3 Thidem, Nos. 132, 218.

4 Salop Chartulary, No.181. The way
in which this Deed fixes the commence-

cima rerum mobilium Domino Henrico
Regi Anglie filio Regis Johannis.—

The year 1225 was the 10th year of the
Lunar Cycle of 19 years, and in the be-

ment of the Lease, is very remarkable.—
Incipiente termino die Nativitatis Sti. Jo-
hannis Baptiste, anno cycli decennovalis
decimo, anno et quo data fuit quintade-

ginning of that year (as Matthew Paris
tells us) King Henry ITI. had a grant of
the 15th of all movables. See Matih.
Paris (Edit. W. Wats), p. 324.
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bot gave her 21s. Witnesses,—James, then Provost of the Foregate ;
Benedict de Eston.!

On November 21, 1236, a Fine was levied, showing that Hugh
de Stanwardine was bound to warrant a half-virgate in Bagley to
his tenant Alexander de Bagley, who was sued by William fitz
Thomas for the same, under Writ of mort d’ancestre. Hugh was
obliged to buy off William’s Quitclaim by payment of 9 merks.

About the year 1240, Hugh, son of William, son of William de
Stanworthin, gives to Salop Abbey, for the souls of himself, his
father, and his mother, Emma, all the land which he held under
the Abbey, within and without the vill of Baggeley. Witnesses,
—-Roger de Pivelesdon, Thomas de Lee.*

Before the year 1241 Hugh de Stanwardine had been succeeded

by his brother, William, of whom I have said more under Stanwar-
dine-in-the-Wood.
- Nunneiey. This member of Baschurch Church, though far re-
moved from the Central Manor, is still in the Parish of Baschurch.
On November 11, 1221, certain disputes were settled by Deed, ve-
tween William Abbot of Shrewsbury and Hugh Pantulf, concerning
the erection of a stank by the latter, in the Manor of Wemme.
The Abbot agreed that Pantulf’s stank should remain as it was on
the above day, and quitclaimed all damages. In return Pantulf
released to the Abbot all the wood he had between the field of
Tyleweleg (Tilley) and the field of Slep (Sleap Magna), along the
road called Rodweie, and under the said road to the Abbot’s bosc.
Moreover the men of Nuneleg were to have common pasture and
other easements without any disturbance of Pantulf and his heirs
in (respect of) the said Vivary. Witnesses,—Reyner and Simon,
Abbots of Evesham and Reading, Martin de Pateshull, and Robert
de Lexinton.?

About 1220-30, Robert son of Henry de Nonileg gives to Hagh-
mon Abbey a meadow called Wellemeadue near to Slafforde. Wit-
nesses, Vivian de Roshall, Thomas de Lee.*

- About 123040, “Ivo son of Robert de Slepe sells to the Abbot
of Shrewsbury, for 18s., a rent of 5d. issuing out of 48 acres in
Wellecroft, &c., and out of land held of him by John the Priest, in
Nunnileg; and a rent of 14d. off a noke-and-half of land held of

! Balop Chartulary, No. 128-b. then in eyre at Shrewsbury.

2 Ibidem, No. 130. 4 Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 225-b.

3 Salop Chartulary, No. 400.—Thefour | Weli-meadow was in Charlion near Shaw-
witnesses of this Deed were the Justices | bury (supra, Vol. VIIL p. 1561).
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him by Reyner Chaudrei in Nunnileg; whereupon the Abbot
granted the premises to the Infirmary of sick Monks, because the
purchase-money was paid to the Grantor out of the Revenues of
the said Infirmary. Witnesses,—Benedict de Eston, Hugh fitz
Hamon, Nicholas his brother.”! The same sells to the same, for a
like purpose, and for 6s., a rent of 5d. of a noke in Nunnileg held
under the Vendor by William fitz Eynon.—Same witnesses.?

In May 1253, William le Escot had a Writ of novel disseizin
against the Abbot of Shrewsbury concerning a tenement in Noni-
legh. By a Deed (which must be taken as a settlement of this dis-
pute) “ William Scottus of Nunileg gives to the Abbey all his right
and claim to Bradmedue, without the vill of Noneleg. Witnesses,
Sir Thomas de Roshall, Thomas de Lee, knights.””?

At the Assizes of 1272 William le Scot sued Robert le Poer for a
messuage and half-virgate in Noneleye, but it was proved that the
Plaintiff had bimself demised the premises to William le Curteys,
and that the latter had demised them to Robert le Poer.

Bircr. Ivo and William de Birch seem to have migrated from
hence to the Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury. The three following
Deeds probably passed between 1260 and 1280.— Yvo de Birch,
son of Henry de Birch, quitclaims to Salop Abbey all the land
which his father held in the vill of Birch, together with a halfpenny
rent which he had been used to receive for the said land from John,
Rector of Ness. For this the Abbot paid half a merk. Witnesses,—
John de Prestecote, then Provost of the Foriet, Thomas de Horde-
lee’’* “ Thomas Abbot of Salop exchanges 12 acres in the fields
of the Foriete for 12 acres in Hundredhale (Underdale), with Ivo
and William de Birch, and their wives Juliana and Dionisia. Wit-
nesses,—John de Prestecote, then Provost of the Foriete, David de
Montgomeri, William de Rodintone.”® * Yvo and Juliana de
Birch, for 26s. paid to them by Brother Henry, Custos of the altar
of the Virgin in Shrewsbury Abbey, give three acres at the Red
Quarry, in the fields of the Foriete, to the said Altar. Witnesses,
—Brother Lucas, Seneschal of the Abbey, John de Prestecote.””

Acron, now BorearroN. As Acton, or Atfon, near Ruyton, is
now called Shotatton,’ so Acton, or Affon, a member of Baschurch,
is now called Boreatton. The following Deed, which passed about
1240-50, belongs properly to The Mere, but it contains a topo-
graphical hint, very clearly determining the identity of Acton with

1-2 Salop Chartulary, Nos. 253, 254. | 128, 404, 420.

3.4-5.¢ Salop Chartulary, Nos. 131, 7 Vide supra, p. 118, note 2.
X. 18
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Boreatton.—* Richard de la Mere, son of John, gives to Shrews-
bury Abbey 9 acres in the field called La Mere,! viz. 4 acres be-
.tween Stanworthines-feld and the free land of Acton,and 5 acres in
La Dale at Bruches. For this the Abbot paid 20s. Witnesses,—
Sir Thomas de Roshal, Sir Robert de Halenton (Haughton), Jobn
de Merton.””* We have seen Acfon twice mentioned in the later
Rent-Rolls of Shrewsbury Abbey as a member of Baschurch.®

CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS AT BASCHURCH.

I have stated under Middle all that is known of the early history
of this Advowson, down to the time of Bishop Peche (1161-1182).
It was Bishop Novant who, between the years 1188 and 1194,
allowed the Monks of Shrewsbury to appropriate this Rectory. His
Charter (which shows that the Church, like other Saxon Founda-
tions, was in his time Collegiate or Portionary) runs as follows.—
“ Hugo permissione divind Covenlrie Episcopus, omnibus per Epis-
copatum Coventrie constitulis, salutem, gratiam, et benedictionem.
Noverit universitas vestra, nos, intuitu carilatis qud .Abbas et Mo-
nachi de Salop preeminere noscuntur, commisisse eis Ecclesiam de
Bascherche cum omnibus ad eam de jure pertinentibus, in usus hos-
pitum et peregrinorum et pauperum converiandam, post decessum
Willielmi Brun et Herberti filii Alardi, clericorum, qui nunc eam
possident. Ita quod Abbas et Conventus mobis et Successoribus
nostris idoneam personam futuris semper temporibus presentabunt,
qui congruam et sufficientem porcionem de ecclesid illd percepturus
omnia onera debita ecclesie illius convenienter valeat svpportare :
salvo siquidem nobis et successoribus nostris in ecclesid illd semper
Jure pontificali et parochiali. Ut autem hec nosira concessio fuluris
temporibus robur firmitatis oblineat, eam 8iyilli nostri valituro muni-
mine sub muliorum lestimonio roboravimus.’’*

Between the years 1198 and 1208 ¢ Bishop Geoffrey de Mus-
champ inspected and confirmed Bishop Hugh’s Charter. Wit-
nesses,—R. (Robert probably) Archdeacon of Salop; Master Adam,
Dean.””® Between the years 1208 and 1210, that Portion of Bas-
church Rectory, which William Brun had held, fell vacant. The
See of Coventry was also vacant,® and R., Archdeacon of Salop, coin-
cidently died. At this juncture Philip de Novo Burgo, Official of

1 Vide supra, pp. 77, 134 { 4 Lichtield Register, A. fo. 11, b,
2 Salop Chartulary, No. 129. § Salop Chartulary, No. 72.
3 Vide supra, p. 133 bis, ¢ ¢ Bishop Muscamp died in 1208.




"HOMNHOSYE ‘SINIVS 11V 40 HOUAHO AHL

*(B081 uk uoywy Y2joys ¥ wod )







THE CHURCH. 139

the late Bishop Muschamp, having inspected the above Charters
took apon himself to induct the Abbot and Convent of Shrewsbury
into corporal possession of the vacant Portion of Baschurch.! On
July 6, 1216, Bishop William de Cornhull, in a’Charter dated at
Lilleshull, confirms the appropriation allowed by his predecessors,
Hugh and Geoffry, and again “ inducts the Abbot and Convent into
the moiety of Baschurch Rectory, vacated by William Brumer.
Witnesses,—Sir R. (Ralph) Abbot of Lilleshull, Masters John
Blund and John de Ginges. Given at Lilleshull as aforesaid, by
hand of Master Robert de Sandon.”? On Feb. 16, 1223-4, Geoffrey,
Prior of Coventry, and his Chapter, inspect, recite, and confirm
Bishop William’s' Charter® About 1216-1218, Hugh, Abbot of
Shrewsbury, appropriated certain receipts of his House for the
better refection of the Monks on the future days of his anniversary.*
Among the items were two measures of corn, to be taken out of the
Rectorial revenues of Baschurch, and the 5s. rent, with which we
have seen John le Strange (II) charge his estate at Newton, near
Middle.t

In the Tazation of 1291 the Church of Bascherch (i.e. 'the Rec-
tory) is valued at £16 ;—the Vicarage, at £5, per annum. The
Vicar also received a pension of 2s. from the Church of Loppington,®
probably a token of ancient subjection to Baschurch.

In 1341 the Assessors quoted the Tazation of the Church of
Basck’ as one of £21. They reduced this to an assessment of £12
on the Parish. Their reasons were, because the usual stock of sheep
was not kept up in the Parish, and because all the lambs produced
in the current year had been sold for two quarters of oats. More-
over, the wheat crop had failed in a great measure, and the come
munity were pauperized by different taxes of constant occurrence.
To the £9 now levied on the Parish, the Temporalities of Shrews-
bury Abbey contributed a due proportion.”

The Abbey Rental (about 1490) gives £34 as the Rectorial tithes
of Baschurch, besides a tithe varying from 1s. to 1s. 6d., according
as Byrche was fallow or sown.

In the Valor of 1534 the Abbot’s tithes of Baschurch stand at
£15. 4s., and his share of the tithes of Bagley and Noneley at
£1.11s. 4d.® This total of £16. 15s. 4d. is singularly discrepant from

! Salop Chartulary, No. 76. ¢ Pope Nich. Tazxation, p. 247.
2.3 Lichfield Register, ut sapra. 7 Inguis. Nonarum, p. 183.
4 Salop Chartulary, No. 379. " 8 Valor Ecclesiasticus, Vol. III. pages

$ Supra, page 113. v 189-190.
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" that given in the Ministers’ Accounts of 1541-2, viz. £39. 4s. 4d.,
"as the ferm of the tithes of Baschurch. As to the Vicarage, that
was held by Richard Marshall and was valued at £11. 10s. per
annum, less 10s. for procurations, and 4s. for synodals.!

The Valor further informs us of an annuity of 20s. payable by
Shrewsbury Abbey to * Richard Wicherley, Dean of the Parish
Church of Baschurch,” according to an ordinance made by the
Bishop of Lichfield at the time of appropriation.? By the Dean of
the Church of Baschurch, is here meant not any functionary in that
individual Church, but the Rural Dean of the district in which Bas-
church was situated. The Bishops, unable to secure to these
Officers any more regular stipend, secm at one time to have taxed
certain impropriate Rectories in their favour.

EARLY INCUMBENTS.

WiLLiam Brun (living about 1188-1209) and—

HerBerT rIT2z ALARD (living about 1188-1194) seem to have
been the last Co-Rectors of Baschurch. The following list of Vicars
is meagre enough, and induces a suspicion that the Parish was very
laxly provided for.—

WiLL1aM occurs as Vicar-about 1260-70.

Sir Ricrarb, “ perpetual Vicar of Baschurch,” accepts, in 1298,
a lease of lands, &c., in Eyton, under Sir Richard de Leighton. The
Lease was for 12 years yet to come ; but the Lessee seems to have
vacated the Vicarage in less than one : for—

JorN pE Morron, Chaplain, was instituted January 11, 1299, at
the presentation of the Abbot and Convent of Shrewsbury.

Ricuarp pE RopyNToN, Priest, instituted October 28, 1805, was
sworn to reside. Same Patrons.

Stk WiLLiam pe BrystaN occurs as Vicar in 1330 and in
1378-9.

Siz JouN pe WyKSALE occurs 1387-8, and on April 22, 1404,
exchanges preferments with—

Sir WiLL1AM RoGERs, late Vicar of Dronfield. Rogers must have
resigned immediately, for, on Oct. 27, 1404,—

Sir JorN ScoLes, entitled Triburnensis Episcopus, was Vicar of
Baschurch. The Church had been destroyed by fire, and the said
Vicar had license to cause divine services to be celebrated in a
Chapel situated within the Manor of Walleford, in a place suited to
the purpose, and for the benefit of himself, his Parishioners, and

1-2 Valor Ecclesiasticus, 111. pp. 183, 191.



GRINSHILL. 141

other Christians who might wish to attend. Scholes resigned soon
afterwards, for on Feb. 15, 1405,—
Si1r Epmunp Fox, Chaplain, was instituted Viear, the Abbot of
Shrewsbury presenting. Fox died in 1406, when on May 28,—
Sir Ricearp Hevnes, Chaplain, was instituted. He resigned
in 1411,

Gringhill,

Ta1s Manor is noticed in Domesday as follows.—

“ Walchelinus tenet de Rogerio Comite Grivelesul. Leuiet et
Godric et Seuuard et Algar tenuerunt pro 111 Muneriis et liberi
Juerunt. Ibi 11 hide geldabiles. Terra est 11 carrucis. Ibi sunt
111 liberi homines et reddunt vi1 solidos per annum. Hec terra vale-
bat xxx1u1 solidos T.R. E:! 1 have already noticed Walcheline as
Earl Roger’s Tenant at Faintree (near Bridgnorth).? Faintree be-
came, or perhaps was, even in Walcheline’s time, a Serjeantry.
Perhaps too its subsequent Lords were Walcheline’s lineal descen-
dants. But with Grinshill the case was otherwise. It appears to
me to have been wholly annexed to the Fief of Fitz Alan, so para-
mount in Bascherch Hundred; and to have been bestowed by Fitz
Alan partly on the Erletons or Orletons, and partly on the Lords of
Stanton-Hyneheath. I must treat of these presumed feoffments
distinctively.—

OrLetoN Fee. Adam de Orleton has been seen to have
granted half a virgate in Grinshill, before the year 1172, to Hagh-
mon Abbey.® The same Adam attests about 1175 two important
Charters of the second William fitz Alan, whose Vassal he probably
was at Grinshill, and not elsewhere. About 1190-1200 Ralph de
Orliton (hereby proved to have been son and heir of Adam) confirmed
to Haghmon his father’s donation of half a virgate in Gruneleshull.
Witnesses,—William fitz Alan; John le Strange; Hugh Pantun;
Robert fitz William ; Gregory, Priest ; Reginald de Tirne ; Wido de
Saubury.*

The residue of the Orleton estate in Grinshill appears to have

\ Domesday, fo. 267, b, 1. 3 Supra, Vol. VIII. p. 276.
% Suprs, Vol. I. pp. 169, 160. 4 Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 64.
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been 1} virgates. About 1220-25 “ Ralph de Orleton grants to
Robert, son of Richard de Franketon, a/ his land in Grinshill, vis.
1} virgates, for his homage and for 6 merks paid to the Grantor
under pressing circumstances (in magnis negotiis), and for a rent of
8s. Witnesses,—Vivian de Roshall, Thomas de la Lee, Alan de
Burcton, Reiner de Franketon, Reiner de Acton.’’!

There is good reason, but no specific Charter, for assuming that
Ralph de Orleton afterwards gave the above reserved rent of 8s. to
Wombridge Priory, so that Robert de Frankton became in effect
the Prior’s tenant. But Haghmon Abbey obtained the Seigneury
of this estate by a Convention with Wombridge Priory, of which the
particulars are preserved, viz. “ Wombridge quitclaims to Haghmon
all right in three half-virgates in Grinselle, which Robert de Franke-
ton held hereditarily under Wombridge, for a rent of 3s. In return
Haghmon quitclaims to Wombridge all right in the Mill of Chese-
wordin, out of which Wombridge had hitherto paid 8s. annual rent
to Haghmon.”' This Convention was a very early one of the 13th
Century. The Chapters of both Monasteries sanctioned it.?

We have now traced 2 virgates in Grinshill to Haghmon Abbey.
‘What further passed in the following Deed must be surmised.—
“ Pain de Famechro concedes and gives to the said Abbey, for the
souls’-health of himself, his heirs, and ancestors, all his land of
Grineleshull, free of all services, for which grant the Abbey gave
him 60s. Witnesses,—Adam, Priest ; Richard fitz Gervase, Priest.’!
Here we may dismiss the Title of Orlefon Fee as applied to anything
in Grinshill and speak of the Haghmon Fee.

The Hundred-Roll of 1255 says as follows.—“The Abbot of
Haghmon holds in Grineleshull one geldable hide, and it is of the
fee of John fitz Alan, besides (prefer) 1} virgates, which are of the
Fee of Erleton; and he (the Abbot) pays 3s. per annum to the Prior
of Wembrugg, and does suit to the two Tourns of the Sheriff, and
pays 3d. for motfee and stretward.”® Here it is doubtful whether
the ambiguous word prefer is intended to distinguish the Fitz Alan
and Erleton fees, and to make them aggregately 1 hide and 14 vir-
gates, or to make the hide inclusive of the 14 virgates. In either
case there is some inaccuracy, for the charge of 3d. for stretward
and moifee is proportionate only to 1} virgates. Moreover it is

! Haughmond Chartulary, 7%. Grin- | which the Chartularies of Haughmond
selle. and Wombridge fail to supply any parti-
? There must have been some previous | culars,
transactions about Cheswardine Mill of 3 Rot. Hundred. Vol. II. page 76.



STANTON FEE. 143

clear that the Erleton fee, held by the Abbey, was at least two
virgates : and lastly it is probable that the rent to Wombridge had
been commuted before the period of this Inquest. On the whole,
I judge that Haghmon had acquired 1 hide and 2 virgates in Grins-
hill, but that only 1} virgates were recognized as liable to stretward
and molfee. As the Stanton Fee was half a hide, we shall thus re-
produce the Domesday estimate. 'We shall also substantiate docu-
ments, already quoted under Acton Reynald, which show that the
Abbot of Haghmon was Lord of exactly three out of four parts of
the Manor of Grinshill. Passing to later times, the Haghmon estate
at Grinshill has already had several incidental notices under Acton
Reynald. The following may be inserted here.—

On Feb. 22, 1299, “ Abbot Gilbert demises 4 parcels of waste in
Grenshill-fields to Alice, widow of William Wigge, of Grenshill,
and Richard her son, for the longer life. Witnesses,—William de
Preston, Richard Gery of Acton.” ¢ On April 13, in the firet year
of King Edward (probably 1308 or 1327), the Abbot comes to an
agreement with William Gery, of Grilleshull, and Alice, his wife.
Witnesses,— Robert de Preston, William Banastre, Richard Gery.”

In 16 Edw. II. (1322-3)! the Abbot demises a messuage and 16
acres in Grenshill-fields to William Wigge of Grinshill, and his son
Richard, for the longer life.—This for 8 merks paid down, and a
rent of 3s.

On May 3, 1341, one Richard, whose other name is written
Feciria, exchanges land in Grinshill with the Abbey. On Aug. 24,
1428, John Adam of Haston releases to William Sumpnor, Chap-
lain, all right in & messuage and half-virgate in Grenshill. Wit-
nesses,—Thomas Banastre, John Chetwode, John Rodenhurste,
Thomas Burrell, Ralph Colfax. “ At Michaelmas following, Wil-
liam Sumpnor, with consent of John Adams, gives the premises to
Haghmon, for 4d. rent. Witnesses,—John Chetwode, John Roden-
hurst, William Wolascot.”

The later Valuations, given under Hadnall, include the Abbot of
Haghmon’s receipts from Grinshill.?

StanToN Fee. This was half a hide, or one quarter of the Manor.
In the 13th century it was held by the Stantons under Fitz Alan,
and by the Actons of Acton-Reynald under the Stantons. Hence
we have seen the estate usually coupled with Acton Reynald,® which
was held in precisely the same way. In 1255, the son and heir of

' T suspect that this Deed should have % Vide supra, page 60.
been dated 16 Edw. 1. (1288). 3 Vide supra, pages 62-64.
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Reyner de Acton (II) was in ward to Thomas Botterell. Hence
the Pimhill Hundred-Roll says that “ Thomas Boterel holds half a
hide in Grinelshull, in the name of wardship. It was of the Fee of
John fitz Alan, and owed, together with his other lands in the Hun-
dreds of Pimhill and Bradford,! the service of half a knight’s-fee,
for 40 days at Oswestry. It did suit to County and Hundred, paid
nothing for stretward, but, for motfee, 4d.’®* We have seen how
this fourth of Grinshill passed with Acton Reynald to Philip Bur-
nel in 1292 ; and have.accounted for William de Ercalewe appearing
in 1316 as Lord of both estates.? )

GrinsHILL CHAPEL. This was a mere Dependency of the Church
of Shawbury, but at the same an ancient foundation. All that I
can learn of its early history has been told under Shawbury.

FFit3,

THERE was yet another tenure in Bascherch Hundred, which
ultimately accrued to the Fief of Fitz Alan. It consisted of two
Manors, Fitz and Gellidone, held at Domesday by Picot de Say,
Baron of Clun. Of Fitz the Record speaks as follows.—* Isdem

- Picot tenet Witesot. Hunnith tenuit et liber homo fuit. Ibi 11

hide geldabiles. Terra est v carrucis. In dominio suni 11 carruce,
et 1x servi, et 1111 Villani, et unus Radman, et Faber, cum 11 carrucis
inter omnes. T. R:E. valebat xvL solidos, et post Lx solidos. Modo
vi libras.”’*

Picot de Sai, whose vast estates lay chiefly in the Borders of
South Shropshire, seems to have cherished the few Manors which
he had near Shrewsbury. In each case he had at least doubled the
value of these estates, since they had come into his possession.

Earl Hugh’s less suspicious Charter to Shrewsbury Abbey pur-
ports to have the attestation of Pigot de Say; but what is far more
consistent with probabilities, it records how Pigot de Say had given
to the Abbey two-thirds of the tithes of his demesnes of Phittesho
and of Gulidone. 1In fact, as I have stated under Brompton,® an

1 Alluding to Haughton (vide supra, 3 Supra, page 64.
Vol. VII. page 281). 4 Domesday, fo. 268, », 2.
2 Rot. Hundred. 11.76. & Supra, Vol. V1. p. 170.
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undoubtedly genuine Charter of Picot de Say himself, attested by
Earl Hugh, gives, infer alia, two-thirds of the tithes of Fittesho
and Gullidon for the building and maintenance of the conventual
Church. These tithes were subsequently confirmed in the Royal
Charters of Henry I., Stephen, Henry II. and Henry III. ; being
described loosely as the tithes of Phitesoth, Fitesso, or Fileshod.
The Charters of Bishops Clinton and Peche are more particular,
and specify ¢ two-thirds of the demesne-tithes of Gulidone and
Fitesso ” as belonging to the Abbey by grant of a Benefactor.

Fitz and Gulidone came in due course to Isabel de Say, Baroness
of Clun, and passed from her to her descendants by the first Wil-
liam fitz Alan. The two Manors are sometimes associated under
the common name of Fitz. Robert de Gyros, of whom we have
heard so often as a Feoffee of the Barons of Holgate, was Fitz
Alan’s Feoffee at Fitz. I think his Feoffor must have been Isabel
de Say after her first husband’s decease, or her son William fitz
Alan (II), for there is nothing in the Clun Feodary of 1165 which
can be taken to indicate any such previous feoffment. On the death
of Robert de Gyros (about 1190—4), his lands, under whomsoever
held, were farmed for a time by the King’s Escheator.! Hence at
Michaelmas 1194 the said Officer accounts for £3. 1s. 4d., as half
a year’s ferm of Robert de Girros’s estate of Fittesho. A similar
half.year’s ferm is accounted for in the Escheat-Roll of 1195; but
the year’s corn-crop of Fittesho had been sold for a further sum of
£10.

As I have often before stated, Robert de Gyros (II) seems to
have had a general livery of his inheritance about March 1195. In
1200, as we shall see, he was a party to a suit concerning the Ad-
vowson of Fitz. About 25 years later, Robert de Gyros commenced
a series of dealings with his Manors of Fitz and Gulidon which
transferred the most valuable parts of them to Haughmond Abbey.
First, about the year 1225, “ he sets his two Mills of Fittes to the
Canons, to farm during his life. They are to pay him 8 merks
annunal rent and to grind his own corn toll-free ; but at his death
the Canons are to have the Mills without payment of any rent.
Witnesses,—Sir Thomas Maudut, Robert his brother, Vivian de
Roshall, Thomas his son, Alan de la Mare.” Very soon after this,
“ Robert de Girros gives, concedes, and confirms” the said two
Mills to the Abbey (without any mention of rent or conditions) in
pure alms, with an acre of land near the Upper Mill, to form a

! Vide supra, Vol. L. p. 163.
X. 19
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messuage ;—with multure and suit of his men of the Manor of
Fittesho, viz. in Muridon, Grafton, Mutton, and Fittesho ;—with
the toll of his own wheat ;—with the eels caught at the floodgates ;
—with soil, to be taken anywhere, for the stanks ;—with commnion-
pasture for the Miller’s cattle, viz. 6 kine and 40 sheep ;—with
power to remove the Mills anywhither on the banks of the Peveree,
taking timber out of any woods, except the Grantor’s Haye ;—with
room to winnow corn ;—and, lastly with a Guarantee that neither
the grantor nor his heirs should injure the Canons by building any
third Mill in the Manor of Fittesho. Witnesses,—Sir Thomas
Maudut, Robert his brother, Vivian de Roshale, Thomas his son,
Alan de la Mare, John his son, Stephen de Patinton, and Walter
fitz Bernard.”* About 1237-9, “ Robert de Gyros released to the
Abbey the rent of 8 merks which he had been used to receive on
Fitz Mills. Witnesses,—Sir John Fitz Alan (obiit 1240), Sir John
le Strange, then Sheriff (so appointed Oct. 26, 1236), William de
Heclee (read Hedlee), and Thomas de Rossall.”’

About the years 1239-42, the following Deeds succeeded each
other in rapid succession.—‘“ Robert de Gyros gave to Haghmon
Abbey the Chapel of Fittesho, saving an annual charge thereon of
22s., payable to the Church of St. Mary (Shrewsbury), viz. 11s. on
St. Andrew’s day, and 11s. at the Close of Easter. Witnesses,—
Sir John le Strange, William de Hedley, Hugh fitz Robert, Thomas
de Rosshale.” ‘ The same gave to the same, half a virgate in Fittes
which William Deacon of Fittes held. Witnesses,—Sir John le
Strange, Thomas de Costentin, Thomas de Lee, Philip de Huge-
forde, Richard de Pecton, Alan le Poer, Thomas le Hessee (i.c.
Hussey).” * The same gives to the same half a virgate in Fittesho
sometime held by Thomas fitz Geoffrey, together with the said
Thomas, who was the Grantor’s native, his chattels and suit, ex-
cept his children, Geoffrey and Dyota ;—gives also two crofts, with
the meadows appertaining, which William Deacon of Fittesho some-
time held, one of which crofts was between the two Mills, the other
in the Lee ;—gives also the Advowson of the Chapel of Fittesho,
saving, &c. (as before). Witnesses,—Sir John le Strange, Wil-
liam de Hadleg’, Hugh fitz Robert, Thomas de Roshall, Sir
Philip Daubel, Chaplain ; Master Richard de Kagworth ; Philip,
de Hugeford ; William de Bikedon, Wydo de Hadenhale; Radulf
Parson of Clungunford, Richard de Pecton, and Simon de Staun-

1 The probability that this Deed passed about 1226 is increased by the names men-
tioned under that date, Vol. I. p. 276.
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ton.” “The same gives to the Abbey that Geoffrey, his native,—
the son of Thomas, whom he had excepted in the former Charter,
when he gave Thomas. Witnesses,—Master Richard de Kagworth,
Henry de Gyrois, Simon de Stanton, John de Prestone.” Lastly,
“ Robert de Gyros gives to the Abbey his whole Manor of Gulidon
with its appurtenances, easements, men, and their chattels; and
with all his wood, outside his Park, according as the boundary
stood between the wood of John le Strange of Middle and the said
wood ; and between Walleford wood and the said wood; and up to
the Park of Thomas de Roshale, and the Grantor's Park ;'—gives
also all his heath and pasture towards Leton and Wilavescot (Wol-
lascott), and Preston, and Webelesco (Webscott) and up to the
vivary -of Middle. Witnesses,—Sir John le Strange, Hugh fits
Robert, Thomas de Roshale, Roger de Pivelesdon, Philip de Hughe-
ford, Richard de Pecton, Thomas de la Lee, Thomas Huse, William
de Bykedon, Alan le Poer, John de Merton, Reyner de Acton,
Wido de Hadenhale.” By his Letters Patent, ¢ Robert le Gyrroys
appoints his Seneschal, Symon de Long Stanton, to put the Abbot
in seizin of the Manor of Gulidon, and of all other lands in Fittesho
which were conveyed by his Charters. Witnesses,—Master Richard
de Gagworthe, Adam de Muneton, William Meyfei, William de
Alvithechurche, William Stoke, and others.” It would seem that
the Abbot of Haghmon thought it better to secure the above grants
by a Fine. He paid 2 merks for license to levy the same. It
bears date at Westminster, Feb. 9, 1245. Robert de Gyroys (through
Richard de Cruce, his Attorney) acknowledges his gifts to Abbot
Gilbert of the Manor of Gulydon, and of one virgate, two tofts, two
Mills, and the Advowson of Fyttesho, unde placitum warrantie carie
The prayers and good offices of the Abbey were the consideration.
The latest notice which I have of Robert de Girros is in October
1250, when a Plea of land was pending between him and the Dean
of St. Mary’s. On Nov. 8, 1251, his widow, Isabella, was suing
the Abbot of Haghmon for dower, viz. one-third of the Manor of
Myrydon (heretofore called Gulydone), except the park, and one-
third of 2 Mills and a virgate in Fytesho. The widow’s suit for
dower was effectual, but Thomas de Constantine and Walter de
Hopton, as heirs of Robert de Girros, were bound to warrant their
Uncle’s Charters, and the Court ordered Isabella’s dower to be made
good out of their lands elsewhere. !
The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 states as follows.—‘ Walter

1 He probably had a Park at Addcote, in Little Ness.
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de Hopton and Thomas de Costentin hold viir geldable hides in
Fittesho. It is of the fee of John fitz Alan, and held by service
of a knight’s-fee in time of war, at Oswestry.! They do suit to
County and Hundred, and pay 4s. 8d. for stretward and motfee.””*
Here I may observe that this payment of 4s.8d. is proportionate
to a Manor of only seven hides, and yet that the collective Domes-
day hidage of Fitz and Gellidone was no more than 5 hides. Such
a change on Domesday measurement was in a very unusual direc-
tion, and requires explanation. I can only suggest that the seven
-hides of 1255 were inclusive of Mytton, a Manor of 2 hides, which
circumstances had associated with Fitz and Gellidone. i
The Pipe-Roll of 1261 gives Walter de Hopton and Thomas de
Costentine as jointly fining half a merk for some judicial Writ ;—
probably relating to De Girros’s inheritance. On July 7, 1271,
Walter de Hopton has a Writ against John Fitz Alan for disseizing
him of common pasture in Fittes. On October 20, 1277, a Fine
was levied between Walter de Hopton and Thomas de Constantin
(Plaintiffs), and Alan Abbot of Haweman (Tenant) of 3 messnages,
2 tofts, 1 Mill, and 2 carucates and 1 virgate of land, in Guledon
and Futtesho. The Plaintiffs acknowledged the Abbot’s right,
under grant of Robert de Gyros, Uncle of Thomas, and kinsman
(consanguinei®) of Walter, whose heirs they are; the premises to
hold to the Abbot in pure alms, without any rent to the Plaintiffs,
but the Abbot performing forinsec services. Moreover Walter de
~ Hopton conceded to the Abbot 2 messuages and a virgate, held by
two Villains in Guledon. In return, the Abbot paid Walter 20
merks, and conceded to him 2 messuages and a virgate in Fittesho,
held by two Villains of the Abbot. Moreover the Abbot conceded
to Walter two tofts in Fittesho, which the same two Villeins some-
time held, but for this Walter was to pay the Abbot 6s. rent, which
payment was not to entitle the Abbot to any homage, fealty, relief,
aid, wardship, custody, scutage, pontage, hidage, or heriot, from
Walter or his heirs. This Concord was made at Shrewsbury, the
said Villeins being present and allowing that they were Villeins.
The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 merely states “ Fittis to be
held of Fitz Alan by service of one knight for 15 days in wartime

! A proof that the feoffment of De | Baronies were united.
Girros was not earlier than the time of * Rot. Hundred. I1. 75.
William fitz Alan (I1), for a Tenure in 3 He was his Great Uncle, viz. bro-

Clun Barony would not have been charged | ther of Joan, mother of Walter, father of
with eervice at Oswestry before the two | Walter.
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at Oswestry.” Adam de Montgomery had, as we know, married
Isabella, daughter and heir of Thomas de Constantine. The In-
quest taken at Fittes on August 18, 1290, after Adam de Montgo-
mery’s death, found him to have died seized of half the Manor,
which half was held of the Earl of Arundel by a quarter of a knight’s-
fee. His heir was his son Robert (born March 2, 1272), so far as
the estates of the said Robert’s Mother (Isabella de Constantine)
were concerned.! These estates were at Oldbury, Eaton Constan-
tine, Burwarton, Sontford (near Knokin), and Fittes. I have fol-
lowed the descent of Isabella de Constantine a step further under
Eaton Constantine, but the difficulties there stated I am unable to
solve. As to Walter de Hopton, I have said much of him in a far
more exalted position than as Coheir of De Girros. His marriage
with the Baroness of Wem made him a great man during her life,
but at her death little seems to have remained to him in virtue of
that alliance. He remarried, but died before March 10, 1805, when
the King’s Writ of Diem clausit announced his decease. The King’s
concern in the matter was because the Suzerain of the deceased,
viz. the heir of Richard Earl of Arundel, was in ward to the Crown.
The subsequent Inquest found Walter de Hopton to have held the
vill of Fittes, with the hamlets of Mucton (Mytton) and Grafton,
of thesaid heir and of the Barony of Clun, by service of one-sixth of
a knight’s-fee. Walter, his son and heir, was two years old and
over? We shall recur to his name and descent on future pages.
Suffice it to say here, that, in the Nomina Villarum of 1816, this In-
fant, Walter de Hopton, is set down as sole Lord of the Vill of Fittes.

HaveavMonp Fee. I will include under this head the Abbot’s
temporalities in Gellidone, as well as in Fitz and other places. The
Tazation of 1291 gives him two carucates in Glulydon, realizing
82s. per annum, and assized rents, amounting to 13s., in Walleford,
Fyces (Fitz), Addestrete (Addcot), and Grafton (a member of Fitz),
Three Mills at Milford, Bentmill, Addcote, and Fytes, realized £1.3

On September 24, 1385, the Abbot demises to Roger, son of
Thomas de Grafton and Isabella, Roger’s wife, and John his son,
a messuage and half-virgate in Grafton. Rent 8s. In Christmas
week, 1406, Abbot Ralph demises the Mill of Fittesho to John Ad-
decote Junior.

Other valuations of these estates of Haughmond Abbey are given
under Addcott and Merrington.*

! Inguis. 18 Edw. I, No. 5. I 3 Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 260,
* Inquis. 33 Edw. 1., No. 77. 4 Supra, p. 106 ; infra, p. 166.
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FITZ CHAPEL.

This was originally a dependence of 8t. Mary’s, Shrewsbury ;
but when that Collegiate Church lost its hold upon its Manor of
Mytton it seems also to have lost its hold on the Advowson of Fits
Chapel ; and (as we have seen) Robert de Girros both claimed this
Advowson and alienated it to Haughmond Abbey. At a much
earlier period, Picot de Say’s grant of tithes of his demesnes at Fitz
to Shrewsbury Abbey seems to have been an arbitrary alienation,
and injurious to local interests. Of the consequent litigation and
. animosity, the following documents give only the outline.—On Oc-
tober 6, 1200, there was a suit pending at Westminster, concerning
the “ Advowson of the Church of Fittesh’.” The Bishop of Bangor
(then Robert de Shrewsbury?), the Canons of St. Mary’s, and Ro-
bert de Gyros were parties thereto. All that transpires is that it
was adjourned. We next hear of Robert de Girros conveying this
Advowson, not merely by Charter, but by a dated Fine of February 9,
1245, to Haughmond Abbey. In October, 1253, the following mem-
oranda appear on a Roll of Pleas, before the Queen and the King’s
Council at Westminster.—* The Abbot of Haghmon names Brother
Nicholas de London his Attorney against the Dean and Chapter
of Salop in a plea of Quo Waranto.” This was doubtless about the
Advowson of Fitz, but a second entry shows that the Abbot had
already suborned force in the matter, though his direct agency does
not appear.—* Henry, Abbot of Salop, hath been attached to give
answer to the King in this placitum, viz. as to wherefore, prejudic-
ing the King and his Free Chapel of St. Mary, Salop (which Chapel
is 80 exempted as that neither the Pope nor any judge ecclesiastic
has jurisdiction therein), he (the Abbot) had exercised a jurisdiction
in the Chapel of Fytesho, appurtenant to St. Mary’s, viz. by de-
spoiling the Clerks of St. Mary’s of the said Chapel, which Clerks
had obtained the said Chapel by collation of the Dean and Chapter
of St. Mary’s?”’ Specifically, Lawrence de Brok, the Crown pro-
secutor, now stated that ‘“ the aforesaid Abbot had sent his men to
the Church of Fittesho, (in which Church the King’s Bailiffs had

! Tt is probable that Robert de Shrews- | his idea that the tenure of the Deanery
bury was Dean of 8t. Mary’s both before | was incompatible with the tenure of an
and after his consecration to the See of | Archdeaconry is & mistake. Henry of
Bangor. Mr. Blakeway (History of | London, for instance, held the same
Shrewsbury, Vol. II. page 826) has not | Deanery not only with an Archdeaconry
included him in the list of Deans ; but | but with an Archbishoprick.
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instituted R. a Clerk,) to displace the said R. and to institute an-
other Clerk, who pretended to be admitted by the Bishop. The
Abbot’s men had further broken open a chest with jewels therein,
and had carried away the goods and the coin of the King’s pre-
sentee.”” Abbot Henry now appeared before the Council. He
denied the violence and injury alleged. He said that he had acted
under mandate of Master Hugh de St. Edmund, who then had ju-
risdiction in all concerns of the Crucesignati.—The said Hugh, by
letters which the Abbot produced, had ordered the Abbot to do in-
stant justice in behalf of Robert de Acton, Clerk, a Crucesignatus,
and Parson of the Chapel of Fittesho, in respect of injuries done to
the said Robert de Acton by Richard de Houton, Canon of St.
Mary’s and others. So far went the Abbot’s affair on this occasion.

On Oct. 20 following, in the same Court, Laurence de Brok (for
the Crown) sued Robert de Acton, Hervey de Hope, and William fitz
Roger for forcibly entering the Chapel of Fitesho, an appurtenance
of St. Mary’s, and for breaking open in the said Chapel a chest of
Isabella de Constantine.! This matter went no further; for the
Sheriff reported to the Council that Robert de Acton was a fugitive,
and that his lands and goods had been confiscated to the Crown.
Then again the Crown Prosecutor called for JoAn Ernald, a Monk
of Shrewsbury, for Reginald de Ragdon, Richard fitz Thomas, Alan,
Clerk of Salop, and Philip Smith of Prestcote, for the same offence.
They were not forthcoming ; and the Sheriff was ordered to attach
them. In Hilary Term 1254 Roger Ernaud and the others were
still not to be found. Also attachment issued against the Manu-
captors of Robert de Acton. They were Adam Wele, Hugh de
Longslow, Robert de Prene, Alan de Buildwas, John de Pres, and
Ranulf de Rodinton. At length however the great culprit himself,
Robert de Acton, appeared before the Council. He surrendered
the Chapel of Fitz, by license of the Court, to the King. He also
allowed that the Sheriff should ascertain what chattels he had taken
from the Chest, and should realize an equivalent out of his (Robert
de Acton’s) lands. The resignation of Robert de Acton, whoee ul-
terior history has been traced elsewhere,*only produced further litiga-
tion about the Advowson of Fitz Chapel. A suit between the Abbot of
Haghmon and the Dean and Chapter of St. Mary’s, was adjourned
to Westminster at the County Assizes of January 1256.* The Re-

! Sister and Coheir of Robert de Girros, | Churches for the sake of security.
deceased. At that time People of rank ? Supra, Vol. VL. p. 187.
frequently deposited their valuables in ¢ Assize Roll, 40 Hen. III., m. 15.
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verend Litigants actually settled the matter by wager of battle, and
it would seem that the Abbot’s Champion was victorious. Mean-
while, that is in the summer of 1255, the Commissioners for taking
the Hundred Inquests sat at Shrewsbury. Their report as to the
Royal Free Chapel of St. Mary’s contains an allusion to the pend-
ing quarrel. They said that ‘“ the Dean of St. Mary’s presents to
the Chapel of Fitches, and that Master Richard de Lynton holds it,
and that is worth 7 merks yearly, but is not accounted among the
10 Prebends of St. Mary’s.” It is added by interlineation that
““ the Abbot of Hageman claims to be Patron, et vi ejus ven’ (pro-
bably vices ejus veniunt, that is, his interesis are represented) by
Master William de Kilkenny.””!

A Writ of K. Henry III., bearing date at Westminster Oct. 18,
1256, and addressed to Roger (de Weseham), Bishop of Coventry
and Lichfield, informs that Prelate of the recent suit, and how a
duel had been armed and foughten between the parties : since which
the Dean and Chapter (the Defendants) had come into Court and
renounced their right. The Bishop is therefore to admit the Abbot’s
Presentee to the said Parsonage. Bishop Weseham, in a Letter
dated at Brewood Nov. 25, 1256, recites the above Writ and trans-
mits the ezemplification to the Abbey, Ralph de Chaddesden, Trea-
surer of Lichfield, Sir Nicholas de Leger, William de Weseham,
and James de Bakepuz, attesting. By another instrument, undated,
but sealed with the common seals of St. Mary and St. Chad, the
Dean and Chapter of St. Mary renounce their right, not only to the
Church of Fittes, but to any pension whatever arising therefrom.

The Tazation of 1291 does not notice this Chapel; but in 1841
the Assessors of the Ninth taxed the Parish of Fittos at 20s., saying
that they did not assess it higher, because the Chapel was taxed at
its true value.®
- The Valor of 1585 gives the preferment of Hugh Gyles, Rector
of Fettys, as £5. 10s. per annum, less 1s. for Synodals and 3s. 4d.
for procurations.® As to the demesne tithes, the Abbot of Shrews-
bury still retained his interest in them. Those of Meriden were
apparently farmed by the Abbot of Lilleshull, who paid 16s. per
annum to Shrewsbury for the same.* The Shrewsbury Abbot’s por-
tion in the tithes of Fitts was returned as worth 10s. per annum.®

! Rot. Hundred. I1. p. 78. Mr. Blake- 3 Inquis. Nonarwm, p. 192.
way (Hist. Shrewsbury, T1. 806) gives an- |  3-4+5 Valor Eocles. IIL. 183, 190. The
other and perhaps truer reading of this | Lilleshall Palor (page 197) states the 16s-
passage; from which it would result that | to be paid to Salop Abbey for lasd at
Kilkenny was the Abbot’s Law-Agent. Mereden and in Shrewsbury.
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EABLY INCUMBENTS.

Ricearp pr LyNToN seems to have been identical with R. the
Clerk, ejected in 1258. He had been of course presented by the
Dean and Chapter of St. Mary’s. As usual, where a Royal-Free-
Chapel, like St. Mary’s, was concerned, a secular Officer of the
Crown had been empowered to induct.

RomerT pE AcToN, the intruder of 1253, was probably the No-
minee of Haghmon Abbey. He resigned in 1264.

RicHARD DE LYNTON was apparently reinstated. He was holding
the Chapel in the summer of 1256, but obliged to resign, I presume,
in the following Autumn.

MasTter WiLLiaM pE KILKENNY seems to have been the counter-
nominee of the Abbot of Haghmon.

Roserr, Parson of Fitesho, failed at the Assizes of August 1267,
in a suit against Walter de Hopton, whom he accused of depriving
him of a right of common in Fitesho.

Master RicHARD DE GoLDEN, Rector of Fittes, died March 24,
1315.

Roserr pE PREsTON, Acolyte, was admitted May 23, 1315, at
presentation of the Abbot and Convent of Haghmon. On March 3,
1316, being a Subdeacon, he has a year’s license of non-residence
studendi gratid. On Nov. 25, 1316, the license is renewed, Bishop
Langton being at the time at Haghmon Abbey. This is the Robert
de Preston who occurs so often as a witness of Haghmon Deeds.
He died Nov. 29, 1334.

S1r JorN MouNTsORRELL, Priest ;j—admitted December 15, 1834.
Same Patrons. Died Feb. 6, 1343.

Hvuer pE GreyBY, Clerk, admitted Feb. 18, 1348. Same Patrons.

Davip ritz GrEGORY exchanges this Rectory on June 27, 1347,
with—

JonN TrocHARD, late Rector of Lanwydelan (Dioc. 4ssav.), who
died Aug. 8, 1849,—probably of the Pestilence.

TroMas BanasTer of Yorton, Clerk, admitted Sept. 21, 1349.
Same Patrons.

JoaN pE Hariescore, Priest, admitted Oct. 9, 1869, Same
Patrons.

Broruer JomN Morron, a Canon of Haghmon, resigned this
Rectory in 1398, when, on July 21,—

RicuarD Pavn, Clerk, was instituted, he being in his first ton-
sure. Same Patrons. Payn resigned in 1398 ; and on January 3,
1899,—

X. 20
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Roeer YvVE of Leton,! Priest, was admitted on a like presentation.

Gellivone, afterwards Furpon, now
Merrington.

* Tae Domesday notice of Fitz is followed by that of Gellidone.—
Isdem Picot tenet Gellidone. . Hunnith tenuit. Ibi 11 hide gelda-
biles. Terra est v carrucis. In dominio est una (carruca), et 1111
Servi, et 11t Villani, et 1111 Bordarii, et unus Radman, cum 11 car-
rucis inter omnes. Silva ibi xx1111 porcis incrassandis. T. R. E.
valebat xv solidos, et post tantundem. Modo (valet) xL solidos.’”
The history of this Manor and the progressive changes of its name
have been given, with the exception of a few details under Fits.
Helias de Gulidone, evidently a Tenant here, has been seen at-
testing a Hadnall Deed towards the very end of the 12th century.
I can hardly suppose this Helias to have been identical with ¢ Elias
de Morene, son of Richard de Gulidon,” who, about the year 1:24C,
“ gives to Hagmon Abbey all his right in 5 nokes in Gulidon. Wit-
nesses,—Walter le Hese (i.e. Hussey), Thomas his son, (filius pro-
prius), and Alan le Poer.”’® William, son of Elias de Morene, con-
firmed his father’s gift in a contemporary Deed, attested by the same
witnesses. I must assume the Confirmation of “ Robert, son of
Robert de Gyros,” to have referred to some antecedent phase of
this grant. His styling himself “ son of Robert de Gyros” as late as
1240 would be quite unaccountable.— He confirms to the Abbey
the whole Jand which was Helias de Gulidon’s, viz. 5 nokes, saving
however the right aud tenure of Helias’s heirs. For this the
Canons of Haghmon paid De Gyros two merks. Witnesses,—John
end Hamon le Strange, brothers.” About 1240-50, ¢ Richard, son
of William de Gulidon, gave the Abbey a messuage which he held
of Robert de Gyros, with a croft and orchard belonging thereto, in
exchange for a messuage in the same vill, with crofts pertaining
thereto, and half an acre of land. Witnesses,—Sir Robert de
Gyros, Sir Thomas de Rossall, Roger de Letone.” About the year

. ¥ He was also Rector of Albright Hus- * Domesday, fo. 258, a. 2.
scy. Vide suprs, page B6. 3 Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 147.
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1254, “John le Strange gave to Haghmon Abbey all his part
of the Sichet in Smeyewodifal, which Sicket lay between the
Abbot’s bosc of Gulidon,! according as the foss surrounded the said
Sichet under the Grantor’s bosc of Mudle. He also concedes his
share of the said Sichet in the place called Bedsich, as the Abbot’s
foss surrounded the said Sickef under the Grantor’s bosc of Mudle.?
The Abbot is to pay 2d. rent for this grant. Witnesses,—Richard
de Pecton, John de Merton, Martin de Boruton, Roger de Leeton,
William fitz Warin of Leeton, Richard Gurdin, Reiner de Acton.”?

From 1262 to 1277 I find notices of one Thomas de Murydon as
a local Juror and witness. Richard le Fremon of Muridone occurs
on a Jury of the year 1274. Both doubtless were tenants of Hagh-
mon Abbey.

The Tenure-Roll of 1279 eays, that ““the Abbot of Haughmon
holds Meryden in frank almoign of the gift of Robert Girreis.”

About the year 1280 “ Nicholas Griffin, son of Nicholas Griffin,
releasing his right to a virgate in the vill of Gulidon (viz. that vir-
gate to which he had succeeded as heir of his mother Amelia), the
Abbot gives him half a virgate in Buriton (Berrington). Witnesses,
—Sir Thomas de Rossall, John de Hauchestr’ (probably Hawsks-
ton), John his son.”

The Valor of 1685 gives the Abbot of Hagmond £20. 11s. 6d. as
arising from the rents of Muryden.* This includes of course a
number of adjacent estates ; such as those alluded to under Marton,
Addcott, Ruyton, and Fitz.*

ParocH1aLLY Gellidone was not in Fitz, but in Preston Gubbalds
Hence it was that the Abbot of Lilleshull, being Lord of Preston
Gubbalds, farmed the tithes of Mereden in 1535 under Shrewsbury
Abbey.®! Merrington still preserves its ancient parochial status,
being in Preston Gubbalds.

! Opposite the word Gulidon, the word
Muridon is coevally written in the margin.

2 Siout fossatwm dictum Sichetum cir-
ewit subius boscum meum de Mudle —e
passage which disfsvoyrs the usual inter-
pretation give to Sichetum, viz. a water-
course. I take it here to mean a dingle.
+ 3 All Jurors at the Hundred Inguest
of 1255, except Reiner do Acton, who

appears to have died in the interval,

4 Valor Ecoles. 1I1. 192,

$ Bupra, pp. 78, 105, 117, 149,

¢ Supra, page 162.—At an earlier period
(that is, in the 13th century) the Abbot
of Shrewsbury’s Lessee, in respect of the
tithes of Gulidon (i.e. Merrington) was
the Abbot of Haughmond (suprs, Vol.
VIII. p. 150).
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fMptton.

AxoNe the Domesday possessions of St. Mary’s, Shrewsbury, was
Mytton, in Bascherch Hundred. It had been St. Mary’s in Saxon
times.—Ipsa Ecclesia tenuit et tenet Mutone, et Picot de ed. Ibi 11
hide geldabiles. Ibi nix Villani cum 11 carrucis. Valuit x11 solidos.
Modo est ad firmam pro x1 solidis.!

The Canons of St. Mary’s made a bad arrangement for their suc-
cessors when they adopted Picot de Say as their Fee-farm Tenant
at Mytton. The Says, or their descendants, the Fitz Alans, so
farmed the estate as that it became a mere member of their secular
tenure at Fitz. It was part of the feoffment of Robert de Gyros,
and it would appear that one of the two Mills, given by him to
Haghmon Abbey, was in Mytton rather than in Fitz. The said Mill
was at all events claimed by the Chapter of St. Mary’s as being
theirs, and they made the King, as usual, a party to the lawsuit of
his own free Chapel. In October 1253 ‘“‘the King appeared in a
suit of Quo Waranto against the Abbot of Haghmon, as to where-
fore the Abbot held a Mill in Mutun, which Mill belonged to the
King’s Free Chapel in Salop.”® I cannot trace this suit any far-
ther, but it would appear that on Robert de Gyroe’s death in 1251
the Dean and Chapter not only sought to recover Mytton Mill, but
took actual possession of the whole Manor. They were of course
impleaded for the same by Robert de Gyrros’s heirs. The suit
came on at the County Assizes of January 1256, and ended in the
defeat of the Dean and Chapter. The process is very important as
a genealogical document. It runs as follows.—* Thomas de Cos-
tantin and Walter de Hopton seek against the Dean and Chapter of
St. Mary, Salop, six virgates in Mutton, of which Robert de Gyros,
Uncle of Thomas and kinsman of Walter, whose heirs they are,
was seized, and of which they say that he died seized. And from
the said Robert, because he died without a bodily heir, the fee of
.the said land descended to a certain Isabella,® and a certain Joanna,

1 Domesday, fo. 262, b, 2. was in France at the time.

? Placita coram Regind et Consilio, &o. 8 We have scen that Isabella de Con-
87,88 Hen. IIT. The King’s appearance | stantine was living in 1263. She must
(obtulit se) was of course figurative. He | have been now dead.
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as to his sisters and heirs. And from Isabella the fee of her pur-
party descended to the aforesaid Thomas as her son and heir. And
from Joanna the fee of her purparty descended to one Walter as her
son and heir, and from that Walter to his son and heir, Walter,
the present Plaintiff.”” This was the Plaintiffs’ case. Now for the
Defendants’.—“And the Dean and Chapter appear by their Attorney,
and cannot answer without the Lord King, because his Church of
8t. Mary of Salop is the King’s Chapel, and because he confers all
Prebends belonging thereto.” Thomas and Walter rejoin that * the
Suit in no way touches the King, nor had the King ever had any-
thing in the aforesaid land, nor had he conferred it on the aforesaid
Church: nay that the land was their right, as that of which their
Antecessor, Robert de Gyros, had died seized as of fee, five years
since.” The Dean and Chapter declined to reply further « with-
out the King ; nor would they show any Charter of feoffment, for,”
as they said, “ there was no necessity to do so.” The Court de-
cided that ¢ the Dean and Chapter do remain unprotected (indefenst)
and in misericordid, and that Thomas and Walter do recover their
seizin.””!

The subsequent history of Mytton is as a mere member, both of
the Manor and Parish of Fitz,® and in which the Dean and Chapter
of St. Mary’s retained not a vestige of their ancient Seigneury.

QAstlep.

Wz will now follow the History of two Manors on which St.
Mary’s retained a more permanent hold than on Fitz. Of Astley
Domesday speaks thus.—Ipsa Zcclesia tenuit et tenet Hesleie. Ibi
1t hide geldabiles. Ibi Presbyter cum 1x Villanis et 11 Bordariis
habet 111 carrucas ; et adhuc 11 carruce possent esse. Silva L porcis
incrassandis. Valuit xx solidos. Modo (valet) xxv solidos® The
Priest, thus resident at Astley, was probably a Canon of St. Mary’s.
On the Forest-Roll of 1180 the Canons of Estley, who are set

1 Assices, 40 Hen. ITI., m. 8 dorso. | qualified to act for both partics. He was
Thomas de Constantine made Walter de | afterwards one of the King’s Justices,
Upton (read Hopton) his Attorney in this 2 Vido supra, page 149.

Suit. The latter was doubtless well 3 Domesday, fo. 262, b, 2.
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down as amerced 5s. for waste, were probably the ten Canons of
St. Mary’s.

Henry II., in one of his earliest Charters to Haghmon, after
confirming the site of the Abbey, the assarts made by the Canons,
and the gift of a wood towards Shawbury, by William fitz Alan (I),
proceeds to give the Abbey a right of free common for all its live
stock and the stock of its men of Offinton throughout the whole
of Astley; but the Canons are to pay an annual rent of 12d. to
the Chaplain (Query, Chaplains?) of St. Mary’s, Salop. Witnesses,—
Thomas the Chancellor, &c.! The Dean and Chapter of St. Mary,
“with assent of King Henry,” and in a contemporary Deed, ratify
80 much of William fitz Alan’s Charter as defined the boundaries
between the bosc, granted by him to Haghmon, and the Chapter’s
bosc of Astley, viz.—* from the field of Sundorn straight to Blake-
lake and to the White Sichet towards Withyforde.” The reserva-
tion of 12d. rent to the ‘Dean and Chapter is repeated, and the
common seal of St. Mary and the common seal of St. Chad were
appended to the document.!

The Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that  the Dean and Canons of
St. Mary’s, Salop, hold three geldable hides in Estleg, and it is
of the Fee of the King’s Chapel at Salop. It owes suit to County
and Hundred, and pays 2s. yearly for stretward aud motfee.””®

On October 8, 1257, a dispute as to the boundaries of their re-
spective woods was settled between the Dean and Chapter aforesaid
and Haghmon Abbey. The limits assigned were, “‘a campo de
Sonderne per illam semitam quse ducit propius boscum de Asteley
usque le Blakelake versus Wideford et sic descendendo usque Le
‘Wytesyche, et sic per illud Sichetum usque terram de Haghton.”
The right of common in Astley for the men of Uffinton was again
renewed at the old rent of 12d. . )

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that * Asteley is held in
the same way (with Clive and Sansaw),” that is, “ by the men of
‘Astley, in free socage, under the Canons of St. Mary, which Canons
held in frank-almoign of the Crown.”

In the Nomina Villarum of 1316 a curious mistake is made. Of
the Vill of Asteley and * * k’lom the Dean of St. Mary’s, Stafford,
‘is set down as Lord.}

TaE TENANTS IN Socace of such Manors as Astley were usually
more numerous than important. We have heard elsewhere of Pagan

! Haughmond Chartulary, 73 Asteley. 3 Parliamentary Wrils, IV. p. 898.
2 Rot. Hundred. II. 75.
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de Preston; and of Agmes, the eldest of his four daughters! At
the Assizes of 1203 this Agnes, then wife of William de Preston,
claimed 8 virgates in Estleg, as land of which her father had died
seized. The present Tenants, Richard de Westb’i and his Sister
Margaret, deposed that they held the land as Guardians of Mar-
garet’s infant son, Roger, whoee inheritance it.was. . So the case
was adjourned.

In January 1250, John le Ireis of Estleg was assessed for a pour-
presture on the King’s Forest, viz. 13 roods. In May 1271 Richard
de Willaston sued Richard, son of Adam Onewyn for disseizin in
Astlegh-juxta-Hauman. William fitz Richard de Astlegh was about
this time Bailiff of Pimhill Hundred. Robert fitz John of Astleg
occurs on a Leaton Jury in 1262, and sat on the Pimhill Inquest
of 1274. Richard fitz Robert of Astley was Elizor for the same
Hundred at the Assizes of 1292, and occurs on a local Jury in 1293.

On August 15, 1316, *“ Roger Banastre, John le Palmere, and
seventeen other men of Astley, release to Haghmon Abbey all right
in a parcel of wood called Strifwode, and in a parcel of waste called
Hadeley. Witnesses,—Roger de Cheney, Seneschal of Edmund, Earl
of Arundel, and then Sheriff of Salop.” In June 1337, Stephen
de Lee, being impleaded for disseizing John de Westbury of a mes-
suage and carucate in Astley-juxta-Shawbury, said that he had
entry through William de Ercalewe. In December following John
de Westbury and Sibil his wife were in misericordia for not prose-
cating this suit. On March 4, 1339, *“ John le Shirmusor of Astley
quitclaims to Nicholas, Abbot of Haghmon, one royal acre in Astley
bose, near the Abbot’s land at Le Home. Witness,—Roger Ba-
nastre.”” On April 30, 1357, ““ Stephen de Lee and Alice, his wife,
acknowledge by fine a grant to William Banastre of Hadnall of a
messuage and carucate in Astley-juxta-Hadnall.” The Considera-
tion was 10 merks.

AstLey CaurcH.—The resident Priest of Domesday, whether a
Canon of St. Mary’s or not, probably indicates the coexistence of a
Church. We bave had evidence of a Church being at Astley-juxrta-
Berwick in 1281 ;>—a Church in which Baptisms were celebrated,
and thereforein no very low state of subjection to 8t. Mary’s. Like
the Mother Church it was dedicated to St. Mary.

Of a Church, associated, like Astley, with a Boyal Peculiar,
whose Capitular Muniments are wholly lost, we can expect nothing
but incidental notices, No Falor of Churches is likely to allude
to such a Benefice ; and, of course, Diocesan Registers are silent

! Supra, Vol. VIIL pp. 257, 268. ? Bupra, Vol. VIL p. 394,
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as to Incumbents, who were presented and instituted by a secular
power.

St. Marp’s Broughton.

TrI1s Manor was divided both in Saxon times and at Domesday
between the Shrewsbury Churches of St. Mary and St. Chad. At -
present we speak of St. Mary’s Manor. It is thus described in
Domesday.— ¢ Ecclesia Sancte Marie tenuit et tenet Burtune. Ihi
v hide geldabiles. Unus Presbyter habet ibi dimidiam carrucam ct
vi1 Villanos cum 11 carrucis et dimidid; et adhuc 111 carruce plus
possent ibi esse. Ibi silva xx1In1 porcis incrassandis. T. R. E.
valebat x solidos. Modo (valet) xv solidos’? By St. Mary’s Fee at
Broughton we are to understand, not Broughton proper, but Clive
and Sansaw, which to this day are two townships in the Parish of
St. Mary and in the Liberties of Shrewsbury. Clive too is a Cha-
pelry of St. Mary, and it is probable that a Church, served by the
Domesday Priest, existed at Clive when the Record was written.

In 1255 this estate of St. Mary’s is described simply as Clive,
and was reputed to contain one, if not two, hides less than we should
have expected from Domesday.—*The Dean and Canons of St.
Mary, Salop, hold 1111 geldable hides in Clive, and it is the King’s
almoign to his Chapel of Salop. It does suit to County and Hun-
dred, and pays 2s. for stretward and motfee ;’*—the rate usually
proportionate to a manor of 3 hides.

At the Assizes of 1266 Richard de Houeton (who we know was
a Canon of St. Mary’s) sued Thomas Dod, Roger Swyst, Thomas
le Forester, Thomas, Henry, and Hugh de Gryveleshull, Stephen le
Rus, Thomas fitz David, Robert, Roger, and Thomas de Haukeston
(brothers) Roger de Smethcott, John de Haukeston, and others
for erecting a fence in Clyve to his injury. The Defendants pleaded
that whatever had been done had been done by order of the Abbot
of Haghmon, whose tenement was in question. The Plaintiff had
leave to amend his form of procedure. At the same Assizes, the
Dean and Chapter of St. Mary’s failed to appearin a Suit instituted
by themselves against Robert Corbet (of Moreton) for & acres of
bosc in Clyve. David de Hopton, a Juror on the Pimhill Hundred-
Inquest of 1274, was of Clive.

! Domesday, fo. 262, b. 2. ? Rot. Hundred. 1I. 76.
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The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that, “the Dean and
Canons of St. Mary, Salop, hold the vills of Clive and Sansall
(Sansaw), in Frank-almoign of the King; and the men of Clive
and Sansall hold in free socage under the said Canons.”

On January 20, 1288, “ Thomas de Halth of Clive, for 40s. paid,
and for a rent of 6s. 8d., payable to himself while living, gives a
messuage and half-virgate in Clive, to his own son Thomas. After
the Grantor’s death the Tenant was to hold under the Lords of the
Fee” On May 2, 1283, “ Matthew de Clive and Alice his wife
grant a messuage and half-virgate in Clive to Roger, son of the said
Matthew, who gives a sore-hawk, and will pay 6s. 8d. rent to Mat-
thew and Alice, and the heirs of Alice.” On November 18, 1286,
“ Robert, son of Richard de Clyve, and Dionisia his wife, give two
thirds of a half-virgate in Clyve to Matthew de Clyve, to hold under
thernselves and the heirs of Dionisia, at a halfpenny rent. More-
over they give the reversion of the other third of the premises,
which third was now held in dower by Sibil, widow of Warin Lof-
kin, but was of Dionisia’s inheritance. Matthew pays 8 merks for
this Fine.”

The following extract from an Assize Roll is rubricated in the
Haughmond Chartulary as relating to Sonsaweshethe (Sansaw
Heath). The date must be between 1284 and 1804.—¢ Matthew,
son of Richard de Hulle of Clyve, sued Gilbert, Abbot of Haghmon,
Brothers Richard de Dounton, Stephen de Overton, and Philip le
Graunte (probably Canons of Haghmon), and six persons of Grins-
hill, for disseizing him of a right of common in 20 acres at Clyve.”
The Abbot proved the said 20 acres to be in Grinshill, not in Clyve.

On Oct. 13, 1347, “ Robert, son of Richard fitz John of Acton,
and Agnes his wife, release, for themselves and the heirs of Agnes,
all right in a third of a messuage, half-virgate, and 10 acres of pas-
ture at Sondshawe, to John, son of John de Lee, Plaintiff, who
gives 20 merks for the release.”

Crive CraPEL. I have no means of determining the date of this
Foundation, for the reasons given under Astley. The Chapel is
dedicated to All Saints.
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St. Chav’s, Broughton, Porton.

Anoraer part of Broughfon is that described in Domesday as
held by the Shrewsbury Church of St. Chad.—Ipsa ecclesia tenuit
et tenet Burtone. Ibi 11 hide geldabiles. Terra est v carrucis. Ibi
11 Villani habent 11 carrucas. Valuit x solidos. Modo (valet) x1
solidos et 11 denarios.! With this entry must be coupled that re-
lating to Yorton.—Ipsa Acclesia tenuit et tenet Lartune. Ibi 11
hide geldabiles. Terra est 1111 carrucis. I1bi Presbyter et unus
Villanus cum 1 carrucd. Valuit vii solidos ; modo (valet) v solidos.!
These Manors must be taken to be equivalent to modern Broughton
and Yorton, places which now form one Parish (viz. Broughton) in
the Liberties of Shrewsbury. That Parish, I can have no hesitation
in saying, was anciently a Chapelry of St. Chad, and the Domesday
Priest of Yorton probably served a Church at Broughton.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255, says that ““the Dean and
Canons of St. Chad, Salop, hold nit hides in Burhton and Iyarton
of the fee of the Bishop of Chester. They owe no suit, and have a
Franchise, the Jurors know not by what warranty.””®* This passage
favours a former surmise, viz. that St. Chad’s Church held all its
Manors, both before and after the Conquest, immediately under the
Bishop of Chester.? We also see that while St. Mary’s Manor had
lost one or two of its Domesday hides, St. Chad’s Manor retained its
ancient complement.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279, says that * Broughton and
Yourketon are held of the Dean of St. Chad’s, Salop, in free socage ;”’
and that “ the Dean holds of the Bishop of Chester free of any ser-
vice.”

Or taE Socacers of St. Chad at Broughton and Yorton, the fol-
lowing notices are offered.—Alan de Burcton occurs as a frequent
witness of local Deeds, from about 1220 to about 1240 In one
instance he is followed by Reiner his son.* Martin de Burchton
occurs in similar positions, from about 1252 to about 1278, and
also on Juries of 1255, 1256, 1272, 1274, and 1277, the four first
being Juries of Pimhill Hundred. In 1262 he is named among the

! Domesday, fo. 268, a, 1. 3 Supra, Vol. V1. p. 285, note 1.
* Rot. Hundred. I1. 76. 4 Suprs, Vol. VIIL. p. 274
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Regarders of the Forest of Mount Gilbert. Martin de Burchton’s
wife, Elina, seems to have been an heiress to lands at Pitchford and
Acton Burnell, which lands they sold to Robert Burnell in 1272.!
At the Assizes of that same year, Martin de Burgthon recovered
5 acres in Burgthon, of which he had been disseized by Philip de
Paunton, Agatha his wife, Petronilla de Burgthon, Richard Puleby,
William Page, and Richard fitz William of Albrithton. Philip de
Paunton’s defence was that he had custody of the premises as the
nearest friend of (his wife) Agatha.

In Michaelmas Term 1282, Margery, widow of William de
Franketon, having first sued Richard Robuk, and Agnes his wife,
under writ of morte d’ancestre, for 2 nokes and 2 messuage in Yor-
thon, afterwards agreed that the Defendants, and the heirs of
Richard, should hold the premises; and Richard agreed to pay 10
merks to Alan Pride of Salop.

John, son of Martin de Burchton, was a Juror for Pimhill Hun-
dred at the Assizes of 1292. He was preceded on the list by Alan
de Burchton, who occurs also on Juries of the previous year. In
1308, Robert de Burcton attests a local Deed.

BrouenroNn Cmarer. Of this, as a mere Dependency of St.
Chad, we are not likely to hear much. Even the Officiating Minis-
ters of St. Chad’s itself received no institution from the Diocesan
Bishop till after the Reformation.

Some extracts from a Valuation of the estates of the Collegiate
Chaurch of St. Chad, taken after its dissolution in 1547, will form
a fitting conclusion to this Chapter.—The Church, Glebe, tithes,
and profits of St. Margaret of Broughton, were fermed by Roger
Bromeley, of Broughton, and Joan his wife, under lease of the late
Chapter, dated April 8, 1543, and terminable with the life of the
surviving Lessee. Bromeley was bound by the said lease to pay
24s. rent to the Dean of St. Chad; 6d. for annual synodals; £4.
6s. 8d. to an officiating Chaplain; £6. 16s. 8d. rent to the general
funds of the College ; and 16s. 8d. rent to four of the Prebendaries,
for the tithes of Yarton. The only other receipt which the Chapter
had from this estate, besides Bromeley’s rents, was 5s. 4d. rent from
lands at Yarton. One of the Prebends of St. Chad was called the
Prebend of Yarton, but its endowment was not wholly in Yarton,
and it was divided among four Prebendaries. ¢ The said Churche
of Broughton ” (added the Surveyor) “is a Parishe Churche in the
Countrie.” The late Dean and Chapter having had all the tithes

) Supra, Vol. VI. p. 180.
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of the “ towne ”’ of Broughton and Yarton, had had it in charge to
provide a curats to minister there, but now Roger Bromleye’s lease
bound him to find the said Curate, and to pay the other rents above
specified.!

Bicton,

We may now proceed with those other estates in Bascherch
Hundred, which Domesday exhibits as held from Saxon times by
the Church of St. Chad.—Ipsa &cclesia tenuit Bichetone. Wiger
tenet de ed. Ibi 11 hide geldabiles. In dominio est 1 carruca, et 111
Villani, et unus liber homo cum 11 carrucis ; et alie 11 (carruce) pos-
sent esse. Valuit x solidos : modo (valet) xv solidos.?

At the close of the 12th century Bicton was held wholly under
St. Chad’s Church by one William de Bicton, possibly a descendant
of Wiger, the Domesday Tenant. Of this William we have already
had several notices in 1174, 1199, and 1203.2 The Pipe-Roll of
1209 records an amercement of 6s. 8d. against William de Bikedene
quia retrazit se. It was probably another William de Bykedon,
who hy a Fine levied at Huntingdon on Nov. 5, 1247, concedes 24
virgates in Bykedon to Nicholas, Abbot of Buildwas, whereof had
been Plea of Warranty. He “ concedes the land, with the site of a
Grange, and with 3 seilions, near the Manor-house (curiam) of Gil-
bert fitz William, and with a road from Bykedon into the King’s
Highway, which went from Moneford bridge to Salop; and with
heather for the Abbot’s Granges at Mole (Monk Meole) and at
Bykedon.” There had been an actual suit, tried at Cambridge in
the previous month, to oblige William de Bykedon to give the above
warranty. He had been declared in contempt of the Court for hesi-
tating to appear, and all his lands had been seized by the Sheriff.
Hence I suppose an amercement of Gs. 8d. recorded in the Pipe-
Roll of 1250, against William, son of Thomas de Bykedone, quia
retrazit se® In October 1250 and October 1251, I find notes of a
cause wherein the Abbot of Buildwas was trying to compel William
de Bykedon to observe the Fine levied at Huntingdon. Henry de

\ Hist. Shrewsbwry, 11. 202-208. 74, 106, 167 ; Vol. VIL p. 172.

2 Domesday, fo. 268, a, 1. 4 Abbrev. Placitorum, p. 125.
3 Supra, Vol. I1. 66 n.; Vol. VI. pp. % Rot. Pipe, 34 Hen. I1I, Salop.
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Wynesbury and Roger de Wendelawe (probably Onslow) were Wil-
liam’s Sureties, but the Court ordered his appearance to be secured
by better Sureties. Hence perhaps another amercement of 6s. 8d.
aguainst William de Bykedon, pro defaltd, recorded on the Pipe-Roll
of 1252. In 1255 William de Bukedon was dead, and the Pimhill
Hundred-Roll states that “ his heirs hold 111 hides in Bukedon of
the fee of St. Chad, Salop, and have a franchise ;—the Jurors knew
not by what warranty.”? I have shown under Oaks that the heirs
of William de Bicton were his two daughters Isabella and Margery,
and that Isabella became the wife of Thomas, son of Richard
Gourdin.®

Now Richard Gourdin, Isabella’s father-in-law, is set down on
the Assize-Roll of 1256 as one of twelve knights of Pimhill Hun-
dred who had made some default and were in misericordid. It is
probable that he had the wardship of Isabella, and married her to
his own son. He himself however occurs on Juries of Pimbhill
Hundred in 1255, 1256, 1272, and 1274. In the last instance he
is expressly styled Richard Gurdin de Bykedon, though it is certain
that his son, Thomas, had already married Isabella.?

I can trace nothing more of the interest of either of these coheirs
of Bicton. The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that “ Wilhel-
mus quondam Dominus de Bicton fenet (read temuif): Bicton de
feodo Sancti Ceddi, Salop.” In the Nomina Villarum of 1316, the
Dean of St. Chad’s himself is entered as Lord of the Vill of Bike-
don. These general expressions show only that the parties record-
ing them were ignorant of details.

Recurring to the year 1247 we have seen that besides William
de Bicton, Lord of Bicton, there was one Gilbert fitz William hav-
ing a Curia, or Manor-House, and probably a co-ordinate tenure in
the Manor. Also, there was a William Bykedon, a Recognizer in
1256, in a trial which concerned Great-Sleap (in this Hundred). It
was doubtless the son of this last William whom we have seen as
“ Thomas, son of William de Bikedon,” to have been enfeoffed in
land at Bicton, before 1272, by Margery, one of the Coheiresses
above named.*? Again Thomas de Bykedone was one of the Jurors
of Pimhill Hundred at the Inquest of November 1274. Lastly we
have a Deed, said, or implied, to have passed after the statute of
mortmain (1279), whereby “ Thomas, son of William de Bikedone,
gives to Buildwas Abbey all the land which he had, or should be
able to have, in the Vill of Bikedone, with the Houses, &c., appur-

! Rot. Hundred. 11. 76. 2 Supra, Vol. VI. p. 168.
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tenant thereto, the Monks paying to the Dean of St. Chad’s 5s. 6d.
yearly, and doing suit to the Dean’s Court. Witnesses,—Sirs Hugh
Burnel (obiit 1286), John de Lee, Adam de Lacy, Adam de Mont-
gomery, and Richard de Leghton, knights; Engilard de Polileg,
Thomas, Clerk of Bykedon, Reginald de Roshal, Roger de Hopton
(Query, Horton ?), and others.”?

There was once an Inquest of 14 Edw. I. (1285-6) which related
to the acquisition of lands in Bikedon and other places by the Abbot
of Buildwas.2 It is very probable that this Inquest was a correla-
tive of the above Deed, and it is quite certain that, at the period,
such an Inquest would naturally be required as a preliminary to any
relaxation of the Statute of Mortmain.

At this time a moiety of the Seigneury of Bicton was in the
hands of Geoffrey Randolf, a thriving Burgess of Shrewsbury, of
whose father, William, I have said something under Newport. He
had apparently acquired it from that very Thomas fitz William
whom we have just seen giving the fee of an estate at Bicton to
Buildwas Abbey. On May 8, 1288, this Geoffrey, styling himself
“ Geoffrey Randulf de Novo Burgo, of Salop” (that is, Geoffrey
Randulf of Newport, resident at Salop), gives to Buildwas Abbey
the capital messuage of the vill of Bikedone, with the curtilage be-
longing thereto, and with all seigneuries (dominiis), liberties, &c.,
_pertaining to a moiety of the seigneury (dominationis) of the vill of
Bykedone ;—to hold in frank almoign, rendering to the Dean of
St. Chad the due and accustomed service for the moiety of the said
vill. Moreover the Grantor intends that the Monks should hold
the premises in the way specified by a Charter made to himself, by
Thomas, son of William le Styward. Witnesses,—Sir Robert Cor-
bet, Thomas de Roshal, John de Lee, and John de Arundel, knights ;
John, Lord of Hanewode, John le Waleys, Reginald de Roshal, and
Roger.de Hortone.?

Geoffrey Randolf next occurs as actual Tenant or occupant of an
estate at Bicton, the Seigneury whereof was in Buildwas, and the
Fee of which he purposed to give to the Abbey. A Writ of Jan. 18,
1291, orders it to be ascertained by Inquest, whether Geoffrey Ran-
dolph’s design of giving 2 messuages and 60 acres in Bykedon to
the said Abbey was injurious to the Crown? The Jurors replied
that Geoffrey held the premises under the Abbey, and the Abbey
held under St. Chad’s Church. Geoffrey’s service to the Abbey

"1 Blakeivay's Parochial Notices (in Bibl. 2 Calend. Inguis. Vol. 1. p. 92.
Bodl. Oxon.), Vol. I. p. 78. 3 Monasticon, V. 368. Num. x.
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was 15d. per annum. His plan would not injure the Crown, except
that, so far as he had been liable to serve in Assizes, Juries, and
Inquests, and (when resident at Bicton) to attend the Dean of St.
Chad’s Court of Frank-pledge, these services would now be lost.
He had other lands in the town of Shrewsbury and elsewhere, which
would still oblige his attendance on Assizes, &c. ; so that the Coun-
try would not endure any unusual burden by the removal of his
liabilities in respect of Bicton.! A Patent of November 12, 1291,
gives Geoffrey Rondulf the required license, viz. to convey a mes-
suage and 80 (sic) acres in Bykedon to Buildwas Abbey.?

It would next seem that an expression in Thowmas de Bicton’s
Charter of 1285-6 (as to giving to Buildwas, lands which he might
obtain in Bicton) was not mere technical verbiage. On November
25, 1291, a Fine was levied whereby John son of John le Vileyn of
Salop (Impedient), surrenders to Thomas de Bygedon (Plaintiff) 2
messuages and 1} virgates in Bykedon ; to hold of the Lords of the
Fee. This Fine purports to be the result of a Plea of Warranty,
and the consideration (a sore hawk) makes it probable that it was
levied only for security of title.

How much of the acquisitions of Buildwas Abbey at Bicton is
recorded in the Tazation of 1291 I cannot say. The Abbot had 2
carucates of land here, valued at £1 per annum. The profits on his
live stock were £3. 10s.; and the assized rents of Bykedon were 3s.
Total £4. 13s.3 .

A word more about Geoffrey Randolf and Thomas de Bikedon.
The former served as one of the Bailiffs of Shrewsbury six times
between 1290 and 1323 ; the latter was in the same oftice no less
than twelve times between 1273 and 1319. In 1296 we have
Geoffrey Randolf as a Benefactor of the Augustine Friars of Shrews-
bury.* In 1308 Geoffrey Randolf (acknowledging certain rents as
due from himself to Wombridge Priory, for premises in Shrewsbury)
styles himself  Geoffrey Rondolf of Salop, son of William Rondolf
of Newport.” Thomas de Bekedon, then Bailiff of Salop, stands
first witness of these acknowledgments.®

Two Bicton Fines levied October 6, 1801, may be by Under-
tenants of Buildwas Abbey, or by immediate Tenants of St. Chad.
—“Reginald de Rossall and Isolda his wife enfeoff William Hawe-
lithe and Juliana his wife in a messuage and 21 acres in Bikedon,

1 Inguis. 19 Edw. 1., No. 64. 4 Inguis. 24 Edw. I, No. 87. .
? Pat. 19 Edw. L m. 1. ¢ Wombridge Chartulary, 7Tt Salop.
3 Pope Nich. Tazation, p. 261. Numbers I. I11.
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to hold to the Grantees and the heirs of Juliana, under the Lords of
the Fee.” The same “ Reginald and Isolda enfeoff Reginald’s son
Reginald, and Amicia his wife, in 2 messuages and 21 acres;—to
hold to the Grantees and the heirs of Amicia under the Lords of the
Fee.” 1In each case the Feoffees pay 20 merks for the Fine.

In the Valor of 1535, the Abbot of Buildwas acknowledges
£4. 3s. 4d. as his assized rents from Bykton.! The Ministers’ Ac-
counts, a few years later, repeat the item as “ the Ferm of lands and
tenements at Byketon.”

At its Dissolution in 1547 it does not appear that St. Chad’s
College retained anything at Bicton except tithes. The tithes of
Bicton and Calcot furnished £1. 14s. towards the endowment of
one Prebend of St. Chad and 12s. to the endowment of another.

Little Roggpall.

Tais was another of St. Chad’s Domesday Manors.—

Ipsa ecclesia tenuit et tenet Rosela. Ibi 1 hida geldabilis. Duo
Radmans cum vi1 Bordariis habent 111 carrucas et dimidiam. Valuit
viil solidos. Modo (valet) xv solidos?

At the Eyre of 1203, there was a Grand Assize between William,
a Priest (of the one part), and Ralph de Roshal, Godith his wife,
and Aldith, Godith’s sister (of the other part), concerning half a
virgate in Parva-Roshal. The Jury found that the better right
was in Ralph, Godith, and Aldith. The Priest was declared in
misericordid, and amerced half a merk, for which Robert de Girros
became Security.? But a postscript to this Plea is its most curious
feature.— Thomas de Beverley hath put in his claim diversely
(apposuit clameum suum diverse), because neither Plaintiff nor
Tenant has right in the said land, and because that land, and his
(Thomas’s) right therein, pertains to the Prebend which he holds in
the Church of St. Ch:

The Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that “ William Terum holds one
hide in Roshall Parva, and it is of the fee of St. Chad, and he has a
Franchise, the Jurors know not by what warranty.’*

! Valor Koclesiasticus, I1I1. 191. of 1204 -gives William Presbyter as

2 Domesday, fo. 253, a, 1. amerced half a merk pro falso clameo.
3 Assizes,6 John, m. 4. The Pipe-Roll ¢ Rot. Hundred. 11. 75.
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By a Fine of January 27, 1256, Alan fitz Robert (tenant of a
messuage and half-virgate in Parva Roshale) gives 6 merks to
Adam fitz William and his wife Alice, who surrender a claim which
Alice had laid to the premises, under a previous Writ of mort d’an-
cestre. Half a merk was paid by the Plaintiffs for license thus to
terminate their suit.

- The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 gives Robert Blecheley as hold-
ing Rossa Parva in free socage, of the Church of St. Chad, and by
arent of bs. per annum. 1 am unable to trace any descent, from
one to another, of the above tenants in Little Rosshall: nor can 1
say whether the following were Tenants in Little or in Great
Rosshall. —Reginald de Rossall attests Bicton Deeds in 1285 and
1288, and was living in 1301, when he sold land in Bicton to his
son Reginald, and his son’s wife Amicia, with an entail on the heirs
of Amicia. Alan and Reyner de Roshall were Jurors for Pimhill-
Hundred at the Assizes of 1292, and sat on an Ellesmere Inquest in
1309. Hugh de Roshall was Chief Bailiff of Pimhill Hundred in
1292. Stephen de Roshall occurs as Attorney in a Bicton Fine of -
1301, and as a Witness nearly 40 years later.!

One of the prebends of St. Chad was called the Prebend of Rossale.
At the Dissolution of the College in 1547, Little Rosshall furnished
£]. 11s. 4d. of the income of its Prebendary, viz. 4s. 8d. from
lands, and £1. 6s. 84. from tithes, both farmed by Thomas Styrre.

Onslow,

A parT of this Manor was in Bascherch Hundred and was of the
Domesday Fee of St. Chad.—Ipsa @cclesia tenuit et tenet Andrelau.
Ibi 1 hida geldabilis. Wasta fuit. Ibi 11 Villani habent 1 carrucam.
Valet 1111 solidos.®

The Domesday distinction, which placed Robert fitz Corbet’s
share of Onslow in Ruesset Hundred and St. Chad’s share in Bas-
church Hundred, endured for centuries, the former share remaining
in Ford Hundred, the latter in Pimhill. Now however the dis-
tinction is destroyed by both shares having been absorbed by the

! Suprs, pages 65, 68. 2 Domesday, fo. 258, s, 1.
& 22
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Liberties of Shrewsbury. As the same Feoffees held both parts of
Onslow in the 13th century, I cannot be sure that all the following
notes relate to St. Chad’s share. In part they are supplementary
of what has been said of the other share.!

In Easter Term, 1209, William fitz Ralph appears as Essoignor of
William de Bikedon, who had a suit of mort d’ancestre against John
de Haldeslawe. Roger de Onslow has lately occurred to us in 1250
as Roger de Wendelawe.?

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 gives Roger de Ondeslanwe
as second of the Jurors, who reported (infer aliz) that “he held a
hide of land in that Hundred, of the Fee and Liberty of 8t. Chad.””
At the Assizes of 1256 he was again on the Jury for Pimhill Hun-
dred, but in 1272 and 1274 he, or another of his name, officiated
in a like way for Ford Hundred. He occurs on a Meole Jury in
1273.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that Roger Onslow holds
Oaslow, of St. Chad’s Church, by service of 4s. Meantime, that is
in July 1259, I find Richard de Ondeslane charging the Prior of
the English Hospitallers with disseizing him of a tenement in Eyar-
ton. Eyarton I suppose to be Yarton, but I cannot say what the
Knights Hospitallers had obtained there, nor do I find the Ons-
lows afterwards concerned in the Manor. .

In 1292 there appears to have been some distinction in the Te-
nants of the two parts of Onslow; for while John de Ondeslauwe
was a Juror for Ford Hundred, William de Ondeslawe was Juror
for Pimhill.

On February 28, 1543, the Dean and Chapter of St. Chad de-
mised all the revenues of their College (except the tithes of Brough-
ton and Yorton) for 61 years, and on terms for which I refer else-
where,* to Humphrey Onslow, Esq., of Onslow. It is worth ob-
serving that neither this Lease, nor the Survey of the Revenues of
St. Chad’s (taken at its Dissolution in 1547) makes mention of any
part of such revenues as arising from Onslow itself. St. Chad’s
share of the Manor seems in fact to have been both rent-free and
tithe-free.

i Supra, Vol. VIL. pp. 171-178. I 3 Rot. Hundred. I1. 76.
% Supra, page 165. * Hist. Shrewsbwry, Vol. II. p. 201.
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Preston Gubbalvs.

As we are speaking of ecclesiastical Fees, we will proceed ‘with
the only Manor in Baschurch Hundred which Domesday assigns to
the Church of St. Alkmund, Shrewsbury.—Ipse ecclesia tenuit et
tenet Prestone, et Godeboldus de ed. Ibi 1111 hide. In dominio est
una carruca; et 11 Villani et 111 Bordarii, et 11 Francigene cum 11
carrucis ; et alie 11 carruce adhuc possent esse. Wasta fuit. Modo
valet x solidos.! Of Godebold, the Priest, whose name still ad-
heres to this locality, I have said enough elsewhere. Among the
Confirmations to Lilleshull, that of King John, in August 1199,
best shows that Preston Gubbalds had, like other estates of St.
Alkmund, passed to the Abbey. It confirms Preston and Lee con-
secutively, and lower down on the list comes Preston-juxta-Mone-
ford. The first Preston was Preston Gubbalds; and Lee (near
Pimhill) was a member thereof. An early Rent-Roll of the Abbey
gives Preston Gubald as producing £1. 5s. 9d. in Michaelmas Term,
and 16s. 2d. in Lent Term, while the Chapel of Preston Gubald
produced 13 merks (£8. 13s. 4d.) yearly.

At the Assizes of 1221 the Jurors of Shrewsbury complained
how Anian de Preston, who had committed larceny and been cap-
tured with his booty upon him, had been committed to gaol till
the Abbot of Lilleshull demanded to try him in his own Court.
Being the “ Abbot’s man,” he had been given up, but the Jurors
knew not how he had been dealt with.

A Fine levied October 20, 1227, may possibly belong to Preston
Montford, though I think that I rightly insert it here.—‘“ Hugh de
Alminton and Alice his wife, Tenants of half a hide in Preston,
surrender the same, for themselves and the heirs of Alice, to Wil-
liam, Abbot of Lilleshull, who gives them 54 merks.” The Pim-
hill Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that “ the Abbot of Lilleshull holds
nu hides in Preston-Gubald, and it pertains to St. Alkmund’s
Church, and is of the Fee of the King.”® In 1279 the Pimhill
Tenure-Roll says that “the Abbot of Lilleshill holds the vill of
Preston with its members of the King in capile, and it is geldable
and pertains to the Church of St. Alkmund, Salop.”

! Domesday, fo. 253, s, 1. 2 Rot. Hundred. 11. 75.
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Preston Gobald is coupled with Rosshall, and said to be held by
Thomas de Roshall, in the Nomina Villarum of 1316. I cannot
explain this, but have no evidence to prove that Thomas de Roshall
did not hold it under the Abbot.

The Valor of 1585 evidently includes the Lilleshull receipts from
Preston Gubbalds in the £26, said to arise from the Vill of Salop.
The Ministers’ Accounts (after tbe Dissolution) are more distinc-
tive. £16. 13s. 4d. was the ferm of the vill of Preston Gobalds,
while the Salop rents were under £7.1

PrestoN GusBaLps CHumcH, however ancient, was probably
never reputed more than a mere dependency of St. Alkmund’s till
after the Dissolution. The Incumbents, or rather Ministers, of such
Chapels have of course no place in Diocesan Registers. Church
Valuations are equally silent as to their emoluments.

LEA nNear PIMHILL, Now LEAHALL.

. T have spoken of the Shropshire Lees under localities and with
interests too numerous to recapitulate. The chief branches of one
family are traceable to a common birthplace and origin.—

REeINER DE LiE, who purchased Alderton in or about the year
1196, and who served as Deputy Sheriff of Shropshire in 1201,
was previously Tenant-in-fee of the Abbot of Lilleshull in that
member of Preston Gubbalds which gave him hisname. From him
the place was anciently called Reyner’s-Lee ;—as in an old Rent-
Roll of Lilleshull Abbey, where 2s. 2d. is put down as the ferm of
Lee Reineri, due at Michaelmas, and 2s. as the ferm of the same,
due at Midlent.* The Lilleshall Chartulary further supplies the
following statement, apparently an extract taken from some Inquest
of the time of Reiner de Lee.—* The Jurors say that Reginald de
Lee holds the vill of Lee of the Abbot of Lilleshull, and it pertains
to the vill of Preston Gobalt, and he pays to the Abbot 4s. 4d. for
all (services). The same Reginald holds one carucate in demesne,
which is worth 20s. per annum. Item, Roger de Lee holds half a
virgate in the same, in villeinage, of the demesne of Reginald; and
it is worth in rents and other manorial services (operibus) 5s. per
annum.”?

We have seen that about 1220-60 Sir Thomas de Lee (son of
the above Reyner) gave to Reyner, his younger son, the whole vill
of La Lee subtus Pebenhul® The next allusion to this estate is in
50 Edward III. (1376-7), when William de La Lee gives to Roger,

! Momasticon, V1. 265. ? Chartulary, fos. 93,112. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 800.
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son of John de la Lee of Pemenhull, and to Johanna his wife, all
the lands and tenements which he had in the vill of Lee juxta Pres-
ton!

William de la Lee, thus mentioned, must be taken either as a
Tenant surrendering, or a Trustee entailing; for Roger de la Lee,
the Grantee, was Great-great-grandson and right heir of Reyner de
Lee, the Feoffee of 1220-60.. The joint settlement on Joanna,
wife and afterwards widow of the said Roger, resulted at her
death (Sept. 18, 1400), in an Inquest, finding that “ she had died
seized of a messuage and carucate of land in La Lee, which she had
held of Robert Lee of Roden by service of one penny per annum.”’$
I should explain that Robert de Lee of Roden, thus mentioned as
Mesne-Lord of Lee, was descended from a son of Thomas de Lee,
older than Reyner, the son and original Feoffee of the same Thomas.
Hence probably the mediate right of Robert. However, as he had
married Petronilla, daughter and heir of his distant kinsman (Roger),
and of Joanna (Roger’s wife) the two interests in Lea became recon-
solidated in the persons of the said Robert and his descendants.? -

CuerrtoN. I have already set forth an Inquest (circa 1200-20)
which gives some idea of the value and extent of a certain member
of Preston-Gubbalds called Cherloton.* An early Rent-Roll of
Lilleshull Abbey describes the same estate by a name which I can-
not account for, but which was evidently used to distinguish it from
Cherlton near Shawbury.—The Abbey was in receipt of 2s. at Mi-
chaelmas, and 1s. at Midlent, from tke land of St. Elstrud of Chorle-
ton, or the land of Chorleton Sanctz Elstrud’.

Bestord,

GeRrARD DE TorNar held two Manors in Baschurch Hundred.
Domesday describes Besford as follows.—Jlsdem Gerardus tenet
Betford, et Robertus de eo. Oschetel ef Dodo tenuerunt pro 11 Man-
eriis, et liberi homines fuerunt. Ibi 11 hide geldabiles. Terra est
111 carrucis. In dominio est una, et 111 servi et 11 Villani, et 11

! Harl. MS. 1398, fo. 258. 3 Vide supra, Vol. IX. pp. 294, 295.
3 Inguis. 2 Hen. 1V., No. 85. I 4 Supra, Vol. VIII. p. 219, note. .
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vidue femine cum 1 carrucd. T. R. E. valebat v11 solidos, et post
v solidos : modo xx solidos.} '

Robert, the Domesday Tenant of Besford, may have been an-
cestor of the later Lords of Shawbury; though he had no Domesday
interest in Shawbury. Nigel de Shawbury and his son Robert,
both living in the reign of Henry I., were successive Lords, not
only of Shawbury but of Besford, and of that part of Preston
Brockhurst which we shall see to have been always associated with
Besford. Consequently we find Shawbury, Besford, and this part
of Preston, often combined as one Manor. The three last Lords
of Shawbury of this line were Wido de Shawbury (murdered in
1200-1) and his brothers, Nigel and Richer. We can prove their
connection with Besford in particular, by their grants to Haugh-
mond Abbey.—* Wido de Saubery gave to the said Abbey, in sup-
port of the Conventual Infirmary, his Mill of Besford, with the
Vivary thereof, reserving to himself and his heirs a certain preced-
ence as to grinding their corn, and of grinding it toll-free.” Nigel
and Richer, brothers of the said Wido, confirmed his grant in sepa-
rate Charters. When King John, on the forfeitare of Richer de
Shawbury, granted Shawbury to Thomas de Erdinton, Besford and
part of Preston passed as mere appurtenances. We have more
than one proof of this; for instance, Thomas de Erdinton’s widow,
in 1227, released her dower not only in Shawbury but in Besse-
ford ;* also Besford and Preston were more or less involved in that
great suit of *‘ Erdinton versus Audley,” which I have detailed at
length under Shawbury, and which lasted from 1236 to 1239. We
shall have further proof in the sequel that Erdinton, as Lord of
Shawbury, continued also to have the Seigneury over Besford and
part of Preston till 2 much later period. But I must now speak
more exclusively of Besford and of the family which came to hold
it in fee under the Lords of Shawbury.—

WiLLiaM GRIFFYN, towards the close of the 12th, or the begin-
ning of the 13th, century, attests Ada de Beauchamp’s Charter to
Stone Priory, a Charter to which T have already made incidental
‘reference.! Late in the year 1200 William Grifin gave King John
30 merks and a Palfrey ““ that he might hold the Serjeantry of the
Staffordshire Hundred of Pirehill in fee ;> that is, he fined for the
Bailiwick of the said Hundred, to be held hereditarily, and as a
Serjeantry, under the Crown. William Griffin had, I think, two

! Domesday, fo. 259, a, 1. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 874, note 1.
3 Supra, Vol. VIII. p. 189. ¢ Oblata, page 81.
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sons, Geoffrey, a Clerk, and Bertram. The two presumed brothers
will be found attesting Henry de Audley’s Foundation-Charter of
Hilton Abbey in 1223.! It is further apparent of—

BerTraM GRIFFIN, that Henry de Audley enfeoffed him in Bes-
ford. This must have been between the years 1218 and 1236, that
is, during the period while Audley (as was afterwards proved) held
Shawbury and its appurtenances wrongfully. Hence it was that,
when in 1236 Giles de Erdinton sued Henry de Audley for Shaw-
bury, he also sued Bertram Griffin for 10 virgates thereof; and
hence it was that the said Bertram instantly called Henry de Aud-
ley to warranty, and left him sole Defendant in the cause.

Of the two brothers, Bertram and Geoffrey, I suppose Bertram to
have been the eldest. He seems to have succeeded to his paternal
inheritance, viz. the Bailiwick of Pirehill Hundred, in 1228. A
Patent of September 5, in that year, certifies the men of that Hun-
dred that the King had received Bertram Griffin’s homage for the
same. When, in the year 1239, the suit of * Audley versus Er-
dinton >’ ended in Audley’s total discomfiture, and ejectment from
Shawbury, it appears that his loss involved his Feoffee. Bertram
Griffin continued no longer to hold Besford under Giles de Erdinton,
the restored Lord of Shawbury. But, at the close of the above
Trial, an incident occurred which requires explanation. Bertram
Griffin came forward and stated that, in respect of one virgate of
land, and the abutment of a stank, he was independent of either
party to the current litigation.? This meant, I think, that he had
not acquired the said virgate by feoffment of Audley, but in some
other way.—Now there was a virgate of land in Besford which
- some early Lord of Shawbury had given to Haughmond Abbey.
‘We have no Charter conveying the gift, but we have a Charter
showing the Abbot to have been in possession of the said virgate,
and to have given it to Geoffrey (not Bertram) Griffin, about the
year 1235.8 This affair, which was really part of an exchange, has
been already described. Sufice it to observe that ¢ Geoffrey Griffin,
Clerk, and Bertram his brother ” appear from their joint attestation
of a Deed, incidental to the transaction, to have acted in concert.
Thus far we have Charters to guide us. The next step is matter of
assumption. I conceive that Geoffrey Griffin, the wealthy Rector
of Edgmond, had made this purchase in Besford with a view to
consolidate his brother’s estate there, that he forthwith consigned
the said virgate to his said brother, and that the position which

! Monasticon, V. p. 716. ? Bupra, Vol. VIIL p. 142. 3 Supra, Vol. IV. p. 34.
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Bertram took up in 1239 was equivalent to a declaration that he
held this virgate neither under Audley nor Erdington, but by feoff-
ment of the Abbot of Haughmond.

We have seen that Geoffrey Griffin is said to have died in 1253.!
On May 24, 1254, the King’s Writ of Diem clausi¢ announces the
death of Bertram Griffin,—his brother. There were two Inquests
on the occasion. One describes his Tenure of Pirehill Hundred
and of the Manor of Cleyton, in Staffordshire, and says that Ber-
tram had died seized of 16s. rent in Besford and Preston (meaning
Preston Brockhurst), which rent he had held under Haghmon Ab-
bey. This Inquest puts the age of Geoffrey, son and heir of the
deceased, at 12 years on November 11, 1253. The other Inquest
states the said Geoffrey to be 10 years of age, and makes the tenure
of the deceased under Haghmon Abbey to be Aalf a virgate in Bes-
ford and Preston.?

On October 10, 1254, Philip Lovel, the King’s Treasurer, fined
100 merks for custody of the land and heir of Bertram Griffiu.3

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 is remarkably clear and ac-
curate about Besford.—* Egidius de Erdinton holds 2§ hides there.”
This was of the King’s Fee, and an appurtenance of Shawbury,
and was covered by the service of one knight, which Egidius owed
in wartime for his collective tenures in Shropshire. Besford did
no suit to county or Hundred, but paid 2s. for strefward and motfee
(. e. the sum proportionate to a Manor of 3 hides). Again ;—*in
the same fee the heirs of Bertram Griffin hold one virgate (. e. the
remaining fourth of the third hide), and this was frank almoign of
Haumon Abbey.””* I find no evidence of Geoffrey Griffin (II) re-
taining this small part of Besford. His mother Albreda was still
living at his death in 1283, and holding a third of Clayton and of
Pirehill Hundred in dower. His wife also survived him and was
entitled to dower in his estates. He died seized of considerable
property in Cheshire and Staffordshire, and, inter alia, of two-
thirds of the Serjeantry of Pirehill Hundred. Geoffrey Griffin
(III), his son and heir, attained the age of 21 years on June 24,
1284, :5>—but of this family, as no longer connected with Shropshire,
I need not give any further particulars.

To return to the main subject :—Henry de Erdinton gave all he
had in Besford to Roger Pryde, a rich Burgess of Shrewsbury, to

Suprs, Vol. IX. p. 128. 4 Rot. Hundpred. II. 75.

3 Inquis. 38 Hen. III., No. 36. § Inquis. 11 Edw. L., No. 15. The state-
3 Rat. Fisium (Excerpta), 11.196. ment as to the heir's age is prospective.
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hold in fee. Hence the Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 gives the
following confused but quite explicable account, which I transcribe
from the original, in order to make its errors apparent.—* Besford.
Rogerus de Pryde tenet Preston de Johanne de Chetwynd in capite
Henrico de Erdynton in capite. Predictus Henricus tenet dictam
villam de Domino Rege in capite et est membrum de Schawbere et
infra libertatem.”— :

The words which I have underlined are erroneous, those which I
have printed in Italics are marked as erroneous in the original by a
few transverse strokes of the Writer’s pen. The errors arose from
the Writer confusing Besford with part of Preston Brockhurst.
Take Besford alone and the corrected passage describes it accu-
rately.

After Henry de Erdinton’s death in 1282, the Seigneury of Bes-
ford formed part of the dower of his widow Matilda. The Tenure-
Rolls of 1284-5 say, one of them, that ¢ Besford is a member of
Schaurbur’ and is held of the King in capite, rendering to the King
7d. per annum.” The other Roll states more fully, and, I conceive,
more accurately, that “ Roger Pryde, a Burgess of Salop, holds
Besford, a member of Schawbere, in Pymhull Hundred, under Ma-
tilda de Erdinton.”

It will have been very shortly after this that—

RoserT CorBET OF MoRETON purchased the whole Manor of
Besford, and 2 merks annual rent in Shawbury, from the above
Roger Pride, who, of course by Corbet’s desire, conveyed the whole
to Corbet and his wife Matilda, conjuintly. Robert Corbet, not
content with being Tenant in fee-tail of Besford, resolved to get
rid of all mediate rights there, whether Erdinton’s or Pryde’s.
What parties he had to deal with, or how he dealt with subordi-
nates, I cannot tell; but he so negotiated with the Crown as that
he became Tenant-in-capite of Besford, holding it by service of one-
fourth part of a knight’s-fee. This was not, however, without some
previous trouble.—At the Assizes of October 1292, the Pimhill
Jurors presented that “ Henry de Erdinton, having been Tenant-in-
capite of the vill of Basseford, had sold it to Roger Pryde, to hold
under himself;’ and that “ Robert Corbet now held the vill.”
Robert Corbet, being summoned before the Court, petitioned that
he might be allowed to hold the vill in capite sine medio ; and he
gave half a merk that he might have respite in regard of doing
homage, till the next Parliament. His homage seems to have
been accepted by Edward I. before the end of the year. However,

X. ' 23 a
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on January 9, 1293, a Writ of Quo Waranto was issued against
him, for holding Placita Corone and wayf in his Manor of Beseford.
He appeared before the Justices (then in Staffordshire), denied
claiming wayf, but insisted on his right to determine, in his two
great Courts of the Manor, all such pleas as a Sheriff could ordi-
narily adjudicate upon in his Tourns. He said .that he had the
Manor, inclusive of this Franchise, by gift and feoffment of Roger
Pryde, whose heir, Richard Pryde, he now called to warranty. The
case was adjourned to be heard coram Rege on the morrow of the
Ascension.! On a still later day (June 25) Corbet failed to appear;
so the franchise in question was seized by the Crown.?

The Inquest on Robert Corbet’s death details the fact of his pur-
chase of Besford, and the conjoint feoffment of his widow Matilda.3
Hence the Inquest on Matilda’s death, in 1309, says that she was
seized of the Vill of Besford, which she held of the King in capite,
by service of a fourth part of a knight’s-fee.*

ParocHIALLY Besford is in the Parish of Shawbury. A Chapel
which tradition declares to have sometime existed at Besford was of
course a mere dependency of Shawbury.

Preston Brockhurst,

THis was a divided Manor at Domesday. The part which Gerard
de Tornai had, was that which we have seen subsequently connected
with Besford and Shawbury. It may still be distinguished from
the other part, as being in the Parish of Shawbury and in the
Hundred of Bradford North. Domesday describes it as follows :—
Isdem Gerardus tenet Prestone et Robertus de eo. Bertunt tenuit
et liber homo fuit. Ibi 1 virgata terre. Terra est dimidie carruce.
Wasta fuit et est.’

In the great trial of Erdinton versus Audley (1236-9) Roger de
Harpcote, as Tenant of 7s. rent in Preston, declined to be involved
with either Litigant.® We conclude that he or his Ancestors had

1 Quo Waranto, p. 716, b. 4 Imquis. 2 Edw. 1I., No. 84.
2 Coram Regs, 21 Edw. 1., m. 85 dorso. § Domesday, fo. 269, a, 1.
3 Inguis. 29 Edw. L., No. 45. ¢ Supra, Vol. VIIL p. 142.
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been enfeoffed, before the Seigneury over Shawbury and its mem-
bers came to Erdinton or to Audley, and we suppose his feoffment
to have been in Preston Brockhurst. In the Pimhill Hundred-
Roll of 12535, this part of Preston Toret (as it was then called)
stands as one-third of a hide ;—something more than its Domesday
measurement. It is distinguished as of the ““ Fee of Egidius de
Erdinton ;” that is, it was a member of Shawbury. ¢ Roger de
Preston held it under the heirs of Bertram Griffin, and it shared
the franchises of Egidius de Erdinton, the Jurors knew not by what
title.”! It is obvious that Bertram Griffin had held this estate
under Erdinton, and that he had acquired it, or rather the 7s. rent
which it implied, from Roger de Harpcote. Roger de Preston, the
tenant-in-fee and occupant, had probably continued undisturbed
during all the changes which had befallen his Seigneurs. He figures
on the Pimhill Jury-lists of 1255, 1256, 1272, and 1274, and also
as a witness and Juror in more local affairs. The same, or another,
Roger de Preston occurs about 1281, and in 1291 and 1293, under
circumstances which connect him with this tenure and neighbour-
hood. '
Meantime it is clear that Robert Corbet had acquired the mesne
lordship of this part of Preston, either directly from the heir of
Griffin, or, as parcel of Besford, from Roger Pryde. In fact, I rather
suppose, from Preston being confused with Besford in the Tenure-
Roll of 1279, that this part of Preston had been previously acquired
by Pryde from the heir of Griffin. When once Robert Corbet be-
came its Mesne-Lord we lose all notice of it as a distinct Manor,
for he was Lord also of Besford and of the other part of Preston
Brockhurst. Under one or other of those Manors we are therefore
to suppose that the few acres now under notice were henceforth
included. I am able indeed to give an instance where the very
estate in question is described as “in Besford.” In 1290, or before,
Roger de Preston had enfeoffed his son Bartholomew in 2 mes-
suages, one virgate, and 8 acres of meadow, all said to be in
¢“ Besseford.” Bartholomew had been outlawed for felony. The
usual rule was that the King should have any Outlaw’s estate for a
year and a day, and that then it should revert to the Outlaw’s
Feoffor. In the present instance the Coroners (Sir John fitz Aer
and Robert de Say) made the King’s year and day over to Robert
Corbet, on condition of his rendering account of the profits. An
Inquest taken pursuant to a Writ of Nov. 28, 1291, found Robert
! Rot. Hundred. I1. 76.
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Corbet thus seized of, and thus accountable for, the outlaw’s estate.!
As to Roger ‘de Preston (the Oatlaw’s Feoffor and father), the In-
quest notices him as living, but says nothing of the reversionary
right which I presume he had, or would have, on the expiration of
the year and day. Very probably he surrendered it to Corbet, who
was already his Seigneur; but of so trivial a circumstance we are
not likely to be informed.

I now turn to the other and greater part of Preston Brockhurst,
that which remains in Pimhill Hundred, and which was part of the
Domesday Fief of Turold de Verley. The Record describes it
thus :—Isdem Turoldus tenet Preston et Hunnit de eo. Ipse Hunni
et Uluiet tenuerunt pro 11 maneriis et geldabant et liberi fuerunt.
Terra est 11 carrucis. In dominio est una (carruca) et 11 servi el 111
Villani. Valebat, et valet modo x11 solidos® An .observation,
often made already, and varied by very few exceptions, tells us to
search for any Manor of Turold, among the Manors which were
subsequently held by De Chetwynd under Fitz Alan; and to search
for anything, held by Hunnit, the Saxon, at Domesday, among the
Manors which were afterwards held by the descendants of his
countryman, Toret. This Rule held good with Preston, which at
‘one time was called Preston-Toret from this very circumstance. 1
will speak fully of the Torets under Moreton, as well as say more
than I have hitherto done of their Shropshire heirs,—the Corbets
of Moreton and Wattlesborough. Meanwhile the following notes
refer exclusively to their estate at Preston.—

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that “Robert Corbet
holds 1} geldable hides in Preston Toret, and it is of the fee of John
de Chetewinde, and held, together with other lands in Shropshire, by
doing the service of half a knight’s-fee for 40 days at Oswestry.
The estate pays 6d. for moifee and streteward’ (6d. on each account,
I presume).? The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says as follows :—
Robertus de Preston tenet Preston de Johanne de Chetwynd in capite,
per servicium unius montaris per xv dies ad Album Monasterium tem-
pore guerre. Here we must understand Robert Corbet by Robert de
Preston, for I cannot find any mention of a Robert de Preston likely
to have been Corbet’s Undertenant here. The service of one Montar
for 40 days is equal to that of half a knight’s-fee for the same pe-
riod, and must be taken to have covered Robert Corbet’s liabilities
both for Preston and Moreton. The Bradford Tenure- Roll of 1284
well explains this, saying that “ Robert Corbet holds Moreton with

1 Inguis. 20 Edw. L., No. 68. = * Domesday, fo. 268,a, 1. 3 Rot. Hundred. 11. 75.
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its members, to wit, Preston, in Pimhill Hundred, and Evelyth, in
Brimstree Hundred, under Reginald de Chetwynd, who holds under
the King in capite, for half a knight’s-fee.”

The Inquest taken in 1301, on the death of Robert Corbet, values
Preston as a member of Morton; but this is all I can extract from
a very defaced document. It is sufficient to state that Preston
Brockhurst has remained for ages in a similar connection.

ParocHIALLY, Preston Brockhurst was in the Parish of Shaw-
bury. A part of it is now in Moreton Corbet Parish, but Moreton
Corbet itself was originally and ecclesiastically only a member of
Shawbury. '

Moreton Toret, now Moreton Corbet.

Domesday surveys this Manor as one of Turold de Verley’s, and
in the following words :—

Ipse Turoldus tenet Mortone et Hunnit de eo, cum fratre suo. Ipsi
tenuerunt (tempore Regis Edwardi) et liberi homines fuerunt. Ibi x
hida geldabilis. Terra est 11 carrucis. Ibi sunt (11 carruce) cum
v servis et uno bordario. Valebat x solidos. Modo (valet) xv1 s0-
lidos.!

Whatever were the misfortunes of Hunnit and his brother Ul-
uiet, it is certain that the descendants of their contemporary and
compatriot, Toret, succeeded to some of their estates, and it is also
certain that a lineal descendant of the said Toret is at this day Lord
of Moreton Corbet. These are terms in which very few Shropshire
estates can be spoken of. It is therefore becoming to trace so an-
cient an inheritance with the greatest attention through the earlier
and darker period of its vicissitudes,

Or Torer BiMsELP, I have spoken elsewhere,® showing that he
was & Shropehire Landowner not only in the reigns of Edward the
Confessor and William I., but was surviving in the reign of Henry I.,
and was then holding, not his Saxon or. Domesday estates, but cer-
tain Manors under Robert fitz Turold, which Manors had previ-
ously been Hunnit’s, or Uluiet’s.

1 Domesday, fo. 268, a, 1. Vol. IV. p. 280; Vol. VI. pp. 83, 140;
? Bupra, Vol. II. pp. 46-49, 805, 308; | Vol. VII. pp. 809, 340, 378.
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Perer ritz Torer, who appears first in 1160, was more probably
the Grandson, or Great Grandson, than the son, of Toret. In that
year a donum of £46. 4s. 4d. was assessed on the greater Proprietors
of Shropshire. Peter fitz Tured’s proportion was a considerable
one, viz. 7. 8., but it was excused by a Writ of King Henry IL!
In 1167 the Demesne-lands of Peter fitz Torette paid an amerce-
ment of 6s. 8d., set upon them by Alan de Nevill (then Justice of
the Forest).? TUnder Lawley we have noticed Peter fitz Thoret, as
occurring in 1180.2 He attests Deeds of William fitz Alan (II), of
Madoc, son of Gervase Goch, and very many of Walter de Duns-
tanville (I). In these attestations, none of which can be accounted
later than 1194, he is often followed by his sons, Philip and Bar-
tholomew, one or both of them, and incidentally by & third son,
Walter.# Tt is further probable that Gerard fitz Toret, of Evelith,
was a fourth son of Peter fitz Toret.

- I suppose that Philip, the eldest of the above sons, died without
issue, and in his father’s lifetime. At all events it was the second
son,—

Barraoromew ri1z Torer, who continued the line. Of him I
have said something already,® but must now add, first that which
connects him more especially with Moreton-Toret, and afterwards
that which shows him to have been interested in other and very
distant counties.—

His attestation of a Charter which passed in or about the year
1196 is remarkable. He is called Bartholomew de Morton, and his
name is followed by that of Richard Corbet, who, after many doubts
on the subject, I hesitate not to say was already his son-in-law.

In the year 1214 I find Morton assessed 40s. to a King’s Tallage.
Tt is not certain that Morton-Toret was meant, but, if it was, there
can be no doubt that the impost arose in the contemporary confis-
cation of Bartholomew de Morton’s estates. A letter from the
Sheriff of Shropshire, written to King John soon after Easter 1215,
expressly names Bartholomew Turet as one of the only seven Salop-
ians who had been, and still continued to be, adverse to the King
in the existing civil war. On February 25, 1216, King John orders
William Earl of Pembroke to give Bartholomew Turet’s land and
Castle of Morton to Engeram de Pratellis, to hold during the King’s

1-3 Rot. Pip. V1.,18 Hen. IL. Salop. | in a coeval hand.
In the last instance the name was origi- 3 Buprs, Vol. VIII. p. 100.
nally written Peter de Torette, but the 4 Supra, Vol. II., passim.
word de was cancelled and fIJ. substituted & Suprs, Vol. II. p. 8306.
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pleasure.) A Writ of King Henry III., dated November 4, 1217,
certifies that Bartholomew Turet had returned to the fealty and
service of the Crown. Copies of this Writ were addressed to the
Sheriffs of five Counties, viz. Shropshire, Cornwall, Oxfordshire,
Leicestershire, and Yorkshire.?

Bartholomew de Moreton appears in his undoubted rank as a
Shropshire Knight in 1229. He was deceased in 1235, and was
succeeded, in Shropshire at least, by his Grandson, Richard Corbet
(IIT), son and heir of Richard Corbet (II), by Joan, daughter and
coheir of the above Bartholomew.

I must now pass to a distant County, to show how some at least
of Bartholomew Toret’s scattered possessions had accrued.—

BertraM HaeEer, of Helagh (Yorkshire), lived in the reign of
Stephen.—With Faricius, his brother, he attests the Foundation
Charter of Sallay Abbey;—a House which had its beginning in 1147,
under the auspices of William de Percy.® About the same time Ber-
tram Haget gave a Hermitage and some land in the wood of Helaghe
to Gilbert, a monk of the French House of Marmontier. The ob-
ject was of course to found a Monastery. Among the Witnesses of
the grant were Pharice Haget and others of the Grantor’s family.¢

GeorrreY HacET confirmed his father’s grant, in a Charter which,
from the names of its witnesses, I know to have passed between the
years 1161 and 1184. The Church of St. John de Parco (after-
wards known as Helagh Park) was, at the date of this Charter, in
existence, and Gilbert (the above-named Monk of Marmontier) was
at its head. The Deed is attested by Ralph Haget, Geoffrey’s
brother.® Neither Geoffrey Haget nor his brother, Ralph, left any
issue. Geoffrey’s heirs were his four sisters, Lucia, Alice, Gundred,
and one unnamed, but who married Alan fitz Brian (of Bedale).
Gundred Haget died without issue, so that her share of her brother’s
estates, consisting of lands at Baynton, was divisible among her
three sisters. Lucia Haget in the original partition had Wighall
and Esdike. This Lucia was the wife of Peter fitz Toret and the
mother of his son Bartholomew.® It is clear that the son took his
name from his maternal grandfather, Bertram Haget. Alice Haget,
apparently the third sister of Geoffrey, had Helagh, and married
John de Friston. Her only daughter and heir, Alice, married

! Rot. Patent. p. 168. bers. I. II.  Ralph Haget was apparently
? Rot. Claws. 1. 378. a Monk. He became Abbot of Fountains
3 Monasticon, Vol. V. 512. IL. in 1190, and was deceased in 1208.

4% Monastioon, Vol. VI. p. 488, Num- 8 Monasticon, V1. p. 438, Num. IV.
X. 24
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Jordan de St. Mary; and a Charter, which the said Jordan and
Alice expedited jointly to Helagh-Park Priory, has the attestation
of Bartholomew Thuret.! This Charter undoubtedly passed in or
about the year 1219. We now return to—

BartHOLOMEW TORET, as our principal subject. If he had suc-
ceeded his father before 1196 it is indirectly evident that he had
succeeded his mother before 1205. In that year he fined no less a
sum than 20 merks in composition of King John’s sixth scutage.
The debt was assessed and paid in Shropshire in that and the fol-
lowing year ; but Bartholomew Toret had no Tenancy in Shropshire
which could have subjected him to such a liability. I must conclude
that it was his mother’s inheritance which made him thus important.

There are three Counties besides Shropshire and Yorkshire* in
which I have endeavoured to trace the origin and destination of
Bartholomew Toret’s interests. I have had very partial success.
His estate in Leicestershire, from whomsoever derived, was probably
that estate at Houghton which we find afterwards in Corbet of
Moreton.® What he had in Oxfordshire I cannot discover. In
Cornwall he held one of those lesser Fees which were techmically -
known as “Fees of Moretain.” The only allusion to this tenure,
which I can find, places it in Strefon. It was assessed in the year
1235 to the Aid on marriage of the King’s sister, and the Roll
clearly shows that Bartholomew Toret was deceased at the time,
for the estate is described as “unum feodum minutum quod fuit
Bartholomei Toret in Streton.”’# It was perhaps his feudal connec-
tion with Dunstanvill which introduced Bartholomew Toret to this
distant county. I must now correct some former mistakes,® and
state that it was—

Ricrarp Comser (II) of Wattlesborough, who married Joan,
danghter, and, in her issue, coheir of Bartholomew Toret. The said
Richard is he who occurs from 1196 to 1217, and he was probably
son of the Richard Corbet of 1180. He seems to have died before

1 Monasticon, V1. 489, Num, V., 4 Testa de Nevill, p. 201. On page 187

2 Bertram Thoret had a sister, Lucia,
who appears to have shared largely in his
Yorkshire estates (M8, Cotton. Vespas.
A. IV. fos. 19, 20, 21, 29). She was de-
ceased in 1264, and was then represented
by her son aund heir, Ranulf de Albo Mo-
nasterio. In 1284 Reginald de Albo Mo-
nasterio was head of this family.

8 Supra, Vol. VII. p. 103, note 14.

of the same Record Bertram fitz Thorold
is entered as holding a knight's-fee in
Stranton (apperently in Devonshire).
Stranton can hardly be identical with
Streton (in the text) ; but the entry con-
cerning Stranfon is very inconclusive, both
as to the County and the Fief which pur-
port to be under notice.
# Vol. 1L p. 807; Vol. VII. p. 102.
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his father-in-law, Bartholomew Toret, and it was probably his son
and Bartholomew’s grandson who, as ““ Richard, son of Richard
Corbet,” granted to Buildwas between 1217 and 1225.! In fact,
we have had good proof that the wife of—

Ricaarp Corser (III), and the mother of Robert Corbet, was
not a Toret, but a Lady named Petronilla, who is said to have
brought with her estates at Booley and Edgbolton.?

Of RoBerr Comrser, I have some further particulars not as yet
given. On March 1, 1254, Giles de Erdinton sues him for disseiz-
in, viz. for depriving the said Giles of common pasture in Morton
and Preston. A second Writ on the same business issued on July
80, 1255. Giles de Erdinton was Lord of Shawbury, Besford, and
part of Preston Brockhurst.

At the Inquest of Bradford Hundred, taken in 1255, Robert
Corbet appears as Lord of Morton. It contained one geldable hide
(the Domesday estimate). It consisted of half a knight’s-fee (in-
cluding Preston, I think) of the Fief of John de Chetewynd. It paid
4d. yearly for stretward, but nothing apparently for motfee, and it
did suit every three weeks to the Lesser Hundred-Court.?

At the Assizes of January 1256 Robert Corbet officiated as a
Juror for Bradford Hundred. His suit with Giles de Erdinton was
tried. Giles claimed the right of common, above alluded to, in
respect of his tenure at Besford. It was a right throughout 40
acres of moorland in Morton and Preston. Corbet maintained that
@iles and his ancestors had had no such right, except on payment
of certain acknowledgments in the shape of corn and poultry ;* but
Erdinton asserted a free right,® and Corbet was convicted of the
Jisseizin.

Robert Corbet’s tenure of Morton cum membris, as exhibited in
the Bradford Tenure-Rolls of 12845, has been quoted under Preston
Brockhurst.®

Robert Corbet has not yet been noticed as Sheriff of Shropshire.
He served that office for the. quarter ending Michaelmas 1288 and
for the year ending Michaelmas 1289. On the Assize Roll of 1292
he is mentioned as one of those Sheriffs who had served since 1272,
and were still living. On this Assize-Roll Moreton Corbet is at
length described by that name. Robert Corbet’s exercise of Free-
Warren there, was presented by the Bradford Jurors, as was his like
privilege in Preston Toret, presented by the Pimhill Jurors. His

! Suprs, Vol. VII. pp. 102, 108. 4 «“Nisi pro arruris et gallinis dandis.”

2 Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 824, 825. § “Sine aliquo dando.”
3 Rot. Hundred. 11. 55. ¢ Supra, page 127.
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defence about Preston was exactly that which we have seen him
offer about Evelith, viz. that it was a member of Moreton Corbet,
and so included in the King’s Charter.! This defence held good for
Preston, but not for distant Evelith.

A Patent of December 4, 1295, appoints Sir Robert Corbet and
Master Adam Gest,? Clerk, to be Assessors and Collectors of the
eleventh and seventh in the County of Salop. The Inquest on
Robert Corbet’s death sat at Moreton on Synday, January 15, 1301.
The passage about Moreton itself is sadly defaced. It was, with its
members, held by knight’s-service under John de Chetwynd. John
de Wrothe, who had held some parcel of the Manor under Robert
Corbet, had enfeoffed the said Robert and his wife Matilda, con-
jointly, in the said parcel.? I do not find that Matilda retained the
same till her decease. I pass over Thomas Corbet,* son and heir of
Robert, to—

RoserT Corser (II), son and heir of Thomas. He was born
Dec. 25, 1304, and was consequently under 12 years of age when
the Nomina Villarum of 1816 merks him as Lord of the Vill of
Moreton Corbet. In 1326 he was still without the degree of knight-
hood. His public life was nearly coextensive with the long reign of
the third Edward, for he died on Dec. 8, 18756. Pursuant to a
‘Writ of Nov. 26, 1355, an Inquest reported that Robert Corbet’s
wish to have view of frank-pledge in Moreton Corbet would only
injure the Crown to the extent of about 8s. per annum, which was
the average amount of amercements incurred at the Sheriff’s two
Tourns by Corbet’s men, for breaches of the assize of bread and beer,
for bloodshed, Aomsoken, and forestall.®

This Robert Corbet purchased Shawbury from Giles de Erdinton,
but without that Royal License which was necessary to the transfer
of a tenure in capite. On Oct. 30, 1859, he had petitioned the
Crown to excuse this act, and to allow him to enfeoff Hugh, Vicar
of Shawbury, and William, Parson of Upton, in the same, who,
being seized, were to settle the Manor on Robert Corbét, Elizabeth
his wife, and their heirs. The matter was referred to an Inquest
ad gquod damnum, which reported the Manor to be held by half a
knight’s-fee, and to be worth £3. 6s. 8d. per annum, and not more,
seeing that it had already, by Royal License, been dismembered of
several tenants.®

! Vide supra, Vol. TI. p. 808, 4 Supra, Vol. VIL., p. 107.
2 Rector of Idsall (Vol. II. p. 836). § Inguis. 29 Edw. III., 2nd Nos., No. 19.
3 Inguis. 290 Edw. 1., No. 45. ¢ Ingwss. 38 Edw. ITI., 2nd Nos., No. 42,
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On April 16, 1368, a Fine was levied, whereby Hugh le Yonge,
Clerk, Thomas de Lee, and Hugh Parrok, Vicar of Shawbury
(Trustees), settle the Manor of Moreton Corbet on Sir Robert
Corbet and Elizabeth, his wife, for their lives, with remainder to
their son, Fulk, and the male heirs of his body, with remainder to
Roger, Fulk’s brother, and the heirs of his body, with ultimate re-
mainder to the right heirs of Robert Corbet.

An Inquest, held on May 25, 1369, found Shawbury to be held
in capite for a sixth of a knight’s-fee, and to be worth 100s. per an-
num, and that it would not damage the Crown if Robert Corbet, of
Morton, and Elizabeth, his wife, were to convey the same to Thomas
Gery, Vicar of Morton, and Thomas Lee, of Sondbache, who were
to entail the same, as we shall presently see it was entailed. The
Inquest found, moreover, that Moreton Toret and Boleye would
remain to Robert Corbet, and that Moreton was held of John de
Chetewynd’s heir by knight’s-service, and was worth £10 per annum,
and that Boleye was held in socage of the Abbot of Salop, and was
worth 40s. per annum.!

In October 1371 a Fine was levied, whereby Thomas Gery, Vicar
of Morton, and Thomas de Lee, of Southbache, settle Shawbury
Manor on Sir Robert Corbet and Elizabeth, his wife, for the longest
of their lives, with remainder to Fulk, their son, and his heirs male,
with remainder to Roger, Fulk’s brother, and his heirs male, with
remainder to the right heirs of Sir Robert. This Fine was levied by
Precept of the King.

But the Inquest on Robert Corbet’s death (presently to be cited)
will best show the extraordinary manner in which he settled his es-
tates. I should premise that he had three sons, Thomas, Fulk, and
Roger. All three are said to have been the sons of his wife Eli-
zabeth, but indeed, were there not some proof of that fact, I should
have supposed that Thomas (certainly the eldest son) was by a pre-
vious marriage. Thomas died long before his Father, leaving an
only daughter, Elizabeth, born about 1357, and married, in or be-
fore 1875, to Sir John de Ipstones. It was evidently the object of Sir
Robert and Elizabeth Corbet to disinherit this Elizabeth, Robert’s
granddanghter and right heir. The Inquest, ordered December 11,
1875, and taken January 9, 1376, gives the said Elizabeth as Robert
Corbet’s heir, but also gives a list of his estates and their entails,
which shows to how little she can have succeeded. I give the sub.
stance of this list in as concise a form as its interest will permit.—

1 Inguis. 43 Edw, III., 2nd Pt., 2nd Nos,, No. 63,
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SHAWBURY ;—Manor ;—held as in the Inquest of 1869, entailed
as in the Fine of 1371.

BracyNTON ;—Hamlet ;l—settled by a similar Fine to the like
uses ;—held of the Earl of Stafford as Lord of Caus.

WarrLessoroueH, HevE, AND BrEDESHULL ;—Manors ;—settled
to the like uses ;—held of the Earl of Stafford.

HeMME ;—Manor ; —settled to the like uses ;—held of Adam de
Peshale, as Lord of Idsall.

KyYNWARTON ;—20s. rent ;—settled to the like uses ;—held of the
Lord of Wattlesborough [i. e. of the deceased, himself).

StIRCHLEY ;—20s. rent and 8 dwts. of gold ;—held of the Earl of
Arundel ;—settled to the same uses.

Morron Corser ;—Manor ;—held of Richard de Peshale, as
Lord of Chetwynd ;—no entail stated.

Harrcore ;—held of Robert de Ferrers, as Lord of Wem, by
service of 8s. rent,—no entail stated.

HasperLEY ;—held by knight’s-service of Hugh Earl of Stafford,
as Lord of Caus ;—no entail stated.

RowroN aAND AmastoN ;—held of Nicholas Burnel, by service of
£9 rent ;—no entail stated.

Brercarey ;—Manor ;—held of the Lord of Stoke-upon-Tern,
by service of 12s. rent ;—settled on Robert Corbet (deceased) and
Elizabeth, his wife, conjointly, with remainder, after death of the
survivor, to Roger, son of Robert, and the heirs of his body, with
remainder to Fulk, brother of Roger, and the heirs of his body, with
ultimate remainder to the right heirs of Robert Corbet.

LawrLey ;—Manor ;—held of Peter de Eyton by service of bs.
rent ;—settled to the same uses.

SHREWSBURY ;—8 messuages, 20 acres of plough-land, and 6
acres of meadow, held in durgage ;—settled to the same uses.

Bxsrorp ;—Manor ;—held in capite by knight’s-service ;—set-
tled (by Fine with Master Richard de Longenolre, Parson of Nesse,
and Thomas de Morton, Parson of Cardeston) on Robert Corbet
(deceased) and Elizaheth his wife, conjointly, and for life of the
survivor, with remainder to their joint heirs, and ultimate remainder
to the right heirs of Robert Corbet.

SHAWBURY ;—3 messuages aud 5 bovates ;—held also in capile ;
settled to the same uses.

BausLEY ;—Manor ;—held of Fulk fitzs Warin, of Whittington,
by knight’s-service ;—settled to the same uses.?

! Vide supra, Vol. VII. pp. 106, 110. 1 Inguis. 49 Edw. IIL, No. 80.
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Furx Corsgr, son of Robert and Elizabeth, died on August 4,
1382. An Inquest was ordered on August 10, and held on Sep-
tember 7 following. He died seized of nothing in-fee ; nor had the
entails recited in the last Inquest operated in his favour in any ap-
parent case except that of the Manor of Shawbury. But entails,
not recited in the last Inquest, had caused him to die seized of
Moreton Corbet, Harpcote, Rowton, and Amaston; and these, it
seems, were entailed on him and his heirs male, with remainder to
his brother Roger and the heirs of Roger’s body. As to Wattles-
borough Manor, Heye Manor, Bredeshull Manor, Hemme Manor
(and with it the vill of Hinnington), Kynnerton vill, Stirchley, and
Habberley, these Fulk Corbet is now explained to have held, con-
jointly with Elizabeth, his surviving wife ;—with remainder to the
bodily heirs of himself and the said Elizabeth ;—with remainder to
Roger, Fulk’s brother, and the heirs of his body, with remainder
to the right heirs of Robert Corbet (Fulk’s Father). This, though
pertly inconsistent with the details of the former Inquest, is most
probably correct ; for there can be no doubt that the Manors, etc.,
last named, descended to Elizabeth, Fulk’s only child and heir,
who was born about 1375, was aged “7 years and upwards” at
her father’s death, and who afterwards married John, Lord of
Mowddy, and was ancestress, through the De Burghs, of the four
Shropshire families of Newport, Leighton, Lingen, and Mytton.

I have spoken of Fulk Corbet, only in respect of estates settled
on him by his Father. I forbear to enter on the intricate negotia-
tions which he and his brother Roger had with Robert de Harley
and his wife Joan concerning great estates to which the Brothers
had no hereditary pretensions whatever. The subject, although
carrying me far later than I wish to descend, must recur again
under Wentonor. Suffice it here to say that the said Joan was a
sister of Fulk and Roger Corbet, and that her husband, Robert de
Harley, appears to have been a mere simpleton.!

It is obvious in respect of Moreton Corbet, that the entail, set-
tled by the Fine of 1863, and recognized on Fulk Corbet’s death,
without issue male, must have conveyed that estate to his brother
Roger and his lineal heirs. The lineal descendant and representa-
tive of the said Roger Corbet is at this day seized of Moreton
Corbet.

I should say a word here about Elizabeth, granddaughter and

' He was surnamed jfalwus. Almost | amounts to an endeavour to settle his nu-
every mnotice which we have of him | merous estates in some abnormal msaner.
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right heir of Robert Corbet (II). She was still living when, on
March 10, 1394, the King’s Writ of Diem clausit announced the
death of Sir John de Ipstones, her hushand. Sir John died seized,
in her right, of the Manor of Besford, and of 8 messuages and 8
bovates in Shawbury, all which were held in capite ;—also of the
Manor of Bausley, held under Fulk fitz Warin, then in minority.!
This is much what we should have expected from the settlements,
cited under the Inquest of January 1876. I think that subsequently
all these estates were obtained from the heirs of Ipstones, by the
heirs of one or other of the two brothers, Fulk or Roger Corbet.

In conclusion, I should say something about Shawbury Manor
(as distinct from the 8 messuages and 3 bovates last mentioned).
The remainders specified in the Fine of October 1871, brought it
(on Fulk Corbet’s death without issue male) to the heirs male of
his brother Roger. Robert Corbet (III), son and heir of the said
Roger, settled it on himself, his wife Margaret, and the heirs of
their bodies, with remainder to his own right heirs. A Writ of
February 6, 1439, announces the death of the said Margaret, then
widow of Robert Corbet. An Inquest held at Bridgnorth on Nov.
12, 1439, found that the said Margaret had died seized in fee-tail
of Shawbury Manor, and with remainder, as last specified. Roger
Corbet (II), son and heir of the said Margaret and of Robert Cor-
bet, was the heir therefore of Shawbury Manor, and was now 24
years of age and over.?

MORETON CORBET CHURCH.

The earlier history of this Church, when it was called only a
Chapel, and when its subjection to Shawbury Church was again
and again the subject of Episcopal manifestoes, has been already
given® It is not quite clear that Moreton was one of those Chapels
which, with cemeteries attached, were consecrated by Bishop Clinton
(1180-1148) ; but it is clear that Moreton Church, with its Ceme-
tery, existed in his time, that he recognized its subjection to Shaw-
bury, and decreed that it should be assessed to Episcopal dues in
the ratio of a Chapel.# Bishop Peche, we have further seen, exempted
Moreton Chapel altogether from Episcopal Dues, and though he
described it as in the “fee of Peter fitz Toret,” he maintained the
supremacy of Shawbury Church, and therefore of the Canons of
Haughmond, over the Chapel. Hence we find that the Abbot and

! Ingwis. 17 Ric. II., No. 88: l % Supra, Vol. VITI. pp. 188, 146-148.
2 Ingwis. 17 Hen. V1., No. 4 ¢ Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 145,
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Convent of Haughmond had the Advowson of Moreton Corbet, and,
what is more, that they were obliged to present Incumbents thereto,
This reversal of their usual policy in respect of Chapelries may be
attributed to the continued vigilance of the Manorial Lords. It
often happened that though a Layman had founded and endowed a
Chapelry, his Successors allowed themselves to be cajoled by Mon-
astic Impropriators, and gave up both the services and the emolu-
ments due to the Chapel.

In neither the Valor of 1291, nor the Inquisition of 1341, are
the Chapel and Parish of Moreton Corbet treated as distinct from
Shawbury. In the Valor of 1535, Henry Busshopp, Rector of
Morton Corbet, stands with an annual income of £5. 6s. 8d., less
1s. 8d. for synodals, and 1s. 6d. for procurations.!

EARLY INCUMBENTS.

The Abbot and Convent of Haughmond uniformly presented the
following Incumbents. It will be observed that the Chapelry is
usually styled a Vicarage, though the change to a Rectory was
earlier than Henry VIIIL.’s time.

Huecr pe PrpreLowe, Deacon, instituted to this Vicarage Oc-
tober 20, 1300.

Rosert pE EariToN, Priest, instituted ““in the Chantry or Vi-
carage of this Chapel,” May 26, 1313. He resigned the * perpetual
Chantry of this Chapel ”” on Sept. 21, 1322.

Apam Ossary, of Tenbury, Priest ;—admitted Feb. 27, 1323 ;—
resigned this “ Vicarage ”” March 5, 1343 ; when—

Tromas pE MupLE was admitted. He died July 29, 1349
(probably of the pestilence).

RoBerr pE MoreEToN CorBETT, admitted to the Chantry of this
Chapel Nov. 22, 1349,

Rocer px AstoN, Priest, admitted Dec. 4, 1861, resigned 1363.

Troymas Cromp, Chaplain, admitted Dec. 22, 1363, resigned 1364.

Sie THOMAS GERY, Priest, admitted Oct. 7, 1364, occurs May 1,
1369.2

Taomas pe HorpeLEY, Priest, resigned 1369-70.

Joan Povryw, Priest, admitted Feb. 19, 1870, resigned 1372,

Ricaarp pE Moreron, Priest, admitted Dec. 22, 1372 :—ex-
changed on Jan. 7, 1882 with—

! Valor Ecclesiasticus, II1. 186. nical continuance of the style by which he
? He is mentioned as Vicar in a Finc of | was rightly described when ths process of
October, 1371, but that was a mere tech- | the Fine commenced (supra, p. 189).

X. 25
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TroMas SivverroN, late Vicar of Merston (Linc. Dioc.). Sil-
. verton resigned in 1382.

Henry D’ ADERLEY, Priest, admitted Nov. 28, 1382 ; —exchanged
on July 12, 1392, with—

Sir JouN SMERT, late Vicar of Knokyn. Smert resigned Moreton
Corbet in 1409.

Coolmere,

THis was one of the Manors which Norman Venator held at
Domesday under the Earl of Shrewsbury.—Isdem Normannus tenet
Colesmere. Aldiet tenuit. 1Ibi 11 hide geldabiles. Terra est 11mn
carructs et dimidie. In dominio est una ; et 11 Villani et 11 Bordaréi
cum dimidid carrucd: et 1111 hospites ibi reddunt xL denarios.
T.R. E. valebat X solidos. Modo (valet) xxx solidos. Wastam in-
venit (Normanus).! The general rules, often adverted to in these
pages, and most recently under Lee Brockhurst,® will again be re-
levant in the present instance. I repeat that Normannus Venator
was probably ancestor of the Pichfords; that Engelard de Stretton
was a Pichford, and obtained a great ascendency in the estates of
the elder line; and that De Burgh was heir general to Engelard
de Stretton. This will explain those several allusions to the Sei-
gneuralty of Coolmere, which must needs be made, while speaking
of the Tenancy.

I have adverted, under Harnage, to the singular fact that Hugh
de Lacy (afterwards Lord of Ludlow and Ewyas) was in the year
1155 styled “of Colemere.”® I suppose him to have been enfeoffed
here, during the period of his adversity, by a Pichford or by Enge-
la.rd de Stretton. And as Hugh de Lacy, when he became a great
man, surrendered Harnage to his brother, Almaric, so T think did
he surrender Coolmere to that William de Wootton whom we know
to have been his Tenant at Wootton (near Stanton Lacy), and at
Onibury, and at Walton.* Between the Manors of Coolmere and
Broom there was a Mill, sometimes called the Mill of Coolmere,
and sometimes the Mill of Broom. It was really in Broom, for

1} Domesday, fo. 269, a, 2. 3 Suprs, Vol. VI. pp. 78, 74.
? Supra, Vol. IX. pp. 861, 862. I 4 Supra, Vol. V. pp. 18, 56.
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before the year 1172 Engelard de Stretton (as Lord of Broom) gave
it to Haughmond Abbey. He also at the same time gave a hide
in Broom; and this grant was attested by William de Wudetune
{or Wootton), that is, by the very person who now, in succession to
Hugh de Lacy, was, as I think, holding Coolmere under the said
Engelard. It further appears that William de Wudeton’s own
Deed was necessary to secure the ahove Mill to the Abbey. He
“ concedes and gives the Mill of Brome, with half a virgate of land,
and with a toft on which Thomas, son-in-law of William Grinels-
huoll, dwelt. Witnesses,—Wido le Strange (deceased 1179), Hugh
Pantulf, Engelard de Stretton.””!

I suppose it was William de Wodeton (II), who at the Assizes
of 1203 got damages of 1s. against Reyner de Le and Roger de Leg,
for disseizing him of his tenement in Culemere. The Defendants
were further amerced half a merk.

Of Robert de Wodeton, son and successor of the last William,
I have spoken under Wootton and elsewhere; also of Robert’s
daughter and heir, Amicia, wife of Robert de Lacy. Between the
years 1246 and 1258  Robert de Lacy, Lord of Colemere, gave and
confirmed to Haghmon Abbey the whole Vivary of Brome, with its
appurtenances, lying between the land of Brome and the land of
Colemere, with the stanks, both upper and lower, and their abut-
ments on either side, and with the overflow (refullo) of the water,
and power to raise the stank one foot higher. The Canons may,
moreover, rebuild the Mill which they had possessed from ancient
time, in any more convenient place between the present stank and
the Grantor’s Great Mere of Colemere, with fosses and watercourse
from the said Mill down to the said Mere. The Grantor further
allows rights of common to the Canons’ men of Stokeyte (Stockett)
and Newton, throughout his tenement of Colemere. Witnesses,—
Sir Thomas de Rossall, Sir Vivian his son, and Sir Thomas de
Lee.”! King Henry III. included the above grants of Engelard
de Stretton and Robert de Lacy in a Confirmation of August 1,
1258. This brings us to the Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255, which,
just as we should expect from analogy, declares that * Robert de’
Lacy holds 11 hides in Colemere, which is of the fee of Bertram de
Burch (i.e. Burgh), by service of one-third of a knight’s-fee in wartime.
The Manor owed suit to County and Hundred; and paid 16d. for
stretward and molfee.’® The Jurors further represented that « for
a whole year Robert de Lacy had withdrawn the said suits.” He

! Haughmond Chartulary, Ti¢. Brome. ? Rot. Hundred. 11. 75.
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does not seem to have done it wilfully, but by compulsion of the
Bailiffs of Sir John de Grey of Ellesmere, who were injuring him with
repeated disfraints ;—I suppose to compel him to do suit to Elles-
mere Manor. “ The King was damaged to the extént of 3s. by the
withdrawal.” This entry on the Hundred-Roll is connected with
another document, which gives us not only the proximate date
when thoke Inquests were taken, but the names of the two Justiciars
who took them. On July 31, 1265, King Henry 1II., addressing
Philip Lovel, his Treasurer, and Nicholas de Haudlou, informs
them that “his faithful and beloved Robert de Lacy had complained
of the Royal Bailiff at Ellesmere, for exacting from the said Robert
other customs and services than he and his ancestors had been used
to perform for their Manor of Culemere.”” The Justiciars are there-
fore ordered by the King, that ““ as soon as they reach those parts,
Jor the purpose of taking the Inquisitions and Extents, already en-
Joined upon them, they inquire fully into this matter, and, on their
return to_Court, acquaint the King with the result ;—that the King
may cause justice to be done to De Lacy.”

The return to the above writ is necessarily much fuller than the
brief sentence which appears in the Hundred-Roll; but unfortus
nately the slip of parchment containing the return has been cut in
two, and one half is missing. The proceedings of the Justiciars are
however partly apparent. They empanelled a Jury of 42 persons,
viz. 12 freeholders from each of the Hundreds of Pimhill, Ford, and
Condover, and six knights. The finding of this Jury, in relation to
Robert de Lacy’s obligation to do any suit at Ellesmere, appears
to have been that he was not so bound, for that Colemere was held
by knight's-service under Bertram de Burgh, who held of the fee
of Albrithon (i. e. under De Pichford). Neither, it seems, was De
Lacy customarily bound to victual certain persons;—probably the
Castle-guards of Ellesmere. Also De Lacy’s complaint, that * the
King’s Bailiff had seized his boat and his nets in the Mere of
Culemere,” seems to have been recognized as well founded. He was
accustomed apparently to use such engines at all tintes of the year,
and a great portion of his estate consisted of the said Mere.!

In the Civil wars of 126456 Robert de Lacy’s loyalty did not
pass unquestioned. He was subsequently involved in some difficul-
ties, though he managed to escape forfeiture. He seems to have
consigned Coolmere to Peter de Montfort, who in turn sold it to
Hamo le Strange, one of the greatest Royalists of the period. The

! ! Forest Roll (at Westminster). Salop, No. 3, a.
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transfer, whatever its nature, was final, though it was at first im-
pugned by Robert de Lacy’s widow. In Easter Term, 1271,
“ Amicia, widow of Robert de Lacy, receded from a Writ de in-
gressu which she had brought against Hamo le Strange concerning
the Manor of Culemere, excepting a messuage and half-virgate.” I
suppose that Amicia, being herself heiress of Coolmere, had ques-
tioned the act of her late husband in alienating it, but had aceepted
some compromise of her claim. Within three years of this, Hamo
le Strange died, having first enfeoffed his brother Roger in Elles-
mere, Coolmmere, and Welch Hampton. His right to do this as re-
garded Ellesmere was doubtful; and so Adam de Chetwynd, Es-
cheator for Cheshire, seized all three Manors in manu Regis. On
this Roger le Strange petitioned the King (Edward I.), alleging
Henry II1.’s grant of Ellesmere to Hamo le Strange, the subse-
quent purchase of Coolmere and Hampton by the said Hamo, and
the ultimate feoffment of the Petitioner. The King, by a Writ
dated March 3, 1274, directed due inquiry to be made. The In-
quest, which followed, found that Henry III. had enfeoffed Hamo
le Strange in both Ellesmere and (Church) Stretton till 100 librates
of land could be provided elsewhere, that Hamo then purchased the
fee of Coolmere and Henton of Sir Peter de Montfort, and enfeoffed
his brother Roger in those two Manors as well as in Ellesmere;
and that Roger had been in seizin of all three, till the Escheator
ejected him. Lastly the Jurors said that Coolmere was of the fee
of Bartholomew de Burgh, and Henton of the fee of John fitz Alan.!

On June 7, 1276, a Fine was levied at Westminster, whereby
Roger le Strange (Deforciant) surrendered the Manors of Colmere
and Hampton to King Edward I. (Plaintiff). The King, in turn,
conceded those two Manors, as well as the Castle and Hundred of
Ellesmere, to Roger le Strange, for life only, with remainder to
the King and his heirs.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says that “ Roger le Strange
holds the Vill of Culmer under Bartholomew de Burgo by service
of one-third of a knight’s-fee in wartime.”

I have traced elsewhere the further career of Roger le Strange.?
In the Nomina Villarum of 1316, the Queen of England stands as
Lady of the Vill of Culmere Hampton.

! Inguis. 1 Edw. I., No. 87. 2 Supra, Vol. VIIL pp. 14, 15.
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Catone any Cheneltone.

Tre Domesday notice of Norman Venator’s Manor of Coolmcre
is immediatély followed by these entries,—both falling under the
marginal affix of Basckerch Hundred.—

Isdem Normannus tenet Estone et Fulcher de eo. Elnod tenuit.
Ibi 11 hidee et dimidia geldabiles. Terra est vi1 cerrucis. Wasta
Juit. Modo est ad firmam pro xxxvi solidos.!

« In Cheneltone est una hida que T. R. E. fuit wasta, et est.”!

Those analogies, which are usually the safest guides in identify-
ing Domesday Manors, fail us altogether in the present instauce.
Pimhill Hundred (the usual representative of Bascherch Hundred)
contains nothing which can be taken to tally in name with Estone
and Cheneltone. ‘The mention of Elnod, as Saxon Lord of Estone,
is without any associations. The Pichfords, everywhere else the
successors of Norman Venator, are not found with any such Manors
as Estone and Cheneltone in aftertimes, whether we look to Pimhill
Hundred or to any other part of Shropshire. As to Fulcher, the
Domesday tenant of Estone, he may have been the same Fulclfer
a8 he who held Easthope and Eaton (Mascott) under Rainald Vice-
comes; but this leads down to nothing, for that Fulcher does not
appear to have had hereditary successors.* It is profitless to say
more on such a question. We must dismiss Estone and Cheneltone
as two localities which, in the early vicissitudes of Border history,
were expunged from the map of Shropshire and from the memory
of man.

Slacheberie,

Tuis stands first of the Manors which Domesday assigns to Roger
Venator.—
Rogerius Venator tenet, de Rogerio Comite, Slacheberie. Aluiet

! Domesday, fo. 259, a, 2. ? Supra, Vol. IV. p. 117; Vol. VL p. 102,
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tenuit. 1Ibi 1 hida geldabilis. Valebat v solidos T. R. E. Modo
wasta est.!

This Manor, though now lost, was distinctly recognized in the
Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255, where it is named between Welch-
Hampton and Stanwardine-in-the-Fields. It is described in
the following terms.—* The Jurors say that William de Hochton
holds one hide of land in Slachbur’, and it is of the fee of Thomas
de Costentin. He (the Tenant) pays a yearly rent of 3s. ; he owes
suit to County and Hundred, and pays 8d. yearly for stretward.’”®
Lower down, and under their report as to Suifs withdrawn, * the
same Jurors say that William de Slachbur’ had withdrawn Suit
from County and Hundred for a year past, causing damage of 3s.
to the Crown.” This was owing to the same compulsory interfer-
ence of John de Grey’s Bailiffs at Ellesmere, as has been noticed
in the case of Coolmere. It is added to this notice that “the heir
was under age and in the King’s custody.”® I suppose that Wil-
liam de Hochton, alias de Slachbury, was the heir in question, or
the deceased father of the said heir: and that John de Grey, now
Custos of Ellesmere, not only claimed Slachbury as a member of
Ellesmere, but had, as a correlative, taken custody of the heir of
Slachbury as a ward of the Crown. Now, in any case, and even if
Slachbury was a member of Ellesmere, this seizure of a wardship
will have been derogatory to the rights of Thomas de Constantine,
the Mesne-lord. I further think that Slachbury was not, as yet at
least, a member of Ellesmere, and that Thomas de Constantine
must have held it under Roger Venator’s heirs, the Barons of Pul-
verbatch.  Observations, already made under Pulverbatch and
under Haughton (near Haunghmond), give to this idea a fair claim
on our acceptance.* After the year 1255 we hear no more of Slach-
bury. The attempt to anmnex it to Ellesmere, near which it evi-
dently stood, was probably successful in the end. It lost not only
its existence as an independent Manor, but, as far as I can make
out, its name; for none of the later members of Ellesmere were
known by any similar appellation.

! Domesday, fo. 259, a, 2. 4 Suprs, Vol. VI. p. 196; Vol. VIII.
13 Rot, Hundred. IL. 75, 76. p. 286.
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Brome, near Ellegmere.

Tae Domesday notice of Slacheberie (in Baschurch Hundred) is
supplemented as follows :—JIn isto Hundredo jacet Bruma de 1 hidd,
et pertinet ad Hantone, villam Alberti. Inde litigant homines Co-
mitis.

So the Domesday Commissioners, owing to a pending Lawsuit
among Earl Roger’s Vassals, could not specify the status of Bruma ;
and, while they classed it in Roger Venator’s Fief, they noted its
connection with Albert’s Manor of Welch Hampton. There can be
no doubt that Brome is now represented by Broom Farm, a place in
the township of Tetchill, and about two miles south-west of Elles-
mere. We should expect to find it in the 13th century, held either
by the Rosshalls, as descended from Albert, or by the Barons of
Pulverbatch, as descended from Roger Venator. But Domesday
does not tell us specifically who the Litigants of 1085 were. That
is a matter of which we must judge by results. Doubtless then one
of the Litigants was Norman Venator, and doubtless also he was
the successful one. Brome, in short, descended to his heirs, the
Pichfords, and was held under the Pichfords by that scion of their
House, whom we have so often heard of as Engelard de Stretton.
Richard de Pichford, elder brother of this Engelard, gave Brome to
Haghmon Abbey. This (as I have explained elsewhere) was before
the year 1157. The gift was registered and confirmed by Engelard
(the surviving brother of Richard de Pichford, and the guardian of
his heir) in terms which suggest that Engelard had a collateral in-
terest in the estate. His Charter runs as follows :— Oranibus
Sanctee Dei Ecclesie filiis, tam futuris quam presentibus, Engelardus
de Strettonid salutem. Notum sit universitati vestree me et heredes
meos concessisse et in perpetuam elemosynam presenti cartd confir-
masse Deo et Ecclesiee Sancti Johannis de Haghmon et Canonicis
ibidem Deo servientibus unam hidam terree, Brumam scilicet, quam
frater meus Ricardus, in vitd sufl prefatee Ecclesiee, me presente et
concedente donavit, liheram et quietam ab omnibus consuetudinibus
et exactionibus ad me pertinentibus. Addo etiam cum predictd li-
bertate molendinum de Colemere. Et si quando exercitus est duc-

! 'Daﬁladay, fo. 259, a, 2.
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endus, adquietabo predictos Canonicos de servicio quod prefata hida
Regi in tali necessitate debet, pro salute animee mez et uxoris mese
et heredum meorum et predicti fratris mei Ricardi et omnium an-
cessorum meorum. Testibus, Reginaldo Extraneo, Rogero Presby-
tero, Radulfo de Vernon.’?

In a subsequent Charter, attested by William de Wudetune, by
Hamo, son of John le Strange, and by William de Chestworthin,
Engelard de Stretton grants and confirms to the Abbey one hide of
land, viz. Brome juxta Elesmere, with its appurtenances. Pope
Alexander III., in his Bull of May 14, 1172, confirms to the Abbey
ex dono Engelardi de Stretton, Brome, et sedem molendini in eodem
Jeodo?

Of the Abbot of Haughmond’s subsequent possession of Brome
we have the following evidences :—About the year 1813 Thomas
de Gesenok disseized him of the estate, but at the Assizes held at
Ludlow in January 1319 the Abbot recovered it by exhibiting Enge-
lard de Stretton’s Charter and a Confirmation thereof by Henry II.
In 1327 the Abbot demises his Grange of Brome to Richard Orayle,
of Newton, near Ellesmere, for life; rent, 30s. In 1336 (as we
have seen) the Abbot had license to exchange Brome and other
lands near Ellesmere for lands at Haughton (near Haughmond) and
at Edgbold.® It will appear under Newton that the Abbot retained
certain lands near Ellesmere till the Dissolution.

Frelton Butler.

This was the only Manor in Bascherch Hundred which Helgot
held under the Norman Earl.

Isdem Helgotus tenet Feltone. Aluric, Lluuard, et Alchen tenue-
runé pro 111 Maneriis et liberi homines fueruni. Ibi 111 virgate
terre geldabiles. Terra est v carrucis. In dominio est una carruca,
et 111 Servi et 111 Villani cum 1 carrucd. Bernardus tenet de Hel-
goto. T. R. E. valebat xi111 solidos. Modo (valet) xv solidos.*

Whether the Butlers (who held Felton Butler from an early period
under Helgot’s successors) were lineal descendants of Bernardus,

! Haughmond Chartulary, fo. 40. ‘ 3 Supra, Vol. VIL. fo. 282.
* Harl, MS. 8868, fo. 11. 4 Domesday, fo. 258, b, 1.
X. 26
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the Domesday Tenant, is a question which I will only suggest. In the
Liber Niger, or Feodary of 1165, Hamo fitz Buteler is the recorded
Tenant of a knight’s-fee under Herbert de Castellis,! Helgot’s grand-
son. This Hamo fitz Butiler was doubtless identical with Hamo de
Felton, who appears on the Shropshire Pipe-Roll of 1176, as having
mortgaged his land for 11s. to one Orneus, a Priest. The Priest,
it seems, had refused to receive the sum advanced, when repayment
was offered ; so the King’s Justices ordered it to be paid to the
Sheriff of Shropshire, who handed it over to the Royal Exchequer.?

In 1180 the King’s Justices amerced the vill of Felton half a
merk, because it had neglected to investigate a case of homicide
(quia non fecit sectam de morte occisi).

The next Butler of Felton whom I can name was John, son of
Hamo, living apparently about the years 1205-1280. There was
a Hospital at Nesscliff, founded, I think, by the Stranges of Ness,
inhabited by Friars, and dedicated to St. Mary de Rocherio. Of
such a dedication I have nothing to say in the way of explana-
tion. What concerns us more is, that John Butler was a Bene-
factor of the said Hospital. I give an abstract of his Charters
thereto, premising that the Chartulary from which they are taken?
is by no means an accurate transcript of the Deeds which it affects
to perpetuate.—

“ Johannes Buteler filius Hamonis Butiler dedi in perpetuam
elemosynam Deo et Sancte Marie de Rocherio de Nesse, et fratribus
ibidem servientibus xi1 acras terrse, vidz. 1x acras quas Ricardus
Faber et Willielmus frater ejus tenuerunt, vidz. juxta viam quee
descendit de Bromhull* versus Vynelecot,® et 111 acras quas Hugo
Plumarius et Rogerus filius Ricardi Brun tenuerunt prope 1x acras
predictas, &c.—pro animi mef,—et animi Yllariee uxoris mez.
H.T. Hamone Extraneo, Radulfo de Pichford, Hugone Extraneo,
Widone de Perepond, Henrico la Thuke, Johanne de Funtenay,
Willielmo de Kinton, et m.a.”

Another grant, from the same to the same, gives—

“Pro salute animarum patris, matris, Illarizze sponsee, Roberti
fratris, et Roberti Butil’ ancessoris mei, totam terram meam, de

\ Liber Niger, 1. p. 147. Orneus, the Priest or Chaplain, has oc-

3 “Idem Viccomes r. c. de X1 sol. quos | curred to us before (supra, p 72). )
recepit de Hamone de Felton precepto 3 Acornbury Chartulary (In Cur. Aug-
justiciariorum, qui eos optulit Orneo | went.), Nos. ix., x.

Presbytero pro terrd sul quam habuerat ¢ Now Broom Hall;—N.W. of Felton-
in vadio, et noluit accipere. In. thro. | Butler,
lib’. E.Q E”— ¢ Now Willcot ;—S.E. of Great Ness.
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Cruce super Bromhul, usque ad sichetum de Halthewalle,—et inde
usque Evediche,—et inde per divisas inter Cronomos et terram de
Alreton ;'—per Blakelawesiche ;—per divisas inter terram de Felton
et de Alreton, usque ad Chechemore et deinde per alnetum de Lu-
telmor ;—per devisas inter terram de Felton Butiler et Winelicote,
usque ad vadum de Winelicote, et inde per alveolum aquez usque
ad molendinum, &c. ;—per filam aquee descendentis de Neunebrig,
et deinde totam terram meam a predicto filo aquee per divisas inter
terram de Felton Botiler et de Nesse, usque ad Edmeresburinesse,
et per divisas inter terram de Felton et de Nesse usque ad pre-
nominatam Crucem super Bromhul ;—salvA mihi, commun’ pas-
ture, &ec., et salvd mihi et heredibus meis de Wille de Nesse (sic)
viam eundum (sic) ad pasturam in locis provisis ab Holthewalle-
siche usque ad Evediche, et inde usque ad Cronemos. Et ego,
&c., talem communiam illis concessi et domui de Rochero et fra-
tribus ejusdem loci, &c., Reddendo, 3 solidos annuatim, unde 6 de-
narii sunt de firm4 molendini de Winelicote. Sed mihi et here-
dibus meis respondebunt de forinseco, pro tribus dimidiis virgatis
infra predictas divisas, sicut tres virgate terree in villi mef de Fel-
ton faciunt. H.T. Johanne Extraneo, Johanne Extraneo filio ejus,
Rogero Sei (sic), Johanne de Fontenei, Willielmo de Kynton, Ha-
mone Purcel, Johanne Sprenghose, Thoma de Toten’ et m.a.”

John le Botiler was apparently succeeded by another Hamo. The
Feodaries of 1240 give Hamo le Botiler as holding a Knight’s-fee
in Felton, under Thomas Mauduit.® In 1250 I find Hamo le But-
iler amerced half a merk pro falso clamore, and 20s. for some false
presentment. In 1255 he was one of the Jurors who made Inquest
of Pimhill Hundred, and reported that he himself held 8 virgates
in Felton, of the Fee of William Mauduit, doing knight’s-service
for 40 days at Montgomery in wartime. He did suit to County
and Hundred, but paid neither motfee nor siretward.® 1think that
Felton must have been the earliest Holgate Fee which was thus
charged with Castle-Guard at Montgomery. Afterwards the whole
Barony was so charged.

At the Assizes of 1256 Hamo le Botyler appeared as a Juror
for Pimhill Hundred ; but was pronounced in misericordid, with
eight other persons of knightly rank who had disobeyed an order of
the Justices as to making some perambulation.

At the Assizes of September 1272, and when now the Templars

1 Alderton, near Felton-Butler. 3 Rot. Hundred. I1. 75.
? Testa de Nevill, pp. 46, 48, 60. 4 Assizes, 40 Hen. II1., m. 2 dorso.
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were Lords of Holgate, they sued Hamo le Botyler in a Placitum
Servitii, viz. as to the services due from him in respect of a mes-
suage and carucate in Felton Botyler. The Master of the Templars
alleged that Achelard, a preceding Master, had been seized of the
service of a knight’s-fee, also of 40s. scutage (when a scutage was
levied at that rate per fee), also of suit every three weeks to the
Court of Castle Holgate. Hamo le Botyler, on the other hand,
maintained that he only owed two suits yearly to Holgate, and no
more knight’s-service than 40 days’ castle-gnard at Montgomery at
his own charges. He demanded trial by Grand Assize. The re-
sult was that he was acquitted of the suit every three weeks to
Holgate, but was found liable, not only to the services which he
acknowledged, but to the full service of a knights’-fee as well ; that
is, I presume, for scutages, and in excercitu. Each party to the
Cause was in misericordid.

Hamo le Botiler was Foreman of the Pimhill Jurors at the In-
quest of 1274, He seems to have held something under the Stranges
of Great Ness, and in 1276 was a Juror on the Inquest taken after
the death of John le Strange (IV). On January 20, 1278, a Fine
was levied, whereby Hamo de Felton Botiler (Impedient) grants to
his younger son, William, a messuage, 24 acres, and half a vir-
gate, in Kinge’s-Ness and Felton Botyler ;—to hold to William
and his heirs, paying 20s. rent to his father while living, and a rose-
rent to his Father’s heirs after his Father’s death ; and discharging
all capital services. The Master of the English Templars apposed
his claim to this Fine. On the same day Hamo le Botyler settled on
his younger son, John, estates at Aston near Twyford, Stanwardine-
in-the-Field, and Winnesbury, but was here also opposed by the
Master of the Templars.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279, with much error both as to
facts and words, says that “Felton Butler is held of Hamond
Bautler, of the Fee of William Madocke (Mauduit was meant) of Cas-
tle-Holegod, by service of one knight at Montgomery in wartime.”

By a Fine of July 1, 1283, Hamo le Botyler (Deforciant) gives
to William, his son (Plaintiff ), 6 messuages, 4 bovates, 2} virgates,
and 40 acres of land in Felton Botyler, Stanwordyn of-te-Feld,
Aston-juxta-Twyford, and Wynesbury, in the Valley of Montgo-
mery ; to hold to William and his heirs, paying 40s. rent to Hamo
for his life, and one Rose afterwards to Hamo’s heirs, and dis-
charging all capital services. A Sore-hawk was the ostensible con-
sideration for this grant.



SLEAP MAGNA. 205

Hamo le Botyller’s decease’was announced by a Writ of Diem
Clausit, dated January 11th, 1290. John, now his eldest son and
heir, was of full age, and was already entitled to estates at Wyns-
bury, &c., as settled by the Fine of 1278.) John le Botyler appears
on Juries, at Bicton and Besford, in January and December 1291.
1 shall also show (under Stanwardine-in-campo) that he was living
in October 1292. However he seems to have died soon afterwards,
and to have been succeeded either by a son, William, or by. his
younger brother of that name.

A Feodary, drawn up in May 1295, and enumerating the estates
of Philip Burnel, late Lord of Holgate, reports the Hamlet of Fel-
ton as held by William le Botiler, under the late Baron, and by
service of one knight. The tenancy was valued at £5. 3s. 1d. per
annum.®

“ Thomas le Botiler of Feltone” attests a Ness Deed in 1322.

Sleap Magna.

I BavE already given my reasons® for supposing the following
Manor of William Pantulf to have been in Bascherch Hundred,
rather than in Culvestan, to which the letter of Domesday would
assign it.—

Isdem Willelmus tenet Eslepe. Uluric tenuit (et) liber homo fuit.
Ibi dimidia hida geldabilis. Terra est 1 carruce. Ibi est unus liber

_homo cum 1 carrucd. Silva v1 porcis incrassandis. Valuit et valet
v solidos.* '

A Deed of the year 1221 (already recited under Nunneley) shows
how Hugh Pantulf’s and the Abbot of Shrewsbury’s estates con-
verged near to Sleap and Tilley.®

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255, says that *“ Robert de Besse-
lauwe holds two virgates in Slepe, of the Fee of Wem, and pays 16s.
rent yearly, and does suit to County and Hundred; and pays 4d.
(yearly) for motfee and stretward.’’®

1 Inguis. 18 Edw. 1., No. 18. 4 Domesday, fo. 257, b, 1.
2 Ingwis. 22 Edw. 1., No. 46-d. 5 Supra, page 186.
3 Supra, Vol. V. p. 1; Vol. X. p. 42. ¢ Rot. Hundred. I1. 76,
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We have already seen that Robert de Beslow held Beslow at or
" about this time, under the Barons of Wem.!

. At the Assizes of 1256, Reginald de Slepe sued Roger fitzs Wil-
liam, Thomas le Provost of Nueton, Roger le Waleys of Burwelton,
Richard fitz Hugh of Slepe, Hugh fitz Eddid of Iorthon (Yorton),
and eighteen others, for disseizing him of common-right in 200
acres at Byllemers (Bilmarsh). The defendants were men of John le
Strange, and claimed nothing save by his pleasure. They were
dismissed, and the Plaintiff took nothing.

Roger de Slepe occurs on a local Jury in 1274, but he may have
been of Little Sleap.

The Pimhill Tenure-Roll of 1279, says merely that ¢ Slepe Magna
is held of Ranulf Butler (then Baron of Wem) by service of one
Montar for 15 days at the Castle of Weme.” After this, Sleap
Magna becomes more or less involved with Wem. Being in the
Parish of Wem, it is now reputed to be in the Hundred of Bradford-
North, while Parva Sleap, being in the Parish of .Middle, still re-
mains in Pimhill Hundred. Thus the two may be still distinguished
by position, though the distinctive names of Sleap Magna and Sleap
Parva have ceased to be used.

Sudteleh.

ArreEr what I have said already® about this Manor of William
Pantulf, I can do little more than transcribe the notice which
Domesday takes of it.— Isdem Willelmus tenet Sudtelch. Asci
tenuit et liber homo fuit. Ibi dimidia hida geldabilis. Terra est 11
carrucis. Valebat v solidos. Modo reddit 11 solidos.”

As to the Saxon Asci, his name is a solecism in 'the Shropshire
Domesday. 1f, however, the name be identical with Alsi or Elsi,?
we should look for any tenure of Asci’s, in South, rather than in
North, Shropshire. Thus increasing the difficulty of the subject,
I am compelled to leave it.

! Supra, Vol. VIIL p. 41. 3 Vide suprs, Vol. I. p. 162; Vol. ITL.
? Supra, Vol. V. p. 1. p. 210; Vol. IV. p. 269.
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Jagdon,

In the original Domesday, the initial letters L and I are so very
similar, that perhaps the printed Copy (usually most accurate) errs
in calling this place Lagedone instead of Jagedone.! I venture to.
transcribe the Record according to this idea.—“Elduinus tenet de
Comite Iagedone. Ipsemet tenuit et liber homo fuit. Ibi dimidia
hida geldabilis. Terra est 1 carruce. Ibi est (scilicet carruca una)
cum 11 Bordariis. Valuit et valet v solidos.”?

Elduin, the Saxon, was probably dispossessed of his only Domes-
day Manor, not long after the Record was made. Instead of Jagdon
appearing afterwards as a Tenure-in-capile, it appears as a member
of Fitz Alan’s Fief, but held by a kind of Serjeantry.

Simon, son of William de Jagdon, occurs in 1204 ; Roger, Simon’s
son, from about 1215 to 1230. This Roger (as we have already
seen) bartered his estate at Jagdon, for land at Edgebold, with Vi-
vian de Roshall, to whom also he afterwards sold what he had thus
obtained in Edgebold.?

We have further seen that Roger de Jagdon’s mother, Emma,
remarried after Simon’s death, to William Banastre, of Hadnall,
whom she also survived.

It was early in the 13th century, and before Roger de Jagedon
alienated Jagedon to Vivian de Roshall, that he gave to Haghmon
Abbey a messuage and a croft of 3 acres in Jagedon, held by Robert
fitz Ingrit. Witnesses,—Simon, the Grantor’s son and heir; Ro-
bert de Gerros; Hugh Chaplain.* As we never hear afterwards of
the first witness of this Deed, and as he must have been very young
at the time of its passing, we may presume that he died in infancy,
and that thus the line terminated.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 gives Vivian de Roshall’s son
in full possession.—* Thomas de Roshal holds one carucate of land
in Jagedon, and it is of the Fee of John fitz Alan. He (Thomas)
pays, in time of war, to John fitz Alan, one vessel full of potherbs,
with three dishes of meat.”’

! A similar mistake is perhaps made in 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 324.
the case of Yarton ;—printed Lartune in- 4 Haughmond Charty., 75¢. Jagedon.

otead of Tartune (supra, p. 162). 8 ¢ Unam ollam plenam ollerarum cum
2 Domesday, fo. 239, b, 2. tribus ferculis de carnibua.”



208 LEATON.

A Fite.Alan Feodary of the year 1272, seems to have mentioned
Jagedon, between Henton (Welch Hampton) and Roshall! In
March 1272, a more legible Record states that, Thomas de Roshale
was holding Roshale, Jagedon, and Hanton, for 24 knights’-fees, in
the Barony of Oswestry, and that his services were assigned to the
Crown, pending the minority of his Suzerain, Richard fitz Alan.?
The Inquest on Thomas de Roshall’s death in 1311, reduces Yake-
don to the position of a mere member of Rosshall.?

The place is now lost, but perhaps the situation, and something
of the name, are traceable in a spot now known as Agdon’s Lane,
which lies North of The Isle, and near to it, though on the other
side of the Severn.

F eaton.

Domesday notices this Manor in the following terms.—

 Anschitil tenet Lelone de Comite. Hunni tenuit et liber homo
Juit. Ibi 1 hida geldabilis. Terra est 11 carrucis. In dominio est
una (carruca), et ibi sunt 11 hospites, reddentes 1111 solidos et viit
denarios. Valuit vi11 solidos. Modo (valet) x solidos.”’*

The next that we hear of Leaton is, as a tenure in capite, by
Serjeantry, and as held by a family which took its name from the

lace.
d GiLBERT DE LETON, one of this family, has been seen attesting a
Hadnall Deed, before the year 1201.5

At the Assizes of October 1203, we have—

ApanM pE LETON essoigning his attendance at the common summons.
He also appears in 1211 as holding his land by service of doing
ward at Shrewsbury Castle with his Balista. He was to serve 8
days at his own charges, but if he stayed there longer, it was to be
at the King’s expense.® To this Adam succeeded—

Rocer pE Leton, his son, who is found attesting a local Deed
about 1240-50. When (about March 1247) Robert Passelewe
visited Shropshire, for the purpose of detecting and assessing, all

! Calend. Inguis. Vol. I. p. 40. ¢ Domesday, fo. 259, b, 3.

2 Claws. 56 Hen. III., m. 4. ¢ Supra, page 46.
3 Supra, page 91. 8 Testa de Nevill, p. 55.
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alienations of Serjeantries, he found that of “ Roger, son of Adam
de Leaton, to be by 15 days’ service at his own cost, in wartime, at
Shrewsbury Castle.”” His balista was to be taken thither as before.
He was still to discharge this service, and further to pay 40d. yearly
to the Crown, for 5 bovates, alienated from his Serjeantry, and now
held under him by one William fitz Warin.! The Pipe-Roll of 1250
charges him (the said Roger) with 84 years’ arrears of this debt.

The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 makes Leeton to be one hide
of land, but represents Roger de Leeton’s Serjeantry to be commuted
for an annual rent of 40d., payable to the King’s Escheator. Roger
de Leeton and William fitz Warin of Leeton were two of the Jurors
who made this return. Roger de Leeton owed suit to County and
Hundred, and paid 8d. yearly for stretward and motfee.® Another
part of this return contains a difficulty. The Record says that
“ Nicholas de Hasting’ holds in the same (Leeton) one hide of land,
not geldable ;3 and it is of the fee of William Panton, of Cublesdon.
1t is held by payment of half a merk annual rent, and the Tenant
has a Franchise, as he says, through the Abbot of Salop, but the Jury
are ignorant of his warrantry.” As this tenure had really nothing
to do with the Domesday Leaton, 1 leave it to a subsequent page.

Roger de Leton was a Juror for Pimhill Hundred at the Assizes
of 1256, and sat on a Hodnet Inquest in September 1257. The
King’s Writ announcing his death bears date November 25, 1262.
The Inquest which followed, found him to have died seized of 4
virgates in Leeton, held by service of 40d. per annum.® Adam, his
son and heir, was now 82 years of age.*

Petronilla, Roger de Leeton’s widow, married Elyas de Stokes,
of whom we have heard before.® This was without the King’s li-
cense ; but it seems that the Escheator, Master Richard de Clifford,
hushed the matter up for a bribe of 20s.6

Apaym pE Leyron (II) sat as a Juror for Pimhill Hundred at the
Assizes of October 1272. He was deceased before January 6, 1278,
when John fitz Aer, as Escheator, seized his land (4 bovates at
Letone) and held it till June 24 following.” The Hundred-Roll of
November 1274 records how an extortionate Officer, Stephen de
Bitterley, had exacted 6s. 8d. from Adam de Letone, when he first

! Testa de Nevill, p. 59. Domesday hides (supra, pp. 107, 109).
* Rot. Hundred. 11. 76. 4 Inguis. 47 Hen. III., No. 2.
3 I think this hide was a part of Monks 8 Supra, Vol. VII. page 280; and Vol.
Albrighton, which the Hundred-Roll re- | VIIL., page 64.
presents as having lost one of its three 6-7 Rot. Hundred. 11. 103, 108.
Xx. . 27
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had seizin of his land, though such seizin had been given by the
King ; and how Master Roger de Crofte had exacted a like sum from
Adam’s widow, Amicia, when he gave her seizin of her dower?
The same Record states that ¢ Adam de Lottone is holding (fenet)
four bovates in capite in Letone by serjeantry.” I think that for
tenet we should here read fenuit, for I can find no evidence of a
third Adam in this succession. Nor indeed can I find exact evi-
dence as to the next Tenant of this Serjeantry. In May 1274 one
Ivo de Letone appears on a local Jury, but I do not think him to
have been Lord of Leaton.

Ricrarp pE LEETON, probably successor to Adam (II), had a son
and heir, Roger, born about Michaelmas 1280. In January and
December 1291 this Richard appears on Juries at Bicton and Bes-
ford. He also occurs as Witness of a Hadnall Deed in July 1293.
On November 17, 1808, King Edward I1.’s Writ of Diem clausit
announces the decease of Richard de Leton. An Inquest was held
at Preston (probably Preston Gubbalds) in January following. The
Serjeantry under which he had held was singularly changed. His
tenure was by 40 days’ ward at Shrewsbury Castle, during which
period he was to provide one man with a bow and three shafts
(pilettis), unfeathered, in event of war ; and, after the 40 days ended,
the man was to shoot his shafts into three quarters of the said
Castle, and to depart, unless the King wished to detain him,
There was an arrentation of 40d. on this Berjeantry. The arable
land held by the deceased was worth 10s. per annum; a Mill pro-
duced 6s. 84. Roger, his son and heir, was 28 years of age at
Michaelmas 1808.°

RoceEr pE LEetoN (II) occurs on various occasions as a Witness
or Juror, and from 1310 to 1340. An Inquest was held at Shrews-
bury on Nov. 12, 1847, touching a settlement which he proposed
to make of his estate, viz. * half of the Manor of Lefon-juxrta- Muri-
den.” He wished to enfeoff Roger Don and Roger de Ercalwe,
Chaplains, as Trustees, who were in turn to settle it upon himself
for life, with remainder to William Huse and Cecily his wife, and
the heirs of their bodies, with further remainder to the right heirs
of Roger de Leton. The Inquest found the proposal to be non-
injurious to the Crown. The said moiety of Leton was held in capite
for a rent of 40d. per annum and was worth 20s. more. The settle-
ment was allowed to be made for a Fine of 40s. paid by the said
Roger.® For some reason or other, Roger de Leton changed his

'V Rot. Hundred. I1. 106, 106, 3 Inguisitions, 21 Edw. I1I., 20d Num-
2 Inguis. 2 Edw. I1., No. 15. bers, No. 20.
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mind about this entail. A license of Oct. 10, 1350, allowed Wil-
liam de Bykerton and William Banastre of Hadnall (two new Trus-
tees) to demise the above estate (a moiety of Leton) to Roger de
Leton, for life, with remainder to Reginald, son of Cecily de Hab-
berley and Alice, danghter of John de Lee, and the heirs of the
bodies of the said Reginald and Alice, with remainder, in default of
such heirs, to Thomas, son of William de Burleton, and the heirs of
his body.

Roger de Leeton was deceased on Oct. 18, 1853. He died seized,
in fee-tail, of a moiety of Leeton, as settled by the license of 1350.
His right heir (thus disinherited) was Richard, son of William de
Burleton, aged 22 years at Michaelmas 1353.! I cannot say how
any of these parties were related to Roger de Leeton.

Lraron 1N ALBricHTON. Besides the Domesday Manor of Le-
tone, there was a hide of land which was usually accounted a moiety
of Leaton, and went by the name of Leaton, but which was origi-
nally, as I think, a member of the Domesday Manor of Albrighton.
The Seigneury of this estate was in the Monks of Shrewsbury, but
they seem to have made an ancient feoffment thereof to some of the
Pantulfs, so that early in the 13th century the Pantulfs of Cubles-
don were accounted Lords of this part of Leaton. Hence we find
that a Deed, which related to the neighbouring Manor of Great
Berwick, and which passed about the year 1226, has the attestations
of two brothers, William and Norman Pantulf.? Now this William
Pantulf was of Cublesdon, and was also, I think, Lord of the moiety
of Leaton, now under notice. From what has been said on a former
page,® we may assume that in 1255, Nicholas de Hastings held the
above hide in Leaton, under the heir of Pantulf of Cublesdon, who
held under Shrewsbury Abbey by a mere quit-rent of 6s. 8d.

At the Assizes of January 12566, Adam, son of William de Lertton,
failed to prosecute a suit of mort d’ancestre, which he had arraigned
against Nicholas de Hasting and (Emilina?) his wife, for 6 mes-
suages and 8 virgates in Letfon. His Sureties de prosequendo were
Thomas, son of Richard de Letton, and Robert Slinge.*

On Nov. 8, 1292, Reginald fitz William, of Stanwardine, and
Juliana his wife (Plaintiffs) quitclaim, for 8 merks, all their right
in a half.virgate in Leton. The Tenant and Grantee in this Fine

1 Inquis. 27 Edw. II1. No. B5. amerced 6 merks for some trespass. In

? Yide infrs, page 217. 1278, Thomas, son of Thomas de Leton

3 Bupra, page 209. and Matilda his wife, fine half a merk for

4 Assizes 40 Hen. ITI., m. 1.—Thomas | some judicial writ (Rot. Finium, 6 Edw,
de Leton occurs again in 1257, viz. as | I., m. 28).
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" was Richard, son of Roger Pride, who held iwo-thirds of the pre-
mises on his own account, and was called to warranty of the other
third by Christiana, his father’s widow. On Nov. 25, 1292, another
Fine was levied, whereby Emeline, widow of Nicholas de Hastinges,
(Plaintiff) quitclaimed, for £20, to Richard Pride (Tenant), all her
right to a messuage and carucate of land in Leton. Richard Pride,
thus enfeoffed in Leton, appears to have been succeeded by a second
Roger Pride, whose widow, Agnes, remarried with William de Bi-
riton, but whose heirs were Henry de Bromleye and his wife Agnes.
By Deed dated at Leton on April 1, 1327, “ Henry de Bromleye
and Agnes his wife, grant to John le Walsche of Salop, for a sum
of money, one messuage and all their lands and tenements in the
vill of Leton, with the demesne, wastes, moors, &c., pertaining
thereto, and also with the reversion of lands in Leton, now held by
Agnes, wife of William de Byriton, as her dower in the inheritance
of the Grantors; the whole to hold to the said John le Walsche
and his heirs, of the Lords of the Fee, by the usual services. Wit~
nesses,—Sirs Thomas de Roshale, John de Leybourne, knights;
William Banastre; Roger de Leton, Stephen de Roshale, John de
Westbury, and John Ive of Leton.”!

On Nov. 16, 1881, “ William de Biriton and Agnes his wife
give to William de Wottenhull, all Agnes’ dower in Leaton, which
she had in the estate of Roger Pride, her former husband, to hold
to the Grantee, for the life of Agnes, and by discharge of all dues
to the Lords of the Fee. Witnesses,—Hugh de Bokenhale, John le
Walsh, John de Westone, Roger de Letone, John Ive of Letone.”’!

On May 1, 1339, “ John le Walisch had enfeoffed Roger de Le-
ton in all his lands in Leton, but the Grantee, having received the
rents, reliefs, &c., of two tenements there, for four years to come,
was to restore the whole, under a penal bond of £50. Witnesses,—
Richard Hord of Walleford, Richard Husee, Stephen de Roshale,
Roger Gesnok of Wolascote, and Richard Traynel.”!

At a subsequent period John le Walsh seem, to have sold his in-
terests in Leton, both realized and reversionary, to William de
‘Wottenhull. Hence the following two Deeds;—which I account
to have passed between 1340 and 1350.—

“ John le Walsh, of Salop, quitclaims to William de Wotenhull
all right to any lands, tenements, &c.,in Leton-juxta-Salop. Wit-
nesses,—Richard Husee, Roger de Leton, Roger Banastre.”?

“The same quitclaims to the same William de Wottenhull, all

A ! Charters in possession of the Author.
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that the said William had in the Vill of Leton by assignment of
William de Biriton and Agnes his wife, being the dower of Agnes
in the estate of her former husband, and the reversion whereof per-
tained to the present Quitclaimant. Witnesses,—Robert de Up-
tone,! John de Westone,? Hugh Ive.”

On March 4, 1350, “ John de Bruwode releases to John, son of
William de Wottenhull, all right in any lands, rents, services, &c.,
which the said John, son of William, had by gift and feoffment of
Agnes, late Relict of Henry de Brommeley. Witnesses,—Sir Ro-
bert, Lord of Morton Corbet, William, son of Walter Banastre,
and Roger de Leton.” Dated at Leton.3

Great Berwick,

Tuis was one of the Manors which Edric the Forester held in
Saxon times, and which the Norman Earl of Shrewsbury retained
in his own demesne.—Ipse Comes tenet Berewic. Edricus Salvage
tenuit. 1Ibi 1 hida et dimidia. In dominio sunt 11 carruce; et Iiix
Servi, et una ancilla, et x1 Villani cum v carrucis. T.R. E. valebat
xxx solidos. Modo (valet) 1x librasA

I must refer back to my accounts of Chetton and of Eudon
Burnell for the principal facts in the early history of Great Ber-
wick.® Several additional facts have however now to be added:
indeed there is some probability that the original Feoffee in all
three Manors can be identified.—Henry I. has been often alluded
to in these pages as adopting a policy, which qualified the ascen-
dency of the Norman aristocracy by an admixture of other fo-
reigners. Under his auspices the respective Ancestors of Fitz Alan
and Fitz Warin were settled in Shropshire. In his reign many
Immigrants from Brittany and Maine may be presumed to have
come to England, and, among them, several members of the family
of De Gorram, previously settled at La Tanniere, in Maine. One
of these, viz. William de Gorram, appears to have been the person

} Bailiff of Shrewsbury in 1850. 8 Charters in possession of the Author.
? Bailiff of Shrewsbury in 1329, 1835, ¢ Domesday, fo. 253, b, 2.
and 1336. § Supra, Vol. 1. pp. 166, 185.
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who had Chetton and Berwick by gift of Henry I., and Eudon by
gift of Alan fitz Flaald or his son. That this William de Gorram
was father of Damietta, the wife of Ranulph de Broc, is quite clear
from documentary evidence ;—for instance, “ William de Gorram
gives his land of Staplehurst,! which he held under Earl William,3
to Ranulph de Broc and to his (William de Gorram’s) daughter
Damata, and to their heirs ;—to hold under Earl William.””?

Ranulph de Broc died, as we have seen, about 1187, holding
half a knight’s-fee in the Honour of Arundel, and probably at
Staplehurst above mentioned. His wife Damietta, known to have
been heiress of Berwick, Chetton, and Eudon, survived till about
1204. Ranulph de Broc apparently had a son, Robert, by his wife
Damietta, which son survived him. Hence we have a Deed whereby
“ Damata, formerly wife of Sir Ranulph de Broc, and Robert de
Broc, her son, testify that they were present when the said Ranulph
gave his land of Combdena to oune Fulco de Bollard; and they
confirm the donation.””

Again, Robert de Broc married Margaret, danghter of Richard
de Beauchamp, and had by her a son, Laurence. Hence a Deed
whereby “ Robert de Broc, for the (souls’) health of Margaret his
wife, of Sir Ranulph de Broc his father, of Laurence his son, and
of Sir Richard de Beauchamp, Margaret’s father, makes a grant to
the Church of St. Paul of Newnham and to the Canons of Ravens-
den. Witnesses,—Sir Stephen de Turnham, Sir Thomas Basset.”
However, the male line of Ranulph de Broc must have expired on
the deaths of the above Robert and Laurence, and before the death
of Damietta de Gorram. On the last event taking place in 1204,
Stephen de Turnham, as husband of Edelina (Damietta’s eldest
daughter and alleged heir), obtained livery of Frelbury (Southants),
and of Berwick, Chetton, and Eudon (Shropshire). The litigation
which ensued between Edelina and her sisters, or the heirs and
representatives of herself and her sisters, has been given already in
most of its details. I now turn back a few years to add something
to what has been said under Idsall,# about Stephen de Turnham.—

In 1198 (10 Ric. I.) Stephen de Turnham had a grant of the
wardship of the lands and heir of Robert de Leeburn, and of the
benefit of the marriage of the said heir. He gave the King 300
merks for the said wardship.® There can be little doubt that the

! Staplehurst in Xent, probably. 3 Halstead Genealogies, p. 27.

3 Probably William d’Albini (I), Earl 4 Bupra, Vol. II. p. 286!
of Sussex or Arundal (1139-1176). ¥ Rot. Pipe, 10 Ric. 1., Kent.
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said heir was Roger de Leybourn, afterwards married to Alianore,
one of the danghters and eventual coheirs of Stephen de Turnham.
In 1211 we have Stephen de Turnham, as a Tenant-in-capite of
Shropshire, holding 100 solidates of land by services unknown at
the moment.! The land in question was Berwick; but Chetton was
possibly included in the estimate. A Quitclaim to Shrewsbury
Abbey, in which Stephen de Turnham was joined by Godelina (sic)
his wife, has been given under Albrighton,® but refers to their in-
terests at Berwick. In March 1214, Stephen de Twrnham was
dead, and it was then, doubtless, or soon after, that “Eodelina,
formerly wife of Sir Stephen de Turneham, gave to Lilleshall Abbey
the Church of Chetinton (Chetton), the Chapel of Berewick, and
all her right in Haremore.”® Within a year after Stephen de
Tarnham’s death, and between May and December 1214, a Fine
appears on the Rolls, which was originally supposed to relate to land
in Shropshire; but the marginal affix Salop has been cancelled and
Kent suhstituted. Such a confusion was natural.—* Roger de Lei-
burn gives the King 20 merks that he may have such seizin of the
Manor of Berwig as he had on the day when he was disseized
thereof on pretext of the death of Stephen de Thorneham.”’* It
would seem that Roger de Leybourn had had seizin of some Berwig
during Stephen de Turnham’s life, and that on that Baron’s death
the Escheators had seized it as part of his estate as yet to be divided.
What Berwig is alluded to, I have not inquired.

Before Michaelmas 1214, Edelina, widow of Stephen de Turn-
ham, gave King John 60 merks and a palfrey for liberty to remarry
with whom she pleased.® She was living in Trinity Term 1220,
but deceased before November 1221.%

In January 1219, the five daughters and coheirs of Stephen de
Tuarnham were Mabel, wife of Thomas de Bavelingham, Alice, wife
of Adam de Bending, Alienore, wife of Roger de Leybourn, another
Alienore, wife of Ralph fitz Bernard, and Beatrix, wife of Ralph de

! Tasta de Nevill, p. 66.

3 Supra, page 108.

3 Lilleshall Chartulary, fo. 62.

¢ Rot. Finiwm, p. 542.

¢ Bot. Pipe, 16 John, Surrey.

¢ Halstead (Genealogies, p. 27) affects
to quote a Placita Roll of June 24, 27
Hen. III. (i.e. 1248), wherein Edelina de
Broc sppoints an Attorney against Sibil
de Broc, in a Ples, the object of which was

to oblige Sibil to observe a Fine, levied at
Winchester, concerning the whole snheri-
tance of Damata de Goram, mother of
Edelina and Sibil.

This extract is genealogically useful, and
the Fine and Suit were doubtless those
already alluded to (Vol. L. pp. 171, 172):
but Halstead’s date for the above Placita~
Roll must, I imagine, be wrong by more
than 20 years.
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Fay. They renewed a Fine which they had made with King John
for seizin of Ertinden in Surrey ;! but it must' be carefully noted that
the Fine was for part of their Father’s, not their Mother’s, inhe-
ritance.

Before November 1221, Alianore, wife of Roger de Leybourn,
was deceased, as well as her mother; and the said Roger was
seized, in her right, of the Manor of Berwick. The Suit which
then commenced between Roger de Leybourn and the heirs of his
late wife’s Aunts (daughters of Ranulph de Broc) concerned his
tenure of Berwick, and lasted for 16 years, without apparently
shaking his position. The chief particulars have been given under
Chetton. Meanwhile, Roger de Leybourn, as Lord of Berwick,
was at issue with Lilleshull Abbey about Berwick Chapel and

Harmer Pool. Henry III. visited Shrewsbury judicially in August -

1226, and it was probably then that their disputes were reconciled.
If so, the following curious Deed may be dated in the same year,
and taken (in the absence of a formal Fine) to be the written Re-
cord of their agreement.—

“Omnibus Sanctee matris Ecclesie filiis presentem paginam in-
specturis, Rogerus de Leburne, eternam in Domino salutem. No-
veritis me divinz pietatis intuitu et pro salute animse mese, et omnium
antecessorum meorum concessisse et héic presenti cartd confir-
masse Deo et Ecclesite Beate Marize de Lilleshull et Canonicis
ibidem Deo servientibus capellam de Berewich cum omnibus per-
tinenciis suis, et Vivarium quod dicitur Haremor,® cum redunda-
cione aquee, secundum illam altitudinem stagni sui quam habuerunt
illo die quo concordati fuimus apud Salopesburi in adventu Domini
Regis, cum solito cursu aquarum quse in illam maram ceciderunt ;
—habenda et tenenda libere et quiete et pacifice, absque omni
vexatione mei vel heredum meorum, in liberam, puram, et per-
petuam elemosinam. Ut igitur hac mea concessio et confirmacio
futuris temporibus rata et stabilis permaneat, eam presenti scripto
et sigilli mei impressione corroboravi. Hiis testibus; Magistro
Radulfo de Meidenestan, Archidiacono Cestrie? ; Magistro Alexan-
dro Archidiacono Salopesburie*; Viviano de Rossale; Willielmo

! Rot. Finium, 8 Hen. III., m. 9. argument about the Battle of Shrewsbury.

2 Harmer Pool was anciently an exten- | The Saxon word Hara (s hare) is less
tensive Mere, and has lost some of its com- | warlike in sound, but affords the true ety-
pass only within thelast century. Harmer | mology.

Hill, adjoining, is now usually called 4s- 3 Became Bishop of Hereford in 1284.

moxr Hill. 1 have somewhere scen the ¢ Alexander de Swereford. (Vide supra,
latter name erroneously made part of an | Vol. IX. pp. 808, 304; Vol. X. p. 71.)
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Pantulf;! Normanno Pantulf fratre ejus; Hereberto Malvesin;
Stephano de Pibbeleia ;* Galfrido clerico ; Roberto de Cotes ; Wal-
tero Abetot clerico de Salop’.”’8

Dugdale’s account of the family of Leiburne would snggest that
Roger de Leiburne (the Minor of 1198) lived till 1272.* This
must be erroneous. Before the year 1244 one John de Leybonrn
had not only saucceeded to Berwick, but dying seized thereof had
made way for a second Roger de Leybourn. John left a widow,
Florence, who remarried to Matthias de Mara. Hence a Fine of
February 3, 1244, whereby Matthias de Mara and Florence his
wife (Plaintiffs) surrender Florence’s claim of dower in Berewyk to
Roger de Leyburn, tenant of the Manor, who gives a sore sparrow-
. hawk as the consideration.

In the year 1245 Roger de Leybourn (II) sold Berwick to Sir
Geoffrey Despenser for a sum of 400 merks, reserving a nominal
rent to himself, and stipulating for the Purchaser’s discharge of
the curious service by which the Manor was held of the Crown. I
give the Deed in brief.—

“ Rogerus de Leyburn, &c., dedi Domino Galfrido Despenser
Manerium de Berewyk, in Com. Salop, videlicet quicquid habui in
dominicis, &c. ; quietum de Sectis Curize Comitatis et Hundredi;
—habendum illi et heredibus suis, de me et heredibus meis, red-
dendo unum par albarum cyrotecarum vel unum denarium apud
Berewyk die Natalis Domini, et faciendo Domino Regi et heredibus
suis servicium debitum, scilicet, inveniendo unum servientem equi-
tem cum lanceo et haubergello, et trussantem unam pernam, com-
morantem in servicio Regis, quamdiu perna sibi et homini suo
durabit, in Norwallid ;—cum corpore Domini Regis et heredum, si
presentes fuerint, et, si absentes, nullum servicium fiet. Et cum
perna comedatur, Serviens repatriabit, nisi Rex et heredes aliter
ipsum velint retinere ad stipendia sua;—et preeterea reddendo
heredibus Stephani de Turneham unam libram cimini pro me, Ro-
gero, et heredibus. Ita quod nec ego, Rogerus, nec heredes meij,
aliquid clamare poterimus in custodii vel maritagio heredum Gal-
fridi, nec (in) relevio nec eschaetd; sed Rex habeat. Pro hic
Galfridus dedit quadringenta marcas argenti. Hiis Testibus,—
Domino Willielmo de Eboraco Preeposito Beverlacensi; Paulino

! William Pantulf of Cublesdon, whose 3 Collectanea Topographica et Genea-
interest in this ncighbourhood has been | logica, Vol V.177, 178.

alluded to above (p. 211). 4 Baronage, 1I. pp. 18,14. I have in-
! Stephen de Pimley. (Vide supra, Vol. | advertently embodied the mistake in the
VII. pp. 304-306.) Genealogical Table (Vol. I. p. 190).

X. 28
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Peyver’; Willielmo de Sancto Edmundo; Roberto de Notingeham ;
Magistro Roberto Shardelawe; Ricardo de Clifford; Anketill
Malore; Egidio de Clifford; Willielmo filio Herberti; Simone de
Norwic; et aliis.” The above grant had the full and very neces-
sary sanction of the Crown. Henry II1. recited and confirmed it,
in a Charter, dated at Windsor, July 5, 1245, and attested by Fulk
fitz Warin ; Sylvester de Everdon, Archdeacon of Chester; Richard
de Clifford ; and William, Provost of Beverley.!

Geoffrey Despenser seems to have been succeeded at Berwick by
his son John. The Pimhill Hundred-Roll of 1255 says that “ John
Despenser holds 14 hides in Berewyk in capite, doing the following
service in wartime whenever the King should pass into Wales, viz.
providing one horseman, one man, and one Greyhound, carrying
with them one gammon of bacon (pernam); and they must follow
the King till the gammon be consumed, and afterwards, if they
must remain, it shall be at the King’s charges. John Despenser
claimed Warren and a Franchise in Berwick ; the Jurors knew not
by what warranty.”?

I now return to Roger de Leyburn (II), whose publi¢c and poli-
tical career from 1252 to 1265 is fully described by Dugdale. His
conduct as a Royalist during the King’s captivity (that is, between
the Battle of Lewes, on May 14, 1264, and the Battle of Evesham,
on August 4, 1265) is evidenced by that series of delusive Patents
which I have elsewhere described as addressed to Roger de Mor-
timer, James de Audley, and other Patriots of the Marches. A
Patent of May 17 is worth quoting, as showing how the crafty
Montfort, relying on his own temporary reconciliation with the
powerful Earl of Gloucester, ceased inviting the King’s friends “to
come to Court or to go and tarry in Ireland,” and assumed another
attitude. At Hereford, on May 20, 1265, the King is made to
address Ralph Basset of Drayton, as Cusfos Pacis, and the Sheriffs
of Salop and Staffordshire. These Officers are to publish the peace
concluded between Simon de Montfort and Gilbert, Earl of Glou-
cester ; and seeing that Roger de Clifford, Roger de Leybourn, and
others, their Fellow Marchers, being bound to quit the realm under
the Provisions of Worcester, had, in contempt of the King, failed
to do so, the said Officers are to cause them to be arrested if they
continue to alienate the affections of the King’s Lieges from his
person, and to disturb the Peace.

! Rot. Chart. 29 Hen. III,, m. 3.— ' Deed in Blakeway’s MSS,
Collated with a transcript of the original :©  ? Rot. Hundred. IL 75.
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On August 8, 1265 (four days after the Battle of Evesham), the
King, being at Worcester, gives to Roger de Leybourn the Shriev-
alty of Kent and custody of the lands and person of Idonea, younger
daughter and Coheir of Robert de Vipont. On August 22, the
King at Gloucester gives him the Wardenry of the Cinque Ports
and Chamberlainship of Sandwich. On September 20, the King,
at Winchester, appoints him Sheriff of Cumberland. By Charter,
dated at Canterbury on October 26, 1265, the King confirms to
“ Roger de Leyburn, for his faithful services, all the lands in Eng-
land which had belonged to Adam le Despencer ;—also the Manors
of Kirkeosewod and of Burg, and the bailiwick of the Royal Forcst
of Englewod, late Thomas de Multon’s; also certain lands of
Richard de Grey, Roger de St. John, John le Despencer, Ralph
Pyrot, and of Robert de Vere, late Earl of Oxford, all enemies of
the Crown ;—to be held by the said Roger de Leyburn under the
Lords of the respective Fees.”! This grant of John le Despencer’s
lands seems to have worked an immediate reversiop of the fee-sim-
ple of Berwick to the previous Mesne-Lord. I do not find that the
benefits of the Dictum de Kenilworth were ever extended to John
le Despencer. On November 5, 1271, Roger de Leyburn (II) was
deceased, leaving his second wife, Alianore, widow of Roger de
Quinci, Earl of Winchester, surviving.® His heir was his son Wil-
liam, by a former marriage.—

William de Leybourn had general Livery of the estates, held in
capite by his late Father, on Nov. 7, 1271, saving the Dowery and
other claims of the Countess of Winchester.?

I suppoge that Simon de Leybourn, who had some feoffment or
claim in Great Berwick, was a younger son of Roger, and that his
claim was disallowed by his elder brother. On June 2, 1272,
Simon de Leyburn was suing William de Leyburn, William Bluu-
del, and others, for disseizing him of his free tenement in Berewyk.

The Pimhill Inquest of November 1274 gives William de Ley-
bourne as holding Berewyk by service of a knight’s-fee of the King
in capite, and as exercising rights of Warren there.* The Tenure-
Roll® of 1279 shows that Simon de Leybourne had ere then reco-
vered the whole estate.—* Symond Leyburne tenet Manerium de
Berewecke cum membris de Domino Regi in capite per servicia
unius Montaris cum uno leperario et cum uno homine portante
unam pernam secum, quotiens Rex transierit in Walliam tempore

! Rot. Cartarum, 49 Hen. 111., m. 2. l 4 Rot. Hundred. I1. pp. 104, 105.
?-3 Rot. Finium, 11. 5562, 653. 5 Roll, in the Author’s possession.
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222 GREAT BERWICK.

guerre, et sequetur Dominum Regem quosque illa expendatur; et,
si Rex voluerit lopgius eum tenere, sumptibus Domini Regis.”

The Tenure-Roll of 1284 also gives Simon de Leyburn as Lord
of Berwick. At the Assizes of October 1292, Simon de Leyburn’s
exercise of Free Warren in Berewyk was again presented, as was his
Tenure of the Manor itself, under the head De Serjantiis. The
Serjeantry was described in the same way as before, except that
Simon himself seems to have been personally liable to serve, and
the consumption of the gammon qf bacon was to be regulated by
the King’s Marshal. Simon de Leybourn came forward to prove his
title. It was by gift of his Father, Roger, and he asked leave of
the Court to call William, his father’s son and heir, to warranty.
To this the King’s Attorney objected, saying that ‘‘ there could be
no Mesne Tenant in a Serjeantry,” and that,  whereas Simon could
not (rightfully) perform the aforesaid service, a right had accrued to
the Crown of holding the Serjeantry in demesne.”

The cause was adjourned to Lichfield till January 27th following,
but I do not find it to have been renewed.

At the above Assizes, Simon de Leybourn withdrew an accusation -
of waste against John de Ludlow, Senior, who having been his
Lessee in 100 acres of bosc at Berewyk, had cut down 300 oaks ;—
value £100.

The King’s Writ of Diem clausit announcing the death of Simon
de Leyborn bears date Nov. 20, 1308.! An Inquest held at Shrews-
bury on Feb. 14, 1809, found him to have held the Manor of Ber-
wick conjointly with John, his son, by feoffment of Philip de Say
(evidently a Trustee), who had settled the same on Simon, his wife,
Lucia, and his son, John, and the heirs of John’s body, with remain-
der to Matilda, John’s sister, and the heirs of her body, with re-
mainder to the right heirs of Simon. The said Simon and his son
John held the Manor under William de Leyburn, by service of
doing homage and paying a pound of cummin. John de Leybourn
was 14 years of age on Dec. 21, 1309.9

The above Lucia, wife of Simon de Leybourne, was sister and
eventual heir of John le Strange of Cheswardine, I conclude that

she was also an illegitimate daughter of Roger le Strange of Elles-
mere.

! Mr. Blakeway assigned to this Sir Si- ; still exists. An Engraving of the Monu-
mon de Leyburn a Monument which for- | ment and other particulars are given, Hist.
merly stood in the Trinity Chapel of St. | of Shrewsbury, 1. 196, and 11. 896.
Mary’s Church, Shrewsbury; and which * Inguis. 2 Edw. 11., No. 24.
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JouN pe LEYBOURN appears in the Nomina Villarum of March
1316 as Lord of Berwick. His career, military and political, has
been described by Dugdale, though the Great Antiquary failed
to discover his origin. His being summoned to Parliament as a
Baron was evidently due to his marriage with Beatrix de Beauchamp,
widow of Peter, last Baron Corbet of Caus.

How far this John de Leybourn inherited any Shropshire estates
in right of his mother, Lucia,! and how he and his wife both died
without heirs, having succeeded in alienating several Corbet estates
to the Beauchamps of Hach, her relations ;>— these are matters on
which I have spoken elsewhere.

John de Leybourn died Oct. 6, 1348, but the Inquest, taken at
Exeter, deals only with estatcs held by him for life by settlement
with his deceased wife.® His own heir, and the destination of the
Manor of Berwick are not noticed.

I have not ascertained whether Berwick descended in any way
consonant with the remainder to Matilda, sister of John de Ley-
burn. Some Heraldic Pedigrees give a sister and heir of the said
John as married to Geoffrey to Lucy; but by these authorities the
Lady is called “ Katherine.”*

Parocuiarry, Great Berwick and its member, Little Berwick,
were in the Parish of St. Mary’s, Shrewsbury. They still remain
so. The grant of Berwick Chapel to Lilleshull Abbey, early in the
13th century, does not seem to have been opposed by the Dean and
Chapter of St. Mary’s. The Grant is included and confirmed in a
Bull which I take to be that of Pope Honorius III,, and if so to
have passed between 1216 and 1227. An old Rent-Roll of Lilles-
hull Abbey gives 6s. 84. as the annual profits arising from the
Chapel of Berewick.®

The Valor of 1535 combines the Rectorial Income of St. Alk-
mund’s Church with that from the Chapel of Berwick, and states
the Abbey to be in receipt of £6 yearly from the two sources.® Tt
also appears that a pension of 18s. per annum was payable by the

! 8upra, Vol. VIIL p. 186.

* Buprs, Vol. VII. pp. 38, 39.

3 Inquis. 22 Edw. II1., No. 37.

4 It is well worth observing that the
descendants of any daughter or daughters
of Simon de Leybourn will have been right
heirs to very great estates, if not to a Ba-
rony : for it is proximately certain that the
descendants of William de Leybourn (Si-

mon’s elder brother) failed in 1389, on the
death (without issue) of John de Hastings,
Earl of Pembroke, the Great-great-great-
Grandson and heir of the said William.

8 Lilleshall Chartuiary, fos. 88, 93.

¢ Valor Eccles. TII. 197. “Exitus Ec-
clesiee Sti Edmundi (sic) cum Capelld do
Barwile (sic) annexat’ Monasterio predicto
valet £6.”
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Abbey to St. Mary’s Church, as a charge on the Chapel of Little
Berwick.!

Loppington,

Tais was another of those Manors which passed from Edric Fo-
rester to the Demesne of Earl Roger de Montgomery.—Ipse Comes
tenet Lopitone. Edricus Salvage tenuit. Ibiv hide geldabiles. In
dominio sunt 11 carruce et 1111 servi, et xv Villani, cum V1 carrucis ;
et adhuc 11 carruce possent esse. T. R, E. valebat 111 libras; modo
vt libras et x solidos?

Loppington became a Tenure-in-capite by service of one knight’s-
fee. This was probably in the time of Henry I.; at all events the
feoffment was 8o old, that in the reign of John it was erroneously
accounted to be a Tenure under the Escheats of Tornas.

ALexANDER DE LoPINGTON, the first recorded Lord of the Manor,
lived in the reigns of Henry II. and Richard I. About the year
1190 “he gave the Church of Lopinton to Wombridge Priory, for
the souls of himself, his father, mother, and ancestors, and by con-
sent and request of Richard, his heir. Witnesses,—Walter, Abbot
of Lilleshull ; Eustace, a Canon; Henry, a Canon; Richard, Dean;
Richard Griffin; Roger, Chaplain; Hugh de Chester; Richard de
Franketon ; William de Hedley ; Roger Bret; Gilbert, his brother;
Richard, son of Alexander (i. e. of the Grantor) ; Reginald, son of
Richard de Franketon.”3

Alexander de Loppington is further recorded to have given the
whole of Burleton (a member of Loppington) to his daughter, the
wife of William de Burweltone, and half of Loppington (proper) to
another daughter, the wife of Adam le Strange. Possibly this Adam
le Strange may be the person of that name who in the year 1177
had received 15 merks from the Sheriff of Shropshire by order of
King Henry 1I. Possibly, too, he may be that Adam, son of Hamo
le Strange, who between the years 1170 and 1179 attests two
Charters of Guy le Strange, of Knokyn and Alveley. Be this as
it may, Adam le Strange and his wife had a son, William, who

! Valor Eecles. I11. 198, 3 Wombridge Chartulary, 7%t Lopin
3 Domesday, fo. 258, b, 2. ton, No. IT.
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inherited half Loppington. But I must speak more particularly
of—

RicraRD DE LorINTON, son and heir of Alexander. The Pipe-
Roll of 1199 exhibits the Bishop of Bangor as accounting for 5
merks, in respect of his Fine concerning the land of Richard de
Lopinton.! I cannot account for this, except on the very problema-
tical supposition that the Bishop had had wardship of an infant
heir. The Scutage-Rolls from 1208 to 1246, inclusive, show Lop-
pington as assessed at the current rate on a knight’s-fee ; and Richard
de Lopington is in each case the person charged. In the scutages
of 1254 and 1260 Loppington was not assessed at all.?

In the Tenure-Roll of 1211 Richard de Lopinton is said to hold
of the King by service of one knight, and his tenure is inaccurately
classed among the Escheats of Gerard de Thurnay.®

At the Assizes of November 1221 there was a Trial of Grand
Assize as to whether William le Strange ought to hold a hide in
Lopinton under Richard de Lopinton (Plaintiff), or whether the
latter should hold it in demesne. It was decided in favour of Le
Strange, because Richard’s father (Alexander) had given the pre-
mises to his (Alexander’s) daughter, the mother of the Defendant ;
and Le Strange and his heirs were to hold from thenceforth under
the Plaintiff. It is noted that Richard de Lopinton acknowledged
the gift made to William le Strange’s mother, but questioned his
father’s power thus to dispose of half the estate. A second Trial
accused William le Strange of disseizing Richard de Lopinton of a
tenement in Lopinton. Here William le Strange proved that he had
taken nothing but pannage upon certain swine. In a third case
William le Strange recovered a right of common in Lopinton, of
which he had been disseized by Richard de Lopinton and Alexander
de Franketon.* In a fourth case Richard de Lopinton recovered a
tenement in Lopinton against Walter de Franketon and William de
Lopinton, who had disseized him thereof.®

At these Assizes the Jurors of Pimhill Hundred presented that
“ Richard de Lopinton held the land of Lopinton of the Lord King.
It was worth 100s. (per annum) and was held by service of one
knight.”

! Episcopus Pangor r. c¢. de Vv marcis | liam de Lopinton, and William de Han-
de fine suo de terra Ricardi de Lopinton. | worth were mixed up in these cases as

? Supra, Vol. VIIL p. 197. Sureties.

3 Testa de Nevill, p. 66. § There was also a William de Lopinton

* Robert de Wufericton, Willinm de } amerced half a merk in 1232 pro falso
Stanwurdin, Reginald de Franketon, Wil- ! clamore.

X. 29
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- When Alexander de Lopington is said “ to have given half Loping-

ton to his daughter,” half of Loppington proper or half of two hides
must be anderstood ; for three out of the five hides of the Manor
were in Burleton, and there Alexander de Loppington had enfecffed
another son-in-law at a still earlier period. This appears in a Fine,
levied Nov. 12, 1240, whereby Richard de Lopinton (Plaintiff) al.
lowed the right of Robert de Burgheton (Tenant} to 8 hides in
Burgheton, whereof there had been suit-at-law. The Tenant was
to hold in fee, under Richard de Lopinton, and to perform three parts
of that knight’s-service of 40 days, for which the whole 5 hides were
responsible, in the King’s host, so often as the host was summaned
between Pouwiz and England in wartime. The Tenant was to per-
form such share of service at his own cost and was also to perform
all forinsec service due on the Maneor in the proportion of three to
two. This was to cover all claims against him, and he paid 4 merks
down to the Plaintiff.

When the Feodary of 1240 registers, among the fees of Tornay,
half a fee in Lopinton, as held by Richard de Lopinton,® it must not
be supposed that the alleged half-fee bears any reference to the
above arrangement between Lord and Vassal. The kalf-fee is pro-
bably a mere error, corrected by Scutage-Rolls and other docu-
ments, or else it alludes to personal service in the King’s host else-
where than in Wales and Shropshire.

At the Inquest of 1255 Richard de Lopinton waa Foreman of the
Pimhill Jurors. They stated, with technieal accuracy, that “he
held five geldable hides in Lopinton and Burelton, of the King’s
fee, by service of one knight for 40 days in Wales and in time
of war. He owed suit to County and Hundred, and paid 8s. 44.
yearly for strefward and motfee.”® At the Assizes of 1256 Richard
de Lopinton was second Juror for Pimhill Hundred. His wife, then
living, was Susanna, danghter, and apparently heir, of Peter de
Eston, of whom we shall hear elsewhere.

A lost Inquest of 41 Henry II1. (1256-7) is deacribed as alluding
to Richard de Lopinton and the Maxor of Powwiz3 It probably
concerned the death of Richard de Lopinton and the relevance of
his tenure to service in Powis-land, but as to any Manor of Pouwiz,
such a thing never existed in Shropshire.

From the Tenure-Roll of 1257 it appears that, on July 25 of that
year, the King received the homage of Richard, son and heir of

1 Testa de Nevill, p. 45. 3 Printed Calendar of Inquisitions,
2 Rot. Hundred. 11. 76. Yol. L. p. 16.
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Richard de Lopinton. His relief was fixed at 100s., but the terms
of payment were relaxed, on account of the excessive poverty of the
said Richard.!

The following Deed certainly passed between 1256 and 1268.
I think it passed in 1266-7. 1If so, it was perhaps a dying bequest
of Richard de Lopinton (I). As “ Richard de Lopinton,” and “ for
the souls’ health of himself and his Ancestors, he concedes to the
Canons of Worbridge license to get every sort of bosc for building,
fencing, or other purposes, in his woods and moors pertaining to
Lopinton, for the use of themselves and their men of Lopinton.
He adds common pasture and free pammage for the animals and
swine of themselves and their men, throughout the Fee of Lo-
pinton. He allows that all who hold in his Fee of Lopinton and
of Burwell’ (Burleton) may give or bequeath lands or rents to
the said Canons. He lastly concedes the Church and Advowson of
Lopinton. Witnesses,—Sir Ralph le Botiler, Sir Walter de Dun-
stanvill, Sir Thomas de Roshall, John de Ercalew, John fitz Aer,
Richard de Pecton, John de Burwellton, Richard de Franketon,
John, Chaplain of Lopinton, and Ralph le Bret.”* In accordance
with what has been stated above, I must eall the next Lord of this
Manor—

Ricaarp pE LorintoNn (II). After his Livery in 1257, I hear
nothing of him till he occurs as Juror on a local Inquest of May
1274. The Pimhill Hundred-Roll, of November 1274, separates
Loppington jnto three distinct portions.—

1. Burleton, formerly given to William de Burweltone with a
daughter of Alexander de Lopinton, had been still more thoroughly
alienated by Richard de Lopinton, now living. He had enfeoffed
Sir John fitz Alan “ in the homage and service of the Lord of Bur-
weltone,” that is, he had sold the Mesne tenure. * Hence,” said
the Pimhill Jurors, “ the King might probably lose wardship and
custody.”®

2. That half of Lopinten (proper), which had originally gone to
Adam le Strange, had been given in fee, by John le Strange of Lo-
pinton,* to the Abbot of Lilleshull. The Abbot had enfeoffed Sir
William le Botiler, and the latter was now in possession. The Ab-

' Rot. Finism, 11. 261. 4 Probably son of William, son of Adam

2 Chartulary (ut supra); No. I. le Strange. William le Strange was liv-
3 In case of an heir of Loppington being | ing in 1255, and was one of the Jurors
in minority, and also in caee of any heir of | for Pimhill Hundred at the Inquest of

Burleton being coincidently under age. that year.
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bot had included this estate in his Liberty, and had withdrawn the
suit thereof (from County and Hundred).

8. The other half of Lopinton (proper) was still held in capite by
Richard de Lopinton (II).

Soon after this Inquest was taken, Richard de Lopinton (II) sold
this last remaining share of his inheritance to the same William le
Botiler as had obtained the second share. And this was apparently
with consent of the Crown : for on January 10, 1278, « the King
accepted the homage of William le Botiler, son and heir of Ralph
le Botiler of Wemme, for the Manor of Lopinton, which the said
William had by concession of the Abbot of Lilleshull and of Ri-
chard de Lopinton.”!

William le Botiler’s Father, Ralph, was living at this time, but
died in 1281. The Pymhill Tenure-Roll of 1279 says, with great
accuracy, that “ William le Buttiler holds Loppynton of the King
in capite, by service of one Knight’s-fee for the aforesaid vill.”” The
Tenure-Roll of 1284, usually known as Kirby’s Quest, says, with
great inaccuracy, both as to names and facts, that Richard de Lo-
piton holds Hopiton and Burghulton of the King in capite.”

William le Botiler of Wem died in or before December 1283,
not seized of the Barony of Wem, which was still in the hands of
his mother, but seized of Lopinton, where his estate was valued at
£2. 19s.8%d. per annum’

Gawan le Botiler, second son and eventual heir of the above
William, died, as we have seen, in 12908 His seizin of only two-
thirds of Loppington was probably because the widow ‘of his elder

-brother, John, had her dower therein.

At the Assizes of 1292 the Pymhill Jurors presented that « Wil-
liam le Botyler had withdrawn the suit of half Lopynton from the
Sheriff’s Tourn 80 years back.” This gives the proximate date of
the purchase of one moiety of Loppinton from the Abbot of Lil-
leshull. As to the matter of withdrawal, that could not be gone
into, because the heir of Loppington (erroneously called « E.* son
of William le Botiler’’) was in minority.

As to the vicissitudes which had befallen the collective Manor of
Loppington and Burleton, the Pimhill Jurors of 1292 add some-
thing to our previous information. They said that Alexander de
Lopinton’s original feoffment of William de Borelton reserved only
the service of one-third of a knight’s-fee, and that Richard de Lo-

1 Rot. Finiwm, 6 Edw. 1., m. 27. 3 Supra, Vol. IX. p. 174.
2 Bupra, Vol. IX. p. 178. 4 The youth’s name was William.
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pinton, heir of Alexander (he was his grandson), sold that service
to John fitz Alan. However, the service by which Burleton was
held at the time of that sale must have been three-fourths of a Fee,
as settled in the Fine of 1240.

In the Nomina Villarum of 1316, William le Botiller (II) is en-
tered as Lord of Franketon, Lopinton, and Burwalton. This, as
regards Franketon, I cannot understand. At his death in 1334,
William le Botiler (IT) was seized of nothing there. Of Lopping-
ton he had probably made some settlement during his life; for his
son and heir, William le Botiler (III), settled that Manor in tail,
by a Fine of 1843. Loppington indeed continued to be part of the
Barony of Wem for several generations, descending to the Lord
Ferrers of Wem, and to the Barons Greystock, in the mode indi-
cated on a former page.!

BurLETON, consisting of three out of the five Domesday hides of
Loppington, was given in frank marriage to—

WirLiam pe Burreron, with the daughter of Alexander de
Loppington. The full particulars have been told already. This
was probably in the reign of Henry II. or Richard I.

JouN DE BURLETON, probably son and heir of William, occurs
incidentally from about 1195 to about 1220.® At the Assizes of
November 1221, John de Burleton had apparently been succeeded
by_

RoeertT pE BuUrLETON, for the latter was impleaded by Richard
de Lopinton for 7 acres of bosc in Burghelton, which the said Ri-
chard claimed as heir of Alexander de Lopinton, his Father. Robert
de Burghelton paid half a merk for license to compound this suit.
This was that Robert de Burleton who, in 1240, readjusted the ser-
vice by which Burleton was held under the Lord of Loppington.
The next head of this family was—

JoaN pe BurireroN (II), who occurs as a witness about 1256-7.
He further occurs on a local Jury in 1274. It was during his time
that Burleton became separated from Loppington and annexed to
the Fief of Fitz Alan ; a status which it retained ever afterwards.

WirLiaM pE BurLeron (II) occurs on a local Jury in December
1291, but was apparently deceased in January 1801. It then tran-
spired that John de Burleton (II) had enfeoffed Robert Corbet of
Morton and his wife Matilda, conjointly, in half a virgate in Bur-
leton. This half-virgate was now held by the said Matilda under the
“heir of William de Burleton.””$

1 Supra, Vol. VIIL p. 22. 2 Suprs, p. 74 ; infra, pp. 234-6. 3 Inquis. 29 Ed. L, No. 45.
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LOPPINGTON CHURCH.

Loppington was originally in the great Saxon Parish of Bas-
church. The Lords of Loppington founded the subject Church ;—
apparently after some arrangement with the Rectors of Baschurch,
for the Pension which Baschurch had from Loppington implies as
much.! About 1190 (as we have seen) Alexander de Loppington
gave the Advowson of Loppington to Wombridge Priory. A Deed
in the Wombridge Chartulary, ascribed to ‘ Henry Archbishop of
Canterbury and Primate of all England,” should have stood, as I
doubt not it originally stood, as a Deed of H., Archbishop of Can-
terbury, &c., that is of Hubert Walter. It probably passed in
1193-5, subsequent to which that famous Prelate would have used
his added title of “ Legate of the Apostolick See.” It appears from
this Deed that there had been a dispute of long standing between
the Canons of Wombridge and one Radulf Valenseus, a Clerk, about
this Church. The Archbishop decides that “ the Canons are to be
no longer molested by any claim of Radulf, but for charity and for
the sake of peace, and for the soul of the most illustrious King
Henry, are to pay him three merks yearly, out of the goods of their
Church, viz. by half-yearly instalments on June 25 and Dec. 25.%
T suppose the above Radulf claimed to be Rector of Loppington by
some other title than the Canons’ presentation.

On July 25, 1232, the Church of Loppington was vacant, and
“ Alexander, Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, expedited a Charter,
allowing the Prior and Canons of Wombridge to appropriate it,
saving a competent provision for the future Vicar, and saving all
pontifical and parochial rights of the Bishop, of his Successors, and
of the Churches of Coventry and Lichfield.” It was the * praise-
worthy conversation” and also the ‘“poverty” of the Wombridge
Canons which osteneibly moved the Bishop to the aforesaid step.?
The Tazation of 1291 values the Cburch of Lopington (in the
Deanery and Archdeaconry of Salop) at £5 per annum, besides a
pension of 2s., which the Vicar of Bassechurch received therefrom.*

In 1341 the Assessors of the Ninth quoted the above Tazation
as one of £5, and reduced it to £3 for the current Levy. The rea-
sons were, because a great part of the land lay fallow and untilled,
the tenants being poverty-stricken, because there had been a gene-

1 Buprs, page 189. l 3 Chartulary (ut supra), No. ITI.
? Chartulary (ut supra), I.io. V. ¢ Pope Nich. Taxation, p. 247, b.
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ral murrain among the live-stock, and because the Glebe and small
tithes went to increase  the Church-Tazation, but were irrelevant to
the present assessment.!

On Sept. 5, 1374, Robert, Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, con-
firms the appropriation of Loppington Church, as allowed by his
predecessor, Alexander. He further ordains the future Vicarage,
vis. “ the Vicar was to have, for his manse, that messuage and those
buildings and half-virgate in Lopinton, heretofore held by Richard
Steven, at farm under Wombridge Priory. The Vicar was also to
have all the small tithes and oblations of the Parish, and all the
fruits, rents, and spiritualities, including the wheat-tithes of all Lo-
pington Parish and the bay-tithes of Burleton. The Vicar was to
minister to the Church and Parishioners, congruously in all things,
at his own cost; but the Reetors were to undertake all other bur-
dens, ordinary and extraordinary, incumbent on the Church.”®

Much to the credit of Bishop Stretton is this qualification of the
iniquitous looseness of his predecessor. The result is seen in the
Valor of 1584-5. All the tithes of Loppington which the Canons
of Wombridge had to dispose of were set at an annual farm of
£3.16s. 8d2 At the same time Humphry Clay, Vicar of Lopynton,
had an income of £6. 13s. 4d., less 1s. 8d. for annual synodals.*

EARLY INCUMBENTS.

There is no appearance of any Vicars having been canonically in-
stituted to this Church till after Bishop Stretton had ordained the
Vicarage. The following were all presented by the Prior and Con-
vent of Wombridge :—

Broraer JoBN DynMowe, a Canon of Wombridge, was insti-
tuted on Sept. 5, 1374, to the newly constituted Vicarage of Lop-
pington. '

BroruEs RicARp pE MabELEeH, Canon of Wombridge, was
instituted March 12, 1377, but resigned immediately.

BarrEOLOMEW DE GRENHULL,® Priest, instituted April 1, 1877,
resigned in 1382.

RicEarp BorarEey, Priest, instituted Oct. 23, 1382, resigned in
1411.

Siz Roeer TurNER, Chaplain, was instituted Oct. 2, 1411.

Siz Roeer ELLESMERE resigned this Vicarage in 1416.

! Inguis. Nonarum, p. 183-b. 3:4 Valor Eccles. I11. pp. 194, 183.
? Chartulary (ut supra), No. IV. ® Vide supra, Vol. VIIL. p. 60.
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Cllegmere,

Tais important Manor was held in demesne, successively by the
Saxon Earls of Mercia, and the Norman Earls of Shrewsbury.
Domesday surveys it as follows.—Ipse Comes tenet Ellesmeles.
Eduinus Comes tenuit. Ibi 1111 hide et dimidia. In dominio sunt v
carruce ; et x Bovarii, et xxxvi Villani, et x1i11 Borderii cum 1
Presbyteris, habent x1111 carrucas. Ibi Molinum. T.R. E. redde-
bat x libras de firmd. Modo (reddit) xx libras. De eodum Ma-
nerio tenet Mundret 1 hidam, et Rainaldus 1 hidam. Ibi habent 11
carrucas, et 1111 8ervos, et 1111 Villanos et vi1 Bordarios, cum 111 car-
rucis et dimidid. Valet xx111 solidos.’”

As we approach the Borders, the history of small estates will be-
come hardly traceable, and that of greater Manors very fragmentary.
However, there are points of exceeding interest which attach to
Ellesmere, even in the dark century which followed Domesday. The
first fact which transpires affects the single hide held by Rainaldus.
This Rainaldus was no other than Rainald the Sheriff. The hide he
held was Lea, and he gave it, within 10 years after Domesday, to
Shrewsbury Abbey.—* Rainaldus frater Guarini dedit eis villam
quee dicitur Lega,” says Earl Roger in his Charter to Shrewsbury
Abbey, and Earl Roger died in 1093-4. King William II.’s Con-
firmation contains the very same words. Henry I.’s Confirmation
of 1121 is still more explicit ;—* Rainaldus vero frater Warini
Vicecomitis dedit unam hidam quse vocatur Lega.” The Confir-
" mations of Stephen, Henry II., and Henry III. repeat the statement
in terms which present no further illustration of the main fact.

Now follows a much more general theme.—Ellesmere was the
most important of several Border Manors which King Henry I. be-
stowed on William Peverel, of Dover, one of those Brethren to whom
I have before alluded,? as enjoying the high favour of that Monarch,
though their origin is wrapped in mystery. A solitary event is all
that we can trace of William Peverel’s dealings at Ellesmere. ¢ He
unjustly deprived the Monks of Shrewsbury of their estate at Lea.”
‘We have seen that William Peverel, of Dover, as well as his brother,
Hamo Peverel, of High Ercall, was deceased before the year 1138, °

! Domesday, fo, 263, b, 2. ? Suprs, Vol. II. p. 105.
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and the heirship of these mighty Barons was ostensibly divided be-
tween their brother’s son, William Peverel (IT), of Dover and of
Bran, and Walcheline Maminoht, who, I think, was their sister’s
son. By two mere accidents we are able to associate the names of
both these youths with the history of Ellesmere.—Ordericus, de-
scribing that outbreak against Stephen which took place in the
summer of 1288, gives the following local and personal particulars.
—Gualchelinus autem cognomento Maminot tenuit Doveram. Guil-
lelmus vero juvenis cognomento Peverellus quatuor oppida habebat : id
est Brunam, Elesmaram, Obretonam et Guitentonam,! et his turbidus
augebat rebellantium turmam. As to Walcheline Maminot’s concern
with Ellesmere it is evidenced in the Charter whereby he restored
Lea to the Monks of Shrewsbury, “after consulting the men of
Ellesmere as to the Monks’ title, and because he was anxious to
liberate his late Uncle’s soul from the pains of sacrilege.”” This
curious Charter, though printed elsewhere,® I cannot refrain from
transcribing.—

Walchelinus Maminot omnibus parentibus et amicis suis, et uni-
versis fidelibus Sanctie Ecclesie salutem. Sciatis quod homines de
Ellesmerd confessi sunt coram me el militibus meis quod avunculus
meus Williclmus Peverel injuste abstulit terram de Lega a Monachis
de Salopesberid. Quod ego audiens, per consilium hominum meorum, -
studui liberare animam avunculi met et animas eorum qui hoc ei con-
silium dederunt de pend istius peccati ; reddidique Sancto Pelro et
Monachis eandem terram, ita solulam et quietam, ut nullus succes-
sorum meorum amplius de ed calumpniam habeat. Et ideo precor
omnes qui post me venturi sunt, ut hanc terram nulla unquam ca-
lumpnia impediat, quia pro certo didici ab hominibus meis quod
avunculus meus malum inde consilium habuil.

How Ellesmere fared when Shrewsbury fell before the Usurper,
Stephen, we cannot guess. The subsequent demonstrations of
William Peverel in the cause of the Empress were not on the Bor-
ders of Wales, but in the South of England. This noble youth,
sickened with civil war, but still animated with an heroic spirit of
self-devotion, at length found his grave in Palestine. I have said
much of his collateral heirs under High Ercall. It is clear that

! Ordericus, VolL. V. p.111. (Augustus | dington (Northants).” Only Ellesmere is
le Provost.) The learned Author’s note | rightly identified. The others are Bourne
identifies these places with “ Bryn (situation | (Cambridgeshire), Overton (Flintshire),
unknown), Ellesmere (Shropshire), Over- | and Whittington (Shropshire).
ton or Orton (Rutlandshire), and Gred- ? Monasticon, T11. 622, No. XII.
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Ellesmere was one of those Manors from which the Coheirs of Pe-
verel, no less than Walcheline Maminot himself, were excluded on
the restoration of Henry II. Ellesmere came to that King’s hand
as a Manor of ancien? demesne, whose fiscal value was £10 of the
£265. 16s. which was settled to be the Ferm of Shropshire.

Diceto is confirmed by the Pipe-Rolls in giving 1174 as the year
in which David ap Owen, Prince of North Wales, married Emma,
the Sister of King Henry II.! I suppose this Lady to have been
(like Hameline Plantagenet, Earl of Surrey) one of the illegitimate
children of Geoffrey, Earl of Anjou. There are evidences, on the
Pipe-Roll of 1176, of the wife of David ap Owen having visited her
brother. The Burgesses of Brug and Salop had respectively sup-
plied £7. 2s. and £1. 15s. in corrodies for the “ King’s Sister, wife
of David fitz Oen,” and this by the King’s order. It was at Oxford,
and probably in May 1177, that the King in full Council is said to
have conferred ““ the land of Ellesmare on David fitz Owain, who
had married his Sister.””® It does not appear that the Contemporary
Sheriff was allowed to deduct anything from the ferm of Shropshire
by reason of this grant. Nevertheless the actuality of the grant is
undoubted. Cricket was a member of Ellesmere, and we have a
Charter whereby, about the year 1195,  David ap Owen and Emma
his wife, at request of Owen, their son and heir, gave the whole
land of Crikcote to Haghmon, together with pannage for 100 swine.
Witnesses,—John de Burcheltun, Einion de Hordeley, Reiner, Par-
son of Ellesmere.”’3

On April 10, 120, King John (by Charter, dated at Worcester)
extended the most ample protection to Emma, wife of David ap
Owen, her lands and possessions, and ordered that she should not
be impleaded, except before the King himself, for any tenement
which she held on that day when Henry II. gave her the Manors
of Ellesmere and Hales.* 4 '

Hales was afterwards called Hales-Owen, from Owen, son of this
Emma. The reason that Emma is here spoken of as “ Lady of
Ellesmere and Hales,” was because her husband was now suffering
his third year of imprisonment at the hands of his Nephew, Lewel-
lyn. During the latter part of David ap Owen’s imprisonment,
that is, in September and October 1208, it is apparent that Elles-
mere was in the hands of King John. Some evidence of this will
transpire under Stockett, but here, I should observe that, at

! 8ee Madox's Exchequer, p. 261-k. | 3 Haughmond Chartulary, 75¢. Crikcote.
? Hoveden, p. 823-b. |« Rot. Chariarem, p. 44.
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Michaelmas 1203, the Sheriff of Shropshire charges the King 100s.
which he had expended in repairs at Ellesmere Castle. It is also
worth notice that, at the Shropshire Assizes of October 1203, the
Villate of Ellesmere was represented by its Provost and Jurors, like
other Manors of Royal demesne. Among their presentments were
two of murder. Peter fitz Alan had slain one Aldred, and had been
outlawed at the suit of John de Buregeton (Burleton). Also Roger,
a tenant of Robert de Girros, having slain Simon, a serviens of the
said Robert, had taken sanctuary in the first instance, but had since
acknowledged his guilt and abjured the Realm.

David ap Owen, once Prince of North Wales, was released from
prison by Lewellyn, and died in 1204. There is no appearance that
King John restored either him or his son Owen to their rights at
Ellesmere. It was probably during his father’s lifetime and im-
prisonment, that the said Owen, having a falem qualem claim to
Ellesmere, confirmed his father’s grant to Haghmon Abbey. As
“Owen, son of David, and for the souls’ health of himself, his fa-
ther, and mother, he eonfirmed the Canons in possession of Crikcote,
and in their rights of pannage in Nordwode. Witnesses,—John de
Burhelton; Reyner, Clerk; Roger, Clerk; Einion de Hordeley;
Reiner de Franketon; William de Hockton; Ralph de Lega; Si-
mon de Jagedon.”

It seems that King John did not at any time encourage the pre-
tensions of his cousin Owen to the throne of North Wales. Before
the King had been five months on the throne he had, on the other
hand, openly recognized the claims of Lewellyn ap Jorworth, and
taken him under his protection. In July 1201 a Treaty was con-
cluded between John and Lewellyn, the latter undertaking to do
fealty to the King as soon as he should return into England. (The
King was then at Paris.) Further negotiations ensued. At
Michaelmas 1204 it is again apparent that John was in possession
of Ellesmere, for the Pipe-Roll of that date shows that Ellesmere
Castle had been repaired at the King’s expense. On October 14,
1204, King John orders the Sheriff of Warwickshire to value Ro-
bert de Harcourt’s Manor of Illandon, and to give 13 librates
therein to Owen fitz David, in exchange for Owen’s land of Elles-
mere, which the King had retained for his own use.! Again, on
Nov. 5, 1205, King John assigns to the same Owen 15 Librates of
land in Waltham (Lincolnshire).? So far John seems to have
treated his Cousin with justice, for he had never promised him a

1-3 Rot. Claus. pp. 12, 56.
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throne. Meanwhile the King’s policy towards Lewellyn had reached

its result. Passing over Letters of safe-conduct, and invitations to '
meet the King, we come to the month of August 1204, when it is

evident that John had bribed Lewellyn’s minister, Ostruc, with an -
annuity of 100s. and a promise of Church preferment. Before Oct.
15, 1204, Lewellyn had married the King’s natural daughter, Joan ;
and the King orders the Sheriff of Shropshire to assign 20 librates
of lands as the marriage portion bestowed by the King.! "The as-
signment took place, partly at least, in Ellesmere ; for from Christ-
mas 1204 the fiscal value of Ellesmere (£10 per annum) is deducted
from the Sheriff’s liabilities, as given to Lewellyn of Wales (Leulino
Walensi). A Patent of March 28, 1205, instructs Thomas de Er-
dinton, then Custos of Ellesmere Castle, to give the same up to
Lewellyn.® A Writ-Close, to the same effect, is directed to the
Sheriff of Shropshire, in which the King styles Lewellyn “ our be-
loved Son.,” On April 16, 1205, King John being at Dover, certi-
fies by Charter how he had given to Lewellyn, Prince of North
Wales, the Castle of Ellesmere, with all its lands and appurtenances,
in marriage with the aforesaid Joan, the King’s daughter, and with
remainder to the heirs of their bodies ;—saving all other agreements,
made between the King and Prince, touching the said land and
marriage.> In January 1209 we begin to hear of excesses com-
mitted by the Welsh <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>